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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
This report contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of the U.S. federal securities laws. All statements other than statements of historical facts in this
document, including, without limitation, those regarding our business strategy, financial position, results of operations, plans, prospects and objectives of management
for future operations (including development plans and objectives relating to our activities), are forward-looking statements. Many, but not all, of these statements can
be found by looking for words like “expect,” “anticipate,” “goal,” “project,” “plan,” “believe,” “seek,” “will,” “may,” “forecast,” “estimate,” “intend,” “future” and
similar words. Statements that address activities, events or developments that we intend, expect or believe may occur in the future are forward-looking statements within
the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and are subject to safe
harbor created by those sections. Forward-looking statements do not guarantee future performance and may involve risks, uncertainties and other factors which could
cause our actual results, performance or achievements to differ materially from the future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied in those forwardlooking statements.
There are a number of risks, uncertainties and other important factors, many of which are beyond our control, which could cause actual results to differ materially from
the forward-looking statements contained in this report. Such risks, uncertainties and factors include those set forth in "Risk Factors" in our 2019 Annual Report on
Form 10-K and in Part II Item 1A, of this quarterly report on Form 10-Q.
Examples of these risks, uncertainties and other factors include, but are not limited to:
•

Significant public health crises, epidemics or pandemics, including the novel strain of coronavirus (“COVID-19”), may adversely affect our business,
results of operations and financial condition;

•

our ability to achieve future profitability will depend on us executing our strategy and controlling costs;

•

future results may be impacted by the expiration of net operating losses (NOLs);

•

our tax position may be affected by recent changes in U.S. tax law;

•

operating in a highly competitive industry and the inability to compete effectively with larger and better capitalized companies and governmental
service providers;

•

our results are vulnerable to economic conditions;

•

we may lose contracts through competitive bidding, early termination or governmental action;

•

some of our customers, including governmental entities, have suffered financial difficulties affecting their credit risk, which could negatively impact
our operating results;

•

our financial and operating performance may be affected by the inability, in some instances, to renew or expand existing landfill permits or acquire
new landfills. Further, the cost of operation and/or future construction of our existing landfills may become economically unfeasible
causing us to abandon or cease operations;

•

we could be precluded from maintaining permits or entering into certain contracts if we are unable to obtain sufficient third-party financial assurance
or adequate insurance coverage;

•

our accruals for our landfill site closure, post-closure and contamination related costs may be inadequate;

•

our cash flow may not be sufficient to finance our high level of capital expenditures;

•

our acquisitions, including our ability to integrate acquired businesses, or that acquired businesses may have unexpected risks or liabilities;

•

the seasonal nature of our business and "event-driven" waste projects that could cause our results to fluctuate;
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•

adverse and destructive weather conditions that could result in higher fuel costs, higher labor costs, reduced municipal contract productivity and
higher disposal costs;

•

we may be subject in the normal course of business to judicial, administrative or other third-party proceedings that could interrupt or limit our
operations, result in adverse judgments, settlements or fines and create negative publicity;

•

fuel supply and prices may fluctuate significantly and we may not be able to pass on cost increases to our customers;

•

fluctuations in the prices of commodities may adversely affect our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows;

•

increases in labor and disposal costs and related transportation costs could adversely impact our financial results;

•

efforts by labor unions could divert management attention and adversely affect operating results;

•

we depend significantly on the services of the members of our senior, regional and local management teams, and the departure of any of those persons
could cause our operating results to suffer;

•

we are increasingly dependent on technology in our operations and, if our technology fails, our business could be adversely affected;

•

a cybersecurity incident could negatively impact our business and our relationships with customers;

•

operational and safety risks, including the risk of personal injury to employees and others;

•

we are subject to substantial governmental regulation and failure to comply with these requirements, as well as enforcement actions and litigation
arising from an actual or perceived breach of such requirements, could subject us to fines, penalties and judgments, and impose limits
on our ability to operate and expand;

•

our operations being subject to environmental, health and safety laws and regulations, as well as contractual obligations that may result in significant
liabilities;

•

future changes in laws or renewed enforcement of laws regulating the flow of solid waste in interstate commerce could adversely affect our operating
results;

•

fundamental change in the waste management industry as traditional waste streams are increasingly viewed as renewable resources and changes in
laws and environmental policies may limit the items that enter the waste stream, any of which may adversely impact volumes and
tipping fees at our landfills. Alternatives to landfill disposal may cause our revenues and operating results to decline;

•

risks associated with our substantial indebtedness and working capital deficit;

•

risks associated with our ability to implement our growth strategy as and when planned; and

•

the other risks described in the "Risk Factors" section of our 2019 Annual Report on Form 10-K and in Part II Item 1A, of our quarterly report on
Form 10-Q for the three months ended March 31, 2020.

In addition, actual results may vary materially from those expressed or implied by forward-looking statements based on a number of factors related to the pending
acquisition of Advanced Disposal, including, without limitation (1) risks related to the consummation of the merger, including the risks that (a) the merger may not be
consummated within the anticipated time period, or at all, (b) the parties may fail to secure the termination or expiration of any waiting period applicable under the HartScott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976, as amended, and (c) other conditions to the consummation of the merger under the merger agreement may not be
satisfied, including obtaining stockholder approval; (2) the effects that any termination of the merger agreement may have on Advanced Disposal or its business,
including the risk that Advanced Disposal’s stock price may decline significantly if the merger is not completed (3) the effects that the announcement or pendency of the
merger may have on Advanced Disposal and its business, including the risks that as a result (a) Advanced Disposal’s business,
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operating results or stock price may suffer, (b) Advanced Disposal’s current plans and operations may be disrupted, (c) Advanced Disposal’s ability to retain or recruit
key employees may be adversely affected, (d) Advanced Disposal’s business relationships (including, customers and suppliers) may be adversely affected, or (e)
Advanced Disposal’s management’s or employees’ attention may be diverted from other important matters; (4) the effect of limitations that the merger agreement places
on Advanced Disposal’s ability to operate its business, return capital to stockholders or engage in alternative transactions; (5) the nature, cost and outcome of pending
and future litigation and other legal proceedings, including any such proceedings related to the merger and instituted against Advanced Disposal and others; (6) the risk
that the merger and related transactions may involve unexpected costs, liabilities or delays; and (7) other economic, business, competitive, legal, regulatory, and/or tax
factors.
The above examples are not exhaustive and new risks may emerge from time to time. Except as required by law, we undertake no obligation to publicly update or revise
any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise. Such forward-looking statements are based on our current beliefs,
assumptions, expectations, estimates and projections regarding our present and future business strategies and the environment in which we will operate in the future.
These forward-looking statements speak only as of the date of this report. We expressly disclaim any obligation or undertaking to release publicly any updates or
revisions to any forward-looking statement contained herein to reflect any change in our expectations with regard thereto or any change of events, conditions or
circumstances on which any such statement was based.
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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Item 1. Financial Statements
Advanced Disposal Services, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets
(Unaudited)
June 30,
2020

(in millions, except share data)

December 31,
2019

Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents

$

31.4

Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of 4.8 and $4.5, respectively

$

193.8

Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total current assets
Other assets

12.5
208.3

34.6

44.0

259.8

264.8

52.6

53.3

Property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation of $1,809.6 and $1,720.7, respectively

1,748.2

1,767.6

Goodwill

1,224.8

1,224.8

217.5

233.0

Other intangible assets, net of accumulated amortization of $333.6 and $318.1, respectively
Total assets

$

3,502.9

$

3,543.5

$

121.9

$

120.7

Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity
Current liabilities
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses

109.1

124.5

Deferred revenue

67.5

71.3

Current maturities of landfill retirement obligations

20.2

28.0

Current maturities of long-term debt

41.3

76.1

360.0

420.6

Total current liabilities
Other long-term liabilities
Long-term debt, less current maturities

90.1

82.7

1,762.7

1,792.1

255.1

236.2

Accrued landfill retirement obligations, less current maturities
Deferred income taxes
Total liabilities

89.1

88.5

2,557.0

2,620.1

0.9

0.9

Equity
Common stock: $.01 par value, 1,000,000,000 shares authorized, 90,906,005 and 89,836,069 issued including
shares held in treasury, respectively
Treasury stock at cost, 178,540 and 132,930 shares, respectively

(5.6)

Additional paid-in capital

(4.1)

1,551.0

Accumulated deficit
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Total stockholders' equity

1,527.7

(598.2)

(598.1)

(2.2)

(3.0)

945.9

Total liabilities and stockholders' equity

$

3,502.9

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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Advanced Disposal Services, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations
(Unaudited)

(in millions, except share and per share data)

Three Months Ended June 30,
2020

Service revenues

$

Six Months Ended June 30,

2019

380.3

$

2020

419.1

$

2019

767.0

$

803.1

Operating costs and expenses
Operating (exclusive of items shown separately below)

242.3

277.2

Selling, general and administrative

45.7

Depreciation and amortization

64.1

Acquisition and development costs
Loss on disposal of assets and asset impairments
Total operating costs and expenses
Operating income

499.7

526.6

62.2

96.7

112.0

70.3

128.7

136.2

—

0.2

—

1.0

0.5

0.5

0.6

0.7

352.6

410.4

725.7

776.5

27.7

8.7

41.3

26.6

(19.8)

(26.2)

(42.4)

(52.2)

0.2

(3.5)

0.9

(2.8)

(19.6)

(29.7)

(41.5)

(55.0)

8.1

(21.0)

(0.2)

(28.4)

1.9

(20.0)

(0.1)

(21.4)

Other (expense) income
Interest expense
Other income (expense), net
Total other expense
Income (loss) before income taxes
Income tax expense (benefit)
Net income (loss)

$

6.2

$

(1.0)

$

(0.1)

$

(7.0)

Basic income (loss) per share

$

0.07

$

(0.01)

$

—

$

(0.08)

Diluted income (loss) per share

$

0.07

$

(0.01)

$

—

$

Net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders per share
(0.08)

Basic average shares outstanding

90,424,107

88,857,948

90,167,026

88,790,157

Diluted average shares outstanding

91,557,116

88,857,948

90,167,026

88,790,157

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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Advanced Disposal Services, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss)
(Unaudited)

(in millions)

Three Months Ended June 30,
2020

Net income (loss)

$

6.2

Change in fair value of interest rate caps, net of tax for the three months
ended June 30, 2020 and 2019 of ($0.2) and $0.5, respectively and for the
six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019 of ($0.3) and $1.3, respectively
Comprehensive income (loss)

$

0.4
$

Six Months Ended June 30,

2019

6.6

2020

(1.0)

$

(1.3)
$

(2.3)

(0.1)

$

(7.0)

$

(10.3)

0.8
$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
8

2019

0.7

(3.3)

Table of Contents

Advanced Disposal Services, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity
(Unaudited)

(in millions, except share
data)

Common Stock
Shares

Balance at December 31,
2018
Net loss

Amount

88,685,920

$

Additional
Paid-In
Capital

Treasury Stock
Shares

Amount

0.9

2,274

$

—

$

1,501.7

Accumulated
Deficit

$

(591.1)

Accumulated
Other Comprehensive
(Loss) Income

$

—

Total Stockholders'
Equity

$

911.5

—

—

—

—

—

(6.0)

—

(6.0)

Stock-based compensation

18,735

—

—

—

4.1

—

—

4.1

Stock option exercises

90,807

—

—

—

1.9

—

—

1.9

Unrealized loss resulting
from change in fair value
of derivative instruments,
net of tax of $0.8

—

—

—

—

—

—

(2.0)

$

(2.0)

Impact of implementing
new derivatives standard,
net of tax of ($0.2)

—

—

—

—

—

(0.4)

0.4

$

—

0.9

2,274

(1.6)

$

909.5

Balance at March 31,
2019

88,795,462

$

$

—

$

1,507.7

$

(597.5)

$

Net loss

—

—

—

—

—

(1.0)

—

(1.0)

Stock-based compensation

—

—

—

—

2.2

—

—

2.2

Stock option exercises and
performance stock units
vested

138,781

—

—

—

—

2.0

—

—

16,362

—

—

(0.6)

Stock repurchases (a)
Unrealized loss resulting
from change in fair value
of derivative instruments,
net of tax of $0.5

—

Balance at June 30, 2019

88,934,243

$

—

—

0.9

18,636

—
$

(0.6)

$

(0.6)

2.0
$

—

$

1,511.9

—
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(in millions, except share
data)

Common Stock
Shares

Balance at December 31,
2019

Amount

Amount

—

—

—

—

(6.3)

—

(6.3)

—

—

—

—

1.6

—

—

1.6

441,632

—

—

—

6.4

—

—

6.4

Stock repurchases (a)

—

—

45,610

(1.5)

—

—

—

(1.5)

Unrealized gain resulting
from change in fair value
of derivative instruments,
net of tax of ($0.1)

—

—

—

—

—

—

0.4

0.4

Balance at March 31,
2020

6.2

—

6.2

Stock-based compensation

—

—

—

—

1.3

—

—

1.3

628,304

—

—

—

14.0

—

—

14.0

—
178,540

—
$

(5.6)

—
$

1,551.0

$

—
$

(598.2)

(2.6)

$

923.4

—

—

(604.4)

$

—

0.9

$

(3.0)

—

$

1,535.7

$

178,540

—

$

(598.1)

—

90,906,005

(5.6)

$

0.9

Balance at June 30, 2020

$

1,527.7

—

Unrealized gain resulting
from change in fair value
of derivative instruments,
net of tax of ($0.2)

$

$

Net income
Stock option exercises

90,277,701

(4.1)

Total Stockholders'
Equity

—

Stock option exercises,
restricted stock unit
vesting and performance
stock unit vesting

$

Accumulated
Other Comprehensive
(Loss) Income

132,930

Stock-based compensation

$

Shares

Accumulated
Deficit

0.9

Net loss

89,836,069

Additional
Paid-In
Capital

Treasury Stock

0.4
$

(2.2)

924.0

0.4
$

945.9

(a) Stock repurchases represent shares withheld by the Company to pay employee taxes associated with restricted stock unit vesting and performance stock unit vesting.
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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Advanced Disposal Services, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(Unaudited)
(in millions)

Six Months Ended June 30,
2020

2019

Cash flows from operating activities
Net loss

$

(0.1)

$

(7.0)

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by operating activities
Depreciation and amortization

128.7

136.2

Change in fair value of derivative instruments

—

4.6

Amortization of debt issuance costs and original issue discount

3.0

2.8

Accretion on landfill retirement obligations

8.9

8.7

Other accretion and amortization

3.5

3.4

Provision for doubtful accounts

2.7

3.2

Loss on disposition of property and equipment

0.6

0.7

Stock based compensation

2.9

6.3

Deferred tax expense (benefit)

0.3

(17.8)

(0.4)

(1.1)

—

3.9

Earnings in equity investee
Write-off of 2012 Veolia acquisition related indemnification receivable
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of businesses acquired
Decrease (increase) in accounts receivable
Decrease in prepaid expenses and other current assets
(Increase) decrease in other assets
Increase in accounts payable
(Decrease) increase in accrued expenses
Decrease in deferred revenue
Increase (decrease) in other long-term liabilities
Capping, closure and post-closure obligations

11.8

(10.2)

9.4

3.4

(1.2)

1.9

8.3

15.4

(15.4)

4.4

(3.8)

(1.1)

7.1

(1.7)

(4.6)

Net cash provided by operating activities

(7.5)

161.7

148.5

Purchases of property and equipment and construction and development

(87.5)

(83.4)

Proceeds from sale of property and equipment and insurance recoveries

0.8

1.7

Cash flows from investing activities

Acquisition of businesses, net of cash acquired

—

Net cash used in investing activities

(27.1)

(86.7)

(108.8)

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from borrowings on debt instruments
Repayment on debt instruments, including finance leases
Proceeds from stock option exercises net of stock repurchases
Net cash used in financing activities
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period

70.0

101.0

(145.0)

(140.1)

18.9

3.3

(56.1)

(35.8)

18.9

3.9

12.5

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period

$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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Advanced Disposal Services, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Notes to Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
(in millions, except share data)

1.

Business Operations

Operations
Advanced Disposal Services, Inc. together with its consolidated subsidiaries (the "Company"), as a consolidated entity, is a non-hazardous solid waste services company
which provides collection, transfer, recycling and disposal services. The Company manages and evaluates its principal operations through three reportable operating
segments on a regional basis. Those operating segments are the South, East and Midwest regions. Additional information related to segments can be found in Note 10.
Acquisitions
No acquisitions were completed during the six months ended June 30, 2020. Two acquisitions were completed during the six months ended June 30, 2019 for aggregate
consideration consisting of a cash purchase price of $24.9. Additionally, the Company made a $2.2 deferred purchase price payment during the six months ended June
30, 2019 related to an acquisition completed during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2018. The results of operations of each acquisition are included in the Company's
unaudited condensed consolidated statements of operations subsequent to the closing date of each acquisition.
COVID-19
The Company is experiencing volume declines in all of its lines of business except residential due to deteriorating macroeconomic conditions and stay-at-home orders
resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic. The Company is taking a number of steps to respond to this challenge including the following:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
2.

Reducing or eliminating face-to-face interactions with its employees;
Executing on enhanced protocols to keep vehicles, common areas, and offices extra clean;
Procuring additional personal protective equipment including masks, gloves, hand sanitizer, and cleaning solutions;
Reallocating resources, reducing overtime, and parking surplus equipment to reduce operating costs;
Rerouting where needed to maximize productivity and meet customer needs;
Flexing capital spending while still meeting business needs;
Significantly reducing travel and discretionary spending; and
Maintaining higher target cash balances and as of June 30, 2020 able to access $271.7 million of additional liquidity from its revolving credit facility supported
by a diverse group of lenders.

Basis of Presentation

The Company’s condensed consolidated financial statements include its wholly-owned subsidiaries and their respective subsidiaries. All intercompany accounts and
transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.
The condensed consolidated financial statements as of June 30, 2020 and for the three and six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019 are unaudited. In the opinion of
management, these condensed consolidated financial statements include all adjustments, which, unless otherwise disclosed, are of a normal recurring nature, necessary
for a fair statement of the balance sheet, results of operations, comprehensive income (loss), cash flows, and changes in equity for the periods presented. The results for
interim periods are not necessarily indicative of results for the entire year. The financial statements presented herein should be read in conjunction with the financial
statements included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019.
In conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, the Company uses estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts
reported in these condensed consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. The Company must make these estimates and assumptions because certain
information that it uses is dependent on future events, cannot be calculated with a high degree of precision from data available or simply cannot be readily calculated
based on generally accepted methodologies. In preparing the Company's financial statements, the more subjective areas that deal with the greatest amount of uncertainty
relate to: accounting for long-lived assets, including recoverability; landfill development costs; final capping, closure and post-closure costs; valuation allowances for
accounts receivable and deferred tax assets; liabilities for potential litigation, claims and assessments; liabilities for environmental remediation; stock compensation;
accounting for goodwill and intangible asset impairments; deferred taxes; uncertain tax positions; self-insurance reserves; and estimates of the fair value of assets
acquired and liabilities assumed in any acquisition. Actual results could differ materially from the estimates and assumptions that the Company uses in preparation of its
financial statements.
Recently Adopted Accounting Standards
In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13 associated with the measurement of credit losses on financial instruments. The amended guidance replaces the previous
incurred loss impairment methodology of recognizing credit losses when a loss is probable, with a methodology that reflects expected credit losses and requires
consideration of a broader range of reasonable and supportable information to assess credit loss estimates. The amended guidance was effective for the Company on
January 1, 2020. Based on the amended guidance, the Company estimates credit losses for uncollectible accounts based on an evaluation of the aged accounts receivable
and the likelihood of collection of the receivable based on historical collection data adjusted for forward-looking economic conditions. The Company's adoption of this
guidance on January 1, 2020 did not have a material impact on its condensed consolidated financial statements.
3.

Revenue Recognition

Revenue by Segment
See Note 10 for information related to revenue by reportable segment and major line of business.
Capitalized Sales Commissions
Under Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, the Company capitalizes sales commissions as contract assets related
to commercial and permanent rolloff collection customers and amortizes those sales commissions over the estimated customer life. The balance of capitalized sales
commissions as of June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019 were $4.5 and $4.7, respectively. The Company recorded amortization expense of $0.4 and $0.4 related to
capitalized sales commissions for the three months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively. The Company recorded amortization expense of $0.8 and $0.8 related to
capitalized sales commissions for the six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively.
Deferred Revenues

The Company records deferred revenue when cash payments are received or are due in advance of the Company's performance. The decrease in the deferred revenue
balance from December 31, 2019 to June 30, 2020 is primarily driven by $69.6 of revenues recognized that were included in the deferred revenue balance at December
31, 2019, offset by cash payments received or due in advance of the Company satisfying its performance obligations.
Practical Expedients
As allowed by ASC 606, the Company does not disclose the value of unsatisfied performance obligations related to its contracts and service agreements as the Company
accounts for its revenue as variable consideration and has the right to invoice for services performed each period.
4.

Landfill Liabilities

Liabilities for final closure and post-closure costs for the year ended December 31, 2019 and for the six months ended June 30, 2020 are shown in the table below:
Balance at December 31, 2018

$

248.0

Increase in retirement obligation

11.0

Accretion of closure and post-closure costs

18.0

Asset retirement obligation adjustments

6.9

Costs incurred

(19.7)

Balance at December 31, 2019

264.2

Increase in retirement obligation

5.2

Accretion of closure and post-closure costs

8.9

Costs incurred

(3.0)

Balance at June 30, 2020

275.3

Less: Current portion

(20.2)
$

12

255.1
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5. Income (loss) Per Share
The following table sets forth the computation of basic income (loss) per share and income (loss) per share, assuming dilution:
Three Months Ended June 30,
2020

Six Months Ended June 30,

2019

2020

2019

Numerator:
Net income (loss)

$

6.2

$

(1.0)

$

(0.1)

$

(7.0)

Denominator:
Average common shares outstanding
Other potentially dilutive common shares
Average common shares outstanding, assuming
dilution

90,424,107

88,857,948

90,167,026

88,790,157

1,133,009

—

—

—

91,557,116

88,857,948

90,167,026

88,790,157

Basic net income (loss) per share

$

0.07

$

(0.01)

$

—

$

(0.08)

Diluted net income (loss) per share

$

0.07

$

(0.01)

$

—

$

(0.08)

Basic net income (loss) per share is based on the weighted-average number of shares of common stock outstanding for each of the periods presented. Diluted net income
(loss) per share is based on the weighted-average number of shares of common stock equivalents outstanding adjusted for the effects of common stock that may be
issued as a result of potentially dilutive instruments. The Company's potentially dilutive instruments are made up of equity awards, which include stock options,
restricted stock units and performance stock units. Since the Company is in a loss position for the six months ended June 30, 2020 and the three and six months ended
June 30, 2019, no potentially dilutive common shares are included in the average common shares outstanding, assuming dilution for those periods presented.
No outstanding stock awards were excluded from the diluted net income per share calculation for the three months ended June 30, 2020 and 3.7 million stock awards
were excluded from the diluted loss per share calculation for the six months ended June 30, 2020, because their effect was antidilutive. Approximately 5.4 million and
5.5 million of outstanding stock awards were excluded from the diluted net loss per share calculation for the three and six months ended June 30, 2019, respectively,
because their effect was antidilutive.
6.

Debt

The following table summarizes the major components of debt at each balance sheet date and provides the maturities and interest rate ranges of each major category of
debt:
June 30,
2020

Revolving line of credit with lenders (Revolver), interest at applicable rate plus margin, as defined (0.00% and 5.43% at June
30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively) due quarterly; balance due at maturity in November 2021
$
Term loans (Term Loan B); quarterly payments of $3.75 commencing March 31, 2017 through September 30, 2023 with
final payment due November 10, 2023; interest at an alternate base rate or adjusted LIBOR rate with a 0.75% floor plus an
applicable margin
Senior notes (Senior Notes) payable; interest at 5.625% payable in arrears semi-annually commencing May 15, 2017;
maturing on November 15, 2024
Finance lease obligations, maturing through 2024
Other debt

December 31,
2019

—

$

30.0

1,346.1

1,372.5

425.0

425.0

43.5

52.6

6.8

8.1

1,821.4

1,888.2

Less: Original issue discount and debt issuance costs classified as a reduction to long-term debt

(17.4)

(20.0)

Less: Current portion

(41.3)

(76.1)

$

13

1,762.7

$

1,792.1
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All borrowings under the Term Loan B, Revolver and Senior Notes are guaranteed by each of the Company's current and future domestic subsidiaries, subject to certain
agreed-upon exemptions. All guarantors are jointly, severally, fully and unconditionally liable. There are no significant restrictions on the Company or any guarantor to
obtain funds from its subsidiaries by dividend or loan.
Revolver and Letter of Credit Facilities
As of June 30, 2020, the Company had an aggregate committed capacity of $300.0, of which $100.0 was available for letters of credit under its credit facilities. The
Company’s Revolver is its primary source of letter of credit capacity and expires in 2021. As of June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, the Company had $0.0 and $30.0
of borrowings outstanding on the Revolver, respectively. As of June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, the Company had an aggregate of $28.3 and $28.5, respectively,
of letters of credit outstanding under its credit facilities. The Company has ample liquidity available through its Revolver which is supported by a diverse group of
lenders.
7. Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities
The following table summarizes the fair values of derivative instruments recorded in the Company’s condensed consolidated balance sheets:

Balance Sheet Location

December 31,
2019

June 30, 2020

Derivatives Designated as Hedging Instruments
2017 Interest rate caps

Accrued expenses

(2.4)

(2.4)

2017 Interest rate caps

Other long-term liabilities

(0.6)

(1.7)

Total derivatives

$

(3.0)

$

(4.1)

The Company has not offset fair value of assets and liabilities recognized for its derivative instruments.
Interest Rate Caps
In November 2017, the Company entered into two interest rate cap agreements as cash flow hedges (the "2017 interest rate caps") to hedge the risk of a rise in interest
rates and associated cash flows on its variable rate debt. The Company has applied hedge accounting to the 2017 interest rate caps; therefore, changes in the fair value of
the 2017 interest rate caps are recorded in change in fair value of interest rate caps, net of tax in the condensed consolidated statements of comprehensive income (loss).
The 2017 interest rate caps commenced in 2019 and expire in 2021. The Company is paying the $4.9 premium on the 2017 interest rate caps in monthly installments
beginning in October 2019. The Company recorded a loss of $0.2 related to the 2017 interest rate caps for the three months ended June 30, 2020 of which a $0.6 loss
was recorded to interest expense in the consolidated statement of operations and a $0.4 gain was recorded in change in fair value of interest rate caps, net of tax in the
condensed consolidated statement of comprehensive income (loss). The Company recorded a loss of $1.8 related to the 2017 interest rate caps for the three months
ended June 30, 2019 which was recorded in change in fair value of interest rate caps, net of tax in the condensed consolidated statement of comprehensive income (loss).
The Company recorded a loss of $0.4 related to the 2017 interest rate caps for the six months ended June 30, 2020 of which a $1.2 loss was recorded to interest expense
in the consolidated statement of operations and a $0.8 gain was recorded in change in fair value of interest rate caps, net of tax in the condensed consolidated statement
of comprehensive income (loss). The Company recorded a loss of $4.6 related to the 2017 interest rate caps for the six months ended June 30, 2019 which was recorded
in change in fair value of interest rate caps, net of tax in the condensed consolidated statement of comprehensive income (loss). The notional value of the 2017 interest
rate cap contracts aggregated were $600.0 as of June 30, 2020 and will remain constant through maturity in 2021.
In May 2016, the Company entered into three interest rate cap agreements (the "2016 interest rate caps") as economic hedges against the risk of a rise in interest rates
and the associated cash flows on its variable rate debt. The Company paid the $5.5 premium of the 2016 interest rate caps equally over eleven quarters beginning on
March 31, 2017. The Company elected not to apply hedge accounting to the 2016 interest rate caps; therefore, changes in the fair value of the 2016 interest rate caps
were recorded in other (expense) income, net in the condensed consolidated statements of operations. The Company recorded a loss related to the 2016 interest rate caps
of $0.5 for the three months ended June 30, 2019. The Company recorded a loss related to
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the 2016 interest rate caps of $0.9 for the six months ended June 30, 2019. The notional value of the 2016 interest rate cap contracts aggregated were constant at $800.0
over their term and matured on September 30, 2019.
8. Income Taxes
The Company’s effective income tax rate for the three months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019 was 23.5% and 95.3%, respectively. The Company evaluates its effective
income tax rate at each interim period and adjusts it accordingly as facts and circumstances warrant. The difference between income taxes computed at the federal
statutory rate of 21% and reported income taxes for the three months ended June 30, 2020 was primarily due to state and local taxes. The difference between income
taxes computed at the federal statutory rate of 21% and reported income taxes for the three months ended June 30, 2019 was primarily due to the favorable impact of the
settlement of the IRS audit of the Veolia subsidiaries for tax years 2004 - 2012.
The Company’s effective income tax rate for the six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019 was 50.0% and 75.4%, respectively. The Company's effective income tax
rate for the six months ended June 30, 2020 differs from the federal statutory rate of 21% as a result of income taxes on near break even pre tax loss.The difference
between income taxes computed at the federal statutory rate of 21% and reported income tax benefit for the six months ended June 30, 2020 was primarily due to state
and local taxes. The difference between income taxes computed at the federal statutory rate of 21% and reported income tax benefit for the six months ended June 30,
2019 was primarily due to the favorable impact of the settlement of the IRS audit of the Veolia subsidiaries for tax years 2004 - 2012.
On March 27, 2020, the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (“CARES Act”) was enacted. The CARES Act is designed to bring economic and fiscal
relief to companies, small businesses, and individuals due to the COVID-19 health crisis. In accordance with ASC 740, the income tax effects of the CARES Act should
be reflected in the period of enactment. The CARES Act enacts changes to net operating losses limitations, carry back of net operating losses, changes to depreciation
of certain property, the acceleration of refunds for Alternative Minimum Tax (“AMT”), changes to the deductibility of interest expense, the deferral of certain payroll
taxes and the allowance of certain employment tax credits. The enactment of the CARES Act resulted in an additional acceleration of $1.5 of the minimum tax credit
carryforward to the Company. The current assets of the Company include a receivable of $3.0 for the refund of AMT credit. The AMT credit refund has subsequently
been received in early July 2020. The additional provisions of the CARES Act did not have a material impact on the unaudited condensed consolidated financial
statements for the six months ended June 30, 2020.

9. Commitments and Contingencies
Financial Instruments
The Company has obtained letters of credit, performance bonds and insurance policies for the performance of the following: landfill final capping, closure and postclosure requirements; certain collection, landfill and transfer station contracts; environmental remediation; and other obligations. Letters of credit are supported by the
Company’s Revolver (Note 6).
The Company does not expect that any claims against or draws on these instruments would have a material adverse effect on the Company’s condensed consolidated
financial statements. The Company has not experienced any unmanageable difficulty in obtaining the required financial assurance instruments for its current operations.
In an ongoing effort to mitigate risks of future cost increases and reductions in available capacity, the Company continues to evaluate various options to access costeffective sources of financial assurance.
Insurance
The Company carries insurance coverage for protection of its assets and operations from certain risks including automobile liability, general liability, real and personal
property, workers' compensation, directors' and officers' liability, pollution, legal liability and other coverages the Company believes are customary to the industry. The
Company's exposure to loss for insurance claims is generally limited to the per incident deductible, or self-insured retention, under the related insurance policy. Its
exposure, however, could increase if its insurers are unable to meet their commitments on a timely basis.
The Company has retained a significant portion of the risks related to its automobile, general liability, workers' compensation and health claims programs. For its selfinsured retentions, the exposure for unpaid claims and associated expenses, including incurred but not reported losses, is based on an actuarial valuation and internal
estimates. The accruals for these liabilities could be revised if future occurrences or loss development significantly differ from the Company's assumptions used. The
Company
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does not expect the impact of any known casualty, property, environmental or other contingency to have a material impact on its financial condition, results of
operations or cash flows.
Landfill Remediation
In fiscal 2018, the Company observed surface anomalies in specific areas of a landfill and received a proposed consent order, from a state environmental regulatory
agency, outlining conditions required to be met at the landfill. As of June 30, 2020, $16.1 of expenditures related to the remediation accrual estimates have been incurred
and $10.5 remains on the consolidated balance sheet which are expected to be incurred through 2023. These accruals include costs for an enhanced de-watering system
and the associated removal, treatment, and disposal of leachate at the landfill. This amount could increase or decrease as a result of actual costs incurred to completion.
Although it is reasonably possible this amount could change as a result of actual cost incurred to completion, the Company is unable to estimate a range of potential
exposure due to the uncertainty of the remediation efforts required due to the nature of the process being undertaken.
Litigation and Other Matters
The Company and certain of its subsidiaries have been named as defendants in various class action suits. Past suits have alleged the Company charged improper charges
(fuel, administrative and environmental charges) that were in breach of the Company's service agreements. The Company reached a settlement for $9.0 (inclusive of
plaintiff attorneys’ fees and costs), resolving four of these cases in fiscal 2019. One of these cases (the "Flaccus" suit) has not been settled and is still pending. Given the
inherent uncertainties of litigation, including the early stage of the Flaccus case, the unknown size of any potential class, and legal and factual issues in dispute, the
outcome of this case cannot be predicted and a range of loss, if any, cannot currently be estimated.
The Company is subject to various other proceedings, lawsuits, disputes and claims and regulatory investigations arising in the ordinary course of its business. Many of
these actions raise complex factual and legal issues and are subject to uncertainties. Actions filed against the Company include commercial, customer, and employmentrelated claims. The plaintiffs in some actions seek unspecified damages or injunctive relief, or both. These actions are in various procedural stages, and some are
covered in part by insurance. Although the Company cannot predict the ultimate outcome and the range of loss cannot be currently estimated, the Company does not
believe that the eventual outcome of any such action could have a material adverse effect on its business, financial condition, results of operations, or cash flows.
Multiemployer Defined Benefit Pension Plans
Approximately 13.8% of the Company’s workforce is covered by collective bargaining agreements with various local unions across its operating regions. As a result of
some of these agreements, certain of the Company’s subsidiaries are participating employers in a number of trustee-managed multiemployer, defined benefit pension
plans for the affected employees.
A complete or partial withdrawal from a multiemployer pension plan may occur if employees covered by a collective bargaining agreement vote to decertify a union
from continuing to represent them. The Company is not aware of any such actions in connection with continuing operations. As a result of certain prior discontinued
operations, the Company is potentially exposed to certain withdrawal liabilities.
The Company does not believe that any future withdrawals, individually or in the aggregate, from the multiemployer plans to which it contributes could have a material
adverse effect on the Company's business, financial condition or liquidity. However, such withdrawals could have a material adverse effect on the Company's results of
operations for a particular reporting period, depending on the number of employees withdrawn in any future period and the financial condition of the multiemployer
plan(s) at the time of such withdrawal(s).
10. Segment and Related Information
The Company manages and evaluates its operations primarily through its South, East and Midwest regional segments. These three groups are presented below as the
Company’s reportable segments. The Company’s three geographic operating segments provide collection, transfer, disposal and recycling services. The Company serves
residential, commercial and industrial, and municipal customers throughout its operating segments.
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Service revenues, operating income (loss) and depreciation and amortization for the Company's reportable segments for the periods indicated are shown in the following
tables:
Operating
Income
(Loss)

Service
Revenues

Depreciation
and
Amortization

Three Months Ended June 30, 2020
South

$

East
Midwest
Corporate

155.2

$

24.3

$

21.5

93.3

5.4

19.1

131.8

16.1

22.2

—

(18.1)

1.3

$

380.3

$

27.7

$

64.1

$

162.0

$

14.3

$

21.7

Three Months Ended June 30, 2019
South
East

109.5

Midwest

147.6

Corporate

—

6.8

21.6

19.2

25.7

(31.6)

1.3

$

419.1

$

8.7

$

70.3

$

317.4

$

46.0

$

44.0

Six Months Ended June 30, 2020
South
East

187.2

Midwest

262.4

Corporate

—

6.7

37.9

26.5

44.1

(37.9)

2.7

$

767.0

$

41.3

$

128.7

$

321.9

$

38.3

$

44.4

Six Months Ended June 30, 2019
South
East

204.4

8.5

40.7

Midwest

276.8

33.1

48.6

(53.3)

2.5

Corporate

—
$

17

803.1

$

26.6

$

136.2
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The following table presents the Company's revenues disaggregated by major line of business. Recycling rebates paid to customers, franchise fees paid to customers and
state landfill taxes are excluded from revenues.
Three Months Ended June 30,
2020

Residential Collection Revenue

$

Six Months Ended June 30,

2019

107.3

$

2020

102.3

$

2019

213.1

$

203.0

Commercial Collection Revenue

91.9

99.6

192.2

197.5

Rolloff Collection Revenue

60.4

69.3

122.7

131.6

Disposal Revenue

62.3

77.3

120.3

138.1

Fuel and Environmental Charges

23.1

29.1

49.3

56.7

3.0

2.3

5.0

5.4

32.3

39.2

64.4

70.8

Sale of Recyclables
Other Revenue
$

380.3

$

419.1

$

767.0

$

803.1

Fluctuations in the Company's operating results may be caused by many factors, including period-to-period changes in the relative contribution of revenue by each line
of business and operating segment and by general economic conditions. In addition, its revenues and income from operations typically reflect seasonal patterns. The
Company expects its operating results to vary seasonally, with revenues typically lowest in the first quarter, higher in the second and third quarters and lower in the
fourth quarter than in the second and third quarters. This seasonality reflects the lower volume of solid waste generated during the late fall, winter and early spring in the
East and Midwest segments because of decreased construction and demolition activities during winter months in these regions of the United States. In addition, some of
the Company's operating costs may be higher in the winter months. Adverse winter weather conditions slow waste collection activities, resulting in higher labor and
operational costs. Greater precipitation in the winter increases the weight of collected municipal solid waste, resulting in higher disposal costs, which are calculated on a
per ton basis.
Additionally, certain destructive weather conditions that tend to occur during the second half of the year, such as hurricanes that most often impact the South region, can
increase the Company’s revenues in the areas affected. While weather-related and other occurrences can boost revenues through additional work, the earnings generated
can be moderated as a result of significant start-up costs and other factors, resulting in earnings at comparatively lower margins. These destructive weather conditions
can result in higher fuel costs, higher labor costs, reduced municipal contract productivity and higher disposal costs in disposal neutral markets. Certain weather
conditions, including severe winter storms, may result in the temporary suspension of the Company’s operations, which can significantly affect the operating results of
the affected regions.
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11. Fair Value Measurements
Assets and Liabilities Accounted for at Fair Value
In measuring fair values of assets and liabilities, the Company uses valuation techniques that maximize the use of observable inputs (Level 1) and minimize the use of
unobservable inputs (Level 3). The Company does not have any assets or liabilities measured using unobservable Level 3 inputs. The Company also uses market data or
assumptions that it believes market participants would use in pricing an asset or liability, including assumptions about risk when appropriate. The carrying value for
certain of the Company's financial instruments approximate fair value because of their short-term nature. The Company’s assets and liabilities that are measured at fair
value on a recurring basis include the following:
Fair Value Measurement at June 30, 2020
Reporting Date Using
Quoted Prices
in Active
Markets for
Identical Assets
(Level 1)

Total

Significant
Other
Observable
Inputs
(Level 2)

Carrying
Value

Recurring fair value measurements
Cash and cash equivalents

$

31.4

Interest rate caps - liability position
Total recurring fair value measurements

$

31.4

(3.0)
$

28.4

$

—

—
$

31.4

$

31.4

$

28.4

(3.0)
$

(3.0)

(3.0)

Fair Value Measurement at December 31, 2019
Reporting Date Using
Quoted Prices
in Active
Markets for
Identical Assets
(Level 1)

Total

Significant
Other
Observable
Inputs
(Level 2)

Carrying
Value

Recurring fair value measurements
Cash and cash equivalents

$

Interest rate caps - liability position
Total recurring fair value measurements

$

12.5

$

12.5

(4.1)

$

—

8.4

$

12.5

$

—

$

(4.1)
$

(4.1)

12.5
(4.1)

$

8.4

The fair value of the interest rate caps are determined using standard option valuation models with assumptions about interest rates based on those observed in
underlying markets (Level 2 in fair value hierarchy).
Fair Value of Debt
The fair value of the Company’s debt (Level 2) is estimated using indirectly observable market inputs, except for the Revolver for which cost approximates fair value
due to the short-term nature of the interest rate. Although the Company has determined the estimated fair value amounts using quoted market prices, considerable
judgment is required in interpreting the information and in developing the estimated fair values. Therefore, these estimates are not necessarily indicative of the amounts
that the Company, or holders of the instruments, could realize in a current market exchange. The fair value estimates are based on information available as of June 30,
2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively.
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The estimated fair value of the Company’s debt is as follows:
June 30,
2020

Revolver

$

December 31,
2019

—

Senior Notes

$

440.9

Term Loan B

1,329.3
$

1,770.2

30.0
443.4
1,379.4

$

1,852.8

The carrying value of the Company’s debt at June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019 was $1,771.1 and $1,827.5, respectively.
12. Merger
Agreement and Plan of Merger
On April 14, 2019, the Company entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger with Waste Management, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“Waste Management”), and a
merger subsidiary of Waste Management. On June 24, 2020, the Company, Waste Management, and the merger subsidiary of Waste Management entered into
Amendment No. 1 to the merger agreement. In exchange for agreeing to reduce the per share merger consideration to $30.30 per share in cash, the Company and Waste
Management agreed to amend the terms of the original merger agreement to provide increased closing certainty to the Company’s stockholders, including by, among
other things: (i) extending the end date from July 13, 2020 to September 30, 2020, which will be further extended automatically to November 30, 2020, subject to
certain conditions; (ii) providing for a $250.0 termination fee payable by Waste Management to the Company in certain circumstances; and (iii) providing that Waste
Management must use ‘‘best efforts’’ to take all actions to consummate the transactions by the end date, including using its ‘‘best efforts’’ to obtain antitrust approval,
and eliminating the $200.0 revenue threshold on the divestiture obligation of Waste Management as provided in the original merger agreement.
In connection with entering into the merger agreement amendment at the request of Waste Management in furtherance of the merger, Advanced Disposal entered into a
Securities and Asset Purchase Agreement with GFL Holdco (US), LLC (“GFL”), Waste Management, and solely for the purposes set forth therein, GFL Environmental
Inc., dated as of June 24, 2020 (as amended on July 29, 2020), which was executed to address all of the divestitures anticipated to be required by the U.S. Department of
Justice to obtain antitrust approval for the merger. Pursuant to such agreement, GFL will purchase certain equity interests and assets from Advanced Disposal and Waste
Management for an aggregate purchase price of $863.5 subsequent to the merger between Advanced Disposal and Waste Management.
13. Equity Method Investment
The Company uses the equity method to account for its 50% financial interest in Sanitation Services Company Limited. Summarized financial information for Sanitation
Services Company Limited consists of the following:
(in millions)

Six Months Ended June 30,
2020

2019

Service revenue

$

7.4

$

7.8

Operating income

$

0.8

$

2.3

Income before income taxes

$

0.9

$

2.4

Net income

$

0.9

$

2.4
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
You should read the following discussion in conjunction with the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements and notes thereto included under Item 1. In
addition, you should refer to our audited consolidated financial statements and notes thereto and related Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations appearing in our 2019 Annual Report on Form 10-K. All dollar amounts are presented in millions, unless otherwise stated.
Overview
We are a leading integrated provider of non-hazardous solid waste collection, transfer, recycling and disposal services, operating primarily in secondary markets or
under exclusive arrangements. We have a presence in 16 states across the South, East and Midwest regions of the United States, serving approximately 2.7 million
residential and over 200,000 commercial and industrial (C&I) customers through our extensive network of 95 collection operations, 73 transfer stations, 3 owned or
operated material recycling facilities, 19 locations where we receive and bale recyclable material and 41 owned or operated landfills. We have 18 active landfill gas
operations at solid waste landfills where landfill gas is captured and utilized for its renewable energy value rather than flared. We also have post-closure responsibility
for seven closed landfills. We seek to drive financial performance in markets in which we own or operate a disposal facility or in certain disposal-neutral markets, where
the disposal facility is owned by our municipal customer. In markets in which we own or operate a disposal facility, we aim to create and maintain vertically integrated
operations through which we manage a majority of our customers' waste from the point of collection through the point of disposal, a process we refer to as
internalization. By internalizing a majority of the waste in these markets, we are able to deliver high quality customer service while also ensuring a stable revenue
stream and maximizing profitability and cash flow from operations. In disposal-neutral markets, we focus selectively on opportunities where we can negotiate exclusive
arrangements with our municipal customers, facilitating highly efficient and profitable collection operations with lower capital requirements.
Geographically, we focus our business principally in secondary, or less densely populated non-urban, markets where the presence of large national providers is generally
more limited. We also compete selectively in primary, or densely populated urban, markets where we can capitalize on opportunities for vertical integration through our
high-quality transfer and disposal infrastructure and where we can benefit from highly efficient collection route density. We maintain an attractive mix of revenue from
varying sources, including residential collections, C&I collections, landfill gas and special waste streams, and fees charged to third parties for disposal in our network of
transfer stations and landfills.
Merger
On April 14, 2019, we entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger with Waste Management, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“Parent”), and Everglades Merger Sub
Inc., a Delaware corporation and a wholly-owned indirect subsidiary of Parent. On June 24, 2020, the Company entered into Amendment No. 1 to the previously
announced Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of April 14, 2019. Further details can be found in the Company's Form 8-K related to this matter, filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on April 15, 2019, in the Company's Form 8-K, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 24, 2020 and the
Company's definitive proxy statement, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on July 24, 2020.
COVID-19
We are experiencing volume declines in all of our lines of business except residential due to deteriorating macroeconomic conditions and stay-at-home orders resulting
from the COVID-19 pandemic. We are taking a number of steps to respond to this challenge including the following:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Reducing or eliminating face-to-face interactions with our employees;
Executing on enhanced protocols to keep vehicles, common areas, and offices extra clean;
Procuring additional personal protective equipment including masks, gloves, hand sanitizer, and cleaning solutions;
Reallocating resources, reducing overtime, and parking surplus equipment to reduce operating costs;
Rerouting where needed to maximize productivity and meet customer needs;
Flexing capital spending while still meeting business needs;
Significantly reducing travel and discretionary spending; and
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•

Maintaining higher target cash balances and as of June 30, 2020 able to access $271.7 million of additional liquidity from our revolving credit facility
supported by a diverse group of lenders.

Results of Operations
The following table sets forth for the periods indicated our consolidated results of operations and the percentage relationship that certain items from our condensed
consolidated financial statements bear to revenue (in millions and as a percentage of our revenue).
Three Months Ended June 30,
2020

Service revenues

$

380.3

Six Months Ended June 30,
2019

100.0% $

419.1

2020

100.0% $

767.0

2019

100.0 % $

803.1

100.0%

517.9

64.5%

Operating costs and expenses
Operating

237.9

Accretion of landfill retirement
obligations

62.6%

272.8

65.1%

490.8

64.0 %

4.4

1.1%

4.4

1.0%

8.9

1.1 %

8.7

1.1%

242.3

63.7%

277.2

66.1%

499.7

65.1 %

526.6

65.6%

Selling, general and administrative

45.7

12.0%

62.2

14.8%

96.7

12.6 %

112.0

13.9%

Depreciation and amortization

64.1

16.9%

70.3

16.8%

128.7

16.8 %

136.2

17.0%

Acquisition and development costs

—

—%

0.2

0.1%

—

—%

1.0

0.1%

Loss on disposal of assets and asset
impairments

0.5

0.1%

0.5

0.1%

0.6

—%

0.7

0.1%

352.6

92.7%

410.4

97.9%

725.7

94.6 %

776.5

96.7%

26.6

3.3%

Operating expenses

Total operating costs and
expenses
Operating income

$

27.7

7.3% $

8.7

2.1% $

41.3

5.4 % $

Revenue
Through our subsidiaries, we generate revenue primarily by providing collection and disposal services to commercial, industrial, municipal and residential customers.
Our remaining revenue is generated from recycling, fuel and environmental charges, landfill gas-to-energy operations and other ancillary revenue-generating activities.
Revenues from our collection operations consist of fees we receive from municipal, subscription, residential and C&I customers and are influenced by factors such as
collection frequency, type of collection equipment furnished, type and volume or weight of the waste collected, distance to the recycling, transfer station or disposal
facilities and our disposal costs. Standard C&I service agreements are typically three to five years, and we have historically maintained strong relationships with our
C&I customers. Our municipal customer relationships are generally supported by exclusive contracts ranging from three to ten years in initial duration with subsequent
renewal periods. Certain municipal contracts have annual price escalation clauses that are tied to changes in an underlying base index such as the consumer price index
(CPI). We provide commercial front load and temporary and permanent rolloff service offerings to our commercial customers. While the majority of our rolloff services
are provided to customers under long-term service agreements, we generally do not enter into written contracts with our temporary rolloff customers due to the relatively
short-term nature of most construction and demolition (C&D) projects.
Our transfer stations and landfills generate revenue from disposal or tipping fees. Revenues from our landfill operations consist of fees which are generally based on the
type and weight or volume of waste being disposed of at our disposal facilities. Fees charged at transfer stations are generally based on the weight or volume of waste
deposited, taking into account our cost of loading, transporting and disposing of the solid waste at a disposal site. Recycling revenue consists of disposal or tipping fees
and proceeds from the sale of recyclable commodities to third parties.
The amounts charged for collection, disposal and recycling services may include fuel charges and environmental charges. Fuel charges and environmental charges are
not designed to be specific to the direct costs and expenses to service an individual customer's account, but rather are designed to address and to help recover changes in
our overall cost structure and to achieve an operating margin acceptable to us.
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Other revenue is comprised of ancillary revenue-generating activities, such as trucking, landfill gas-to-energy operations at municipal solid waste (MSW) landfills,
management of third-party owned landfills, customer service charges relating to overdue payments, customer administrative charges relating to customers who request
paper copies of invoices rather than opting for electronic invoices and compliance and business impact charges.
The following table sets forth our consolidated revenues by line of business for the periods indicated (in millions and as a percentage of total service revenues).
Three Months Ended June 30,
2020

Collection

$

Six Months Ended June 30,
2019

66.7 %

33.9 %

152.5

3.8

1.0 %

Fuel and environmental charges

24.2

Other revenue

35.7

Sale of recyclables

Intercompany eliminations
Total service revenues

$

68.3 %

129.0

68.9 %

36.4 %

252.1

2.7

0.6 %

6.4 %

30.3

9.4 %

34.6

(19.0)%

380.3

100.0 %

$

547.6

68.2 %

32.9 %

279.6

34.8 %

6.6

0.9 %

6.3

0.8 %

7.2 %

51.7

6.7 %

59.2

7.4 %

8.3 %

71.2

9.3 %

62.0

(80.4)

(19.2)%

419.1

100.0 %

$

2019

528.7

(72.3)

$

2020

279.4

Disposal

259.9

$

(143.3)

(18.7)%

767.0

100.0 %

$

$

7.7 %

(151.6)

(18.9)%

803.1

100.0 %

The following table reflects changes in components of our revenue, as a percentage of total revenue, for the three and six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019:
Three Months Ended June 30,
2020

Six Months Ended June 30,

2019

2020

2019

Average yield

3.8 %

3.2 %

3.7 %

3.6 %

Recycling

0.2 %

(0.2)%

—%

(0.2)%

(1.0)%

—%

(0.6)%

0.2 %

Fuel surcharge revenue
Total yield
Organic volume
Acquisitions
Total revenue growth

3.0 %

3.0 %

3.1 %

3.6 %

(12.2)%

0.8 %

(7.8)%

0.2 %

—%

1.5 %

0.2 %

1.5 %

(9.2)%

5.3 %

(4.5)%

5.3 %

Average yield is defined as aggregate contribution of price changes excluding recycled commodities and fuel surcharge revenue.
During the three months ended June 30, 2020, we experienced the following changes in components of our revenue as compared to the same period in fiscal 2019:
•

Average yield increased revenue by 3.8% driven by higher open market price yield as we continue to focus on disciplined pricing and higher price yield in our
municipal residential collection business due to the positive impact of higher CPI contract resets;

•

Recycling revenue increased revenue by 0.2% due to a moderate increase in recycling commodity prices;

•

Fuel surcharge revenue decreased revenue by 1.0% due to a decrease in diesel fuel prices. These charges fluctuate in response to changes in prices for diesel fuel on
which the surcharge is based and, consequently, any decrease in fuel prices results in a decrease in our revenue. Our fuel surcharges reset on a monthly basis
therefore a decrease in our fuel surcharge revenue is delayed in comparison to the decrease in our fuel expense when diesel fuel prices decrease;

•

Organic volume decreased revenue by 12.2% or $51.1 due to the following: lower revenue of $25.6 due to the impacts of COVID-19; lower disposal revenue of
$18.4 due to the loss of certain disposal volumes in the Midwest and the cycling of strong prior year special waste and construction and demolition volumes; and
lower commercial and rolloff collection volumes of $6.2 due to the loss of certain contracts and lower special waste volume in the South region. The decrease was
partially offset by higher residential collection volume of $2.0.
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During the six months ended June 30, 2020, we experienced the following changes in components of our revenue as compared to the same period in fiscal 2019:
•

Average yield increased revenue by 3.7% driven by higher open market price yield as we continue to focus on disciplined pricing and higher price yield in our
municipal residential collection business due to the positive impact of higher CPI contract resets;

•

Fuel surcharge revenue decreased revenue by 0.6% due to a decrease in diesel fuel prices. These charges fluctuate in response to changes in prices for diesel fuel on
which the surcharge is based and, consequently, any decrease in fuel prices results in a decrease in our revenue. Our fuel surcharges reset on a monthly basis
therefore a decrease in our fuel surcharge revenue is delayed in comparison to the decrease in our fuel expense when diesel fuel prices decrease;

•

Organic volume decreased revenue by 7.8% or $62.2 due to the following: lower revenue of $31.2 due to the impacts of COVID-19; lower disposal revenue of
$24.2 due to the loss of certain disposal volumes in the Midwest and the cycling of strong prior year special waste and construction and demolition volumes; lower
commercial and rolloff collection volumes of $8.2 due to the loss of certain contracts and lower special waste volume in the South region. The decrease was
partially offset by higher residential collection volume of $4.7 and the impact of $2.2 related to one extra company workday during the six months ended June 30,
2020 compared to the six months ended June 30, 2019;

•

Acquisitions increased revenue by 0.2% due to the completion of acquisitions during the six months ended June 30, 2019 that further enhance our vertical
integration strategy.

Operating Expenses
Our operating expenses include the following:
•

Labor and related benefits, which consist of salaries and wages, health and welfare benefits, incentive compensation and payroll taxes;

•

Transfer and disposal costs which include tipping fees paid to third-party disposal facilities and transfer stations as well as transportation and subcontractor costs
(which include costs for independent haulers who transport waste from transfer stations to our disposal facilities and costs for local operators who provide waste
handling services associated with markets outside our standard operating areas);

•

Maintenance and repairs expenses which include labor, maintenance and repairs to our vehicles, equipment and containers;

•

Fuel costs which include the direct cost of fuel used by our vehicles, net of fuel tax credits;

•

Franchise and host fees which consist of municipal franchise fees not paid to customers, host community fees and royalties;

•

Risk management expenses which include casualty insurance premiums, claims payments, estimates for claims incurred but not reported and casualty losses;

•

Other expenses which include expenses such as facility operating costs, equipment rent, leachate and sulfate treatment and disposal and other landfill maintenance
costs;

•

Accretion expense related to landfill capping, closure and post-closure is included in operating expenses in our condensed consolidated statement of operations, but
it is excluded from the table below (refer to “Accretion of Landfill Retirement Obligations” below for a detailed discussion of the changes in amounts).
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The following table summarizes the major components of our operating expenses, excluding accretion expense on our landfill retirement obligations (in millions and as
a percentage of our revenue):
Three Months Ended June 30,
2020

Labor and related benefits

$

Six Months Ended June 30,

2019

2020

2019

83.6

22.0% $

88.2

21.0% $

173.7

22.6% $

173.9

21.7%

Transfer and disposal costs

49.6

13.0%

57.7

13.8%

102.0

13.3%

107.9

13.4%

Maintenance and repairs

40.3

10.6%

41.7

9.9%

80.8

10.5%

81.6

10.2%

Fuel

11.2

2.9%

19.9

4.7%

27.7

3.6%

38.9

4.8%

Franchise and host fees

9.2

2.4%

11.3

2.7%

17.9

2.3%

20.6

2.6%

Risk management

9.6

2.5%

9.2

2.2%

19.8

2.6%

18.6

2.3%

Other
Subtotal

34.4
$

Landfill remediation expenses
Total operating expenses, excluding accretion expense

237.9
—

$

237.9

9.2%
62.6% $
—%
62.6% $

35.2
263.2
9.6
272.8

8.5%
62.8% $
2.3%
65.1% $

68.9
490.8
—
490.8

9.1%
64.0% $

66.8

8.3%

508.3

63.3%

9.6

1.2%

517.9

64.5%

—%
64.0% $

The cost categories shown above may not be comparable to similarly titled categories used by other companies. Thus, you should exercise caution when comparing our
operating expenses by cost component to that of other companies.

Three months ended June 30, 2020 compared to 2019

Operating expenses decreased by $34.9 to $237.9 for the three months ended June 30, 2020 from $272.8 for the three months ended June 30, 2019. Operating expenses,
excluding landfill remediation expenses, decreased by $25.3 to $237.9 for the three months ended June 30, 2020 from $263.2 for the three months ended June 30, 2019.
The change was due to the following:
•

Labor and related benefits decreased by $4.6 or 5.2% to $83.6 which was primarily attributable to lower overtime wages as a result of COVID-19 and a decrease in
medical claims activity;

•

Transfer and disposal costs decreased by $8.1 or 14.0% to $49.6 primarily due to lower third party disposal costs as a result of reduced container weights resulting
from the impact of COVID-19 and a decrease in third-party transportation costs due to the impacts of COVID-19. The decrease was partially offset by an increase in
processing costs associated with single stream recycling;

•

Maintenance and repairs expense decreased by $1.4 or 3.4% to $40.3 primarily due to lower overtime wages as a result of COVID-19 and a reduction in the overall
level of repairs needed by our collection fleet due to lower collection volumes as a result of COVID-19;

•

Fuel costs decreased $8.7 or 43.7% to $11.2 as a result of lower diesel fuel costs per gallon and a reduction in fuel consumption due to COVID-19;

•

Franchise and host fees decreased $2.1 or 18.6% to $9.2 primarily due to lower landfill host fees due to the loss of certain disposal volumes in the Midwest, the
cycling of strong prior year special waste and construction and demolition volumes and lower disposal weights resulting from the impact of COVID-19;

•

Risk management expense increased $0.4 or 4.3% to $9.6 primarily due to higher loss experience associated with automobile and property liability claims;

•

Other operating costs decreased $0.8 or 2.3% to $34.4 primarily due to lower material purchases to support our previously acquired asphalt business and lower site
maintenance costs at several facilities. The decrease was partially offset by higher leachate and gas treatment costs at several of our landfills partially due to weather
related impacts.
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Six months ended June 30, 2020 compared to 2019

Operating expenses decreased by $27.1 to $490.8 for the six months ended June 30, 2020 from $517.9 for the six months ended June 30, 2019. Operating expenses,
excluding landfill remediation expenses, decreased by $17.5 to $490.8 for the six months ended June 30, 2020 from $508.3 for the six months ended June 30, 2019. The
change was due to the following:
•

Labor and related benefits decreased by $0.2 to $173.7 which was primarily attributable to lower overtime wages as a result of COVID-19. The decrease was largely
offset by higher labor costs as a result of merit increases, increased medical insurance claims, increased labor demands associated with a new municipal contract win
in the South region and the impact of one extra workday during the six months ended June 30, 2020 compared to the six months ended June 30, 2019;

•

Transfer and disposal costs decreased by $5.9 or 5.5% to $102.0 primarily due to lower third party disposal costs as a result of reduced container weights resulting
from the impact of COVID-19 and a decrease in third-party transportation costs due to the impacts of COVID-19. The decrease was partially offset by an increase in
processing costs associated with single stream recycling;

•

Maintenance and repairs expense decreased by $0.8 or 1.0% to $80.8 primarily due to a reduction in the cost of truck and container repairs as a result of lower
collection volumes as a result of COVID-19. The decrease was partially offset by the impact of one extra workday during the six months ended June 30, 2020
compared to the six months ended June 30, 2019;

•

Fuel costs decreased $11.2 or 28.8% to $27.7 as a result of lower diesel fuel costs per gallon and a reduction in productivity due to COVID-19 partially offset by the
impact of one extra workday during the six months ended June 30, 2020 compared to the six months ended June 30, 2019;

•

Franchise and host fees decreased $2.7 or 13.1% to $17.9 primarily due to lower landfill host fees due to the loss of certain disposal volumes in the Midwest, the
cycling of strong prior year special waste and construction and demolition volumes and lower disposal weights resulting from the impact of COVID-19;

•

Risk management expense increased $1.2 or 6.5% to $19.8 primarily due to a lower discount rate (rates significantly declined in March, due to the impacts of
COVID-19), used in the automobile and property liability actuarial analysis and due to higher loss experience associated with automobile and property liability
claims;

•

Other operating costs increased $2.1 or 3.1% to $68.9 primarily due to higher leachate and gas treatment costs at several of our landfills partially due to weather
related impacts and higher site maintenance costs at several facilities.

Accretion of Landfill Retirement Obligations
Accretion expense was $4.4 and $4.4 for the three months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively and was relatively consistent as a percentage of revenue.
Accretion expense was $8.9 and $8.7 for the six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively and was relatively consistent as a percentage of revenue.
Selling, General and Administrative
Selling, general and administrative expenses include salaries, legal and professional fees and other expenses. Salaries expenses include salaries and wages, health and
welfare benefits and incentive compensation for corporate and field general management, field support functions, sales force, accounting and finance, legal,
management information systems, and clerical and administrative departments. Other expenses include rent and office costs, fees for professional services provided by
third parties, marketing, directors’ and officers’ insurance, general employee relocation, travel, entertainment and bank charges, but exclude any such amounts recorded
as restructuring charges.
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The following table provides the components of our selling, general and administrative expenses for the periods indicated (in millions and as a percentage of our
revenue):
Three Months Ended June 30,
2020

Salaries

$

29.1

Legal and professional
Other
Total selling, general and
administrative expenses

$

Six Months Ended June 30,
2019

2020

7.7% $

30.6

7.3%

59.7

7.8% $

62.4

7.8%

5.6

1.5%

15.8

3.8%

10.7

1.4%

20.1

2.5%

11.0

2.8%

15.8

3.7%

26.3

3.4%

29.5

3.6%

62.2

14.8%

112.0

13.9%

45.7

12.0% $

$

2019

$

96.7

12.6% $

Three months ended June 30, 2020 compared to 2019
•

Our salaries expense decreased by $1.5 or 4.9% to $29.1 primarily due to the following: the timing of bonus accruals associated with our guaranteed bonus program
adopted as part of the merger as further described in Note 12 to the unaudited consolidated financial statements; and lower stock based compensation expense. The
decrease was partially offset by higher temporary labor costs needed to replace employees that are no longer with the Company in part due to the proposed merger;

•

Legal and professional fees decreased $10.2 to $5.6 due to a legal case settlement in the prior year as further described in Note 9 to the unaudited consolidated
financial statements;

•

Other selling, general and administrative expenses decreased $4.8 or 30.4% to $11.0 primarily due to lower bad debt expense than expected and a decrease in
various company costs due the impacts of COVID-19.

Six months ended June 30, 2020 compared to 2019
•

Our salaries expense decreased by $2.7 or 4.3% to $59.7 primarily due to lower stock based compensation expense partially offset by higher temporary labor costs
needed to replace employees that are no longer with the Company in part due to the proposed merger;

•

Legal and professional fees decreased $9.4 to $10.7 due to a legal case settlement in the prior year as further described in Note 9 to the unaudited consolidated
financial statements;

•

Other selling, general and administrative expenses decreased $3.2 or 10.8% to $26.3 primarily due to lower bad debt expense than expected and a decrease in
various company costs due the impacts of COVID-19.

Depreciation and Amortization

The following table summarizes the components of depreciation and amortization expense by asset type (in millions and as a percentage of our revenue). For a detailed
discussion of depreciation and amortization by asset type refer to the discussion included in the following two sections herein.
Three Months Ended June 30,
2020

Depreciation, amortization and
depletion of property and
equipment

$

56.3

$

64.1

Amortization of other intangible
assets
Depreciation and amortization

7.8

Six Months Ended June 30,
2019

14.8% $
2.1%
16.9% $

62.5
7.8
70.3
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2020

14.9% $
1.9%
16.8% $

113.2
15.5
128.7

2019

14.8% $
1.9%
16.8% $

120.6

15.0%

15.6

2.0%

136.2

17.0%
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Depreciation, Amortization and Depletion of Property and Equipment
Depreciation, amortization and depletion expense includes depreciation of fixed assets over the estimated useful life of the assets using the straight-line method, and
amortization and depletion of landfill airspace assets under the units-of-consumption method. Refer to the footnotes to the consolidated financial statements in our 2019
Annual Report on Form 10-K for a further discussion of our accounting policies.
The following table summarizes depreciation, amortization and depletion of property and equipment for the periods indicated (in millions and as a percentage of our
revenue):
Three Months Ended June 30,

Six Months Ended June 30,

2020

2019

2020

2019

Depreciation and
amortization of
property and equipment $

34.6

9.1% $

34.5

8.2% $

69.7

9.1% $

70.1

8.7%

Landfill depletion and
amortization

21.7

5.7%

28.0

6.7%

43.5

5.7%

50.5

6.3%

120.6

15.0%

Depreciation,
amortization and
depletion of property
and equipment

$

56.3

14.8% $

62.5

14.9% $

113.2

14.8% $

Three months ended June 30, 2020 compared to 2019
•

Depreciation and amortization of property and equipment increased $0.1 or 0.3% to $34.6 which is relatively consistent with the previous period;

•

Landfill depletion and amortization decreased $6.3 or 22.5% to $21.7 due to lower disposal weights resulting from the impact of COVID-19; the loss of certain
disposal volumes in the Midwest; and the cycling of strong prior year special waste and construction and demolition volumes;

Six months ended June 30, 2020 compared to 2019
•

Depreciation and amortization of property and equipment decreased $0.4 or 0.6% to $69.7 which is relatively consistent with the previous period;

•

Landfill depletion and amortization decreased $7.0 or 13.9% to $43.5 due to lower disposal weights resulting from the impact of COVID-19; the loss of certain
disposal volumes in the Midwest; and the cycling of strong prior year special waste and construction and demolition volumes;

Amortization of Other Intangible Assets
Amortization of other intangible assets was $7.8 and $7.8, or as a percentage of revenue, 2.1% and 1.9%, for the three months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019,
respectively. Amortization of other intangible assets was $15.5 and $15.6, or as a percentage of revenue, 1.9% and 2.0%, for the six months ended June 30, 2020 and
2019, respectively.
Acquisitions and Divestitures
In the ordinary course of our business, we regularly evaluate and pursue acquisition opportunities that further enhance our vertical integration strategy. We also regularly
evaluate our current operations and consider divesting of those operations that do not provide us with an acceptable profit margin.
No acquisitions were completed during the six months ended June 30, 2020. We completed two acquisitions during the six months ended June 30, 2019 for a cash
purchase price of $24.9. Additionally, we made a $2.2 deferred purchase price payment during the six months ended June 30, 2019 related to an acquisition completed
during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2018. The
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results of operations of each acquisition are included in our condensed consolidated statements of operations subsequent to the closing date of each acquisition.
Other income, net

Changes in the fair value and settlements of derivative instruments that do not qualify for hedge accounting are recorded in other income, net in the condensed
consolidated statements of operations and amounted to no gain or loss and a loss of $0.4 for the three months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively. Changes in
the fair value and settlements of derivative instruments that do not qualify for hedge accounting amounted to no gain or loss and a loss of $0.9 for the six months ended
June 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively. Income from equity investee for the three months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively, was $0.0 and $0.3. Income from
equity investee for the six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively, was $0.4 and $1.1. During the three and six months ended June 30, 2019, the IRS closed
audits of our previously acquired Veolia subsidiaries for tax years 2004-2012 therefore the Company recorded a charge to other expense of $3.9 to write off an
indemnification receivable that was recorded as part of the 2012 purchase accounting.
Interest Expense
Interest expense decreased by $6.4 or 24.4% to $19.8 for the three months ended June 30, 2020 compared to the three months ended June 30, 2019. Interest expense
decreased by $9.8 or 18.8% to $42.4 for the six months ended June 30, 2020 compared to the six months ended June 30, 2019. The decrease was due to the impact of
decreasing interest rates on our variable rate debt and the benefit from lower debt balances.
Cash paid for interest was $23.7 and 30.0 for the three months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively. Cash paid for interest was $38.7 and 48.3 for the six months
ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively.
Income Taxes
Our effective income tax rate for the three months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019 was 23.5% and 95.3%, respectively. We evaluate our effective income tax rate at each
interim period and adjust it accordingly as facts and circumstances warrant. The difference between income taxes computed at the federal statutory rate of 21% and
reported income taxes for the three months ended June 30, 2020 was primarily due to state and local taxes. The difference between income taxes computed at the federal
statutory rate of 21% and reported income taxes for the three months ended June 30, 2019 was primarily due to the favorable impact of the settlement of the IRS audit of
the Veolia subsidiaries for tax years 2004 - 2012.
Our effective income tax rate for the six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019 was 50.0% and 75.4%, respectively. Our effective income tax rate for the six months
ended June 30, 2020 differs from the federal statutory rate of 21% as a result of income taxes on near break even pre tax loss. The difference between income taxes
computed at the federal statutory rate of 21% and reported income tax benefit for the six months ended June 30, 2020 was primarily due to state and local taxes. The
difference between income taxes computed at the federal statutory rate of 21% and reported income tax benefit for the six months ended June 30, 2019 was primarily
due to the favorable impact of the settlement of the IRS audit of the Veolia subsidiaries for tax years 2004 - 2012.
Cash paid for income taxes (net of refunds) was $0.8 and $0.4 for the three months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively. Cash paid for income taxes (net of
refunds) was $0.9 and $1.5 for the six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively.
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Reportable Segments
Our operations are managed through three geographic regions (South, East and Midwest) that we designate as our reportable segments. Service revenues, operating
income (loss) and depreciation and amortization for our reportable segments for the periods indicated are shown in the following tables:
Operating
Income
(Loss)

Service
Revenues

Depreciation
and
Amortization

Three Months Ended June 30, 2020
South

$

155.2

East
Midwest
Corporate

$

24.3

$

21.5

93.3

5.4

19.1

131.8

16.1

22.2

(18.1)

1.3

—
$

380.3

$

27.7

$

64.1

$

162.0

$

14.3

$

21.7

Three Months Ended June 30, 2019
South
East

109.5

Midwest

147.6

Corporate

—

6.8

21.6

19.2

25.7

(31.6)

1.3

$

419.1

$

8.7

$

70.3

$

317.4

$

46.0

$

44.0

Six Months Ended June 30, 2020
South
East

187.2

Midwest

262.4

Corporate

—

6.7

37.9

26.5

44.1

(37.9)

2.7

$

767.0

$

41.3

$

128.7

$

321.9

$

38.3

$

44.4

Six Months Ended June 30, 2019
South
East

204.4

8.5

40.7

Midwest

276.8

33.1

48.6

(53.3)

2.5

Corporate

—
$

803.1

$

26.6

$

136.2

Comparison of Reportable Segments—Three Months Ended June 30, 2020 compared to Three Months Ended June 30, 2019

South Segment
Revenue decreased $6.8 or 4.2% for the three months ended June 30, 2020 compared to the three months ended June 30, 2019. The decrease was primarily due to the
following: a decrease in rolloff and commercial collection volumes of $9.3 primarily due to the impacts of COVID-19; a decrease in disposal volumes of $5.7 primarily
due to the cycling of strong prior year special waste and construction and demolition volumes and the impacts of COVID-19; and a decrease in fuel surcharge revenue of
$1.0 due to the decline in diesel fuel prices. The decrease was partially offset by an increase in price yield from our collection and disposal operations of $6.2 as we
continue to focus on disciplined open market pricing and receive the positive benefit from higher CPI contract resets in our municipal collection business and an
increase of $3.5 in residential volume primarily due to a new municipal contract that commenced in the fourth quarter of 2019.
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Operating income from our South Segment increased by $10.0 for the three months ended June 30, 2020 compared to the three months ended June 30, 2019. The
increase was primarily due to the following: a reduction in landfill remediation expenses of $9.6 as further described in Note 9 to the unaudited consolidated financial
statements; a reduction in MSW disposal costs of $3.6 due to the impacts of COVID-19; a decrease in fuel costs of $2.8 due to the decrease in diesel fuel prices and a
reduction in fuel consumption due to COVID-19; and a reduction of $1.5 in third party transportation costs due to the impacts of COVID-19. The increase was partially
offset by the revenue decrease of $6.8 as described above.

East Segment
Revenue decreased by $16.2, or 14.8% for the three months ended June 30, 2020 compared to the three months ended June 30, 2019. The decrease was primarily due to
the following: a decrease in disposal volumes of $12.1 primarily due to the impacts of COVID-19; a decrease in rolloff, commercial and residential collection volumes
of $8.0 primarily due to the impacts of COVID-19; a decrease in trucking revenue of $1.6 primarily due to the impact of COVID-19; and a decrease in fuel surcharge
revenue of $1.3 due to the decrease in diesel fuel prices. The decrease was partially offset by an increase in price yield from our collection and disposal operations of
$7.4 as we continue to focus on disciplined open market pricing and receive the positive benefit from higher CPI contract resets in our municipal collection business.

Operating income from our East Segment decreased $1.4 for the three months ended June 30, 2020 compared to the three months ended June 30, 2019. The decrease
was primarily due to the revenue decrease of $16.2 as described above. The decrease to operating income was largely offset by the following: a decrease in third party
transportation costs of $2.5 due to the impacts of COVID-19; a decrease in labor costs of $2.3 which was primarily attributable lower overtime wages as a result of
COVID-19 and a decrease in medical claims activity; a decrease in fuel costs of $2.3 due to the decrease in diesel fuel prices and a reduction in fuel consumption due to
COVID-19; a decrease in maintenance and repairs expense of $1.4 due to lower overtime wages as a result of COVID-19 and a reduction in the overall level of repairs
needed by our collection fleet due to lower collection volumes as a result of COVID-19; lower disposal costs of $0.9 primarily due to lower MSW disposal volumes as a
result of COVID-19; lower material purchases of $0.7 to support our previously acquired asphalt business and a decrease in host and franchise fees of $0.6 primarily due
to lower landfill volumes as a result of COVID-19. Additionally, depreciation and amortization decreased $2.5 primarily due to lower disposal volumes as a result of
COVID-19.
Midwest Segment
Revenue decreased $15.8 or 10.7% for the three months ended June 30, 2020 compared to the three months ended June 30, 2019. The decrease was primarily due to the
following: a decrease in disposal volumes of $10.1 primarily due to the impacts of COVID-19; a decrease in commercial, rolloff and residential collection volumes of
$9.6 primarily due to the impacts of COVID-19; and a decrease in fuel surcharge revenue of $1.9 due to the decrease in diesel fuel prices. The decrease was partially
offset by an increase in price yield from our collection and disposal operations of $4.0 as we continue to focus on disciplined open market pricing and receive the
positive benefit from higher CPI contract resets in our municipal collection business.
Operating income from our Midwest Segment decreased $3.1 for the three months ended June 30, 2020 compared to the three months ended June 30, 2019. The
decrease was primarily due to the $15.8 revenue decrease as described above. The decrease to operating income was partially offset by the following: a decrease in fuel
costs of $3.0 due to the decrease in diesel fuel prices and a reduction in fuel consumption due to COVID-19; a decrease in labor costs of $2.2 which was primarily
attributable lower overtime wages as a result of COVID-19 and a decrease in medical claims activity; a decrease in host and franchise fees of $1.6 primarily due to
lower landfill volumes as a result of COVID-19 and the loss of certain disposal volumes; lower disposal costs of $0.9 primarily due to lower MSW disposal volumes as
a result of COVID 19 and the loss of certain disposal volumes; and a decrease in third party transportation costs of $0.9 due to the impacts of COVID-19 and the loss of
certain disposal volumes;. Additionally, depreciation and amortization decreased $3.4 primarily due to lower disposal volumes as a result of COVID-19.
Corporate
Operating loss decreased $13.5 for the three months ended June 30, 2020 compared to the three months ended June 30, 2019 primarily due to the following: a $10.4
reduction in merger related expenses and a reduction of stock based compensation expense of $1.0.
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Comparison of Reportable Segments—Six Months Ended June 30, 2020 compared to Six Months Ended June 30, 2019

South Segment
Revenue decreased $4.5 or 1.4% for the six months ended June 30, 2020 compared to the six months ended June 30, 2019. The decrease was primarily due to the
following: a decrease in rolloff and commercial collection volumes of $13.7 primarily due to the impacts of COVID-19; a decrease in disposal volumes of $9.6
primarily due to the cycling of strong prior year special waste and construction and demolition volumes and the impacts of COVID-19; and a decrease in fuel surcharge
revenue of $1.3 due to the decline in diesel fuel prices. The decrease was partially offset by an increase in price yield from our collection and disposal operations of
$12.2 as we continue to focus on disciplined open market pricing and receive the positive benefit from higher CPI contract resets in our municipal collection business
and an increase of $7.0 in residential volume primarily due to a new municipal contract that commenced in the fourth quarter of 2019.
Operating income from our South Segment increased by $7.7 for the six months ended June 30, 2020 compared to the six months ended June 30, 2019. The increase was
primarily due to the following: a reduction in landfill remediation expenses of $9.6 as further described in Note 9 to the unaudited consolidated financial statements; a
reduction in MSW disposal costs of $3.6 due to the impacts of COVID-19; a decrease in fuel costs of $3.5 due to the decrease in diesel fuel prices and a reduction in
fuel consumption due to COVID-19; and a reduction of $2.2 in third party transportation costs due to the impacts of COVID-19. The increase was partially offset by the
following: the revenue decrease of $4.5 as described above; higher labor costs of $2.8 as a result of merit increases, increased medical insurance claims, increased labor
demands associated with a new municipal contract that commenced in the fourth quarter of 2019 and the impact of one extra workday during the first quarter 2020
compared to the first quarter 2019; and higher transfer station and recycling processing costs of $1.9 primarily due to a new municipal contract that commenced in the
fourth quarter of 2019.

East Segment
Revenue decreased by $17.2, or 8.4% for the six months ended June 30, 2020 compared to the six months ended June 30, 2019. The decrease was primarily due to the
following: a decrease in disposal volumes of $14.3 primarily due to the impacts of COVID-19; a decrease in rolloff, commercial and residential collection volumes of
$10.7 primarily due to the impacts of COVID-19; a decrease in trucking revenue of $2.8 primarily due to the impact of COVID-19; and a decrease in fuel surcharge
revenue of $1.7 due to the decrease in diesel fuel prices. The decrease was partially offset by an increase in price yield from our collection and disposal operations of
$11.7 as we continue to focus on disciplined open market pricing and receive the positive benefit from higher CPI contract resets in our municipal collection business.

Operating income from our East Segment decreased $1.8 for the six months ended June 30, 2020 compared to the six months ended June 30, 2019. The decrease was
primarily due to the revenue decrease of $17.2 as described above. The decrease to operating income was partially offset by the following: a decrease in third party
transportation costs of $3.4 due to the impacts of COVID-19; a decrease in labor costs of $2.3 which was primarily attributable to lower overtime wages as a result of
COVID-19; a decrease in fuel costs of $2.9 due to the decrease in diesel fuel prices and a reduction in fuel consumption due to COVID-19; a decrease in maintenance
and repairs expense of $1.6 due to lower overtime wages as a result of COVID-19 and a reduction in the overall level of repairs needed by our collection fleet due to
lower collection volumes as a result of COVID-19; lower disposal costs of $1.1 primarily due to lower MSW disposal volumes as a result of COVID-19; lower material
purchases of $0.7 to support our previously acquired asphalt business and a decrease in host and franchise fees of $0.6 primarily due to lower landfill volumes as a result
of COVID-19. Additionally, depreciation and amortization decreased $2.8 primarily due to lower disposal volumes as a result of COVID-19.
Midwest Segment
Revenue decreased $14.4 or 5.2% for the six months ended June 30, 2020 compared to the six months ended June 30, 2019. The decrease was primarily due to the
following: a decrease in commercial, rolloff and residential collection volumes of $12.2 primarily due to the impacts of COVID-19; a decrease in disposal volumes of
$10.3 primarily due to the impacts of COVID-19 and the loss of certain disposal volumes; and a decrease in fuel surcharge revenue of $2.2 due to the decrease in diesel
fuel prices. The decrease was partially offset by an increase in price yield from our collection and disposal operations of $8.9 as we continue to focus on disciplined
open market pricing and receive the positive benefit from higher CPI contract resets in our municipal collection business and an increase in acquisition related revenue
of $1.5.
Operating income from our Midwest Segment decreased $6.6 for the six months ended June 30, 2020 compared to the six months ended June 30, 2019. The decrease
was primarily due to the following: the decrease in revenue of $14.4 as described
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above and an increase in processing costs of $2.3 related to single stream recycling. The decrease to operating income was partially offset by the following: a decrease in
fuel costs of $3.8 due to the decrease in diesel fuel prices and a reduction in fuel consumption due to COVID-19; a decrease in host and franchise fees of $2.2 primarily
due to lower landfill volumes as a result of COVID-19; and a decrease in third party transportation costs of $0.9 due to the impacts of COVID-19. Additionally,
depreciation and amortization decreased $4.3 primarily due to lower disposal volumes as a result of COVID-19.
Corporate
Operating loss decreased $15.5 for the six months ended June 30, 2020 compared to the six months ended June 30, 2019 primarily due to a $7.9 reduction in merger
related expenses and a reduction of stock based compensation expense of $3.5. The remaining variance is related to a decrease in various general and administrative
costs.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Our primary sources of cash are cash flows from operations, bank borrowings, debt offerings and equity offerings. We intend to use excess cash on hand and cash from
operating activities, together with bank borrowings, to fund purchases of property and equipment, working capital, acquisitions and debt repayments. For this reason and
since we efficiently manage our working capital requirements, it is common for us to have negative working capital. Actual debt repayments may include purchases of
our outstanding indebtedness in the secondary market or otherwise. We believe that our current cash balances, cash from operating activities and funds available under
our Revolver will provide us with sufficient financial resources to meet our anticipated capital requirements and maturing obligations as they come due. At June 30,
2020 and December 31, 2019, we had negative working capital which was driven by purchases of property and equipment and landfill construction and development as
well as the use of our cash to fund debt repayments.
Summary of Cash and Cash Equivalents and Debt Obligations
The table below presents a summary of our cash and cash equivalents and debt balances (in millions):
June 30,
2020

Cash and cash equivalents

$

December 31,
2019

31.4

$

12.5

Debt:
Current portion
Long-term portion
Total debt

$

41.3

76.1

1,762.7

1,792.1

1,804.0

$

1,868.2

Summary of Cash Flow Activity
The following table sets forth for the periods indicated a summary of our cash flows (in millions):
Six months ended June 30,
2020

2019

Net cash provided by operating activities

$

161.7

$

148.5

Net cash used in investing activities

$

(86.7)

$

(108.8)

Net cash used in financing activities

$

(56.1)

$

(35.8)

Cash Flows Provided by Operating Activities
We generated $161.7 of cash flows from operating activities during the six months ended June 30, 2020, compared with $148.5 during the six months ended June 30,
2019. The increase was primarily due to the following:
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•

A decrease of $11.8 in accounts receivable during the six months ended June 30, 2020 compared to a increase of $10.2 during the six months ended June 30, 2019,
resulting in a positive variance of $22.0. Days Sales Outstanding was 46 during the three months ended June 30, 2020 compared to 48 during the three months
ended June 30. 2019;

•

An increase of $7.1 in other long term liabilities during the six months ended June 30, 2020 compared to a decrease of $1.7 during the six months ended June 30,
2019, resulting in a positive variance of $8.8. The increase is due to deferred payroll tax credits as a result of the CARES Act and an increase in our self insurance
reserves;

•

An increase in net income of $6.1, after adjusting for non cash items.

The increase was partially offset by the following:
•

A decrease of $7.1 in accounts payable and accrued expenses during the six months ended June 30, 2020 compared to an increase of $19.8 during the six months
ended June 30, 2019, resulting in a negative variance of $26.9. The variance is primarily due to the timing of payments and accruals.

Cash Flows Used in Investing Activities
We used $86.7 of cash in investing activities during the six months ended June 30, 2020 compared with $108.8 during the six months ended June 30, 2019, a decrease of
$22.1. The variance was due to the following:
•

A decrease of $27.1 in cash expenditures used to fund acquisitions;

•

Higher cash expenditures of $4.1 used to fund the purchase of previously committed property and equipment and landfill construction and development;

•

Lower proceeds of $0.9 from sale of property and equipment and insurance proceeds.

Cash Flows Used In Financing Activities
During the six months ended June 30, 2020, net cash used in financing activities was $56.1 compared to net cash used in financing activities of $35.8 during the six
months ended June 30, 2019. The variance was primarily due to the following:
•

A increase in net payments on debt instruments of $35.9 as we used excess cash to make debt prepayments during the six months ended June 30, 2020 compared to
using the majority of our excess cash for acquisitions and merger related expenses during the six months ended June 30, 2019;

•

An increase in proceeds from stock option exercises of $15.6.

Senior Secured Credit Facilities
On November 21, 2017, we entered into Amendment No. 1 (the “Amendment”) to our Credit Agreement, dated as of October 9, 2012 (as amended and restated as of
November 10, 2016, the “Amended and Restated Credit Agreement”) among the Company, the lenders party thereto and Deutsche Bank AG New York Branch, as
administrative agent and as collateral agent. The Amendment reduces our applicable margin on the Term Loan B by 0.50% per annum.
On November 10, 2016, we entered into the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement by and among the Company, the guarantors party thereto, the lenders party
thereto (the “Lenders”) and Deutsche Bank AG New York Branch, as administrative agent and collateral agent (respectively, the “Administrative Agent” and the
“Collateral Agent”), to the Credit Agreement, by and among the Company, the lenders party thereto, the Administrative Agent and the Collateral Agent, dated as of
October 9, 2012 (as amended, supplemented or modified from time to time prior to the date hereof, the “Existing Credit Agreement” and as amended and restated in
accordance with the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement).
The Amended and Restated Credit Agreement includes a $1.5 billion Term Loan B facility maturing 2023, and a $300.0 Revolving Credit Facility maturing 2021
(together our "Senior Secured Credit Facilities"). The Revolving Credit Facility allows for up to $100.0 million of letters of credit outstanding. The proceeds were used
to repay borrowings under the Existing Credit Agreement and to call a portion of our 8.25% Senior Notes due 2020. All outstanding borrowings under the Existing
Credit Agreement were either repaid in full or converted to the new Senior Secured Credit Facility. At the Company’s option, borrowings under the Amended and
Restated Credit Agreement will bear interest at an alternate base rate or adjusted LIBOR rate in each case plus an applicable margin. The alternate base rate is defined as
the greater of the prime rate, the federal funds rate plus 50 basis points, or the adjusted LIBOR rate plus 100 basis points. The LIBOR base rate is subject to a 0.75%
floor.
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In the case of the Term Loan B, the applicable margin, as amended, is 1.25% per annum for ABR Loans and 2.25% per annum for Eurodollar Loans. In the case of the
Revolving Credit Facility, the applicable margin is 1.75% per annum for ABR Loans and 2.75% per annum for Eurodollar Loans if our total net leverage ratio is greater
than 4.0:1.0. If our total net leverage ratio is less than 4.0:1.0, the applicable margin on the Revolving Credit Facility is 1.25% per annum for ABR Loans and 2.25% per
annum for Eurodollar Loans.
Obligations under the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement are guaranteed by our existing and future domestic restricted subsidiaries (subject to certain exceptions)
and are secured by a first-priority security interest in substantially all our personal property assets, and certain real property assets, including all or a portion of the equity
interests of certain of our domestic subsidiaries (in each cases, subject to certain limited exceptions).
Borrowings under the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement may be prepaid at any time without premium. The Amended and Restated Credit Agreement contains
usual and customary representations and warranties, and usual and customary affirmative and negative covenants, including limitations on liens, additional indebtedness,
investments, restricted payments, asset sales, mergers, affiliate transactions and other customary limitations, as well as a total net leverage ratio financial covenant (for
the benefit of lenders under the revolving credit facility only). The Amended and Restated Credit Agreement also contains usual and customary events of default,
including non-payment of principal, interest, fees and other amounts, material breach of a representation or warranty, nonperformance of covenants and obligations,
default on other material debt, bankruptcy or insolvency, material judgments, incurrence of certain material ERISA liabilities, impairment of loan documentation or
security and change of control. Compliance with these covenants is a condition to any incremental borrowings under our Senior Secured Credit Facilities and failure to
meet these covenants would enable the lenders to require repayment of any outstanding loans (which would adversely affect our liquidity).
The Term Loan B has payments due quarterly of $3.75 with mandatory prepayments due to the extent net cash proceeds from the sale of assets exceed $25.0 in any
fiscal year and are not reinvested in the business within 365 days from the date of sale, upon notification of our intent to take such action or in accordance with excess
cash flow, as defined. Further prepayments are due when there is excess cash flow, as defined.
Borrowings under our Senior Secured Credit Facilities can be used for working capital, capital expenditures, acquisitions and other general corporate purposes. As of
June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, we had $0.0 and $30.0 in borrowings outstanding under our Revolving Credit Facility. As of June 30, 2020 and December 31,
2019, we had an aggregate of approximately $28.3 and $28.5 of letters of credit outstanding under our Senior Secured Credit Facilities. As of June 30, 2020 and
December 31, 2019, we had remaining capacity under our Revolving Credit Facility of $271.7 and $241.5, respectively. As of June 30, 2020, we were in compliance
with the covenants under the Senior Secured Credit Facilities. Our ability to maintain compliance with our covenants will be highly dependent on our results of
operations and, to the extent necessary, our ability to implement remedial measures such as reductions in operating costs. The Revolving Credit Facility has an annual
commitment fee equal to 0.50% per annum if the total net leverage ratio is greater than 4.0:1.0, or if otherwise, 0.375% per annum. The amount of commitment fees for
the six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019 were not significant.
We are subject to a maximum total net leverage ratio of 6.8:1.0. The actual total net leverage ratio at June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019 was 4.3:1.0 and 4.3:1.0,
respectively.
5.625% Senior Notes due 2024
On November 10, 2016, we closed a 144A offering (the “Notes Offering”) exempt from registration under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”),
of $425.0 aggregate principal amount of 5.625% senior notes due 2024 (the “Notes”).
We issued the Notes under an indenture dated November 10, 2016 (the “Indenture”) among the Company, the guarantors party thereto, and Wells Fargo Bank, National
Association, as trustee (the “Trustee”). The Notes bear interest at the rate of 5.625% per year. Interest on the Notes is payable on May 15 and November 15 of each year,
beginning on May 15, 2017. The Notes will mature on November 15, 2024. At any time on or after November 15, 2019, we may redeem the Notes, in whole or in part,
at the applicable redemption prices set forth in the Indenture, plus accrued interest.
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The redemption prices set forth in the indenture for the twelve month periods beginning on November 15 of the years indicated below are as follows:
Year

Percentage

2019

104.219%

2020

102.813%

2021

101.406%

2022 and thereafter

100.000%

The Indenture contains covenants that, among other things, restrict our ability to incur additional debt or issue certain preferred stock; pay dividends (subject to certain
exceptions) or make certain redemptions, repurchases or distributions or make certain other restricted payments or investments; create liens; enter into transactions with
affiliates; merge, consolidate or sell, transfer or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all of our assets; transfer and sell assets; and create restrictions on dividends or
other payments by our restricted subsidiaries. Certain covenants will cease to apply to the Notes for so long as the Notes have investment grade ratings. The Notes will
be unconditionally guaranteed, jointly and severally, on a senior unsecured basis by all of our current and future U.S. subsidiaries that guarantee the Amended and
Restated Credit Agreement. As of June 30, 2020, we were in compliance with the covenants under the Indenture.
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
As of June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, we had no off-balance sheet debt or similar obligations, other than financial assurance instruments, which are not classified
as debt. We do not guarantee any third-party debt.
Seasonality
We expect our operating results to vary seasonally, with revenues typically lowest in the first quarter, higher in the second and third quarters and lower in the fourth
quarter than in the second and third quarters. This seasonality reflects the lower volume of solid waste generated during the late fall, winter and early spring in the East
and Midwest segments because of decreased construction and demolition activities during winter months in these regions of the U.S. In addition, some of our operating
costs may be higher in the winter months. Adverse winter weather conditions slow waste collection activities, resulting in higher labor and operational costs. Greater
precipitation in the winter increases the weight of collected municipal solid waste, resulting in higher disposal costs, which are calculated on a per ton basis.
Additionally, certain destructive weather conditions that tend to occur during the second half of the year, such as hurricanes that most often impact the South region, can
increase the Company’s revenues in the areas affected. While weather-related and other occurrences can boost revenues through additional work, the earnings generated
can be moderated as a result of significant start-up costs and other factors, resulting in earnings at comparatively lower margins. These destructive weather conditions
can result in higher fuel costs, higher labor costs, reduced municipal contract productivity and higher disposal costs in disposal neutral markets.
Financial Assurance
We must provide financial assurance to governmental agencies and a variety of other entities under applicable environmental regulations relating to our landfill
operations for capping, closure and post-closure costs, and related to our performance under certain collection, landfill and transfer station contracts. We satisfy these
financial assurance requirements by providing surety bonds and letters of credit. The amount of the financial assurance requirements for capping, closure and postclosure costs is determined by applicable state environmental regulations. The financial assurance requirements for capping, closure and post-closure costs may be
associated with a portion of the landfill or the entire landfill. Generally, states require a third-party engineering specialist to determine the estimated capping, closure and
post-closure costs that are used to determine the required amount of financial assurance for a landfill. The amount of financial assurance required can, and generally
will, differ from the obligation determined and recorded under U.S. GAAP. The amount of the financial assurance requirements related to contract performance varies
by contract. Additionally, we must provide financial assurance for our insurance program and collateral for
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certain performance obligations. We do not expect a material increase in financial assurance requirements in the foreseeable future, although the mix of financial
assurance instruments may change.
These financial instruments are issued in the normal course of business and are not considered company indebtedness. Because we currently have no liability for these
financial assurance instruments, they are not reflected in our condensed consolidated balance sheets. However, we record capping, closure and post-closure liabilities
and self-insurance liabilities as they are incurred. The underlying obligations of the financial assurance instruments, in excess of those already reflected in our condensed
consolidated balance sheets, would be recorded if it is probable that we would be unable to fulfill our related obligations. We do not expect this to occur.
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
Our condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with United States generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”). The
preparation of financial statements in accordance with GAAP requires our management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the
unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. Our estimates and assumptions are based on historical experience and changes in the
business environment. However, actual results may differ from estimates under different conditions, sometimes materially. Critical accounting policies and estimates are
defined as those that are both most important to the portrayal of our financial condition and results and require management’s most subjective judgments. A summary of
significant accounting policies is disclosed in Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in our 2019 Annual Report on Form 10-K. Our critical
accounting policies are further described under the caption “Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates” in Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations in our 2019 Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Recently Issued and Proposed Accounting Standards
For a description of new accounting standards that may affect us, see Note 2, Basis of Presentation, to our unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements in Part
I of this Form 10-Q.
Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
Information about market risks as of June 30, 2020 does not differ materially from that included in our 2019 Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Item 4. Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
Our management, with the participation of our principal executive and financial officers, has evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures in
ensuring that the information required to be disclosed in reports that we file or submit under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, is recorded, processed,
summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC's rules and forms, including ensuring that such information is accumulated and communicated to
management (including the principal executive and financial officers) as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Based on such evaluation,
our principal executive and financial officers have concluded that such disclosure controls and procedures were not effective as of June 30, 2020 (the end of the period
covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q), due to a material weakness in internal control over financial reporting, as described further in our 2019 Annual Report
on Form 10-K.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15f of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934) during the second quarter of 2020 that have materially affected or are reasonably likely to
materially affect the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II: OTHER INFORMATION
Item 1. Legal Proceedings
Information regarding our legal proceedings can be found under the Litigation and Other Matters section of Note 9 to the unaudited condensed consolidated financial
statements.
Item 1A. Risk Factors
There have been no material changes from risk factors previously disclosed in our 2019 Annual Report on Form 10-K in response to Item 1A to Part 1 of Form 10-K or
previously disclosed in our 2020 First Quarter Report on Form 10-Q in response to Item 1A to Part II of Form 10-Q.
Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds
None.
Item 3. Defaults upon Senior Securities
Not applicable.
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures
Not applicable.
Item 5. Other Information
Not applicable.
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Item 6. Exhibits

Exhibit 2.1

Amendment No. 1, dated as of June 24, 2020, to Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of April 14, 2019, by and among
Advanced Disposal Services, Inc., Everglades Merger Sub Inc. and Waste Management, Inc. (Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 2.1 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 24,
2020).

Exhibit 2.2

Securities and Asset Purchase Agreement, dated as of June 24, 2020, by and among Waste Management, Inc., Advanced
Disposal Services, Inc., GFL Holdco (US), LLC, and, solely with respect to Section 10.21, GFL Environmental Inc.*

Exhibit 31.1

Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Exhibit 31.2

Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Exhibit 32.1

Certification Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Exhibit 32.2

Certification Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Exhibit 101

Cover Page Interactive Data File - the cover page XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL document.

Exhibit 101.INS

XBRL Instance Document

Exhibit 101.SCH

XBRL Extension Schema Document

Exhibit 101.CAL

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document

Exhibit 101.DEF

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document

Exhibit 101.LAB

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document

Exhibit 101.PRE

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

Exhibit 104

The cover page from this Report on Form 10-Q, formatted as Inline XBRL.

* Certain identified information has been omitted from this exhibit because it is both (1) not material, and (2) would be competitively harmful if publicly disclosed. This
filing excludes certain schedules pursuant to Item 601(a)(5) of Regulation S-K, which the registrant agrees to furnish supplementally to the Securities and Exchange
Commission upon request by the Commission.
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SIGNATURE
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto
duly authorized.
July 31, 2020

Advanced Disposal Services, Inc.
By:

/s/ Steven R. Carn
Steven R. Carn
Chief Financial Officer
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Exhibit 2.2
CERTAIN CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION, IDENTIFIED BY BRACKETED
ASTERISKS [***], HAS BEEN OMITTED FROM THIS EXHIBIT BECAUSE IT IS BOTH
(I) NOT MATERIAL AND (II) WOULD BE COMPETITIVELY HARMFUL IF PUBLICLY DISCLOSED.

SECURITIES AND ASSET PURCHASE AGREEMENT
by and among
WASTE MANAGEMENT, INC.,
ADVANCED DISPOSAL SERVICES, INC.,
GFL HOLDCO (US), LLC
and, solely with respect to Section 10.21 hereof,
GFL ENVIRONMENTAL INC.
dated as of
June 24, 2020
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SECURITIES AND ASSET PURCHASE AGREEMENT
THIS SECURITIES AND ASSET PURCHASE AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) is entered into as of June 24, 2020, by and among
Waste Management, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “WM Parent”), Advanced Disposal Services, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “ADS
Parent”), GFL Holdco (US), LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (the “Buyer”), each of the foregoing a “Party” and together the
“Parties” and, solely with respect to Section 10.21, GFL Environmental Inc., a corporation organized under the laws of the Province of
Ontario (the “Buyer Guarantor”).
RECITALS
A. WHEREAS, the WM Parent, the ADS Parent and Everglades Merger Sub Inc., a Delaware corporation and a wholly owned
indirect subsidiary of the WM Parent (“Merger Sub”), entered into that certain Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of April 14, 2019 (as
may be amended, restated, supplemented or modified in accordance with its terms, the “Advanced Disposal Merger Agreement”), pursuant to
which, among other things, and upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth therein, Merger Sub will merge with and into the ADS
Parent (the “Advanced Disposal Merger”), with the ADS Parent continuing as the surviving corporation and as a wholly owned indirect
subsidiary of the WM Parent;
B. WHEREAS, the WM Parent owns, directly or indirectly, all of the entities identified as a WM Equity Seller on Schedule B (each
a “WM Equity Seller”) and which collectively own all of the issued and outstanding Equity Securities (the “WM Equity Interests”) of the
entities identified as a WM Company on Schedule B, each a “WM Company” and together the “WM Companies”;
C. WHEREAS, the ADS Parent owns, directly or indirectly, all of the entities identified as an ADS Equity Seller on Schedule C
(each an “ADS Equity Seller”, and together with the WM Equity Sellers, the “Equity Sellers” and each an “Equity Seller”) and which
collectively own all of the issued and outstanding Equity Securities (the “ADS Equity Interests”, together with the WM Equity Interests, the
“Equity Interests”) of the entities identified as an ADS Company on Schedule C, each an “ADS Company” and together the “ADS
Companies”, and together with the WM Companies, the “Companies” (each a “Company”);
D. WHEREAS, the Equity Sellers desire to sell the Equity Interests to the Buyer, and the Buyer desires to purchase the Equity
Interests from the Equity Sellers, on the terms and conditions set forth herein;
E. WHEREAS, the WM Parent owns, directly or indirectly, all of the entities identified as a WM Asset Seller on Schedule E (each a
“WM Asset Seller”, and together with the WM Equity Sellers, the “WM Sellers” and each a “WM Seller”), and which collectively own all of
the WM Assets (as defined herein);
F. WHEREAS, the ADS Parent owns, directly or indirectly, all of the entities identified as an ADS Asset Seller on Schedule F (each
an “ADS Asset Seller” and together with the ADS Equity Sellers, the “ADS Sellers” and each an “ADS Seller” and, together with the WM
Asset Sellers, the “Asset Sellers” (each an “Asset Seller”, which together with the Equity Sellers comprise the “Sellers” (each a “Seller”)))
and which collectively own all of the ADS Assets (as defined herein);
G. WHEREAS, each of the WM Sellers, in respect of the WM Assets or the WM Companies, as applicable, carry on the solid waste
collection services, intermediary waste delivery facility businesses or terminal waste delivery facility businesses in respect of the assets set
forth on, or from the locations set forth on, Schedule G under the heading “Divestiture Assets/Locations” (the “WM Business”);
H. WHEREAS, each of the ADS Sellers, in respect of the ADS Assets or the ADS Companies, as applicable, carry on the solid
waste collection services, intermediary waste delivery facility businesses or terminal waste delivery facility businesses in respect of the assets
set forth on, or from the locations set forth on, Schedule H under the heading “Divestiture Assets/Locations” (the “ ADS Business”, and
together with the WM Business, the “Business”);
I.

WHEREAS, the Asset Sellers desire to sell or cause to be sold, as applicable, the Assets (as defined herein) to the Buyer, and the

Buyer desires to purchase the Assets from the Asset Sellers, on the terms and conditions set forth herein; and
J.
WHEREAS, except as the context otherwise requires, capitalized terms used but not otherwise defined herein shall have the
meanings ascribed to them in the Glossary attached hereto as Exhibit A.
K. NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the respective representations, warranties and covenants contained herein and other
good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Parties hereby agree as follows:
ARTICLE I
PURCHASE AND SALE
Section 1.1 Purchase and Sale of Equity Interests.
(a) On the terms and subject to the conditions of this Agreement, on the Closing Date, the WM Parent shall cause the WM Equity Sellers to
convey, sell, transfer, deliver and assign to the Buyer, and the Buyer shall purchase, acquire and accept from the WM Equity Sellers, all of the
WM Equity Sellers’ right, title and interest in and to the WM Equity Interests, in each case free and clear of any Encumbrances, other than any
restrictions on transfer of securities imposed by applicable state and federal securities Laws.
(b) On the terms and subject to the conditions of this Agreement, on the Closing Date, the ADS Parent shall cause the ADS Equity Sellers to
convey, sell, transfer, deliver and assign to the Buyer, and the Buyer shall purchase, acquire and accept from the ADS Equity Sellers, all of the
ADS Equity Sellers’ right, title and interest in and to the ADS Equity Interests, in each case free and clear of any Encumbrances, other than
any restrictions on transfer of securities imposed by applicable state and federal securities Laws.
Section 1.2 Purchase and Sale of WM Assets.
(a) On the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement, at the Closing, the WM Parent shall cause the WM Asset Sellers to
grant, convey, sell, transfer, deliver and assign to the Buyer, and the Buyer shall purchase, acquire and accept from the WM Asset Sellers, the
following assets (the “WM Assets”), but excluding the WM Excluded Assets:
(i) other than the hauling licenses that are required for the WM Asset Sellers to operate the businesses being retained by
them, to the extent transferable, the WM Permits listed on Schedule 1.2(a)(i) and all other WM Permits to the extent solely related to the
WM Assets (collectively, the “WM Assumed Permits” and any WM Permits not so transferred to the Buyer pursuant to this Section 1.2(a)
(i), the “WM Retained Permits”);
(ii) subject to the final paragraph of this Section 1.2(a), all of the tangible assets, rolling stock, equipment (including
office equipment), computers, machinery, fixtures, fuel inventory, furnishings, tools, leasehold improvements, telecommunications
equipment (including cellphones associated with the telephone numbers listed on Schedule 1.2(a)(iii), but excluding landline phones,
phone switches and headsets), containers, spare parts, supplies or other similar tangible assets which are primarily used or held for use in
connection with the operation or conduct of the WM Business or otherwise listed on Schedule 1.2(a)(ii) (the “WM Fixed Assets”);
(iii) the telephone and facsimile number(s) listed on Schedule 1.2(a)(iii);
(iv) the Contracts listed on Schedule 1.2(a)(iv) (the “WM Commercial Contracts”, and together with the WM Hauling
Contracts (as defined below) and the WM Existing Leases (as defined below) held by a WM Asset Seller, collectively, the “WM Assumed
Contracts”);
(v) all books and records related to the WM Assets, including all books of account, ledgers, general, Tax, financial and
accounting records, files, invoices, customers’ and suppliers’ lists, personnel records related to the Transferred Employees (to the extent
transferable in accordance with Law), equipment hours, billing records, maintenance records, manuals, customer and supplier
correspondence, Governmental Authority correspondence, and other records (in all cases, in any form or medium, including electronic
communications), in each case to the extent in the WM Asset Sellers’ or any of their Affiliates’ possession or under the WM Asset
Sellers’ or any of their Affiliates’ control at the Time of Closing (collectively, the “WM Asset Books and Records”), excluding any books
and records that are primarily related to the WM Excluded Assets or are retained by the WM Asset Sellers pursuant to Section 1.2(c);
(vi) all WM Prepaid Expenses to the extent related to the WM Assets;
(vii) all transferable rights, claims and credits, including all transferable guarantees, warranties, indemnities and similar
rights by any manufacturer, supplier, distributor or other Person (including with respect to equipment) that relate to the WM Assets, the
WM Business or the WM Assumed Liabilities;
(viii) the WM Real Property listed on Schedule 1.2(a)(viii);
(ix) all of the goodwill with respect to the WM Assets or the WM Business;
(x)

all rights, title and interest in and to any recurring or other customer credit card deposits or payments, ACH

payments, checks and other amounts received or to be received by or otherwise payable to the WM Asset Sellers or their Affiliates with
respect to services and operations of the WM Business in respect of the WM Assets performed or to be performed on or after the Closing
Date;
(xi) (A) other than the Retained Accounts serviced by the WM Business and the Contracts in respect of such Retained
Accounts, the Contracts and the customer accounts of the WM Asset Sellers (including for certainty any accounts where the customer has
suspended service due to coronavirus) for front end load commercial small container waste collection services and recycling collection
services on the service routes listed on Schedule 1.2(a)(xi) (the customer accounts on such routes, the “WM Hauling Accounts” and such
Contracts, the “WM Hauling Contracts”), (B) the Buyer Assigned Accounts serviced by the WM Business and the Contracts for such
Buyer Assigned Accounts, (C) the rights to be subcontracted services for the Retained Accounts serviced by the WM Business pursuant to
and in accordance with the terms of Section 8.2 and the Waste Collections Services Agreements and (D) the rights under the multilocation disposal Contracts that are serviced in part by the WM Business or the WM Assets and assigned to the Buyer pursuant to and in
accordance with Section 8.2(c) (the accounts, rights and Contracts in clauses (B) through (D), the “Other WM Business Arrangements”);
(xii) the rights and obligations in respect of Transferred Employees under the Collective Bargaining Agreements listed
on Schedule 1.2(a)(xii);
(xiii) basic computer operating systems to the extent relating to the WM Assets; and
(xiv) subject to the final paragraph of this Section 1.2(a), any assets and properties (of whatever kind or nature) not of
the type described in the foregoing clauses (a)(i) through (a)(xiii) and which are primarily used or held for use in connection with the
operation or conduct of the WM Business.
With respect to any hauling location listed on Schedule 1.2(a)-1, (x) all spare parts, supplies (including personal protective
equipment and coronavirus-related supplies), containers and excess spare containers located at such location at the Time of Closing that are
not specific to a line of business being acquired by the Buyer at such hauling location shall be allocated between the Buyer and the WM Asset
Sellers proportionate to the number of routes at such hauling location that are being acquired by the Buyer and the number of routes being
retained by the WM Asset Sellers and (y) all spare parts, supplies (including personal protective equipment and coronavirus-related supplies),
containers and excess spare containers that are located at such location and that are specific to a line of business being acquired by the Buyer
at such hauling location shall be allocated between the Buyer and the WM Asset Sellers proportionate to the number of routes per line of
business at such hauling location that are being acquired by the Buyer and the number of routes per line of business being retained by the WM
Asset Sellers. For illustrative purposes only, if a particular hauling location listed on Schedule 1.2(a)-1 has ten (10) routes, six (6) of which are
for front end load services (with four (4) of such six (6) front end load service routes being acquired by Buyer), and four (4) of which are for
lines of business not being acquired by the Buyer, (i) forty percent (40%) of all spare parts, supplies (including personal protective equipment
and coronavirus-related supplies), containers and excess spare containers located at such location which are not specifically used in front end
load services shall be allocated to the Buyer and (ii) sixty-six and two/thirds (66.67%) of all spare parts, supplies (including personal
protective equipment and coronavirus-related supplies), containers and excess spare containers specifically used in connection with front end
load services shall be allocated to the Buyer. All spare parts, supplies (including personal protective equipment and coronavirus-related
supplies), containers and excess spare containers allocated to the Buyer pursuant to this paragraph shall constitute WM Assets for all purposes
of this Agreement.
(b) On the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement, prior to the Time of Closing, the WM Parent may cause its
Subsidiaries to, at the WM Parent’s sole cost and expense, make such contributions, transfers, assignments and acceptances, such that, upon
the consummation of such contributions, transfers, assignments and acceptances, the WM Asset Sellers or their designee(s) (other than the
Companies) shall own the WM Excluded Assets and shall be responsible for the WM Excluded Liabilities, without further recourse to the
Buyer or its Affiliates. In furtherance of the foregoing, (i) the WM Asset Sellers or their designee(s) (other than the Companies) shall retain,
and the Buyer shall not acquire, any interest in the WM Excluded Assets and (ii) the WM Asset Sellers or their designee(s) (other than the
Companies) shall retain, and the Buyer shall not assume, any WM Excluded Liability.
(c) WM Excluded Assets. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in Section 1.2(a), the assets of the WM Asset Sellers or any of their
Affiliates that are being purchased by the Buyer pursuant to Section 1.2(a) of this Agreement shall exclude (i) any assets and properties of any
WM Asset Seller or any of its Affiliates that are not WM Assets and (ii) any of the following assets and properties, all of which excluded
assets and properties of the WM Asset Sellers and their Affiliates (other than the WM Companies) shall remain the property of the WM Asset
Sellers and their Affiliates (other than the WM Companies) and shall not be sold to or acquired by the Buyer at the Closing (collectively, the
“WM Excluded Assets”):
(i) the WM Intellectual Property;
(ii) all records which relate primarily to the WM Excluded Assets or WM Excluded Liabilities, including files relating to
WM Taxes (other than files relating to Property Taxes in respect of the WM Assets) and personnel files;
(iii) the equity interests and company or other entity level record books of the WM Asset Sellers;
(iv) the rights which accrue or will accrue to the WM Asset Sellers and the WM Parent under this Agreement (including
the Final Purchase Price as allocated pursuant to Section 7.6);

(v) any inter-company receivables from the WM Asset Sellers or their Affiliates (other than the WM Companies);
(vi) all insurance policies and all rights with respect thereto which relate to the WM Assets;
(vii) subject to Section 8.7, all litigation rights to which any of the WM Asset Sellers are a plaintiff and all causes of
action and claims of every nature, kind and description related thereto and, subject to Section 8.5(d), any attorney-client privilege related
thereto, in each case to the extent they do not relate to the WM Assets or WM Assumed Liabilities;
(viii) all present and future refunds relating to WM Taxes of the WM Asset Sellers;
(ix) all billing, route management and other software programs other than basic computer operating systems which relate
to the WM Assets;
(x) all petty and other cash and cash equivalents held by any WM Asset Seller on hand or in a bank;
(xi) all bank accounts owned by any WM Asset Seller;
(xii) all escrow accounts owned by any WM Asset Seller;
(xiii)
similar mechanisms;

all rights, title and interest held by any WM Asset Seller in any financial responsibility, financial assurance or

(xiv) the Retained Accounts serviced by the WM Business;
(xv) all of the tangible assets, rolling stock, equipment (including office equipment), computers, machinery, fixtures, fuel
inventory, furnishings, tools, leasehold improvements, telecommunications equipment, containers, spare parts, supplies or other similar
tangible assets that do not constitute WM Assets;
(xvi)
all Third Eye systems, GPS systems, smart truck systems and technology, Fastlane software, time clocks,
information technology support systems, configure price quote and customer relationship management software and all non-transferable
software licenses used by the WM Asset Sellers;
(xvii) all WM Accounts Receivable; and
(xviii)

all WM Company Plans and any trusts, insurance policies or contracts related to any WM Company Plans.

Following the Execution Date, the WM Asset Sellers and the Buyer shall cooperate in good faith to promptly (and no later than five (5)
Business Days prior to the anticipated Closing Date) identify and prepare a mutually agreed schedule setting forth a list of tangible assets
(which may include any rolling stock, equipment (including office equipment), computers, machinery, fixtures, fuel inventory, furnishings,
tools, leasehold improvements, telecommunications equipment, containers, spare parts, supplies or other similar tangible assets) located at any
hauling location listed in items 1 through 7 of Schedule 1.2(a)-1 that are primarily used or held for use in connection with the operation or
conduct of the WM Business but which, in the event included in such mutually agreed schedule, shall constitute WM Excluded Assets for all
purposes of this Agreement.
(d) WM Assumed Liabilities. [***]
(e) WM Excluded Liabilities. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the WM Assumed Liabilities shall not include, and the WM
Asset Sellers, as applicable, shall retain, the following liabilities (collectively, the “WM Excluded Liabilities”):
(i) all Liabilities of any WM Asset Seller for expenses incurred in connection with the sale of the WM Assets pursuant to
this Agreement;
(ii) all Liabilities of any WM Asset Seller for any inter-company payables or receivables between or among any WM
Asset Seller and any Affiliates of such WM Asset Seller;
(iii) all WM Accounts Payable (solely with respect to the WM Assets);
(iv) all Liabilities of any WM Asset Seller in respect of any WM Excluded Asset;
(v)

except as provided with regard to Transferred Employees in Section 5.9(h), all Liabilities under any WM Company

Plan;
(vi) all Liabilities under or otherwise related to any WM Multiemployer Plan (including, related to any Withdrawal
Liability, failure to make required plan contributions on a timely basis, or Taxes under Section 4971 of the Code (or the avoidance
thereof)) that occur or otherwise relate to any period of service on or prior to the Closing (provided that, for the avoidance of doubt (and

without limiting Section 8.10(b)), the WM Excluded Liabilities in this Section 1.2(e)(vi) do not include any withdrawal liability incurred
by the Buyer or any of its Affiliates solely as a result of a “complete withdrawal” (within the meaning of Section 4203 of ERISA), or a
“partial withdrawal” (within the meaning of Section 4205 of ERISA) from a WM Multiemployer Plan initiated by the Buyer or any its
Affiliates following the Closing);
(vii) all Liabilities arising out of or relating to employment, compensation, employee benefits or termination of (A) any
current, former or future employees, officers, consultants or independent contractors of any WM Seller or its Affiliates (including, prior to
Closing, the WM Companies) who are not Transferred Employees and (B) subject to compliance with Sections 5.9(d), (e) and (h), any
Transferred Employees which arises or otherwise relates to, in whole or part, any period on or prior to the Transfer Date;
(viii) all Liabilities of any WM Asset Seller under this Agreement or any other document or agreement executed by any
WM Asset Seller in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby;
(ix) all Liabilities of any WM Seller with respect to claims under general liability, automobile and workers compensation
insurance policies for matters occurring prior to the Closing Date;
(x) all Indebtedness of any WM Seller or any of its Affiliates; and
(xi) all WM Taxes.
Section 1.3 Purchase and Sale of ADS Assets.
(a) On the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement, at the Closing, the ADS Parent shall cause the ADS
Asset Sellers to grant, convey, sell, transfer, deliver and assign to the Buyer, and the Buyer shall purchase, acquire and accept from the ADS Asset
Sellers, the following assets (the “ADS Assets”), but excluding the ADS Excluded Assets:
(i) other than the hauling licenses that are required for the ADS Asset Sellers to operate the businesses being retained by
them, to the extent transferable, the ADS Permits listed on Schedule 1.3(a)(i) and all other ADS Permits to the extent solely related to the
ADS Assets (collectively, the “ADS Assumed Permits” and any ADS Permits not so transferred to the Buyer pursuant to this Section
1.3(a)(i), the “ADS Retained Permits” and together with the WM Retained Permits, the “Retained Permits”);
(ii) subject to the final paragraph of this Section 1.3(a), all of the tangible assets, rolling stock, equipment (including
office equipment), computers, machinery, fixtures, fuel inventory, furnishings, tools, leasehold improvements, telecommunications
equipment (including cellphones associated with the telephone numbers listed on Schedule 1.3(a)(iii), but excluding landline phones,
phone switches and headsets), containers, spare parts, supplies or other similar tangible assets which are primarily used or held for use in
connection with the operation or conduct of the ADS Business or otherwise listed on Schedule 1.3(a)(ii) (the “ADS Fixed Assets”);
(iii) the telephone and facsimile number(s) listed on Schedule 1.3(a)(iii);
(iv) the Contracts listed on Schedule 1.3(a)(iv) (the “ADS Commercial Contracts”, and together with the ADS Hauling
Contracts (as defined below) and the ADS Existing Leases (as defined below) held by an ADS Asset Seller, collectively, the “ADS
Assumed Contracts”);
(v) all books and records related to the ADS Assets, including all books of account, ledgers, general, Tax, financial and
accounting records, files, invoices, customers’ and suppliers’ lists, personnel records related to the Transferred Employees (to the extent
transferable in accordance with Law), equipment hours, billing records, maintenance records, manuals, customer and supplier
correspondence, Governmental Authority correspondence, and other records (in all cases, in any form or medium, including electronic
communications), in each case to the extent in the ADS Asset Sellers’ or any of their Affiliates’ possession or under the ADS Asset
Sellers’ or any of their Affiliates control at the Time of Closing (collectively, the “ADS Asset Books and Records” and, together with the
WM Asset Books and Records, the “Asset Books and Records”), excluding any books and records that are primarily related to the ADS
Excluded Assets or are retained by the ADS Asset Sellers pursuant to Section 1.3(c);
(vi) all ADS Prepaid Expenses to the extent related to the ADS Assets;
(vii) all transferable rights, claims and credits, including all transferable guarantees, warranties, indemnities and similar
rights by any manufacturer, supplier, distributor or other Person (including with respect to equipment) that relate to the ADS Assets, the
ADS Business or the ADS Assumed Liabilities;
(viii) the ADS Real Property listed on Schedule 1.3(a)(viii);
(ix) all of the goodwill with respect to the ADS Assets or the ADS Business;
(x)
all rights, title and interest in and to any recurring or other customer credit card deposits or payments, ACH
payments, checks and other amounts received or to be received by or otherwise payable to the ADS Asset Sellers or their Affiliates with
respect to services and operations of the ADS Business in respect of the ADS Assets performed or to be performed on or after the Closing

Date;
(xi) (A) other than the Retained Accounts serviced by the ADS Business and the Contracts in respect of such Retained
Accounts, the Contracts and the customer accounts of the ADS Asset Sellers (including for certainty any accounts where the customer has
suspended service due to coronavirus) for waste collection, roll-off services and recycling services on the service routes listed on Schedule
1.3(a)(xi) (the customer accounts on such routes, the “ADS Hauling Accounts” and such Contracts the “ADS Hauling Contracts”), (B) the
Buyer Assigned Accounts serviced by the ADS Business and the Contracts for such Buyer Assigned Accounts, (C) the rights to be
subcontracted services for the Retained Accounts serviced by the ADS Business pursuant to and in accordance with the terms of Section
8.2 and the Waste Collections Services Agreements and (D) the rights under the multi-location disposal Contracts that are serviced in part
by the ADS Business or the ADS Assets and assigned to the Buyer pursuant to and in accordance with Section 8.2(c) (the accounts, rights
and Contracts in clauses (B) through (D), the “Other ADS Business Arrangements” and together with the Other WM Business
Arrangements, the “Other Business Arrangements”);
(xii) (A) the Collective Bargaining Agreements listed on Schedule 1.3(a)(xii)(A) and (B) the rights and obligations in
respect of Transferred Employees under the Collective Bargaining Agreements listed on Schedule 1.3(a)(xii)(B);
(xiii) basic computer operating systems to the extent relating to the ADS Assets; and
(xiv) subject to the final paragraph of this Section 1.3(a), any assets and properties (of whatever kind or nature) not of
the type described in the foregoing clauses (a)(i) through (a)(xiii) and which are primarily used or held for use in connection with the
operation or conduct of the ADS Business.
With respect to any hauling location listed on Schedule 1.3(a)-1, (x) all spare parts, supplies (including personal protective
equipment and coronavirus-related supplies), containers and excess spare containers located at such location at the Time of Closing that are
not specific to a line of business being acquired by the Buyer at such hauling location shall be allocated between the Buyer and the ADS Asset
Sellers proportionate to the number of routes at such hauling location that are being acquired by the Buyer and the number of routes being
retained by the ADS Asset Sellers and (y) all spare parts, supplies (including personal protective equipment and coronavirus-related supplies),
containers and excess spare containers that are located at such location and that are specific to a line of business being acquired by the Buyer
at such hauling location shall be allocated between the Buyer and the ADS Asset Sellers proportionate to the number of routes per line of
business at such hauling location that are being acquired by the Buyer and the number of routes per line of business being retained by the ADS
Asset Sellers. For illustrative purposes only, if a particular hauling location listed on Schedule 1.3(a)-1 has ten (10) routes, six (6) of which are
for front end load services (with four (4) of such six (6) front end load service routes being acquired by Buyer), and four (4) of which are for
lines of business not being acquired by the Buyer, (i) forty percent (40%) of all spare parts, supplies (including personal protective equipment
and coronavirus-related supplies), containers and excess spare containers located at such location which are not specifically used in front end
load services shall be allocated to the Buyer and (ii) sixty-six and two/thirds (66.67%) of all spare parts, supplies (including personal
protective equipment and coronavirus-related supplies), containers and excess spare containers specifically used in connection with front end
load services shall be allocated to the Buyer. All spare parts, supplies (including personal protective equipment and coronavirus-related
supplies), containers and excess spare containers allocated to the Buyer pursuant to this paragraph shall constitute ADS Assets for all purposes
of this Agreement.
(b) On the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement, prior to the Time of Closing, the ADS Parent may cause its
Subsidiaries to, at the ADS Parent’s sole cost and expense, make such contributions, transfers, assignments and acceptances, such that, upon
the consummation of such contributions, transfers, assignments and acceptances, the ADS Asset Sellers or their designee(s) (other than the
Companies) shall own the ADS Excluded Assets and shall be responsible for the ADS Excluded Liabilities, without further recourse to the
Buyer or its Affiliates. In furtherance of the foregoing, (i) the ADS Asset Sellers or their designee(s) (other than the Companies) shall retain,
and the Buyer shall not acquire, any interest in the ADS Excluded Assets and (ii) the ADS Asset Sellers or their designee(s) (other than the
Companies) shall retain, and the Buyer shall not assume, any ADS Excluded Liability.
(c) ADS Excluded Assets. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in Section 1.3(a), the assets of the ADS Asset Sellers or any of their
Affiliates that are being purchased by the Buyer pursuant to Section 1.3(a) of this Agreement shall exclude (i) any assets and properties of any
ADS Asset Seller or any of its Affiliates that are not ADS Assets and (ii) any of the following assets and properties, all of which excluded
assets and properties of the ADS Asset Sellers and their Affiliates (other than the ADS Companies) shall remain the property of the ADS
Asset Sellers and their Affiliates (other than the ADS Companies) and shall not be sold to or acquired by the Buyer at the Closing
(collectively, the “ADS Excluded Assets”):
(i) the ADS Intellectual Property;
(ii) all records which relate primarily to the ADS Excluded Assets or ADS Excluded Liabilities, including files relating
to ADS Taxes (other than files relating to Property Taxes in respect of the ADS Assets) and personnel files;
(iii) the equity interests and company or other entity level record books of the ADS Asset Sellers;
(iv) the rights which accrue or will accrue to the ADS Asset Sellers and the ADS Parent under this Agreement (including
the Final Purchase Price as allocated pursuant to Section 7.6);
(v) any inter-company receivables from the ADS Asset Sellers or their Affiliates (other than the ADS Companies);

(vi) all insurance policies and all rights with respect thereto which relate to the ADS Assets;
(vii) subject to Section 8.7, all litigation rights to which any of the ADS Asset Sellers are a plaintiff and all causes of
action and claims of every nature, kind and description related thereto and, subject to Section 8.5(d), any attorney-client privilege related
thereto, in each case to the extent they do not relate to the ADS Assets or ADS Assumed Liabilities;
(viii) all present and future refunds relating to ADS Taxes of the ADS Asset Sellers;
(ix) all billing, route management and other software programs other than basic computer operating systems which relate
to the ADS Assets;
(x) all petty and other cash and cash equivalents held by any ADS Asset Seller on hand or in a bank;
(xi) all bank accounts owned by any ADS Asset Seller;
(xii) all escrow accounts owned by any ADS Asset Seller;
(xiii)
similar mechanisms;

all rights, title and interest held by any ADS Asset Seller in any financial responsibility, financial assurance or

(xiv) the Retained Accounts serviced by the ADS Business;
(xv) all of the tangible assets, rolling stock, equipment (including office equipment), computers, machinery, fixtures, fuel
inventory, furnishings, tools, leasehold improvements, telecommunications equipment, containers, spare parts, supplies or other similar
tangible assets that do not constitute ADS Assets;
(xvi)
all GPS systems, smart truck systems and technology, time clocks, information technology support systems,
configure price quote and customer relationship management software and all non-transferable software licenses used by the ADS Asset
Sellers;
(xvii) all ADS Accounts Receivable; and
(xviii)

all ADS Company Plans and any trusts, insurance policies or contracts related to any ADS Company Plans.

(d) ADS Assumed Liabilities. [***]
(e) ADS Excluded Liabilities. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the ADS Assumed Liabilities shall not include, and the ADS
Asset Sellers, as applicable, shall retain, the following liabilities (collectively, the “ADS Excluded Liabilities”):
(i) all Liabilities of any ADS Asset Seller for expenses incurred in connection with the sale of the ADS Assets pursuant
to this Agreement;
(ii) all Liabilities of any ADS Asset Seller for any inter-company payables or receivables between or among any ADS
Asset Seller and any Affiliates of such ADS Asset Seller;
(iii) all ADS Accounts Payable (solely with respect to the ADS Assets);
(iv) all Liabilities of any ADS Asset Seller in respect of any ADS Excluded Asset;
(v) except the ADS Assumed Bonuses and as provided with regard to Transferred Employees in Section 5.9(h), all
Liabilities under any ADS Company Plan;
(vi) all Liabilities under or otherwise related to any ADS Multiemployer Plan (including related to any Withdrawal
Liability, failure to make plan contributions on a timely basis, or Taxes under Section 4971 of the Code (or the avoidance thereof)) that
occur or otherwise relate to any period of service on or prior to the Closing Date other than any such Liability (including, without
limitation, any Withdrawal Liability incurred following the Closing Date) to an ADS Multiemployer Plan contributed by an ADS
Company (or with respect to which an ADS Company has or had an obligation to contribute), solely to the extent attributable to such
contributions by the ADS Company (and, for the avoidance of doubt, does not include Liabilities attributable to plan contributions from
any ADS Seller or any of its Affiliates other than an ADS Company) (provided that, for the avoidance of doubt (and without limiting
Section 8.10(b)), the ADS Excluded Liabilities in this Section 1.3(e)(vi) do not include any withdrawal liability incurred by Buyer or any
of its Affiliates solely as a result of a “complete withdrawal” (within the meaning of Section 4203 of ERISA), or a “partial withdrawal”
(within the meaning of Section 4205 of ERISA) from an ADS Multiemployer Plan initiated by the Buyer or any its Affiliates following
the Closing);

(vii) all Liabilities arising out of or relating to employment, compensation, employee benefits or termination of (A) any
current, former or future employees, officers, consultants or independent contractors of any ADS Seller or its Affiliates (including, prior to
Closing, the ADS Companies) who are not Transferred Employees (including, for the avoidance of doubt, any Liabilities arising out of
any of the matters set forth on Schedule 3.13(d)); and (B) subject to compliance with Sections 5.9(d), (e) and (h), any Transferred
Employees which arises or otherwise relates in whole or part to any period on or prior to the Transfer Date (other than the ADS Assumed
Bonuses);
(viii) all Liabilities of any ADS Asset Seller under this Agreement or any other document or agreement executed by any
ADS Asset Seller in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby;
(ix)
all Liabilities of any ADS Seller with respect to claims under general liability, automobile and workers
compensation insurance policies for matters occurring prior to the Closing Date;
(x) all Indebtedness of any ADS Seller or any of its Affiliates, except for any Indebtedness which remains outstanding at
the Time of Closing and for which the Base Purchase Price is adjusted pursuant to Section 1.4(a); and
(xi) all ADS Taxes.
Section 1.4 Purchase Price.
(a) As consideration for the sale and transfer of the Equity Interests and the Assets, the assumption of the Assumed Liabilities and the
representations, warranties, covenants and agreements of the Sellers made herein, the Buyer shall pay to the Sellers the aggregate sum of (i)
$835,000,000.00 (the “Base Purchase Price”), minus (ii) any and all amounts (including interest) that remain outstanding at the Time of
Closing pursuant to the promissory note described in Item 4 of Schedule 3.3(f)(i), plus (iii) the Estimated Asset Purchase Price Adjustment, if
any (together, the “Estimated Purchase Price”) in accordance with Section 1.8(a). The Estimated Purchase Price shall be determined in
accordance with Section 1.4(b) prior to the Time of Closing and shall be adjusted in accordance with Section 1.5 after the Time of Closing.
(b) Not less than five (5) Business Days prior to the Closing Date, the WM Parent shall cause to be delivered to the Buyer a statement
containing the Sellers’ good faith estimate of the Asset Purchase Price Adjustment (the “Estimated Asset Purchase Price Adjustment”)
together with reasonable supporting detail with respect to the calculation of each of the components of the Estimated Asset Purchase Price
Adjustment, itemized description and supporting schedules used by the Sellers in the preparation of such statement to enable a review by the
Buyer thereof. The WM Parent shall cause its Subsidiaries to permit the Buyer or its Representatives at reasonable times and upon reasonable
notice, such access to the books, records and other information of the Assets as the Buyer reasonably requests, but, in each case, only to the
extent that such access does not unreasonably interfere with the business and operations of the Assets or the Business, to aid in the Buyer’s
review of such statement. The WM Parent shall cause its Subsidiaries to cooperate in good faith to answer any questions raised by the Buyer
or its Representatives in connection with their review of such statement, shall review any comments proposed by the Buyer with respect to
such statement, or any component thereof, and shall consider, in good faith, any appropriate changes thereto. Such statement (as may be
modified for any comments by the Buyer accepted by the WM Parent (on behalf of the Sellers)) shall control for purposes of calculating the
Estimated Asset Purchase Price Adjustment.
Section 1.5 Post-Closing Purchase Price Adjustment.
(a) As promptly as practicable after the Closing, but in no event more than sixty (60) days after the Closing Date, the Buyer shall in good
faith prepare and deliver to the WM Parent (on behalf of the Sellers), a statement indicating the Buyer’s calculation of the Asset Purchase
Price Adjustment (the “Closing Date Statement”) in each case, together with reasonable supporting detail.
(b) Until such time as the Final Closing Date Statement shall become final in accordance with Section 1.5(c), the Buyer shall, and shall
cause its Affiliates, as applicable, to permit the WM Parent (on behalf of the Sellers) or its Representatives at reasonable times and upon
reasonable notice, such access to the books, records and other information of the Buyer and such Affiliates and the Assets as the WM Parent
(on behalf of the Sellers) reasonably requests, but, in each case, only to the extent (i) relevant to the calculation of the Closing Date Statement
or the WM Parent’s or its Representatives’ review thereof and (ii) that such access does not unreasonably interfere with the business and
operations of the Buyer, such Affiliates or the Assets, to aid in the WM Parent’s (on behalf of the Sellers) review of the Closing Date
Statement. The Buyer shall cooperate in good faith to answer any questions raised by the WM Parent (on behalf of the Sellers) or its
Representatives in connection with their review of the Closing Date Statement.
(c) Within thirty (30) days after its receipt of the Closing Date Statement, the WM Parent (on behalf of the Sellers) shall inform the Buyer in
writing that such Closing Date Statement is acceptable or object thereto in writing, setting forth in reasonable detail a description of each of its
objections. If the WM Parent so objects and the Buyer and the WM Parent do not resolve such objections on a mutually agreeable basis within
thirty (30) days after the Buyer’s receipt of the WM Parent’s objections, the remaining disputed items shall be submitted to Grant Thornton
LLP or, if Grant Thornton LLP is not available for such engagement or at the time of such proposed engagement is no longer independent,
such other nationally recognized independent certified public accounting firm reasonably agreed to by the Buyer and the WM Parent (Grant
Thornton LLP or such other accounting firm agreed to by the Buyer or the WM Parent or appointed as contemplated by the succeeding
sentence, the “Accounting Firm”). If the Buyer and the WM Parent cannot agree on an accounting firm within ten (10) days of determining
that an Accounting Firm other than Grant Thornton LLP must be appointed as contemplated by the preceding sentence, then the Buyer or the

WM Parent may submit a request to the American Arbitration Association requesting appointment of a nationally recognized independent
certified public accounting firm to serve as the Accounting Firm. The Buyer and the WM Parent shall direct the Accounting Firm to resolve
such disputed items within thirty (30) days of submission of the disputed items. Upon the agreement of the Buyer and the WM Parent (on
behalf of the Sellers), the decision of the Accounting Firm, or the failure of WM Parent (on behalf of the Sellers) to deliver an objection to the
Buyer within the first 30-day period referred to above, the Closing Date Statement, as adjusted as agreed by the Buyer and the WM Parent in
writing or as decided by the Accounting Firm, if applicable (the “Final Closing Date Statement”), shall be final, conclusive and binding
against the Parties. As set forth in the Final Closing Date Statement, the calculation of the Asset Purchase Price Adjustment (the “Final Asset
Purchase Price Adjustment”) shall be final for all purposes hereunder.
(d) In resolving any disputed item, the Accounting Firm (i) shall be bound by the provisions of this Section 1.5, (ii) may not assign a value to
any item greater than the greatest value claimed for such item or less than the smallest value for such item claimed by either the WM Parent or
the Buyer (except to the extent that the resolution of a disputed item results in a corresponding change to any other item), (iii) shall limit its
decision to such items as are in dispute and (iv) shall make its determination based solely on presentations by the WM Parent and the Buyer
which are in accordance with the guidelines and procedures set forth in this Agreement (i.e., not on the basis of independent review). The fees,
costs and expenses of the Accounting Firm shall be allocated by the Accounting Firm between the WM Parent on the one hand, and the
Buyer, on the other hand, in the same proportion that the aggregate amount of the disputed items so submitted to the Accounting Firm are
unsuccessfully disputed by each such Party (as finally determined by the Accounting Firm) bears to the total amount of such disputed items so
disputed. Neither the Buyer nor the WM Parent nor any of their respective Affiliates or Representatives shall engage in ex parte
communications with the Accounting Firm. Absent manifest error, the determination of the Accounting Firm shall be conclusive and binding
upon the Parties and shall not be subject to appeal or further review.
(e) Within three (3) Business Days following the determination of the Final Purchase Price in accordance with this Section 1.5:
(i) in the event that the Final Purchase Price exceeds the Estimated Purchase Price, the Buyer shall deliver, or cause to be
delivered, to the WM Parent (on behalf of the Sellers), by wire transfer of immediately available funds to the bank account(s) designated
by the WM Parent prior to the Time of Closing, payment in an amount equal to (A) the Final Purchase Price minus (B) the Estimated
Purchase Price; and
(ii) in the event that the Estimated Purchase Price exceeds the Final Purchase Price, the WM Parent shall deliver, or
cause to be delivered to the Buyer, by wire transfer of immediately available funds to bank accounts designated by the Buyer prior to such
date, an amount equal to (A) the Estimated Purchase Price minus (B) the Final Purchase Price.
(f) The Parties agree that any payment made pursuant to this Section 1.5 shall be treated as an adjustment to the Estimated Purchase Price
and the Final Purchase Price for all Tax purposes, except to the extent otherwise required by applicable Law.
Section 1.6 Time and Place of the Closing. Subject to the termination provisions in Article VIII, unless otherwise agreed to by the Parties,
the transactions contemplated by this Agreement shall be closed (the “Closing”) remotely via the exchange of electronic documents three (3)
Business Days following the date on which each of the conditions to Closing set forth in Article VI hereof shall have been satisfied or waived,
other than conditions with respect to actions the Parties will take at the Closing itself, but subject to the satisfaction or, to the extent permitted
by applicable Law, waiver of those conditions at the Closing, or on such other date or at such other place as the Parties may agree in writing
(the “Time of Closing”). The date on which the Closing takes place is referred to herein as the “Closing Date.”
Section 1.7 Deliveries by the Sellers. Prior to or at the Time of Closing, the WM Parent or the ADS Parent, as applicable, shall cause to be
delivered to the Buyer, all duly and properly executed (where applicable) the items listed in this Section 1.7:
(a) the certificates, as applicable, referred to in Section 6.2(c);
(b) counterparts of the Waste Collection Services Agreements, each in substantially the form of Exhibit B hereto (the “Waste Collection
Services Agreements”) to effect the subcontracting of certain customer accounts to the Buyer or the Sellers (or their respective Affiliates)
pursuant to Section 8.2;
(c) counterparts of the Seller TSA, in the form of Exhibit C hereto (the “Seller TSA”), wherein one or more of the Affiliates of the WM
Parent will agree to provide certain services to the Buyer (or one or more of its Affiliates) following the Closing;
(d) counterparts of the Buyer TSA, in the form of Exhibit D hereto (the “Buyer TSA”), wherein the Buyer (or one or more of its affiliates)
will agree to provide certain services to the WM Parent (or one or more of its affiliates) following the Closing;
(e) special warranty deeds (or the local state equivalent, as applicable, subject in each case to the requirements of local law), substantially in
the form of Exhibit E hereto, from the WM Asset Sellers and the ADS Asset Sellers, as applicable, for each parcel of WM Owned Real
Property owned by such WM Asset Seller and each parcel of ADS Owned Real Property owned by such ADS Asset Seller, as applicable;
(f) a bill of sale, providing for the conveyance, sale, transfer and assignment to the Buyer of all of the Assets in the form attached as Exhibit
F;
(g)

counterparts of the assignment and assumption agreement to effect the conveyance, sale, transfer and assignment to the Buyer of all of

the Assets, the assignment by the Sellers of the Assumed Contracts, the assumption by the Buyer of the Assumed Contracts and the
assumption by the Buyer of the Assumed Liabilities in the form attached as Exhibit G (the “Assignment and Assumption Agreement”);
(h) the resignations, effective as of the Closing, of the directors and officers of each Company;
(i) real property transfer tax forms or similar ancillary transfer-related forms required by applicable Law to be executed by any Seller with
respect to the transfer of any WM Real Property or ADS Real Property to the Buyer, whether directly by an Asset Seller or indirectly pursuant
to the sale of a Company by an Equity Seller;
(j) counterparts of the volume disposal agreements by and between the WM Parent (or one or more of its Affiliates) and the Buyer (or one or
more of its Affiliates) in the forms attached as Exhibit H (the “Waste Disposal Agreements”);
(k) a duly completed and executed Internal Revenue Service Form W-9 from each Seller;
(l) documents or certificates of merger, name changes or similar corporate documentation evidencing any changes in entity names of the
applicable WM Asset Seller, WM Company, ADS Asset Seller or ADS Company set forth on Schedule B, C, E and F, respectively, as the
current owner of such WM Owned Real Property or ADS Real Property, in each case in recordable form; and
(m) such documents of transfer and assignment, in form reasonably satisfactory to the Buyer and Sellers, as are necessary to sell, transfer
and assign the Equity Interests to the Buyer, including, as applicable, certificates, assignments and stock powers, which shall transfer to the
Buyer good and valid title to the Equity Interests, free and clear of all Encumbrances (other than restrictions on transfer of securities imposed
by applicable state and federal securities Laws).
Section 1.8 Deliveries by the Buyer. Prior to or at the Time of Closing, the Buyer shall deliver to the WM Parent, all duly and properly
executed (where applicable):
(a) the Estimated Purchase Price, by wire transfer of immediately available funds to such account or accounts as shall have been specified in
writing by the WM Parent to the Buyer;
(b) counterparts of the Waste Collection Services Agreements;
(c) counterparts of the Seller TSA and the Buyer TSA;
(d) counterparts of the Assignment and Assumption Agreement;
(e) fully executed copies of the Substitute Credit Enhancements;
(f) the certificate referred to in Section 6.3(c);
(g) real property transfer tax forms required by applicable Law to be executed by the Buyer with respect to the transfer of any WM Real
Property or ADS Real Property to the Buyer, whether directly by an Asset Seller or indirectly pursuant to the sale of a Company by an Equity
Seller; and
(h) counterparts of the Waste Disposal Agreements.
Section 1.9 Withholding. The Buyer and any other Persons making payments on its behalf shall be entitled to deduct and withhold the
amounts (if any) that are required to be deducted and withheld pursuant to any applicable Tax Law. To the extent that any such amounts are
deducted and withheld and timely paid over to the applicable Governmental Authority, such amounts shall be treated as having been paid to
the applicable Seller or other Person in respect of which such deduction and withholding was made. Before making any deduction or
withholding pursuant to this Section 1.9, the Buyer (or such other Person) shall give the applicable Seller or other Person reasonable advance
notice of any anticipated deduction or withholding (together with the legal basis therefor), provide such Seller or other Person with sufficient
opportunity to provide any forms or other documentation or take such other steps in order to avoid such deduction or withholding, and
reasonably cooperate with the applicable Seller or other Person in good faith to attempt to reduce any amounts that would otherwise be
deducted and withheld pursuant to this Section 1.9.
ARTICLE II
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE WM PARENT
Subject to the exceptions set forth in the Schedules (subject to Section 10.13), the WM Parent hereby makes the representations and
warranties set forth in this Article II to the Buyer. For the avoidance of doubt, the representations and warranties made by the WM Parent are
being made on behalf of the WM Sellers and are solely in relation to the WM Assets, the WM Assumed Liabilities, the WM Companies, the
WM Business and the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, and do not relate or purport to cover any other assets, businesses or
operations of any WM Seller.
Section 2.1 Organization and Qualification.

(a) Each WM Seller is duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the jurisdiction of such WM Seller’s
organization, incorporation, registration or formation and has the requisite corporate or other organizational power and authority to own and
operate such WM Seller’s properties and assets, including the applicable WM Assets, and to transact such WM Seller’s business and the
operation of the WM Assets and the WM Business as now conducted, except, in each case, where the failure to be in good standing is not and
would not reasonably be expected to be material to the WM Companies and would not reasonably be expected to prevent such WM Seller
from performing in all material respects its obligations under this Agreement.
(b) Each WM Company is duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the jurisdiction of such WM Company’s
organization, incorporation, registration or formation and has the requisite corporate or other organizational power and authority to own such
WM Company’s property and assets and to transact its business as now conducted, except, in each case, where the failure to be in good
standing is not and would not reasonably be expected to be material to the WM Companies, taken as a whole.
(c) Each WM Company is duly qualified to do business as a foreign corporation or limited liability company and is in good standing under
the laws of each state or other jurisdiction in which the properties and assets owned, leased or operated by such WM Company or the nature of
the business conducted by such WM Company make such qualification necessary, except in such jurisdictions where the failure to be duly
qualified or in good standing is not and would not reasonably be expected to be material to the WM Companies, taken as a whole.
(d) The WM Sellers have made available to the Buyer true and complete copies of the Organizational Documents of each WM Company. No
WM Company is in violation of the provisions of its Organizational Documents in any material respect.
Section 2.2 Authority.
(a) The WM Parent (on behalf of itself and the other WM Sellers) has full corporate power and authority to execute, deliver and perform this
Agreement and the Other Transaction Agreements (to which it is, or is specified to be, a party) and to consummate the transactions
contemplated hereby and thereby.
(b) The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and the Other Transaction Agreements (to which it is, or is specified to be, a
party) and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby have been duly and validly authorized and approved by all
corporate and other proceedings on the part of each of the WM Sellers as are necessary to authorize the execution, delivery and performance
of this Agreement and the Other Transaction Agreements (to which it is, or is specified to be, a party) and the consummation of the
transactions contemplated hereby and thereby.
(c) This Agreement has been duly and validly executed and delivered by the WM Parent (on behalf of itself and the other WM Sellers), and
this Agreement constitutes the legal, valid and binding agreement of the WM Parent, enforceable against the WM Parent in accordance with
its terms, except as may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization or other laws affecting the enforcement of creditors’ rights
generally, and except that enforceability of the obligations of the WM Parent under this Agreement may be subject to general principles of
equity. Each Other Transaction Agreement has been or will be duly and validly executed and delivered by the WM Parent or the parties
thereto that are Affiliates of the WM Parent and each such Other Transaction Agreement constitutes (or shall constitute) the legal, valid and
binding agreement of the WM Parent or of such Affiliate of the WM Parent, enforceable against it in accordance with its terms, except as may
be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization or other laws affecting the enforcement of creditors’ rights generally, and except that
enforceability of the obligations of the WM Parent or of such Affiliate of the WM Parent under each such Other Transaction Agreement may
be subject to general principles of equity.
Section 2.3 Capitalization; Title.
(a) Schedule 2.3(a) sets forth the number of outstanding Equity Securities of each WM Company and the record owner thereof. No other
Equity Securities of any of the WM Companies are issued and outstanding and the WM Equity Interests constitute all of the issued and
outstanding Equity Securities of the WM Companies.
(b) All of the issued and outstanding Equity Securities of the WM Companies were validly issued and are fully paid, nonassessable and are
owned beneficially and of record by the WM Equity Sellers, as applicable, free and clear of all Encumbrances (other than restrictions on
transfer of securities imposed by applicable state and federal securities Laws). The WM Equity Interests have not been issued in violation of,
and are not subject to, any preemptive, subscription or similar rights under any Contract or any provision of applicable Law or any
Organizational Document of any WM Company.
(c) There are no outstanding (i) subscriptions, options, calls, contracts, commitments, understandings, restrictions, arrangements, rights or
warrants, “phantom” stock rights, stock appreciation rights, stock based performance units, convertible or exchangeable securities, including
any right of conversion or exchange under any outstanding security, debenture, instrument or other agreement obligating any of the WM
Companies to issue, deliver or sell, or cause to be issued, delivered or sold, additional Equity Securities of any of the WM Companies or
obligating any of the WM Companies to grant, extend or enter into any such agreement or commitment, or (ii) obligations of any of the WM
Companies to repurchase, redeem or otherwise acquire any securities referred to in clause (i).
(d) Except for this Agreement, there are no voting trusts, proxies or other Contracts to which any of the WM Companies or any of the WM
Equity Sellers is a party or is bound with respect to the voting of any of the Equity Securities of any of the WM Companies, including any

such voting trusts, proxies or other Contracts restricting or otherwise relating to the voting, dividend rights or disposition of the Equity
Interests.
(e) There are no Contracts to which any WM Company is a party or bound thereby which require the purchase by any WM Company of any
Equity Securities of, or investment in, any Person. Each WM Equity Seller has good and valid title to the WM Equity Interests set forth
opposite its name on Schedule 2.3(a), free and clear of any Encumbrances (other than restrictions on transfer of securities imposed by
applicable state and federal securities Laws) and at the Closing, such WM Equity Seller shall deliver to the Buyer good and marketable title to
such WM Equity Interests, free and clear of any Encumbrances (other than restrictions on transfer of securities imposed by applicable state
and federal securities Laws).
(f) As of the Execution Date, none of the WM Companies have any Indebtedness except as set forth on Schedule 2.3(f). At the Time of
Closing, none of the WM Companies will have any Indebtedness.
Section 2.4 No Subsidiaries. None of the WM Companies owns, or has any interest in, in each case, directly or indirectly, any Equity
Securities in any other Person.
Section 2.5 Assets; Title; Personal Property.
(a) Except as specifically identified on Schedule 2.5(a) and for the services contemplated by the Seller TSA and the Waste Collection
Services Agreement, the WM Assets together with the buildings, structures, furniture, fixtures, furnishings, machinery, equipment, vehicles
and other items of tangible personal property owned or leased by the WM Companies and all other properties and assets of the WM
Companies (including the WM Real Property of the WM Companies) are sufficient for the continued conduct of the WM Business after the
Time of Closing in substantially the same manner as conducted prior to the Time of Closing and constitute all of the rights, property and
assets necessary to conduct the WM Business as currently conducted.
(b) At the Time of Closing, each of the WM Companies has good and marketable title or enforceable leasehold interests, as the case may be,
to all of its properties and assets, free and clear of all Encumbrances, except the Permitted Encumbrances. Set forth on Schedule 2.5(b) is a
complete and accurate list in all material respects, as of the Execution Date, of each of the material tangible properties (other than the WM
Real Properties) and assets of each of the WM Companies.
(c) (i) At the Time of Closing, the WM Asset Sellers, as applicable, shall have good and marketable title to the owned WM Assets and
enforceable leasehold interests in the leased WM Assets, free and clear of all Encumbrances other than Permitted Encumbrances, (ii) by virtue
of the grant, conveyance, sale, transfer, assignment and delivery of the WM Assets hereunder, the Buyer shall receive good and marketable
title to the owned WM Assets, and enforceable leasehold interests in the leased WM Assets, free and clear of all Encumbrances other than
Permitted Encumbrances, and (iii) at the Time of Closing, the WM Fixed Assets are, in all material respects, in operating condition, ordinary
wear and tear excepted.
(d) The WM Assets and the properties and assets of the WM Companies (including the WM Real Property) have been maintained in all
material respects in accordance with the respective WM Sellers’ or WM Company’s standard practices, as applicable, and no WM Seller or
WM Company, as applicable, has deferred any reasonable maintenance or repairs of the WM Assets or such WM Company’s properties or
assets (including the WM Real Property), as otherwise required in accordance with such WM Sellers’ or WM Company’s standard practices,
as applicable. Except as would not reasonably be expected to be material to the WM Business, the tangible assets and property of the WM
Companies and those included in the WM Assets are in good condition, ordinary wear and tear excepted.
Section 2.6 Consents and Approvals; No Violation.
(a) Except with respect to the Retained Accounts serviced by the WM Business, the DOJ Consent or as set forth on Schedule 2.6(a), no
filing, declaration or registration with, and no permit, authorization, consent, waiver, license or approval of, any Person, including any
Governmental Authority, is necessary for the consummation by the WM Sellers of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement except as
is not and would not reasonably be expected to be material to the WM Business, the WM Assets and the WM Companies, taken as a whole.
(b) Except with respect to the Retained Accounts serviced by the WM Business or as set forth on Schedule 2.6(b), neither the execution and
delivery of this Agreement or the Other Transaction Agreements, the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby, nor
the compliance by the WM Sellers with any of the provisions hereof or thereof does or will (i) conflict with or result in any breach of any
provision of the Organizational Documents of the WM Sellers or the WM Companies, (ii) result in a violation or breach of, or constitute (with
or without due notice or lapse of time or both) a default (or give rise to any right of termination, cancellation or acceleration) under, any of the
terms, conditions or provisions of any Contract or other instrument or obligation to which any of the WM Sellers is party or is otherwise
bound by and which is applicable to the WM Assets, the WM Assumed Liabilities or the WM Business or to which the WM Companies is
party, is otherwise bound by or is applicable to the properties or assets of the WM Companies, (iii) give rise to any Encumbrance on any of
the properties or assets of any of the WM Companies or on any of the WM Assets, or (iv) violate any Law, regulation or Order applicable to
the WM Companies or any of the WM Companies’ properties or assets, the WM Business or the WM Assets, except in the case of clauses (ii),
(iii) and (iv), for conflicts, breaches, violations, defaults or Encumbrances as is not and would not reasonably be expected to be material to the
WM Business (in respect of the WM Assets and the WM Companies), the WM Assets and the WM Companies, taken as a whole.
Section 2.7

Litigation. Except as set forth on Schedule 2.7, (a) none of the WM Sellers or the WM Companies is subject to any material

Order or proposed material Order in which relief is sought involving, affecting, or relating to the ownership, operation or use of its properties
or assets, or which would prevent, delay, or make illegal the transactions contemplated by this Agreement; (b) neither any of the WM
Companies nor the WM Business is, or in the past three (3) years has been, subject to any material Order or proposed material Order and (c)
there are no, and in the past three (3) years there have not been, any material Proceedings pending or threatened in writing or, to the
Knowledge of the WM Sellers, threatened orally, against, involving, affecting, or relating to the WM Assets, the WM Business, the WM
Companies, the WM Companies’ properties or assets (including the WM Real Property) or the WM Companies’ ownership, operation or use
of such properties or assets (including the WM Real Property).
Section 2.8 Tax Matters. Except as set forth on Schedule 2.8:
(a) All material Tax Returns required to be filed with respect to the WM Companies and the WM Assets have been timely filed (taking into
account extensions), and all such Tax Returns are true and complete in all material respects.
(b) Each of the WM Companies has timely paid (or caused to be paid) all Taxes that are due and payable, and each WM Seller and its
Subsidiaries have timely paid all other Taxes with respect to the WM Assets that are due and payable, except in each case to the extent such
unpaid Taxes are not material when taken as a whole.
(c) There is currently no pending Proceeding or Proceeding threatened in writing by any taxing authority with respect to any material Taxes
of or with respect to the WM Companies or the WM Assets. None of the WM Companies (and, in respect of the WM Assets, none of the WM
Sellers or their Affiliates have) waived or extended any limitations period relating to material Taxes or material Tax Returns.
(d) None of the WM Companies has any obligation under any Tax sharing, Tax indemnity or Tax allocation agreement, other than (i)
agreements solely between WM Companies and (ii) customary commercial agreements with Third Parties entered into in the WM Ordinary
Course.
(e) None of the WM Companies (i) has been a member of an affiliated, consolidated, combined or unitary group (other than the Parent
Group) for U.S. federal income tax purposes or (ii) has any material Liability for any Taxes of any other Person under Treasury Regulations
Section 1.1502-6 (or any similar provision of state, local or foreign Law), or as a transferee or successor.
(f) Within the past two (2) years none of the WM Companies has been a “distributing corporation” or a “controlled corporation” in a
distribution intended to qualify under Section 355(a) of the Code (or under so much of Section 356 of the Code as relates to Section 355 of the
Code).
(g)
There are no material Encumbrances for Taxes on any of the WM Assets or any assets of the WM Companies, except statutory
Encumbrances for Taxes that are not yet due or Encumbrances for Taxes which are being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings.
(h) Each of the WM Companies that is organized as a limited liability company is properly characterized for U.S. federal income tax
purposes as a disregarded entity.
Section 2.9 Material Contracts.
(a) Set forth on Schedule 2.9(a) is a complete and accurate list, as of the Execution Date, of each Contract, other than any Contract in respect
of a Retained Account or any other Contract which is of a type addressed pursuant to Section 8.2 (such Contracts of the type addressed in
Section 8.2, the “Section 8.2 Contracts”), to which any of the WM Companies is a party or is otherwise bound by or to which any of the WM
Sellers is party or is otherwise bound by and which is applicable to the WM Assets or the WM Assumed Liabilities (each such Contract
required to be set forth on Schedule 2.9(a), together with each Contract entered into after the Execution Date that would have been required to
be set forth on Schedule 2.9(a) if it had been entered into as of the Execution Date, a “WM Material Contract”) which:
(i) involves payments (including under any operating leases), performance or services or delivery of goods to or by any
WM Company of any amount reasonably expected to exceed $[***] in any twelve (12) month period;
(ii) (x) limits or purports to limit the freedom of any WM Company or any of its Affiliates (including, following the
Closing, the Buyer and its Affiliates) to (A) engage in any line of business or to compete in any business or with any person within any
geographic area, or (B) acquire the assets or securities of another Person, or otherwise materially restricts any WM Company’s ability to
hire or solicit business from any Person or (y) could require the disposition of any material assets or line of business of any WM Company
or any material portion of the WM Business;
(iii) is related to an acquisition, divestiture, merger or similar transaction involving a WM Company or the WM Business
entered into in the past three (3) years or that contains any obligations, financial covenants, indemnities or other similar payment
obligations (including “earn-out” or other contingent payment obligations) that are still in effect and would reasonably be expected to
result in the receipt or making of future payments in excess of $[***], except for any acquisitions, divestitures or similar transactions of
equipment or similar assets made in the WM Ordinary Course;
(iv) contains a put, call or similar right pursuant to which any WM Seller (with respect to the WM Business) or WM
Company could be required to purchase or sell, as applicable, any Equity Securities or assets of any Person (in the case of assets, having a

purchase price in excess of $[***]);
(v)
provides for exclusive rights for the benefit of any Third Party, grants “most favored nation” status, contains
minimum volume or purchase commitments, or requires any WM Seller or WM Company to provide any minimum level of service, in
each case which are, or in a manner that is, material to the WM Business (in respect of the WM Companies and the WM Assets);
(vi)
Ordinary Course;

provides for indemnification by any WM Company of any Person except for Contracts entered into in the WM

(vii) is a settlement or similar agreement pursuant to which the Buyer or its Affiliates (including, after the Closing, any
WM Company) will be required to make payments in excess of $[***] following the Closing;
(viii) provides for a direct or indirect advance, loan, extension of credit or capital contribution to, or other investment in,
any Person, in each case by any WM Company, except for advances, loans or extensions of credit in the WM Ordinary Course and which
do not exceed $[***]; and
(ix) (A) is an employment, consulting, severance, change in control, retention or similar plan, agreement, arrangement,
policy or Contract with respect to any WM Business Employee or WM Consultant that (x) provides (or is reasonably expected to provide)
for aggregate cash compensation in excess of $[***] to any WM Business Employee or WM Consultant in any calendar year (other than
ordinary at-will employment or similar agreements terminable upon less than thirty (30) days’ notice and without any Liability to any WM
Business Employee or WM Consultant), (y) provides for (or otherwise increases or modifies) any payments or benefits in connection with
the transactions contemplated hereby or (z) is not terminable on less than thirty (30) days’ notice (or pay in lieu of notice); or (B) is a
Collective Bargaining Agreement.
(b) True and complete copies of each WM Material Contract (including any WM Assumed Contract that is a WM Material Contract) set
forth on Schedule 2.9(a) have been made available to the Buyer on or prior to the Execution Date (except that (1) with respect to customer
Contracts, copies of each of the top ten (10) customer Contracts for each location or site comprising the WM Business have been made
available to the Buyer on or prior to the Execution Date, (2) with respect to WM Hauling Contracts, copies of twenty-five (25) such Contracts,
which Contracts are a representative sample of the WM Hauling Contracts, have been made available to the Buyer on or prior to the Execution
Date, with true and complete copies of each of the WM Hauling Contracts to be made available to the Buyer within fifteen (15) Business Days
following the Execution Date, which WM Hauling Contracts are on the standard form or forms included in the representative sample provided
on or prior to the Execution Date, and (3) with respect to local vendor or supplier Contracts referenced in item 2(e) set forth on Schedule
1.2(a)(iv), true and complete copies of such Contracts will be made available to the Buyer within fifteen (15) Business Days following the
Execution Date). Except as set forth in Schedule 2.9(b) or as does not and would not reasonably be expected to be material to the WM
Business (in respect of the WM Assets and the WM Companies), the WM Assets and the WM Companies, taken as a whole: (i) all WM
Material Contracts, WM Assumed Contracts and Section 8.2 Contracts (in respect of the WM Business) are in full force and effect and are
valid, binding and enforceable against the respective parties thereto in accordance with their respective provisions, except as may be limited
by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization or other laws affecting the enforcement of creditors’ rights generally; (ii) no default or breach has
occurred nor has there occurred an event or condition which with the passage of time or the giving of notice (or both) would constitute a
default or a breach by the applicable WM Seller, any WM Company, or, to the Knowledge of the WM Sellers, any other party to any such
WM Material Contract, WM Assumed Contract or Section 8.2 Contract (in respect of the WM Business); (iii) none of the WM Asset Sellers
has received any written notice or, to the Knowledge of the WM Sellers, oral notice that any Person intends or desires to modify, waive,
amend, rescind, release, cancel or terminate any WM Material Contract, WM Assumed Contract or Section 8.2 Contract (in respect of the
WM Business); and (iv) (A) no WM Seller or WM Company, nor any other party to any WM Material Contract, WM Assumed Contract or
Section 8.2 Contract (in respect of the WM Business), has exercised in writing or, to the Knowledge of the WM Sellers, otherwise, any
termination rights with respect thereto, and (B) no WM Seller or WM Company, nor any other party to any WM Material Contract, WM
Assumed Contract or Section 8.2 Contract (in respect of the WM Business) has given written or, to the Knowledge of the WM Sellers, oral
notice of any material dispute with respect thereto.
Section 2.10 Compliance with Laws; Permits.
(a) Except as set forth in Schedule 2.10(a) or as would not reasonably be expected to be material to the WM Business (in respect of the WM
Assets and the WM Companies), the WM Assets, and the WM Companies, taken as a whole: (i) the WM Business, the WM Companies and
the WM Assets are being operated, and in the past three (3) years have been operated, in compliance with all applicable Laws, Orders and
WM Permits; and (ii) none of the WM Companies, nor any of the WM Sellers in respect of the WM Assets or the WM Business has received,
during the past three (3) years (or earlier if remaining unresolved), any written communication, or, to the Knowledge of the WM Sellers, oral
communication from a Governmental Authority that alleges any, and, to the Knowledge of the WM Sellers, there is no investigation pending
by a Governmental Authority with respect to any, violation of any Laws or Orders applicable to the conduct of the WM Business or by which
any WM Asset is bound or affected.
(b) Except as set forth on Schedule 2.10(b)(1) or as would not reasonably be expected to be material to the WM Business (in respect of the
WM Assets and the WM Companies), the WM Assets, and the WM Companies, taken as a whole: (i) each of the WM Companies or the WM
Sellers, as applicable, has, and in the past three (3) years has had, all WM Permits (which WM Permits include all WM Permits issued
pursuant to, or in respect of, any Environmental Law) necessary to enable it to conduct the WM Business and operate the WM Assets and the

assets and properties of the WM Companies as are currently conducted or operated; and (ii) each WM Company and WM Seller, as
applicable, is and has been in compliance with the terms and conditions of all WM Permits and all of the WM Permits are currently valid, in
good standing and in full force and effect. None of the WM Companies nor any of the WM Sellers, as applicable, has received any written or,
to the Knowledge of the WM Sellers, oral notification from any Governmental Authority of its intent to suspend, terminate or materially and
adversely modify any material WM Permit. Schedule 2.10(b)(2) sets forth a complete list of all WM Permits that are material to the WM
Business (in respect of the WM Assets and the WM Companies), the WM Assets, and the WM Companies, taken as a whole (including such
WM Permits issued pursuant to, or in respect of, any Environmental Law).
(c) Each WM Seller (to the extent it relates to the WM Business), each WM Company and the WM Business, and each of their respective
directors, officers, and to the Knowledge of the WM Sellers, employees and agents, and any other Person acting on behalf of any of the
foregoing, is, and in the last five (5) years has been, in compliance with all applicable Anti-Corruption Laws.
(d) None of the WM Sellers (to the extent it relates to the WM Business), none of the WM Companies, nor the WM Business nor any
director or officer of the WM Sellers, the WM Parent or the WM Companies or, to the Knowledge of the WM Sellers, any other Person acting
on its behalf has offered, given, authorized, or promised, anything of value, directly or indirectly, to any Person, including to any Public
Official, for the purpose of (i) improperly influencing any official act or decision of such Person; (ii) inducing such Person to do or omit to do
any act in violation of a lawful duty; or (iii) securing any improper benefit or favor for the WM Companies, or the WM Business or in
connection with this Agreement.
(e) No officers, directors, majority owners or, to the Knowledge of the WM Sellers, employees, in each case, of any WM Company is a
Public Official.
(f) None of the WM Sellers (to the extent it relates to the WM Business), nor any of the WM Companies has made a voluntary, directed, or
involuntary written disclosure, or to the Knowledge of the WM Sellers, oral disclosure to any Governmental Authority (including but not
limited to the U.S. Department of Justice, U.S. Securities Exchange Commission, or U.K. Securities Fraud Office) with respect to any alleged
act or omission arising under or relating to any non-compliance with any Anti-Corruption Law.
Section 2.11 No Broker’s or Finder’s Fees. No broker, investment banker, financial advisor or other Person is entitled to any broker’s,
finder’s, financial advisor’s or other similar fee or commission in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement based
upon arrangements made by or on behalf of the WM Sellers or the WM Companies or their Subsidiaries for which the Buyer, the WM
Companies or any of their Subsidiaries shall have any responsibility.
Section 2.12 Benefit Plans.
(a) Schedule 2.12(a) sets forth a complete and accurate list of each WM Plan. The WM Sellers have made available to the Buyer true and
complete copies of, or a written description of all material terms of, each WM Plan.
(b) Except as would not reasonably be expected to result in material Liability to the WM Business, the WM Assets, any of the WM
Companies, the Buyer or any of their Affiliates: (i) each WM Company Plan has been maintained, operated and administered in compliance in
all respects with its terms and with the requirements of applicable Law; (ii) all contributions or payments due to date have been made timely
and in compliance with the terms of each WM Company Plan and applicable Law; (iii) no failure to pay premiums due or payable with respect
to insurance policies relating to each WM Company Plan has resulted in default under any such policies; and (iv) there are no pending or, to
the Knowledge of the WM Sellers, threatened Proceedings against any WM Company Plan by any WM Business Employee or any
Governmental Authority or otherwise involving any WM Company Plan or the assets of any such plan (other than routine claims for benefits
made in the WM Ordinary Course). Each WM Company Plan that is intended to be qualified under Section 401(a) of the Code has received a
favorable determination letter from the IRS or, with respect to a prototype or volume submitter plan, can rely on an opinion or advisory letter
from the IRS to the prototype plan or volume submitter plan sponsor, as to its qualification and to the effect that the plan’s related trust is
exempt from federal income taxes under Section 501(a) of the Code, and, to the Knowledge of the WM Sellers, nothing has occurred that
could reasonably be expected to result in the revocation of such favorable determination.
(c) With respect to each WM Company Plan that is subject to Title IV or Section 302 of ERISA or Section 412 or 4971 of the Code: (i) no
such plan has failed to satisfy the minimum funding standard (within the meaning of Sections 412 and 430 of the Code or Section 302 and 303
of ERISA) applicable to such plan, whether or not waived, and no application for a waiver of the minimum funding standard with respect to
any such plan has been submitted; (ii) neither the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby nor any other event that has occurred
or condition that exists would result in, or reasonably be expected to result in any lien on any assets of any WM Company or any of its
Affiliates or any Liability to any WM Company, or the Buyer or any of their Affiliates under Title IV of ERISA; (iii) no proceeding has been
initiated to terminate such plan; and (iv) no WM Company, WM Seller or any of their respective ERISA Affiliates has engaged in any
transaction described in Sections 4069 of ERISA.
(a) With respect to each WM Multiemployer Plan, no withdrawal liability, within the meaning of Section 4201 of ERISA, has
been incurred, which withdrawal liability has not been satisfied in full. No WM Company has any current or delinquent contribution obligations
or other Liability with respect to any WM Multiemployer Plan (other than “controlled group” Liabilities arising under Title IV of ERISA, each of
which is subject to indemnity pursuant to Section 8.10(b)).
(b)

No Tax penalties or additional Taxes have been imposed or would be reasonably expected to be imposed on any WM

Business Employee, and no acceleration of Taxes has occurred or would be reasonably expected to occur with respect to any WM Business
Employee, in each case as a result of a failure to comply with Section 409A of the Code with respect to any WM Company Plan. No WM
Business Employee is entitled to receive any gross-up or additional payment in connection with any Tax imposed under Section 409A or Section
4999 of the Code.
(c) No WM Company Plan, fiduciary of such plan or administrator of such plan has taken any action, or failed to take any action,
which action or failure could subject the Buyer or any of its Affiliates, or any WM Business Employee, to any Tax, fine, lien, penalty or other
Liability imposed by ERISA, the Code or other applicable Laws (including any Liability for breach of any fiduciary duty or any prohibited
transaction (as defined in Section 4975 of the Code, any Liability pursuant to Section 502 of ERISA or any Tax imposed pursuant to Section 4976
of the Code), with respect to or in connection with any WM Company Plan. None of the WM Companies is bound by or otherwise subject to any
agreement or Contract related to any Liability under Section 4204 of ERISA.
(d) Except as provided in Section 5.9(a), none of the execution and delivery of this Agreement or the consummation of the
transactions contemplated hereby (alone or in conjunction with any other event, including any termination of employment on or following the
Closing) will (i) entitle any WM Business Employee to any compensation or benefit; (ii) accelerate the time of payment or vesting, or trigger any
payment or funding, of any compensation, benefits or other obligation for any WM Business Employee or (iii) result in the payment of any
“excess parachute payment” as defined in Section 280G(b)(1) of the Code.
Section 2.13 Employment and Labor Matters.
(a) Except as set forth in Schedule 2.13(a), with respect to the WM Business or the operation of the WM Assets, neither any of the WM
Sellers nor any of the WM Companies is a party to or otherwise bound by (i) any Collective Bargaining Agreement, (ii) any written agreement
providing for the employment of any employee(s) of the WM Companies or employee(s) of the WM Sellers or their Affiliates (including the
WM Companies) primarily involved in the operation of the WM Assets (the “WM Business Employees”) other than on an at-will basis, or
(iii) any agreement with an individual independent contractor (either directly or through any Person through which such individual provides
services) for the provision of consulting or other professional services (the “WM Consultants”) which is not cancelable without penalty (or
payment in lieu of notice) on less than thirty (30) days’ notice. With respect to each Collective Bargaining Agreement, WM Sellers and WM
Companies are in compliance in all material respects with its terms and with the requirements of applicable Law. With respect to this
Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby, there are no consultation, consent, assumption, approval, opinion or similar obligations
under any Collective Bargaining Agreement, except to the extent expressly provided in the Collective Bargaining Agreement in Schedule
2.13(a).
(b) Except as set forth in Schedule 2.13(b), within the last five (5) years, neither any of the WM Sellers nor any of the WM Companies has
experienced, whether pending or, to the Knowledge of the WM Sellers, are currently threatened, any material labor disputes, strikes,
slowdowns, or work stoppages due to labor disagreements or to the Knowledge of the WM Sellers any union organization attempts or
activities, in each case in connection with the WM Business, the operation of the WM Assets or the WM Business Employees. Except as set
forth in Schedule 2.13(b), there are no (and within the last five (5) years have not been any) material grievances or material unfair labor
practice charges or other material Proceedings pending or, to the Knowledge of the WM Sellers, threatened in writing against WM Seller or
any of the WM Companies before the National Labor Relations Board or any other Governmental Authority with respect to any WM Business
Employee or any current or former employee of the WM Sellers or their Affiliates primarily involved in the operation of the WM Assets or
the WM Companies.
(c) None of the WM Sellers and any of their Affiliates (including the WM Companies) has engaged in or effectuated any “plant closing” or
“mass layoff” (in each case, as defined in the WARN Act) that (i) has affected any site of employment or one or more facilities or operating
units within any site of employment or facility of the WM Sellers and any of their Affiliates (including the WM Companies) at which any
WM Business Employees were employed and (ii) for which there remains any outstanding obligation or Liability.
(d) Except to the extent set forth in Schedule 2.13(d), in each case with respect to the WM Business, the WM Assets or the WM Business
Employees, (i) no material grievance nor any material arbitration or other Proceedings arising out of or under Collective Bargaining
Agreements, is pending or, to the Knowledge of the WM Sellers, threatened; and (ii) there are no material Proceedings against any of the WM
Sellers or the WM Companies concerning alleged employment discrimination or other employment related matters pending or, to the
Knowledge of the WM Sellers, threatened before the U.S. Equal Employment Opportunity Commission, the U.S. Department of Labor or any
other Governmental Authority.
(e) WM Sellers and their Affiliates (including the WM Companies) are in compliance in all material respects with all applicable Laws
relating to employment or labor practices, including those related to hiring, background checks, wages, pay equity, hours, collective
bargaining and labor relations, classification of independent contractors and employees, equal opportunity, document retention, notice, plant
closing and mass layoff, health and safety, employment eligibility verification, immigration, child labor, discrimination, harassment,
retaliation, accommodations, disability rights or benefits, affirmative action, workers’ compensation, unemployment insurance, employment
and reemployment rights of members of the uniformed services, secondment, employee leave issues, the payment or withholding of social
security and other payroll Taxes, classification of exempt and non-exempt employees and employee leasing, and do not have any outstanding
material liability for any arrears of wages, other compensation or benefits (other than such Liabilities that have been incurred in the WM
Ordinary Course), in each case with respect to the WM Business Employees and the WM Business.

Section 2.14 Absence of Certain Changes. Except (w) as set forth on Schedule 2.14, (x) as expressly provided for or expressly contemplated
by this Agreement, (y) as required by applicable Law or (z) for any actions taken (including the cessation or reduction of activities), or any
plans, procedures and practices adopted (and compliance therewith), in connection with the coronavirus outbreak (including measures
undertaken to mitigate risks associated therewith), since March 31, 2020 until the Execution Date, (a) the WM Business has been conducted
or operated in the WM Ordinary Course, (b) there has not been any event or condition that has, or would be reasonably expected, to have a
Material Adverse Effect and (c) the WM Sellers and the WM Companies have not taken any action that would have required the consent of
the Buyer pursuant to Section 5.1(a) if it had been taken after the Execution Date and prior to the Closing Date.
Section 2.15 Environmental.
(a) Except as set forth in Schedule 2.15(a) or as is not and would not reasonably be expected to be material to the WM Business, the WM
Assets, and the WM Companies, taken as a whole:
(i) the WM Companies, the WM Business and the WM Assets have been operated in compliance with all Environmental
Laws and with all WM Permits issued pursuant to Environmental Laws;
(ii) to the extent relating to Environmental Laws, none of the WM Sellers or the WM Companies has received any notice
of violation relating to the operation of the WM Assets or the conduct of the WM Business that is not fully resolved, and there are no noncompliance orders, warning letters, settlement agreements, Orders, Proceedings, investigations or actions pending or in existence that
reasonably would result in a Loss;
(iii) with respect to the WM Companies, the WM Business or the WM Assets, none of the WM Sellers or the WM
Companies (A) has received any notice of an alleged or actual Environmental Liability, (B) is identified as or alleged to be, pursuant to
Environmental Laws, a responsible or potentially responsible party for any Release of Hazardous Materials, or (C) has Released, treated,
stored or disposed of Hazardous Materials at, to or under any real property as would reasonably result in a Loss pursuant to Environmental
Laws; and
(iv) with respect to the WM Companies, the WM Business or the WM Assets, (x) to the Knowledge of the WM Sellers,
none of the WM Sellers or the WM Companies has incurred any liability under any Environmental Laws or (y) except in the WM
Material Contracts or the WM Assumed Contracts, has assumed any Liability of any other Person arising out of or pursuant to
Environmental Laws.
(b)
The WM Sellers have provided or otherwise made available to the Buyer all material Phase I, Phase II and similar material
environmental audits, reports, and assessments concerning the WM Business and the WM Assets that are in the possession, custody or control
of WM Sellers.
Section 2.16 Affiliate Relationships. Other than as set forth on Schedule 2.16, (i) there are no Contracts or transactions between any of the
WM Companies, WM Parent or any of the WM Sellers, on the one hand, and any Affiliate, officer, director or manager of any WM Company,
WM Parent, any WM Seller, any ADS Company, ADS Parent, any ADS Seller or any such Affiliate thereof, on the other hand, that relate to
the WM Business or the WM Assets, (ii) none of the WM Companies is party to any Contract with any Affiliate of the WM Parent or any
WM Seller (other than the WM Companies) relating to any business of the WM Parent, the WM Sellers and their Affiliates (other than the
WM Companies) that is not the WM Business and (iii) no Affiliate, officer, director or manager of any WM Company, WM Parent, any WM
Seller or any Affiliate of the foregoing has any direct ownership interest in any material property or asset owned by any WM Company or in
any of the WM Assets other than as a shareholder of the WM Parent (each such Contract, transaction or ownership interest described in
clauses (i) through (iii) and each matter as set forth on Schedule 2.16, a “WM Affiliate Agreement”).
Section 2.17 Performance Bonds; Letters of Credit; Financial Assurances. Set forth on Schedule 2.17 are all of the outstanding performance
bonds, letters of credit and other financial assurances provided by or on behalf of the WM Sellers or the WM Companies with respect to the
WM Assets or the WM Business. True and complete copies of such performance bonds, letters of credit and other financial assurances listed
on Schedule 2.17 have been made available to the Buyer.
Section 2.18
Insurance. Schedule 2.18 sets forth a list of all material policies or binders of property, general liability, workmen’s
compensation, automobile liability and pollution legal liability insurance held by or on behalf of any of the WM Sellers or the WM
Companies in connection with the conduct of the WM Assets or the WM Business (the “WM Company Policies”). All premiums due and
payable under the WM Company Policies have been paid. The WM Company Policies are in full force and effect in accordance with their
terms in all material respects. Where applicable, each of the WM Companies has complied in all material respects with the provisions of the
WM Company Policies. None of the WM Sellers or WM Companies has received any written notice of any pending or threatened cancellation
with respect to any of the WM Company Policies which would have a material effect on the WM Business (in respect of the WM Companies
and WM Assets) or of any material changes that are required in the conduct of the business as a condition to the continuation of coverage
under, or renewal of, any such WM Company Policy. There is no material claim related to or involving the WM Business, the WM Assets or
the WM Companies by any WM Seller or any WM Company pending under any WM Company Policy as to which any WM Seller or any
WM Company has received written notice that coverage has been denied or disputed by the underwriters of such insurance policies or in
respect of which such underwriters have reserved their rights (other than a customary reservation of rights notice for claims where the insurer
subsequently accepted coverage.

Section 2.19 Real Estate.
(a) Each of the WM Asset Sellers and WM Companies, as applicable, has good, marketable and valid title to, or a valid leasehold interest in
(subject to no Encumbrances other than Permitted Encumbrances) (i) the real property (together with all improvements located thereon and all
of the rights and appurtenances to the real property including all right, title and interest in all air and water rights and easements and rights of
way, in each case pertaining to the real property, and all strips and gores adjoining the real property) in which such WM Asset Seller or WM
Company has a fee simple interest (which is set forth on Schedule 2.19(a)) (the “WM Owned Real Property”), and (ii) (x) the real property
(together with all improvements located thereon) to which such WM Asset Seller or WM Company has a legal right pursuant to an agreement
or conveyance, including easements, rights-of-way or other real property interests and which are material to the conduct of the WM Assets or
the WM Business (in respect of the WM Assets and the WM Companies) and (y) ground leases, leases and subleases of real property
(together with all improvements located thereon) pursuant to written agreements entered into by a WM Asset Seller or WM Company (each, a
“WM Existing Lease”) (clauses (x) and (y), collectively, the “WM Leased Real Property” and together with the WM Owned Real Property,
the “WM Real Property”). Such WM Existing Leases have not been assigned nor have the premises demised thereunder been subleased or
licensed, in whole or in part, by any WM Asset Seller or WM Company. A complete and accurate, in all material respects, list of the WM
Owned Real Property and all material WM Leased Real Property (and the owner or lessee, as applicable, thereof and the tax parcel
identification numbers of each parcel thereof) is set forth on Schedule 2.19(a).
(b) True, correct and complete copies of all material WM Existing Leases in effect as of the Execution Date relating to the WM Leased Real
Property (including all WM Existing Leases in respect of the WM Leased Real Property set forth on Schedule 2.19(a)) have been made
available to the Buyer. All such WM Existing Leases are valid, binding and in full force and effect and are enforceable against the WM Asset
Seller or WM Company party thereto and, to the Knowledge of the WM Sellers, the other parties thereto in accordance with their terms, in
each case, subject to bankruptcy, insolvency, fraudulent transfer, reorganization, moratorium and similar Laws of general applicability relating
to or affecting creditors’ rights and subject, as to enforceability, to general equity principles. None of the WM Sellers or any of the WM
Companies has received written notice of any, and, to the Knowledge of the WM Sellers there is no material default under any material WM
Existing Leases.
(c) Except as would not reasonably be expected to be material to the WM Business (in respect of the WM Assets and the WM Companies),
the WM Assets and the WM Companies, taken as a whole, (i) the WM Companies have received no notice in writing of any pending or
threatened condemnation, rezoning or taking actions pending respecting any WM Real Property and (ii) to the Knowledge of the WM Sellers,
all roads necessary for the conduct of the WM Business or the operation of the WM Assets have either been completed or the applicable WM
Seller or WM Company possesses all necessary rights-of-way therefor. The WM Real Property constitutes all of the real property currently
used or held by any WM Seller, WM Parent or any of their respective Affiliates, or required, to conduct the WM Business as it is presently
conducted. Except for any Permitted Encumbrance, none of the WM Sellers or WM Companies has granted any person (other than a WM
Company) any right to occupy any WM Real Property.
Section 2.20 Intellectual Property.
(a) Except as would not reasonably be expected to be material to the WM Business (in respect of the WM Assets and the WM Companies),
the WM Assets and the WM Companies, taken as a whole, and, to the Knowledge of the WM Sellers: (i) each of the WM Sellers and the WM
Companies owns or possesses the valid right to use, all Intellectual Property used in connection with the WM Business as currently
conducted; (ii) none of the WM Sellers or the WM Companies has received any written notice alleging infringement or misappropriation of
any Third Party Intellectual Property rights by the operation of the WM Business; and (iii) no third party is infringing or misappropriating any
of the WM Intellectual Property owned by any of the WM Sellers (with respect to the WM Business) or the WM Companies.
(b) Except as would not reasonably be expected to be material to the WM Business (in respect of the WM Assets and the WM Companies),
the WM Assets and the WM Companies, taken as a whole, the WM Sellers (with respect to the WM Business) and the WM Companies have
(i) complied with their published privacy policies, contractual obligations and all applicable Laws, in each case, concerning the privacy or
security of personally identifiable information, and (ii) taken commercially reasonable measures to protect personally identifiable information,
in their possession against loss, damage, unauthorized access, or other misuse. To the Knowledge of the WM Sellers, during the last three (3)
years there has been no loss, unauthorized access, or other misuse of any personally identifiable information held by the WM Sellers (related
to the WM Business) or the WM Companies other than any such incident that did not trigger a notification or reporting requirement under any
applicable Laws concerning the privacy or security of such personally identifiable information.
Section 2.21 WM Financial Information. Except as set forth on Schedule 2.21, all financial information provided by the WM Parent, its
Affiliates or Representatives to the Buyer prior to the Closing Date in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement with
respect to the WM Business, the WM Companies or the WM Assets (such information, the “WM Financial Information”) was derived from
the books and records of the WM Sellers and their Affiliates, which books and records have been maintained in the WM Ordinary Course and
in accordance with the WM Parent’s historical accounting policies and practices.
Section 2.22 No Other Representations. The WM Sellers are not making, nor have any duty to make, any representations or warranties,
expressed or implied, of any nature whatsoever except as specifically set forth in this Article II. The Parties agree and understand that nothing
in this Agreement, including this Section 2.22 shall limit any claims for Fraud.
ARTICLE III

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE ADS PARENT
Subject to the exceptions set forth in the Schedules (subject to Section 10.13), the ADS Parent hereby makes the representations and
warranties set forth in this Article III to the Buyer. For the avoidance of doubt, the representations and warranties made by the ADS Parent are
being made on behalf of the ADS Sellers and are solely in relation to the ADS Assets, the ADS Assumed Liabilities, the ADS Companies, the
ADS Business and the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, and do not relate or purport to cover any other assets, businesses or
operations of any ADS Seller.
Section 3.1 Organization and Qualification.
(a) Each ADS Seller is duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the jurisdiction of such ADS Seller’s
organization, incorporation, registration or formation and has the requisite corporate or other organizational power and authority to own and
operate such ADS Seller’s properties and assets, including the applicable ADS Assets, and to transact such ADS Seller’s business and the
operation of the ADS Assets and the ADS Business as now conducted, except, in each case, where the failure to be in good standing is not and
would not reasonably be expected to be material to the ADS Companies and would not reasonably be expected to prevent such ADS Seller
from performing in all material respects its obligations under this Agreement.
(b) Each ADS Company is duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the jurisdiction of such ADS Company’s
organization, incorporation, registration or formation and has the requisite corporate or other organizational power and authority to own such
ADS Company’s property and assets and to transact its business as now conducted.
(c) Each ADS Company is duly qualified to do business as a foreign corporation or limited liability company and is in good standing under
the laws of each state or other jurisdiction in which the properties and assets owned, leased or operated by such ADS Company or the nature
of the business conducted by such ADS Company make such qualification necessary, except in such jurisdictions where the failure to be duly
qualified or in good standing is not and would not reasonably be expected to be material to the ADS Companies, taken as a whole, except, in
each case, where the failure to be in good standing is not and would not reasonably be expected to be material to the ADS Companies, taken
as a whole.
(d) The ADS Sellers have made available to the Buyer true and complete copies of the Organizational Documents of each ADS Company.
No ADS Company is in violation of the provisions of its Organizational Documents in any material respect.
Section 3.2 Authority.
(a) The ADS Parent (on behalf of itself and the other ADS Sellers) has full corporate power and authority to execute, deliver and perform
this Agreement and the Other Transaction Agreements (to which it is, or is specified to be, a party) and to consummate the transactions
contemplated hereby and thereby.
(b) The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and the Other Transaction Agreements (to which it is, or is specified to be, a
party) and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby have been duly and validly authorized and approved by all
corporate and other proceedings on the part of each of the ADS Sellers as are necessary to authorize the execution, delivery and performance
of this Agreement and the Other Transaction Agreements (to which it is, or is specified to be, a party) and the consummation of the
transactions contemplated hereby and thereby.
(c) This Agreement has been duly and validly executed and delivered by the ADS Parent (on behalf of itself and the other ADS Sellers), and
this Agreement constitutes the legal, valid and binding agreement of the ADS Parent, enforceable against the ADS Parent in accordance with
its terms, except as may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization or other laws affecting the enforcement of creditors’ rights
generally, and except that enforceability of the obligations of the ADS Parent under this Agreement may be subject to general principles of
equity. Each Other Transaction Agreement has been or will be duly and validly executed and delivered by the ADS Parent or the parties
thereto that are Affiliates of the ADS Parent and each such Other Transaction Agreement constitutes (or shall constitute) the legal, valid and
binding agreement of the ADS Parent or of such Affiliate of the ADS Parent, enforceable against it in accordance with its terms, except as
may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization or other laws affecting the enforcement of creditors’ rights generally, and except
that enforceability of the obligations of the ADS Parent or of such Affiliate of the ADS Parent under each such Other Transaction Agreement
may be subject to general principles of equity.
Section 3.3 Capitalization; Title.
(a) Schedule 3.3(a) sets forth the number of outstanding Equity Securities of each ADS Company and the record owner thereof. No other
Equity Securities of any of the ADS Companies are issued and outstanding and the ADS Equity Interests constitute all of the issued and
outstanding Equity Securities of the ADS Companies.
(b) All of the issued and outstanding Equity Securities of the ADS Companies were validly issued and are fully paid, nonassessable and are
owned beneficially and of record by the ADS Equity Sellers, as applicable, free and clear of all Encumbrances (other than restrictions on
transfer of securities imposed by applicable state and federal securities Laws). The ADS Equity Interests have not been issued in violation of,
and are not subject to, any preemptive, subscription or similar rights under any Contract or any provision of applicable Law or any
Organizational Document of any ADS Company.

(c) There are no outstanding (i) subscriptions, options, calls, contracts, commitments, understandings, restrictions, arrangements, rights or
warrants, “phantom” stock rights, stock appreciation rights, stock based performance units, convertible or exchangeable securities, including
any right of conversion or exchange under any outstanding security, debenture, instrument or other agreement obligating any of the ADS
Companies to issue, deliver or sell, or cause to be issued, delivered or sold, additional Equity Securities of any of the ADS Companies or
obligating any of the ADS Companies to grant, extend or enter into any such agreement or commitment, or (ii) obligations of any of the ADS
Companies to repurchase, redeem or otherwise acquire any securities referred to in clause (i).
(d) Except for this Agreement, there are no voting trusts, proxies or other Contracts to which any of the ADS Companies or any of the ADS
Equity Sellers is a party or is bound with respect to the voting of any of the Equity Securities of any of the ADS Companies, including any
such voting trusts, proxies or other Contracts restricting or otherwise relating to the voting, dividend rights or disposition of the Equity
Interests.
(e) There are no Contracts to which any ADS Company is a party or bound thereby which require the purchase by any ADS Company of any
Equity Securities of, or investment in, any Person. Each ADS Equity Seller has good and valid title to the ADS Equity Interests set forth
opposite its name on Schedule 3.3(a), free and clear of any Encumbrances (other than restrictions on transfer of securities imposed by
applicable state and federal securities Laws) and at the Closing, such ADS Equity Seller shall deliver to the Buyer good and marketable title to
such ADS Equity Interests, free and clear of any Encumbrances (other than restrictions on transfer of securities imposed by applicable state
and federal securities Laws).
(f) As of the Execution Date, none of the ADS Companies have any Indebtedness except as set forth on Schedule 3.3(f)(i). At the Time of
Closing, none of the ADS Companies will have any Indebtedness, except as set forth on Schedule 3.3(f)(ii).
Section 3.4 No Subsidiaries. Except as set forth on Schedule 3.4, none of the ADS Companies owns, or has any interest in, in each case,
directly or indirectly, any Equity Securities in any other Person.
Section 3.5 Assets; Title; Personal Property.
(a) Except as specifically identified on Schedule 3.5(a) and for the services contemplated by the Seller TSA and the Waste Collection
Services Agreement, the ADS Assets together with the buildings, structures, furniture, fixtures, furnishings, machinery, equipment, vehicles
and other items of tangible personal property owned or leased by the ADS Companies and all other properties and assets of the ADS
Companies (including the ADS Real Property of the ADS Companies), are sufficient for the continued conduct of the ADS Business after the
Time of Closing in substantially the same manner as conducted prior to the Time of Closing and constitute all of the rights, property and
assets necessary to conduct the ADS Business as currently conducted.
(b) At the Time of Closing, each of the ADS Companies has good and marketable title or enforceable leasehold interests, as the case may be,
to all of its properties and assets, free and clear of all Encumbrances, except the Permitted Encumbrances. Set forth on Schedule 3.5(b) is a
complete and accurate in all material respects list, as of the Execution Date, of each of the material tangible properties (other than the ADS
Real Properties) and assets of each of the ADS Companies.
(c) (i) At the Time of Closing, the ADS Asset Sellers, as applicable, shall have good and marketable title to the owned ADS Assets and
enforceable leasehold interests in the leased ADS Assets, free and clear of all Encumbrances other than Permitted Encumbrances, (ii) by virtue
of the grant, conveyance, sale, transfer, assignment and delivery of the ADS Assets hereunder, the Buyer shall receive good and marketable
title to the owned ADS Assets and enforceable leasehold interests in the leased ADS Assets, free and clear of all Encumbrances other than
Permitted Encumbrances and (iii) at the Time of Closing, the ADS Fixed Assets are, in all material respects, in operating condition, ordinary
wear and tear excepted.
(d) The ADS Assets and the properties and assets of the ADS Companies (including the ADS Real Property) have been maintained in all
material respects in accordance with the respective ADS Sellers’ or ADS Company’s standard practices, as applicable, and no ADS Seller or
ADS Company, as applicable, has deferred any reasonable maintenance or repairs of the ADS Assets or such ADS Company’s properties or
assets (including the ADS Real Property), as otherwise required in accordance with such ADS Sellers’ or ADS Company’s standard practices,
as applicable. Except as would not reasonably be expected to be material to the ADS Business, the tangible assets and property of the ADS
Companies and those included in the ADS Assets are in good condition, ordinary wear and tear excepted.
Section 3.6 Consents and Approvals; No Violation.
(a) Except with respect to the Retained Accounts serviced by the ADS Business, the DOJ Consent or as set forth on Schedule 3.6(a), no
filing, declaration or registration with, and no permit, authorization, consent, waiver, license or approval of, any Person, including any
Governmental Authority, is necessary for the consummation by the ADS Sellers of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement except as
is not and would not reasonably be expected to be material to the ADS Business, the ADS Assets and the ADS Companies, taken as a whole.
(b) Except with respect to the Retained Accounts serviced by the ADS Business or as set forth on Schedule 3.6(b), neither the execution and
delivery of this Agreement or the Other Transaction Agreements, the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby, nor
the compliance by the ADS Sellers with any of the provisions hereof or thereof does or will (i) conflict with or result in any breach of any
provision of the Organizational Documents of the ADS Sellers or the ADS Companies, (ii) result in a violation or breach of, or constitute

(with or without due notice or lapse of time or both) a default (or give rise to any right of termination, cancellation or acceleration) under, any
of the terms, conditions or provisions of any Contract or other instrument or obligation to which any of the ADS Sellers is party or is
otherwise bound by and which is applicable to the ADS Assets, the ADS Assumed Liabilities or the ADS Business or to which the ADS
Companies is party, is otherwise bound by or is applicable to the properties or assets of the ADS Companies, (iii) give rise to any
Encumbrance on any of the properties or assets of any of the ADS Companies or on any of the ADS Assets, or (iv) violate any Law,
regulation or Order applicable to the ADS Companies or any of the ADS Companies’ properties or assets, the ADS Business or the ADS
Assets; except in the case of clauses (ii), (iii) and (iv), for conflicts, breaches, violations, defaults or Encumbrances as is not and would not
reasonably be expected to be material to the ADS Business (in respect of the ADS Assets and the ADS Companies), the ADS Assets and the
ADS Companies, taken as a whole.
Section 3.7 Litigation. Except as set forth on Schedule 3.7, (a) none of the ADS Sellers or the ADS Companies is subject to any material
Order or proposed material Order in which relief is sought involving, affecting, or relating to the ownership, operation or use of its properties
or assets, or which would prevent, delay, or make illegal the transactions contemplated by this Agreement; (b) neither any of the ADS
Companies nor the ADS Business is, or in the past three (3) years has been, subject to any material Order or proposed material Order and (c)
there are no, and in the past three (3) years there have not been, any material Proceedings pending or threatened in writing or, to the
Knowledge of the ADS Sellers, threatened orally against, involving, affecting, or relating to the ADS Assets, the ADS Business, the ADS
Companies, the ADS Companies’ properties or assets (including the ADS Real Property) or the ADS Companies’ ownership, operation or use
of such properties or assets (including the ADS Real Property).
Section 3.8 Tax Matters. Except as set forth on Schedule 3.8:
(a) All material Tax Returns required to be filed with respect to the ADS Companies and the ADS Assets have been timely filed (taking into
account extensions), and all such Tax Returns are true and complete in all material respects.
(b) Each of the ADS Companies has timely paid (or caused to be paid) all Taxes that are due and payable, and each ADS Seller and its
Subsidiaries have timely paid all other Taxes with respect to the ADS Assets that are due and payable, except in each case to the extent such
unpaid Taxes are not material when taken as a whole.
(c) There is currently no pending Proceeding or Proceeding threatened in writing by any taxing authority with respect to any material Taxes
of or with respect to the ADS Companies or the ADS Assets. None of the ADS Companies (and, in respect of the ADS Assets, none of the
ADS Sellers or their Affiliates have) waived or extended any limitations period relating to material Taxes or material Tax Returns.
(d) None of the ADS Companies has any obligation under any Tax sharing, Tax indemnity or Tax allocation agreement, other than (i)
agreements solely between the ADS Companies and (ii) customary commercial agreements with Third Parties entered into in the ADS
Ordinary Course.
(e) None of the ADS Companies (i) has been a member of an affiliated, consolidated, combined or unitary group (other than one of which
the ADS Parent was the common parent or the Parent Group) for U.S. federal income tax purposes or (ii) has any material Liability for any
Taxes of any other Person under Treasury Regulations Section 1.1502-6 (or any similar provision of state, local or foreign Law), or as a
transferee or successor.
(f) Within the past two (2) years none of the ADS Companies has been a “distributing corporation” or a “controlled corporation” in a
distribution intended to qualify under Section 355(a) of the Code (or under so much of Section 356 of the Code as relates to Section 355 of the
Code).
(g) There are no material Encumbrances for Taxes on any of the ADS Assets or any assets of the ADS Companies, except statutory
Encumbrances for Taxes that are not yet due or Encumbrances for Taxes which are being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings.
(h) Each of the ADS Companies that is organized as a limited liability company is properly characterized for U.S. federal income tax
purposes as a disregarded entity.
Section 3.9 Material Contracts.
(a) Set forth on Schedule 3.9(a) is a complete and accurate list as of the Execution Date, of each Contract, other than any Contract in respect
of a Retained Account or any Section 8.2 Contract, to which any of the ADS Companies is a party or is otherwise bound by or to which any of
the ADS Sellers is party or is otherwise bound by and which is applicable to the ADS Assets or the ADS Assumed Liabilities (each such
Contract required to be set forth on Schedule 3.9(a), together with each Contract entered into after the Execution Date that would have been
required to be set forth on Schedule 3.9(a) if it had been entered into as of the Execution Date, an “ADS Material Contract”) which:
(i) involves payments (including under any operating leases), performance or services or delivery of goods to or by any
ADS Company of an amount in excess of $[***] in the prior twelve (12) month period (provided, however, that solely in respect of ADS
Material Contracts that are customer Contracts, the period shall be May 31, 2019 through May 31, 2020);
(ii) (x) limits or purports to limit the freedom of any ADS Company or any of its Affiliates (including, following the
Closing, the Buyer and its Affiliates) to (A) engage in any line of business or to compete in any business or with any person within any

geographic area or (B) acquire the assets or securities of another Person, or otherwise materially restricts any ADS Company’s ability to
hire or solicit business from any Person or (y) could require the disposition of any material assets or line of business of any ADS
Company or any material portion of the ADS Business;
(iii) is related to an acquisition, divestiture, merger or similar transaction involving an ADS Company or the ADS
Business entered into in the past three (3) years or that contains any obligations, financial covenants, indemnities or other similar payment
obligations (including “earn-out” or other contingent payment obligations) that are still in effect and would reasonably be expected to
result in the receipt or making of future payments in excess of $[***], except for any acquisitions, divestitures or similar transactions of
equipment or similar assets made in the ADS Ordinary Course;
(iv) contains a put, call or similar right pursuant to which any ADS Seller (with respect to the ADS Business) or ADS
Company could be required to purchase or sell, as applicable, any Equity Securities or assets of any Person (in the case of assets, having a
purchase price in excess of $[***]);
(v)
provides for exclusive rights for the benefit of any Third Party, grants “most favored nation” status, contains
minimum volume or purchase commitments, or requires any ADS Seller or ADS Company or any of its Subsidiaries to provide any
minimum level of service, in each case which are, or in a manner that is, material to the ADS Business (in respect of the ADS Companies
and the ADS Assets);
(vi)
Ordinary Course;

provides for indemnification by any ADS Company of any Person, except for Contracts entered into in the ADS

(vii) is a settlement or similar agreement pursuant to which the Buyer or its Affiliates (including, after the Closing, any
ADS Company) will be required to make payments in excess of $[***] following the Closing;
(viii) provides for a direct or indirect advance, loan, extension of credit or capital contribution to, or other investment in,
any Person, in each case by any ADS Company, except for advances, loans or extensions of credit in the ADS Ordinary Course and which
do not exceed $[***]; and
(ix) (A) is an employment, consulting, severance, change in control, retention or similar plan, agreement, arrangement,
policy or Contract with respect to any ADS Business Employee or ADS Consultant that (x) provides (or is reasonably expected to
provide) for aggregate cash compensation in excess of $[***] to any ADS Business Employee or ADS Consultant in any calendar year
(other than ordinary at-will employment or similar agreements terminable upon less than thirty (30) days’ notice and without any Liability
to any ADS Business Employee or ADS Consultant), (y) provides for (or otherwise increases or modifies) any payments or benefits in
connection with the transactions contemplated hereby or (z) is not terminable on less than thirty (30) days’ notice (or pay in lieu of
notice); or (B) is a Collective Bargaining Agreement.
(b) True and complete copies of each ADS Material Contract (including any ADS Assumed Contract that is an ADS Material Contract) set
forth on Schedule 3.9(a) have been made available to the Buyer on or prior to the Execution Date (except that (1) with respect to customer
Contracts, copies of certain customer Contracts for each location or site comprising the ADS Business have been redacted and made available
(in such redacted form) to the Buyer on or prior to the Execution Date, and true, complete and unredacted copies of such Contracts will be
made available to the Buyer at least two (2) Business Days prior to the Closing Date, (2) with respect to copies of any other ADS Material
Contract or ADS Assumed Contract that is a customer Contract that is competitively sensitive (as determined by the ADS Sellers in their
reasonable discretion) and which has been redacted, true, complete and unredacted copies of such Contracts will be made available to the
Buyer at least two (2) Business Days prior to the Closing Date, and (3) with respect to the local vendor or supplier Contracts referenced in
item 1(b) set forth on Schedule 1.3(a)(iv), true and complete copies of such Contracts will be made available to the Buyer within fifteen (15)
Business Days following the Execution Date). Except as set forth in Schedule 3.9(b) or as does not and would not reasonably be expected to
be material to the ADS Business (in respect of the ADS Assets and the ADS Companies), the ADS Assets and the ADS Companies, taken as a
whole: (i) all ADS Material Contracts, ADS Assumed Contracts and Section 8.2 Contracts (in respect of the ADS Business) are in full force
and effect and are valid, binding and enforceable against the respective parties thereto in accordance with their respective provisions, except as
may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization or other laws affecting the enforcement of creditors’ rights generally; (ii) no default
or breach has occurred nor has there occurred an event or condition which with the passage of time or the giving of notice (or both) would
constitute a default or a breach by the applicable ADS Seller any ADS Company, or, to the Knowledge of the ADS Sellers, any other party to
any such ADS Material Contract, ADS Assumed Contract or Section 8.2 Contracts (in respect of the ADS Business); (iii) none of the ADS
Asset Sellers has received any written notice or, to the Knowledge of the ADS Sellers, oral notice that any Person intends or desires to
modify, waive, amend, rescind, release, cancel or terminate any ADS Material Contract, ADS Assumed Contract or Section 8.2 Contracts (in
respect of the ADS Business); and (iv) (A) no ADS Seller or ADS Company, nor any other party to any ADS Material Contract, ADS
Assumed Contract or Section 8.2 Contracts (in respect of the ADS Business) has exercised in writing or, to the Knowledge of the ADS
Sellers, otherwise, any termination rights with respect thereto, and (B) no ADS Seller or ADS Company, nor any other party to any ADS
Material Contract, ADS Assumed Contract or Section 8.2 Contracts (in respect of the ADS Business) has given written or, to the Knowledge
of the ADS Sellers, oral notice of any material dispute with respect thereto.
Section 3.10 Compliance with Laws; Permits.
(a) Except as set forth in Schedule 3.10(a) or as would not reasonably be expected to be material to the ADS Business (in respect of the ADS

Assets and the ADS Companies), the ADS Assets, and the ADS Companies, taken as a whole: (i) the ADS Business, the ADS Companies and
the ADS Assets are being operated, and in the past three (3) years have been operated, in compliance with all applicable Laws, Orders and
ADS Permits; and (ii) none of the ADS Companies, nor any of the ADS Sellers in respect of the ADS Assets or the ADS Business has
received, during the past three (3) years (or earlier if remaining unresolved), any written communication, or, to the Knowledge of the ADS
Sellers, oral communication from a Governmental Authority that alleges any, and, to the Knowledge of the ADS Sellers, there is no
investigation pending by a Governmental Authority with respect to any, violation of any Laws or Orders applicable to the conduct of the ADS
Business or by which any ADS Asset is bound or affected.
(b) Except as set forth on Schedule 3.10(b)(1) or as would not reasonably be expected to be material to the ADS Business (in respect of the
ADS Assets and the ADS Companies), the ADS Assets, and the ADS Companies, taken as a whole: (i) each of the ADS Companies or the
ADS Sellers, as applicable, has, and in the past three (3) years has had, all ADS Permits (which ADS Permits include all ADS Permits issued
pursuant to, or in respect of, any Environmental Law) necessary to enable it to conduct the ADS Business and operate the ADS Assets and the
assets and properties of the ADS Companies as are currently conducted or operated; and (ii) each ADS Company and ADS Seller, as
applicable, is and has been in compliance with the terms and conditions of all ADS Permits and all of the ADS Permits are currently valid, in
good standing and in full force and effect. None of the ADS Companies nor any of the ADS Sellers, as applicable, has received any written or,
to the Knowledge of the ADS Sellers, oral notification from any Governmental Authority of its intent to suspend, terminate or materially and
adversely modify any material ADS Permit. Schedule 3.10(b)(2) sets forth a complete list of all ADS Permits that are material to the ADS
Business (in respect of the ADS Assets and the ADS Companies) , the ADS Assets, and the ADS Companies, taken as a whole (including
such ADS Permits issued pursuant to, or in respect of, any Environmental Law).
(c) Each ADS Seller (to the extent it relates to the ADS Business), each ADS Company and the ADS Business, and each of their respective
directors, officers, and to the Knowledge of the ADS Sellers, employees and agents, and any other Person acting on behalf of any of the
foregoing, is, and in the last five (5) years has been, in compliance with all applicable Anti-Corruption Laws.
(d) None of the ADS Sellers (to the extent it relates to the ADS Business), none of the ADS Companies, nor the ADS Business nor any
director or officer of the ADS Sellers, the ADS Parent or the ADS Companies or, to the Knowledge of the ADS Sellers, any other Person
acting on its behalf has offered, given, authorized, or promised, anything of value, directly or indirectly, to any Person, including to any Public
Official, for the purpose of (i) improperly influencing any official act or decision of such Person; (ii) inducing such Person to do or omit to do
any act in violation of a lawful duty; or (iii) securing any improper benefit or favor for the ADS Companies, or the ADS Business or in
connection with this Agreement.
(e) No officers, directors, majority owners or, to the Knowledge of the ADS Sellers, employees, in each case, of any ADS Company is a
Public Official.
(f) None of the ADS Sellers (to the extent it relates to the ADS Business), nor any of the ADS Companies has made a voluntary, directed, or
involuntary written disclosure, or to the Knowledge of the ADS Sellers, oral disclosure to any Governmental Authority (including but not
limited to the U.S. Department of Justice, U.S. Securities Exchange Commission, or U.K. Securities Fraud Office) with respect to any alleged
act or omission arising under or relating to any non-compliance with any Anti-Corruption Law.
Section 3.11 No Broker’s or Finder’s Fees. No broker, investment banker, financial advisor or other Person is entitled to any broker’s,
finder’s, financial advisor’s or other similar fee or commission in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement based
upon arrangements made by or on behalf of the ADS Sellers or the ADS Companies or their Subsidiaries for which the Buyer, the ADS
Companies or any of their Subsidiaries shall have any responsibility.
Section 3.12 Benefit Plans.
(a) Schedule 3.12(a) sets forth a complete and accurate list of each ADS Plan. The ADS Sellers have made available to the Buyer true and
complete copies of, or a written description of all material terms of, each ADS Plan.
(b) Except as would not reasonably be expected to result in material Liability to the ADS Business, the ADS Assets, any of the ADS
Companies, the Buyer or any of their Affiliates: (i) each ADS Company Plan has been maintained, operated and administered in compliance
in all respects with its terms and with the requirements of applicable Law; (ii) all contributions or payments due to date have been made timely
and in compliance with the terms of each ADS Company Plan and applicable Law; (iii) no failure to pay premiums due or payable with
respect to insurance policies relating to each ADS Company Plan has resulted in default under any such policies; and (iv) there are no pending
or, to the Knowledge of the ADS Sellers, threatened Proceedings against any ADS Company Plan by any ADS Business Employee or any
Governmental Authority or otherwise involving any ADS Company Plan or the assets of any such plan (other than routine claims for benefits
made in the ADS Ordinary Course). Each ADS Company Plan that is intended to be qualified under Section 401(a) of the Code has received a
favorable determination letter from the IRS or, with respect to a prototype or volume submitter plan, can rely on an opinion or advisory letter
from the IRS to the prototype plan or volume submitter plan sponsor, as to its qualification and to the effect that the plan’s related trust is
exempt from federal income taxes under Section 501(a) of the Code, and, to the Knowledge of the ADS Sellers, nothing has occurred that
could reasonably be expected to result in the revocation of such favorable determination.
(c) With respect to each ADS Company Plan that is subject to Title IV or Section 302 of ERISA or Section 412 or 4971 of the Code: (i) no
such plan has failed to satisfy the minimum funding standard (within the meaning of Sections 412 and 430 of the Code or Section 302 and 303

of ERISA) applicable to such plan, whether or not waived, and no application for a waiver of the minimum funding standard with respect to
any such plan has been submitted; (ii) neither the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby nor any other event that has occurred
or condition that exists would result in, or reasonably be expected to result in any lien on any assets of any ADS Company or any of its
Affiliates or any Liability to any ADS Company or the Buyer or any of their Affiliates under Title IV of ERISA; (iii) no proceeding has been
initiated to terminate such plan; and (v) no ADS Company, ADS Seller or any of their respective ERISA Affiliates has engaged in any
transaction described in Sections 4069 of ERISA.
(d) With respect to each ADS Multiemployer Plan, no withdrawal liability, within the meaning of Section 4201 of ERISA, has been
incurred, which withdrawal liability has not been satisfied in full. With respect to each ADS Multiemployer Plan that is (or at any time has
been) contributed to (or been obligated to be contributed to) by any ADS Company or any of their Subsidiaries, (i) no such ADS Company has
failed to make plan contributions on a timely basis or incurred any unsatisfied Liability in respect of or in relation to any Tax under Section
4971 of the Code (or the avoidance thereof); (ii) neither the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby nor any other event that
has occurred or condition that exists would result in, or reasonably be expected to result in any lien on any assets of (or any Liability to) any
ADS Company or any of its Subsidiaries or the Buyer or any of its Affiliates under Title IV of ERISA; (iii) no proceeding has been initiated to
terminate such plan; and (iv) no ADS Company nor any of its ERISA Affiliates has engaged in any transaction described in Sections 4212(c)
of ERISA.
(e)
No Tax penalties or additional Taxes have been imposed or would be reasonably expected to be imposed on any ADS Business
Employee, and no acceleration of Taxes has occurred or would be reasonably expected to occur with respect to any ADS Business Employee,
in each case as a result of a failure to comply with Section 409A of the Code with respect to any ADS Company Plan. No ADS Business
Employee is entitled to receive any gross-up or additional payment in connection with any Tax imposed under Section 409A or Section 4999
of the Code.
(f) No ADS Company Plan, fiduciary of such plan or administrator of such plan has taken any action, or failed to take any action, which
action or failure could subject the Buyer or any of its Affiliates, or any ADS Business Employee, to any Tax, fine, lien, penalty or other
Liability imposed by ERISA, the Code or other applicable Laws (including any Liability for breach of any fiduciary duty or any prohibited
transaction (as defined in Section 4975 of the Code, any Liability pursuant to Section 502 of ERISA or any Tax imposed pursuant to Section
4976 of the Code), with respect to or in connection with any ADS Company Plan. None of the ADS Companies is bound by or otherwise
subject to any agreement or Contract related to any Liability under Section 4204 of ERISA.
(g) Except as provided in Section 5.9(a), none of the execution and delivery of this Agreement or the consummation of the transactions
contemplated hereby (alone or in conjunction with any other event, including any termination of employment on or following the Closing)
will (i) entitle any ADS Business Employee to any compensation or benefit; (ii) accelerate the time of payment or vesting, or trigger any
payment or funding, of any compensation, benefits or other obligation for any ADS Business Employee or (iii) result in the payment of any
“excess parachute payment” as defined in Section 280G(b)(1) of the Code.
Section 3.13 Employment and Labor Matters.
(a) Except as set forth in Schedule 3.13(a), with respect to the ADS Business or the operation of the ADS Assets, neither any of the ADS
Sellers nor any of the ADS Companies is a party to or otherwise bound by (i) any Collective Bargaining Agreement, (ii) any written
agreement providing for the employment of any employee(s) of the ADS Companies or employee(s) of the ADS Sellers or their Affiliates
(including the ADS Companies) primarily involved in the operation of the ADS Assets (the “ADS Business Employees”) other than on an atwill basis, or (iii) any agreement with an individual independent contractor (either directly or through any Person through which such
individual provides services) for the provision of consulting or other professional services (the “ADS Consultants”) which is not cancelable
without penalty (or payment in lieu of notice) on less than thirty (30) days’ notice. With respect to each Collective Bargaining Agreement,
ADS Sellers and ADS Companies are in compliance in all material respects with its terms and with the requirements of applicable Law. With
respect to this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby, there are no consultation, consent, assumption, approval, opinion or
similar obligations under any Collective Bargaining Agreement, except to the extent expressly provided in the Collective Bargaining
Agreements in Schedule 3.13(a).
(b) Except as set forth in Schedule 3.13(b), within the last five (5) years, neither any of the ADS Sellers nor any of the ADS Companies has
experienced, whether pending or, to the Knowledge of the ADS Sellers, are currently threatened, any material labor disputes, strikes,
slowdowns, or work stoppages due to labor disagreements or to the Knowledge of the ADS Sellers any union organization attempts or
activities, in each case in connection with the ADS Business, the operation of the ADS Assets or the ADS Business Employees. Except as set
forth in Schedule 3.13(b), there are no (and within the last five (5) years have not been any) material grievances or material unfair labor
practice charges or other material Proceedings pending or, to the Knowledge of the ADS Sellers, threatened in writing against ADS Seller or
any of the ADS Companies before the National Labor Relations Board or any Governmental Authority with respect to any ADS Business
Employee or any current or former employee of the ADS Sellers or their Affiliates primarily involved in the operation of the ADS Assets or
the ADS Companies.
(c) None of the ADS Sellers and any of their Affiliates (including the ADS Companies) has engaged in or effectuated any “plant closing” or
“mass layoff” (in each case, as defined in the WARN Act) that (i) has affected any site of employment or one or more facilities or operating
units within any site of employment or facility of the ADS Sellers and any of their Affiliates (including the ADS Companies) at which any
ADS Business Employees were employed and (ii) for which there remains any outstanding obligation or Liability.

(d) Except to the extent set forth in Schedule 3.13(d), in each case with respect to the ADS Business, the ADS Assets or the ADS Business
Employees, (i) no material grievance nor any material arbitration or other Proceedings arising out of or under Collective Bargaining
Agreements, is pending or, to the Knowledge of the ADS Sellers, threatened; and (ii) there are no material Proceedings against any of the
ADS Sellers or the ADS Companies concerning alleged employment discrimination or other employment related matters pending or, to the
Knowledge of the ADS Sellers, threatened before the U.S. Equal Employment Opportunity Commission, the U.S. Department of Labor or any
other Governmental Authority.
(e) ADS Sellers and their Affiliates (including the ADS Companies) are in compliance in all material respects with all applicable Laws
relating to employment or labor practices, including those related to hiring, background checks, wages, pay equity, hours, collective
bargaining and labor relations, classification of independent contractors and employees, equal opportunity, document retention, notice, plant
closing and mass layoff, health and safety, employment eligibility verification, immigration, child labor, discrimination, harassment,
retaliation, accommodations, disability rights or benefits, affirmative action, workers’ compensation, unemployment insurance, employment
and reemployment rights of members of the uniformed services, secondment, employee leave issues, the payment or withholding of social
security and other payroll Taxes, classification of exempt and non-exempt employees and employee leasing, and do not have any outstanding
material liability for any arrears of wages, other compensation or benefits (other than such Liabilities that have been incurred in the ADS
Ordinary Course), in each case with respect to the ADS Business Employees and the ADS Business.
Section 3.14 Absence of Certain Changes. Except (w) as set forth on Schedule 3.14, (x) as expressly provided for or expressly contemplated
by this Agreement, (y) as required by applicable Law, or (z) for any actions taken (including the cessation or reduction of activities), or any
plans, procedures and practices adopted (and compliance therewith), in connection with the coronavirus outbreak (including measures
undertaken to mitigate risks associated therewith), since March 31, 2020 until the Execution Date, (a) the ADS Business has been conducted
or operated in the ADS Ordinary Course, (b) there has not been any event or condition that has, or would be reasonably expected, to have a
Material Adverse Effect and (c) the ADS Sellers and the ADS Companies have not taken any action that would have required the consent of
the Buyer pursuant to Section 5.1(b) if it had been taken after the Execution Date and prior to the Closing Date.
Section 3.15 Environmental.
(a) Except as set forth in Schedule 3.15(a) or as is not and would not reasonably be expected to be material to the ADS Business, the ADS
Assets, and the ADS Companies, taken as a whole:
(i)
the ADS Companies, the ADS Business and the ADS Assets have been operated in compliance with all
Environmental Laws and with all ADS Permits issued pursuant to Environmental Laws;
(ii) to the extent relating to Environmental Laws, none of the ADS Sellers or the ADS Companies has received any
notice of violation relating to the operation of the ADS Assets or the conduct of the ADS Business that is not fully resolved, and there are
no non-compliance orders, warning letters, settlement agreements, Orders, Proceedings, investigations or actions pending or in existence
that reasonably would result in a Loss;
(iii) with respect to the ADS Companies, the ADS Business or the ADS Assets, none of the ADS Sellers or the ADS
Companies (A) has received any notice of an alleged or actual Environmental Liability, (B) is identified as or alleged to be, pursuant to
Environmental Laws, a responsible or potentially responsible party for any Release of Hazardous Materials, or (C) has Released, treated,
stored or disposed of Hazardous Materials at, to or under any real property as would reasonably result in a Loss pursuant to Environmental
Laws; and
(iv) with respect to the ADS Companies, the ADS Business or the ADS Assets, (x) to the Knowledge of the ADS
Sellers, none of the ADS Sellers or the ADS Companies has incurred any liability under any Environmental Laws or (y) except in the
ADS Material Contracts or the ADS Assumed Contracts, has assumed any Liability of any other Person arising out of or pursuant to
Environmental Laws.
(b)
The ADS Sellers have provided or otherwise made available to the Buyer all material Phase I, Phase II and similar material
environmental audits, reports, and assessments concerning the ADS Business and the ADS Assets that are in the possession, custody or
control of ADS Sellers.
Section 3.16 Affiliate Relationships. Other than as set forth on Schedule 3.16, (i) there are no Contracts or transactions between any of the
ADS Companies, ADS Parent or any of the ADS Sellers, on the one hand, and any Affiliate, officer, director or manager of any ADS
Company, ADS Parent, any ADS Seller, any WM Company, WM Parent, any WM Seller or any such Affiliate thereof, on the other hand, that
relate to the ADS Business or the ADS Assets, (ii) none of the ADS Companies is party to any Contract with any Affiliate of the ADS Parent
or any ADS Seller (other than the ADS Companies) relating to any business of the ADS Parent, the ADS Sellers and their Affiliates (other
than the ADS Companies) that is not the ADS Business and (iii) no Affiliate, officer, director or manager of any ADS Company, ADS Parent,
any ADS Seller or any Affiliate of the foregoing has any direct ownership interest in any material property or asset owned by any ADS
Company or in any of the ADS Assets other than as a shareholder of the ADS Parent (each such Contract, transaction or ownership interest
described in clauses (i) through (iii) and each matter as set forth on Schedule 3.16, an “ADS Affiliate Agreement”).
Section 3.17 Performance Bonds; Letters of Credit; Financial Assurances. Set forth on Schedule 3.17 are all of the outstanding performance

bonds, letters of credit and other financial assurances provided by or on behalf of the ADS Sellers or the ADS Companies with respect to the
ADS Assets or the ADS Business. True and complete copies of such performance bonds, letters of credit and other financial assurances listed
on Schedule 3.17 have been made available to the Buyer.
Section 3.18
Insurance. Schedule 3.18 sets forth a list of all material policies or binders of property, general liability, workmen’s
compensation, automobile liability and pollution legal liability insurance held by or on behalf of any of the ADS Sellers or the ADS
Companies in connection with the conduct of the ADS Assets or the ADS Business (the “ADS Company Policies”). All premiums due and
payable under the ADS Company Policies have been paid. The ADS Company Policies are in full force and effect in accordance with their
terms in all material respects. Where applicable, each of the ADS Companies has complied in all material respects with the provisions of the
ADS Company Policies. None of the ADS Sellers or ADS Companies has received any written notice of any pending or threatened
cancellation with respect to any of the ADS Company Policies which would have a material effect on the WM Business (in respect of the WM
Companies and WM Assets) or of any material changes that are required in the conduct of the business as a condition to the continuation of
coverage under, or renewal of, any such ADS Company Policy. There is no material claim related to or involving the ADS Business, the ADS
Assets or the ADS Companies by any ADS Seller or any ADS Company pending under any ADS Company Policy as to which any ADS
Seller or any ADS Company has received written notice that coverage has been denied or disputed by the underwriters of such insurance
policies or in respect of which such underwriters have reserved their rights (other than a customary reservation of rights notice for claims
where the insurer subsequently accepted coverage).
Section 3.19 Real Estate.
(a) Each of the ADS Asset Sellers and ADS Companies, as applicable, has good, marketable and valid title to, or a valid leasehold interest in
(subject to no Encumbrances other than Permitted Encumbrances) (i) the real property (together with all improvements located thereon and all
of the rights and appurtenances to the real property including all right, title, and interest in all air and water rights and easements and rights of
way, in each case pertaining to the real property, and all strips and gores adjoining the real property) in which such ADS Asset Seller or ADS
Company has a fee simple interest (which is set forth on Schedule 3.19(a)) (the “ADS Owned Real Property”), and (ii) (x) the real property
(together with all improvements located thereon) to which such ADS Asset Seller or ADS Company has a legal right pursuant to an agreement
or conveyance, including easements, rights-of-way or other real property interests and which are material to the conduct of the ADS Assets or
the ADS Business (in respect of the ADS Assets and the ADS Companies) and (y) ground leases, leases and subleases of real property
(together with all improvements located thereon) pursuant to written agreements entered into by an ADS Asset Seller or ADS Company (each,
an “ADS Existing Lease”) (clauses (x) and (y), collectively, the “ADS Leased Real Property” and together with the ADS Owned Real
Property, the “ADS Real Property”). Such ADS Existing Leases have not been assigned nor have the premises demised thereunder been
subleased or licensed, in whole or in part, by any ADS Asset Seller or ADS Company. A complete and accurate, in all material respects, list of
the ADS Owned Real Property and all material ADS Leased Real Property (and the owner or lessee, as applicable, thereof and the tax parcel
identification numbers of each parcel thereof) is set forth on Schedule 3.19(a).
(b) True, correct and complete copies of all material ADS Existing Leases in effect as of the Execution Date relating to the ADS Leased Real
Property (including all ADS Existing Leases in respect of the ADS Leased Real Property set forth on Schedule 3.19(a)) have been made
available to the Buyer. All such ADS Existing Leases are valid, binding and in full force and effect and are enforceable against the ADS Asset
Seller or ADS Company party thereto and, to the Knowledge of the ADS Sellers, the other parties thereto in accordance with their terms, in
each case, subject to bankruptcy, insolvency, fraudulent transfer, reorganization, moratorium and similar Laws of general applicability relating
to or affecting creditors’ rights and subject, as to enforceability, to general equity principles. None of the ADS Sellers or any of the ADS
Companies has received written notice of any, and, to the Knowledge of the ADS Sellers there is no material default under any material ADS
Existing Leases.
(c) Except as would not reasonably be expected to be material to the ADS Business (in respect of the ADS Assets and the ADS Companies),
the ADS Assets and the ADS Companies, taken as a whole, (i) the ADS Companies have received no notice in writing of any pending or
threatened condemnation, rezoning or taking actions pending respecting any ADS Real Property and (ii) to the Knowledge of the ADS Sellers,
all roads necessary for the conduct of the ADS Business or the operation of the ADS Assets have either been completed or the applicable ADS
Seller or ADS Company possesses all necessary rights-of-way therefor. The ADS Real Property constitutes all of the real property currently
used or held by any ADS Seller, ADS Parent or any of their respective Affiliates, or required, to conduct the ADS Business as it is presently
conducted. Except for any Permitted Encumbrance, none of the ADS Sellers or ADS Companies has granted any person (other than a ADS
Company) any right to occupy any ADS Real Property.
Section 3.20 Intellectual Property.
(a) Except as would not reasonably be expected to be material to the ADS Business (in respect of the ADS Assets and the ADS Companies),
the ADS Assets and the ADS Companies, taken as a whole, and, to the Knowledge of the ADS Sellers: (i) each of the ADS Sellers and ADS
Companies owns or possesses the valid right to use, all Intellectual Property used in connection with the ADS Business as currently
conducted; (ii) none of the ADS Sellers or the ADS Companies has received any written notice alleging infringement or misappropriation of
any Third Party Intellectual Property rights by the operation of the ADS Business; and (iii) no third party is infringing or misappropriating any
of the ADS Intellectual Property owned by any of the ADS Sellers (with respect to the ADS Business) or the ADS Companies.
(b) Except as would not reasonably be expected to be material to the ADS Business (in respect of the ADS Assets and the ADS Companies),
the ADS Assets and the ADS Companies, taken as a whole, the ADS Sellers (with respect to the ADS Business) and ADS Companies have (i)

complied with their published privacy policies, contractual obligations and all applicable Laws, in each case, concerning the privacy or
security of personally identifiable information, and (ii) taken commercially reasonable measures to protect personally identifiable information
in their possession against loss, damage, unauthorized access, or other misuse. To the Knowledge of the ADS Sellers, during the last three (3)
years there has been no loss, unauthorized access, or other misuse of any personally identifiable information held by the ADS Sellers (related
to the ADS Business) or the ADS Companies other than any such incident that did not trigger a notification or reporting requirement under
any applicable Laws concerning the privacy or security of such personally identifiable information.
Section 3.21 ADS Financial Information. All financial information provided by the ADS Parent, its Affiliates or Representatives to the
Buyer prior to the Closing Date in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement with respect to the ADS Business, the
ADS Companies or the ADS Assets (such information, the “ADS Financial Information”) was derived from the books and records of the ADS
Sellers and their Affiliates, which books and records have been maintained in ADS Ordinary Course and in accordance with the ADS Parent’s
historical accounting policies and practices.
Section 3.22 No Other Representations. The ADS Sellers are not making, nor have any duty to make, any representations or warranties,
expressed or implied, of any nature whatsoever except as specifically set forth in this Article III. The Parties agree and understand that nothing
in this Agreement, including this Section 3.22 shall limit any claims for Fraud.
ARTICLE IV
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE BUYER
The Buyer hereby makes, as of the Execution Date and as of the Closing Date, the representations and warranties set forth in this
Article IV to the WM Parent and the ADS Parent.
Section 4.1 Organization and Qualification.
(a) The Buyer is duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the jurisdiction of its organization, incorporation,
registration or formation and has the requisite corporate or other organizational power and authority to own its properties and assets.
(b) The Buyer is duly qualified to do business as a foreign corporation and is in good standing under the laws of each state or other
jurisdiction in which its properties and assets are owned, leased or operated or the nature of the business conducted by the Buyer makes such
qualification necessary, except in such jurisdictions where the failure to be duly qualified or in good standing does not and would not
reasonably be expected to result in a material adverse effect.
(c)
The Buyer, or, if the Buyer is a disregarded entity for U.S. federal income tax purposes, the Buyer’s regarded owner, is a U.S.
corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes.
Section 4.2 Authority.
(a) The Buyer has full corporate power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement and to consummate the transactions
contemplated hereby.
(b) The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby have been
duly and validly authorized and approved by all corporate proceedings on the part of the Buyer as is necessary to authorize this Agreement
and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby.
(c) This Agreement has been duly and validly executed and delivered by the Buyer, and this Agreement constitutes the legal, valid and
binding agreement of the Buyer, enforceable against the Buyer in accordance with its terms, except as may be limited by bankruptcy,
insolvency, reorganization or other laws affecting the enforcement of creditors’ rights generally, and except that enforceability of the
obligations of the Buyer under this Agreement may be subject to general principles of equity.
Section 4.3 Consents and Approvals; No Violation.
(a) Except for the DOJ Consent, no filing or registration with, and no permit, authorization, consent or approval of, any Person, including
any Governmental Authority, is necessary for the consummation by the Buyer of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.
(b) Neither the execution and delivery of this Agreement, the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby, nor the compliance by
the Buyer with any of the provisions hereof will, (i) conflict with or result in any breach of any provision of the Organizational Documents of
the Buyer, (ii) result in a violation or breach of, or constitute (with or without due notice or lapse of time or both) a default (or give rise to any
right of termination, cancellation or acceleration) under, any of the terms, conditions or provisions of any Contract or other instrument or
obligation to which the Buyer is a party or by which any of the Buyer’s properties or assets may be bound or (iii) violate any Law, regulation
or Order applicable to the Buyer or the Buyer’s properties or assets; except for conflicts, breaches, violations or defaults that would not
prevent or materially delay the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby to which the Buyer is, or will be, a party or to
materially impair the Buyer’s ability to perform its obligations under this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby to which it is, or
will be, a party.

Section 4.4 No Broker’s or Finder’s Fees. No broker, investment banker, financial advisor or other Person is entitled to any broker’s,
finder’s, financial advisor’s or other similar fee or commission in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby based upon
arrangements made by or on behalf of Buyer for which, the Sellers, the Companies or any of their Affiliates shall have any responsibility.
Section 4.5 Litigation. Except for those Orders, proposed Orders and Proceedings that do not and would not reasonably be expected to result
in a material adverse effect on the Buyer or its ability to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby, (a) the Buyer is not subject to any
Order or proposed Order in which relief is sought which would prevent, delay, or make illegal the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement and (b) there are no Proceedings pending or, to the knowledge of the Buyer, threatened against, involving, affecting, or relating to
the Buyer or the Buyer’s participation in the transactions contemplated hereby.
Section 4.6 Investment Representations. The Buyer acknowledges that the Equity Interests have not been registered under the Securities Act
or registered to qualify under any applicable state securities Laws. The Buyer is an “accredited investor,” as such term is defined in Regulation
D of the Securities Act of 1933. The Buyer has sufficient knowledge and experience in financial and business matters to enable it to evaluate
the risks of investment in the Equity Interests and at the Time of Closing will have the ability to bear the economic risk of this investment. The
Buyer’s acquisition of the Equity Interests is solely for its own account for investment, and the Buyer is not acquiring such Equity Interests for
the account of any other person or with a view to or for sale in connection with any distribution thereof within the meaning of the Securities
Act.
Section 4.7 Sufficiency of Funds. The Buyer will have (through cash on hand and available credit) at the Time of Closing sufficient cash on
hand to enable it to (a) pay the Estimated Purchase Price and any adjustment pursuant to Section 1.5, (b) pay any and all fees and expenses
required to be paid by the Buyer and its Affiliates in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby and (c) consummate the
transactions contemplated hereby and perform the Buyer’s obligations hereunder. The Buyer acknowledges and agrees that in no event shall
the receipt or availability of any other funds or financing by the Buyer or any of its Affiliates or any other transactions be a condition to any of
the Buyer’s obligations hereunder.
Section 4.8 Solvency. Assuming (a) the satisfaction of the conditions to the Buyer’s obligation to consummate the transactions contemplated
hereby and pay the Estimated Purchase Price, (b) the accuracy of the representations and warranties of the WM Sellers set forth in Article II
and the ADS Sellers set forth in Article III, and (c) that the WM Companies and the WM Business (with respect to the WM Assets and the
WM Companies) and the ADS Companies and the ADS Business (with respect to the ADS Assets and the ADS Companies) are Solvent
immediately prior to the Closing, the Buyer and its Subsidiaries, on a consolidated basis taken as a whole, will be Solvent immediately after
the Closing.
Section 4.9 OFAC. None of the Buyer’s property or interests is subject to being “blocked” under any anti-terrorism laws, and neither the
Buyer nor any of its Affiliates, or, to the Knowledge of the Buyer, any other Person holding any direct or indirect interest in the Buyer is in
violation of any anti-terrorism laws. Neither the Buyer nor any of its Affiliates nor, to the Knowledge of the Buyer, any other Person holding
any direct or indirect interest in the Buyer is a person or entity with whom United States persons or entities are restricted from doing business
under regulations of OFAC (including those named on the OFAC SDN List) or under any statute, executive order (including the September
24, 2001, Executive Order Blocking Property and Prohibiting Transactions with Persons Who Commit, Threaten to Commit, or Support
Terrorism), or other governmental action. The Buyer will not assign or otherwise transfer this Agreement to such persons or entities.
Section 4.10 No Other Representations. The Buyer acknowledges and agrees that the WM Parent (on behalf of itself and the other WM
Sellers) is not making, nor have any duty to make, any representations or warranties, expressed or implied, of any nature whatsoever except as
specifically set forth in Article II and that the ADS Parent (on behalf of itself and the other ADS Sellers) is not making any representations or
warranties, expressed or implied, of any nature whatsoever except as specifically set forth in Article III. The Parties agree and understand that
nothing in this Agreement, including this Section 4.10 shall limit any claims for Fraud.
ARTICLE V
PRE-CLOSING COVENANTS OF THE PARTIES
Section 5.1 Conduct of the Business.
(a) From the Execution Date until the Time of Closing (the “Interim Period”), except (v) as expressly permitted or contemplated by this
Agreement, (w) as set forth on Schedule 5.1(a), (x) as consented to or approved by the Buyer in writing (such consent not to be unreasonably
withheld, conditioned or delayed) or (y) as required by applicable Law, subject to Section 5.1(d) to the extent applicable, or (z) subject to
Section 5.1(d), for any actions taken (including the cessation or reduction of activities), or any plans, procedures and practices adopted (and
compliance therewith), in connection with the mitigation (or attempted mitigation) of risks associated with the coronavirus outbreak, the WM
Parent covenants and agrees that it will cause the WM Companies or WM Sellers (with respect to the WM Business and WM Assets), as
applicable, to:
(i) operate the WM Assets and the WM Business in the WM Ordinary Course;
(ii) use commercially reasonable efforts consistent with past practice to preserve intact in all material respects the
business organizations and goodwill of the WM Business, the services of the present officers and key employees of the WM Business, as
well as the services of other officers and employees of the WM Parent and its Subsidiaries that are identified on Schedule 5.9(a), and the

goodwill and material business relationships with customers, suppliers and others having business relationships with the WM Business;
(iii) not (A) sell, transfer or otherwise dispose of any of the WM Equity Interests, (B) create or permit to exist any new
Encumbrance on the WM Equity Interests, any new Encumbrance on the WM Assets or any new Encumbrance on the material properties
or assets of the WM Companies, as applicable (including any WM Real Property) (other than, in each case, Permitted Encumbrances and
Encumbrances that will be released prior to the Time of Closing), (C) enter into any joint venture, partnership, or other similar
arrangement, (D) acquire or lease any new real property, or (E) other than in the WM Ordinary Course, enter into any other agreement
related to the WM Assets or any of the material properties or assets of the WM Companies, as applicable;
(iv) not pay any dividend or make any similar distribution, other than distributions of cash on or before the Time of
Closing in accordance with Section 5.8;
(v) not (A) make, change or revoke any entity classification election, (B) make, change or revoke any other material Tax
election, (C) settle or compromise any Proceeding with respect to any material Tax or material Tax Return, (D) change a material method
of Tax accounting, (E) extend or waive a limitations period applicable to a material Tax or material Tax Return, in each case, other than in
the WM Ordinary Course, (F) fail to file a material Tax Return or fail to pay a material Tax Liability when due (taking into account
applicable extensions) or (G) make any voluntary Tax disclosure or Tax amnesty or similar submission; provided, that in the case of
Income Taxes, the foregoing clauses (B) through (G) shall apply only to the extent the Buyer or the WM Companies could reasonably be
expected to be bound after the Closing (or otherwise materially and adversely affected) thereby;
(vi) not grant any increase in the compensation or benefits to any employee or officer of the WM Companies or any WM
Business Employee, other than base salary and wage rate increases (A) in the WM Ordinary Course (provided such increases do not
exceed [***] of the base salary or wage rate for any individual WM Business Employee) or (B) to those WM Business Employees and in
such amounts as listed by the Sellers on Schedule 5.1(a)(vi);
(vii) not grant or increase any severance, change of control, retention, termination or similar compensation or benefits to
any WM Business Employee;
(viii) not (A) amend, adopt, establish, agree to establish, negotiate, enter into or terminate, any Collective Bargaining
Agreement or (B) take or refrain from taking any action, which results in or could reasonably be expected to result in a Withdrawal Event
or any Withdrawal Liability that could remain with or be incurred by any WM Company (and not be timely satisfied in full by the Sellers)
following the Closing;
(ix) not transfer the employment of any employee of the WM Parent or any of its Subsidiaries from a status in which
such employee would have been a WM Business Employee to a status in which such employee will not be a WM Business Employee (or
vice versa), except transfers in the WM Ordinary Course;
(x)

not hire or terminate any WM Business Employee, except to hire or terminate employees in the WM Ordinary

Course;
(xi) not amend the Organizational Documents of any WM Company;
(xii) not redeem or otherwise acquire any Equity Securities of WM Company or issue any shares of capital stock or other
Equity Securities of any WM Company;
(xiii) not split, combine or reclassify any of the Equity Securities of any WM Company, or issue, sell, pledge, or transfer
any other security in respect of, in lieu of or in substitution for, the Equity Securities of any WM Company;
(xiv)

not adopt a plan of complete or partial liquidation, dissolution, merger, consolidation or recapitalization of any

WM Company;
(xv) with respect to the WM Companies, not loan, advance, invest or make a capital contribution to or in any Person or
guarantee the indebtedness or other obligations of any Person, other than loans, advances, investments, capital contributions or guarantees
(A) in any other WM Company or (B) for amounts that will be repaid in full at or prior to the Time of Closing, as applicable;
(xvi) not sell, lease, license, transfer or otherwise dispose of any (A) WM Assets or (B) any material assets of any WM
Company (including any WM Real Property), other than non-exclusive licenses unrelated to the WM Real Property and granted in the
WM Ordinary Course and, in the case of clause (B), sales, transfers or dispositions of assets that are obsolete in the WM Ordinary Course
and non-exclusive licenses granted in the WM Ordinary Course;
(xvii) not (A) amend any material term of, or accelerate or grant any waiver or release or assign any material right under,
cancel or voluntarily terminate (other than upon expiration or automatic termination in accordance with its terms) any WM Material
Contract or WM Assumed Contract, or (B) other than in the WM Ordinary Course, enter into or renew (other than renewals at the option
of the counterparty thereto) any Contract that, if in effect on the Execution Date, would be a WM Material Contract or WM Assumed
Contract;

(xviii) with respect to the WM Companies, not make or commit to make any material capital expenditures in respect of
the WM Business (or to the extent it would otherwise constitute Assumed Liabilities) that would not be paid in full prior to the Time of
Closing, in excess of $[***], other than (A) any capital expenditures in respect of landfill construction or for the acquisition of new
equipment, trucks, containers or landfill compactors in the WM Ordinary Course, (B) with respect to bids awarded to or acquired by a
WM Company that have not been serviced as of the Execution Date or are awarded or acquired by a WM Company after the Execution
Date or (C) capital expenditures that are less than $[***] in the aggregate;
(xix) not enter into any settlement with respect to, settle, waive, assign, compromise or release any Proceeding primarily
relating to the WM Companies, the WM Assets or the WM Assumed Liabilities, other than any settlement or release that contemplates
only the payment of money not in excess of $[***] individually or $[***] in the aggregate without ongoing limits on the conduct or
operation of the WM Business and does not involve any relief other than monetary damages and results in a full release of the claims
giving rise to such Proceeding; or
(xx) not authorize, commit or agree, whether in writing or otherwise, to do any of the foregoing.
(b) During the Interim Period, except (v) as expressly permitted or contemplated by this Agreement, (w) as set forth on Schedule 5.1(b), (x)
as consented to or approved by the Buyer in writing (such consent not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed) or (y) as required
by applicable Law, subject to Section 5.1(d) to the extent applicable, or (z) subject to Section 5.1(d), for any actions taken (including the
cessation or reduction of activities), or any plans, procedures and practices adopted (and compliance therewith), in connection with the
mitigation (or attempted mitigation) of risks associated with the coronavirus outbreak, the ADS Parent covenants and agrees that it will cause
the ADS Companies or ADS Sellers (with respect to the ADS Business and ADS Assets), as applicable, to:
(i) operate the ADS Assets and the ADS Business in the ADS Ordinary Course;
(ii) use commercially reasonable efforts consistent with past practice to preserve intact in all material respects the
business organizations and goodwill of the ADS Business, the services of the present officers and key employees of the ADS Business, as
well as the services of other officers and employees of the ADS Parent and its Subsidiaries that are identified on Schedule 5.9(a), and the
goodwill and material business relationships with customers, suppliers and others having business relationships with the ADS Business;
(iii) not (A) sell, transfer or otherwise dispose of any of the ADS Equity Interests, (B) create or permit to exist any new
Encumbrance on the ADS Equity Interests, any new Encumbrance on the ADS Assets or any new Encumbrance on the material properties
or assets of the ADS Companies, as applicable (including any ADS Real Property) (other than, in each case, Permitted Encumbrances and
Encumbrances that will be released prior to the Time of Closing), (C) enter into any joint venture, partnership, or other similar
arrangement, (D) acquire or lease any new real property, or (E) other than in the ADS Ordinary Course, enter into any other agreement
related to the ADS Assets or any of the material properties or assets of the ADS Companies, as applicable;
(iv) not pay any dividend or make any similar distribution, other than distributions of cash on or before the Time of
Closing in accordance with Section 5.8;
(v) not (A) make, change or revoke any entity classification election, (B) make, change or revoke any other material Tax
election, (C) settle or compromise any Proceeding with respect to any material Tax or material Tax Return, (D) change a material method
of Tax accounting, (E) extend or waive a limitations period applicable to a material Tax or material Tax Return, in each case, other than in
the ADS Ordinary Course, (F) fail to file a material Tax Return or fail to pay a material Tax Liability when due (taking into account
applicable extensions) or (G) make any voluntary Tax disclosure or Tax amnesty or similar submission; provided, that in the case of
Income Taxes, the foregoing clauses (B) through (G) shall apply only to the extent the Buyer or the ADS Companies could reasonably be
expected to be bound after the Closing (or otherwise materially and adversely affected) thereby;
(vi) not grant any increase in the compensation or benefits to any employee or officer of the ADS Companies or any
ADS Business Employee, other than base salary and wage rate increases (A) in the ADS Ordinary Course (provided such increases do not
exceed [***] of the base salary or wage rate for any individual ADS Business Employee) or (B) to those ADS Business Employees and in
such amounts as listed by the Sellers on Schedule 5.1(b)(vi);
(vii) not grant or increase any severance, change of control, retention, termination or similar compensation or benefits to
any ADS Business Employee;
(viii) not (A) amend, adopt, establish, agree to establish, negotiate, enter into or terminate any Collective Bargaining
Agreement or (B) take or refrain from taking any action, which results in or could reasonably be expected to result in a Withdrawal Event
or any Withdrawal Liability that could remain with or be incurred by any ADS Company (and not be timely satisfied in full by the Sellers)
following the Closing;
(ix) not transfer the employment of any employee of the ADS Parent or any of its Subsidiaries from a status in which
such employee would have been an ADS Business Employee to a status in which such employee will not be an ADS Business Employee
(or vice versa), except transfers in the ADS Ordinary Course;

(x)

not hire or terminate any ADS Business Employee, except to hire or terminate employees in the ADS Ordinary

Course;
(xi) not amend the Organizational Documents of any ADS Company;
(xii) not redeem or otherwise acquire any Equity Securities of ADS Company or issue any shares of capital stock or
other Equity Securities of any ADS Company;
(xiii) not split, combine or reclassify any of the Equity Securities of any ADS Company, or issue, sell, pledge, or transfer
any other security in respect of, in lieu of or in substitution for, the Equity Securities of any ADS Company;
(xiv)
ADS Company;

not adopt a plan of complete or partial liquidation, dissolution, merger, consolidation or recapitalization of any

(xv) with respect to the ADS Companies, not loan, advance, invest or make a capital contribution to or in any Person or
guarantee the indebtedness or other obligations of any Person, other than loans, advances, investments, capital contributions or guarantees
(A) in any other ADS Company or (B) for amounts that will be repaid in full at or prior to the Time of Closing, as applicable;
(xvi) not sell, lease, license, transfer or otherwise dispose of any (A) ADS Assets or (B) any material assets of any ADS
Company (including any ADS Real Property), other than non-exclusive licenses unrelated to the ADS Real Property and granted in the
ADS Ordinary Course and, in the case of clause (B), sales, transfers or dispositions of assets that are obsolete in the ADS Ordinary Course
and non-exclusive licenses granted in the ADS Ordinary Course;
(xvii) not (A) amend any material term of, or accelerate or grant any waiver or release or assign any material right under,
cancel or voluntarily terminate (other than upon expiration or automatic termination in accordance with its terms) any ADS Material
Contract or ADS Assumed Contract, or (B) other than in the ADS Ordinary Course, enter into or renew (other than renewals at the option
of the counterparty thereto) any Contract that, if in effect on the Execution Date, would be an ADS Material Contract or ADS Assumed
Contract;
(xviii) with respect to the ADS Companies, not make or commit to make any material capital expenditures in respect of
the ADS Business (or to the extent it would otherwise constitute Assumed Liabilities) that would not be paid in full prior to the Time of
Closing, in excess of $[***], other than (A) any capital expenditures in respect of landfill construction or for the acquisition of new
equipment, trucks, containers or landfill compactors in the ADS Ordinary Course, (B) with respect to bids awarded to or acquired by an
ADS Company that have not been serviced as of the Execution Date or are awarded or acquired by an ADS Company after the Execution
Date or (C) capital expenditures that are less than $[***] in the aggregate;
(xix) not enter into any settlement with respect to, settle, waive, assign, compromise or release any Proceeding primarily
relating to the ADS Companies, the ADS Assets or the ADS Assumed Liabilities, other than any settlement or release that contemplates
only the payment of money not in excess of $[***] individually or $[***] in the aggregate without ongoing limits on the conduct or
operation of the ADS Business, does not involve any relief other than monetary damages and results in a full release of the claims giving
rise to such Proceeding; or
(xx) not authorize, commit or agree, whether in writing or otherwise, to do any of the foregoing.
(c) The foregoing shall not limit any of the ADS Sellers’ or WM Sellers’ rights to cause the ADS Companies or WM Companies, as
applicable, to distribute (or otherwise transfer, assign or convey) the WM Excluded Assets and ADS Excluded Assets as described in Section
1.2(c) and Section 1.3(c), as applicable, in each case at the sole cost and expense (including any Taxes related thereto) of the applicable ADS
Seller or the WM Seller.
(d) In the event that any of the WM Parent, the WM Companies, the WM Sellers, the ADS Parent, the ADS Companies or the ADS Sellers,
as applicable, intends to rely upon Section 5.1(a)(y) or (z) or Section 5.1(b)(y) or (z), as applicable, to take any action, or omit to take any
action, in response or in relation to coronavirus that otherwise would be required or prohibited by Section 5.1(a) or Section 5.1(b), it shall be
entitled to do so only to the extent such action or omission is materially consistent with the respective coronavirus response practice applicable
across all assets, properties or businesses of the WM Parent or the ADS Parent, as applicable, in the affected geography except that any
inconsistent actions or omissions may be taken if such actions or omissions are reasonably taken inconsistently as a result of applicable Law
or differing levels of exposure of the applicable Asset or Company with respect to which an action needs to be taken or omitted.
Section 5.2 Consents.
(a) Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, this Agreement shall not constitute an agreement to transfer, assign, directly
or indirectly, or subcontract, any asset (including any Contract, WM Permit or ADS Permit), claim or right, or any benefit arising under or
resulting from such asset, claim or right, if an attempted transfer, direct or indirect assignment or subcontract thereof, without the consent or
waiver of a Third Party (each, a “Consent”) would (i) constitute a breach or other contravention of the rights of such Third Party, (ii) be
ineffective with respect to any party to a Contract (or, to the extent transferable, a WM Permit or ADS Permit) concerning such asset, claim or
right or (iii) in any way adversely affect the rights of any of the Sellers or their respective Affiliates or, upon transfer, the Buyer under such

asset, claim or right, it being understood that any such transfer, assignment or assumption shall be made subject to such Consent being
obtained, provided that to the extent such Consent is not obtained in accordance with the provisions of this Section 5.2, the provisions of
Section 8.1 shall apply to such asset, claim or right.
(b) Following the Execution Date until the Closing Date, the Parties shall cooperate with each other and use their respective reasonable best
efforts, subject to the other terms of, and without limiting anything contained in, this Agreement, to obtain all material Consents, including
those set forth on Schedule 5.2(a), including, in the case of the WM Parent and the ADS Parent, as applicable, using reasonable best efforts (or
causing its respective Subsidiaries to use their reasonable best efforts) to secure Consent to transfer or assign to the Buyer all WM Assumed
Contracts, Contracts of the WM Companies, ADS Assumed Contracts, Contracts of the ADS Companies, Contracts with respect to the Buyer
Assigned Accounts, WM Assumed Permits and ADS Assumed Permits (to the extent transferable or assignable), as applicable; provided that,
following the date on which true and complete copies of the customer Contracts referenced in the first sentence of Section 2.9(b) and Section
3.9(b) are made available to the Buyer as contemplated therein, the parties shall cooperate in good faith to promptly identify and mutually
agree upon a list of material Consents in respect of such customer Contracts to be set forth on Schedule 5.2(a) and to update Schedule 5.2(a) to
reflect such Consents, which updated Schedule 5.2(a) shall constitute Schedule 5.2(a) for all purposes of this Agreement.
(c) [***]
(d) The Buyer further expressly acknowledges that none of the Consents is a condition to the consummation of the transactions contemplated
hereby and the Buyer acknowledges that no condition shall be deemed not satisfied as a result of (i) the failure to obtain any Consents, (ii) any
termination of any WM Assumed Contract, ADS Assumed Contract, WM Permit or ADS Permit by a counterparty thereto as a result of the
transactions contemplated hereby or (iii) any Proceedings commenced or threatened by any Person arising out of or relating to the failure to
obtain any Consent or avoid any such termination, in each case, except to the extent resulting directly from a breach of this Agreement by the
Sellers of (x) their express obligations under this Section 5.2 or (y) of any representation regarding non-contravention, including their
representation set forth in Section 2.6 or Section 3.6, as applicable.
(e) Without limiting the foregoing, the Buyer shall provide each Seller (or their applicable Affiliates) such information and references
(including regarding its creditworthiness) as may reasonably and timely be requested by any relevant Third Party for the purposes of obtaining
the required Consents and shall enter into such undertakings or procure such guarantees in favor of any relevant Third Party as may be
reasonably requested by such relevant Third Party for the purposes of obtaining the required Consents.
Section 5.3 Access to Assets, Personnel, Books and Records.
(a) During the Interim Period (and subject to any restrictions and covenants in any relevant leases to which the WM Sellers or the ADS
Sellers are party and reasonable measures undertaken to mitigate risks associated with coronavirus), the WM Parent will cause the WM
Companies and WM Asset Sellers to, and the ADS Parent will, and will cause the ADS Companies and ADS Asset Sellers to, permit the
Buyer (including any of the Buyer’s Representatives), during normal business hours and in a commercially reasonable manner so as not to
interfere with the operation of the Business or the Assets, to discuss the Business, the Assets and the Assumed Liabilities, as applicable, with
the Sellers’ and the Companies’ respective managers, officers, agents and representatives, review the Sellers’ and Companies’ respective
contracts, books and records concerning the respective Business, Assets and Assumed Liabilities and gain access to inspect the assets and
properties of the Companies and the Assets, as applicable. If requested by the Buyer, each of the WM Parent and the ADS Parent, as
applicable, hereby agrees to use commercially reasonable efforts to provide the Buyer with such additional financial information that is in its
possession with respect to the WM Business, the WM Companies, the ADS Business or the ADS Companies, as applicable, as is reasonably
necessary for the Buyer to effectuate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and to integrate the WM Business, the WM Companies,
the ADS Business or the ADS Companies into the operations of the Buyer; provided that notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in
this Section 5.3, in no event shall the Sellers be required to prepare any financial statements with regard to the Business, the Assets or the
Assumed Liabilities, whether prior to or following the Closing. Such access shall include reasonable access to the WM Real Property and
ADS Real Property of the Sellers and the Companies, as applicable. Notwithstanding the foregoing, however, in no event shall the Buyer
cause or undertake any invasive testing of the WM Real Property and the ADS Real Property of the Sellers or the Companies, as applicable,
including a “Phase II” environmental report, without the prior written consent of the applicable Seller or Sellers, which consent may be given
or withheld in the Sellers’ sole and absolute discretion.
(b) All access and testing shall be coordinated with the Sellers, and Buyer and its agents and employees shall enter the WM Real Property or
ADS Real Property, as applicable, and perform inspections or meet with WM Business Employees or ADS Business Employees, as
applicable, only if accompanied by a representative of the applicable Seller or Sellers unless waived by the WM Parent or the ADS Parent, as
applicable. Each of the Sellers shall have the right to delay access or testing until such time that the access or testing, in the reasonable
judgment of such Seller, will not materially interfere with the conduct of the Business or the operation of the Assets.
(c) Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Buyer shall have no right of access to, and the Sellers, the Companies and their Affiliates shall have
no obligation to provide to the Buyer, information relating to (i) bids received from others in connection with the transactions contemplated
hereby or in connection with the Advanced Disposal Merger and information and analyses (including financial analyses) relating to such bids,
(ii) any information the disclosure of which would jeopardize any privilege available to the Sellers or the Companies and their Affiliates
relating to such information or cause any of the Sellers, the Companies or their Affiliates to breach a confidentiality obligation or (iii) any
information the disclosure of which would result in a violation of applicable Law.

(d) FROM AND AFTER THE EXECUTION DATE UNTIL THE TIME OF CLOSING, THE BUYER SHALL NOT CAUSE AND
SHALL CAUSE ITS REPRESENTATIVES NOT TO CAUSE DAMAGE TO THE ASSETS OF ANY OF THE COMPANIES OR TO ANY
OF THE ASSETS IN CONNECTION WITH THE ACTIVITIES OF BUYER AND ITS REPRESENTATIVES UNDER THIS SECTION
5.3, WHICH OBLIGATION SHALL SURVIVE THE TERMINATION OF THIS AGREEMENT, NOTWITHSTANDING ANYTHING TO
THE CONTRARY HEREIN. THE BUYER AGREES TO INDEMNIFY AND HOLD HARMLESS THE SELLER INDEMNIFIED
PARTIES FROM AND AGAINST ANY AND ALL LOSS ASSERTED AGAINST ANY SELLER INDEMNIFIED PARTY FOR
PERSONAL INJURY, DEATH, OR LOSS OF OR DAMAGE TO PROPERTY AND TO PAY ALL COSTS AND EXPENSES
INCLUDING REASONABLE ATTORNEYS’ FEES WHICH ANY SELLER INDEMNIFIED PARTY MAY SUSTAIN (UNLESS DUE
TO THE GROSS NEGLIGENCE OR WILLFUL MISCONDUCT OF THE SELLER INDEMNIFIED PARTIES) ARISING OUT OF OR
RESULTING FROM ANY ACTS OR OMISSIONS OF THE BUYER OR ANY OF THE BUYER’S AGENTS, CONTRACTORS,
REPRESENTATIVES OR EMPLOYEES IN CONNECTION WITH ANY SUCH ACCESS OR INSPECTIONS PRIOR TO THE
CLOSING, BUT SUCH INDEMNITY PROVIDED HEREIN SHALL NOT BE APPLICABLE TO ANY OCCURRENCE TO THE
EXTENT RESULTING FROM THE GROSS NEGLIGENCE OR WILLFUL MISCONDUCT OF THE SELLER INDEMNIFIED
PARTIES.
(e) All information and documents obtained by the Buyer pursuant to this Agreement or in relation to the transactions contemplated hereby
shall be subject to the terms and conditions of that certain confidentiality agreement, dated October 30, 2019, by and among the Buyer, the
WM Parent and the ADS Parent (the “Confidentiality Agreement”), the terms of which are incorporated herein by reference thereto. The
Confidentiality Agreement shall survive during the Interim Period as if this Agreement had not been entered into by the Parties. If this
Agreement is, for any reason, terminated prior to the Closing, the Confidentiality Agreement shall continue in full force and effect as provided
in Section 9.2.
(f) During the Interim Period, neither the Buyer nor its Representatives shall contact any Third Party doing business with the Sellers or
access the properties or records of any such Third Party, in each case, without the consent of the WM Parent and the ADS Parent; provided
that no such consent shall be required if such contact is in the ordinary course of the Buyer’s business and is not related to this Agreement or
the Other Transaction Agreements, the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby, or the Assets, the Sellers, the Companies or the Business;
provided, further, that no such consent shall be required in respect of any contact or communication with any counterparty of any Seller Credit
Enhancement to the extent related to the Buyer’s obligations under Section 8.4 so long as the Buyer shall afford the Sellers a reasonable
opportunity (including reasonable advance notice) to participate in any discussions or communications with any such counterparty.
Section 5.4 Efforts; Governmental Authorities; DOJ.
(a) The Parties will use their reasonable best efforts to obtain the satisfaction of the conditions to Closing set forth in this Agreement as
promptly as reasonably practicable.
(b)
Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, subject to the terms and conditions herein, the Parties shall use their respective
reasonable best efforts to promptly obtain all necessary consents, approvals, waivers and authorizations of, actions or nonactions by, and
promptly making all required filings and submissions, with the DOJ, or any other Governmental Authority regarding the transactions
contemplated hereby.
(c) In furtherance of and without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Parties shall, and shall cause their respective Controlled
Affiliates (which for the avoidance of doubt includes the Buyer Guarantor and its Controlled Affiliates) to, (i) use their respective reasonable
best efforts to (x) obtain the approval of the transactions contemplated hereby by the DOJ, including promptly submitting to the DOJ all
documents and information that the DOJ reasonably requests from a Party, whether written or oral, so as to enable the Parties to close the
transactions contemplated hereby as promptly as practicable, and (y) subject to the succeeding provisions of this Section 5.4, take promptly
any and all steps necessary to avoid or eliminate each and every impediment and obtain all consents under any Antitrust Law that may be
required by the DOJ, (ii) use reasonable best efforts to contest (x) any civil, criminal or administrative Proceedings brought by any
Governmental Authority or any other Person against such Party or its Controlled Affiliates seeking to enjoin, restrain, prevent, prohibit or
make illegal the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby or seeking damages or to impose any terms or conditions on the
transactions contemplated hereby, and (y) any Order that enjoins, restrains, prevents, prohibits or makes illegal the consummation of any of
the transactions contemplated hereby or imposes any damages, terms or conditions on the transactions contemplated hereby, (iii) subject to the
succeeding provisions of this Section 5.4, use their respective reasonable best efforts to resolve any objections the DOJ or any other
Governmental Authority may assert under any applicable Law with respect to the transactions contemplated hereby, and obtain the
Governmental Authority approvals of the transactions contemplated hereby required by Law.
(d) [***].
(e) Each Party shall promptly furnish to the other Parties copies of any notices, requests or written communications, and shall promptly
describe to the other Parties any oral communications, received by such Party or any of its Affiliates from any Third Party or any
Governmental Authority with respect to the transactions contemplated hereby, and each Party shall permit counsel to the other Party an
opportunity to review in advance, and each Party shall consider in good faith and reflect the views of such counsel in connection with, any
proposed communications by such Party or its Affiliates to any Governmental Authority concerning the transactions contemplated hereby;
provided, however, that (i) materials may be redacted to remove references concerning the valuation, projections, business plans or prospects
of the Assets or Business, or as necessary to address reasonable attorney-client or other privilege concerns and (ii) this sentence shall not

require any sharing of documents or information not permitted by the applicable Governmental Authority. Each Party shall provide the other
Parties the opportunity, on reasonable advance notice, to participate in any substantive meetings or discussions, either in person or by
telephone, between such Party or any of its Affiliates, or their respective Representatives, on the one hand, and any Governmental Authority,
on the other hand, concerning or in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby, where permitted by such Governmental Authority.
(f) Without limiting the foregoing, the Parties shall regularly review with each other the progress of obtaining the Governmental Authority
approvals of the transactions contemplated hereby and any notifications or filings (including, where necessary, seeking to identify appropriate
commitments or submissions to address any concerns identified by any Governmental Authority) pertaining to such approvals and discuss
with each other the scope, timing and tactics of any such commitments or submissions with a view to obtain approval of the transactions
contemplated hereby by all relevant Governmental Authorities, at the earliest time possible.
(g) The Buyer shall not take any action, or permit the Buyer Guarantor or any of its Controlled Affiliates to take any action that would
reasonably be expected to materially delay the receipt or approval or the transactions contemplated hereby by any Governmental Authority, or
prevent the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby.
(h) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, nothing in this Section 5.4 shall be deemed to amend, modify or expand the
obligations of the WM Parent or the ADS Parent under the Advanced Disposal Merger Agreement and neither the WM Parent nor the ADS
Parent nor any of their respective Affiliates shall be required to take, or to cause to be taken, any actions hereunder that it would not be
required to take under Section 6.4 of the Advanced Disposal Merger Agreement.
Section 5.5 Publicity. Following the execution of this Agreement, WM Parent and ADS Parent shall issue an initial joint press release in
substance approved in advance by the Buyer and the Buyer shall concurrently issue an initial press release in substance approved in advance
by the WM Parent and ADS Parent, in each case, regarding this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby, and thereafter, none of
the Parties shall, until the Time of Closing, issue any press release or make any public statement regarding the transactions contemplated
hereby, without the prior written approval of the other Parties, which shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed.
Notwithstanding the preceding sentence, however, (a) a Party, or any Affiliate of a Party, may make such disclosure (on Form 8-K or by press
release) regarding the terms of this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby as it deems reasonably necessary (based on the
advice of external counsel), to comply with applicable securities Laws or the rules and regulations of the New York Stock Exchange or the
Toronto Stock Exchange, provided that the other Parties shall be provided a copy thereof prior to disclosure to the extent practicable, and (b)
nothing in this Section 5.5 shall limit the ability of the WM Parent, the ADS Parent or their respective Affiliates to issue publications or press
releases relating to the Advanced Disposal Merger or the Advanced Disposal Merger Agreement, including publications or press releases that
specifically reference the transactions contemplated by this Agreement (provided that such publications or press releases shall not contain
information relating to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement that has not been previously disclosed pursuant to this Section 5.5
without the prior written consent of the Buyer, which shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed).
Section 5.6 Financing; Financing Cooperation.
(a) The Buyer shall have sufficient funds available to it at the Closing to satisfy the payment of the Estimated Purchase Price in full. In the
event that the Buyer determines, in its sole discretion, to arrange or obtain any financing to provide funds in connection with the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement (the “Financing”), (i) the Buyer shall use, and shall cause its Affiliates to use, its and their reasonable best
efforts to ensure that the Financing is available at Closing and (ii) the Sellers shall provide, and shall cause their respective Affiliates and
Representatives to provide to the Buyer reasonable assistance and cooperation as is reasonably requested by the Buyer in connection with
arranging, obtaining and syndicating the Financing, as necessary, including assisting the Buyer with preparation of customary documents and
other materials reasonably necessary in connection with the Financing. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in this Section 5.6,
in no event shall the Sellers be required to prepare any balance sheet, cash flow statement, income statement or statement of stockholder’s
equity with regard to the Business, the Assets or the Assumed Liabilities, whether prior to or following the Closing.
(b) Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Buyer agrees that (i) on the earlier of the Closing Date or the termination of this Agreement, the
Buyer shall promptly reimburse the Sellers for all documented out-of-pocket Third Party costs and expenses incurred by the Sellers in
connection with such cooperation pursuant to this Section 5.6; and (ii) the Buyer shall indemnify and hold harmless the Sellers and their
respective Affiliates and their respective Representatives from and against any and all Liabilities, or Losses incurred in connection with the
arrangement of the Financing or any assistance or activities provided in connection therewith. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary
herein, it is understood and agreed that the condition precedent set forth in Section 6.2(b), as applied to the Sellers’ obligations under this
Section 5.6, shall be deemed to be satisfied unless the Financing has not been obtained as a direct result of the Sellers’ willful breach of its
obligations under this Section 5.6.
(c) The Buyer understands and acknowledges that under the terms of this Agreement, the Buyer’s obligation to consummate the transactions
hereunder is not in any way contingent upon or otherwise subject to the Buyer’s consummation of any financing arrangements, the Buyer’s
obtaining of any financing or the availability, grant, provision or extension of any financing to the Buyer. For the avoidance of doubt, if any
such financing has not been obtained, the Buyer shall continue to be obligated, until such time as this Agreement is terminated in accordance
with its terms and subject to the satisfaction or waiver of the conditions set forth in Article VI, to consummate the transactions contemplated
by this Agreement.
Section 5.7 Termination of Intercompany Agreements.

(a) Except as otherwise contemplated by this Agreement, the WM Parent and the ADS Parent shall, and shall cause their Affiliates to,
effective upon the Closing, execute and deliver such releases, termination agreements and discharges as are necessary to terminate, eliminate
and release, as applicable (by way of capital contribution, cash settlement or otherwise), in a manner that does not result in any remaining or
incremental Liabilities for the Buyer or for any of the Companies on or after the Time of Closing, each of the arrangements, commitments,
receivables, payables, claims, demands, rights, loans, Contracts and Affiliate Agreements between any Company, on the one hand, and the
respective Seller or any of its Affiliates (other than a Company), on the other hand, other than those that are set forth in Schedule 5.7
(collectively, “Terminating Intercompany Agreements”).
(b) Sellers shall and shall cause their respective Affiliates (other than the Companies), on the one hand, to and the Buyer shall cause its
Affiliates (including the Companies), on the other hand, to, fully and finally waive and release, effective as of the Closing Date, any claims,
causes of action, Losses, liabilities or other rights arising under any Terminating Intercompany Agreement (including such claims, causes of
action, Losses, liabilities or other rights that may arise as a result of the termination of such Terminating Intercompany Agreement), other than
as set forth in Schedule 5.7. Nothing in this Section 5.7 shall require any Seller to, and no Seller shall without Buyer’s consent, terminate or
cancel any intercompany obligations exclusively between or among any of the Companies. If a Terminating Intercompany Agreement is not
paid and satisfied on or prior to the Closing Date, as promptly as practicable following the Closing (or as promptly as practicable as such
outstanding Terminating Intercompany Agreement is identified) the Parties will return each Party to the same economic position such Party
would have been in had such Terminating Intercompany Agreement been paid and satisfied on or prior to the Closing Date.
Section 5.8 Accounts Receivable; Accounts Payable; Cash Sweep. The WM Parent and the ADS Parent shall cause the Companies to, prior
to or substantially contemporaneously with the Time of Closing, (a) assign all respective rights in the (i) WM Accounts Payable, (ii) ADS
Accounts Payable, (iii) WM Accounts Receivable and (iv) ADS Accounts Receivable, to the WM Parent or its designee (which designee shall
not be one of the Companies) and the WM Parent or such designee shall assume, in each case without further recourse to the Buyer or its
Affiliates (including the Companies), all obligations with respect to the same and (b) dividend or otherwise distribute all cash and cash
equivalents held by each of the Companies to the Equity Seller that owns all of the Equity Interests in such Company.
Section 5.9 Transferred Employees.
(a) [***]
(b) The Sellers and the Buyer intend that the transactions contemplated by this Agreement shall not constitute a severance or
termination of employment of any Business Employee prior to or upon the Closing for purposes of any severance or termination benefit plan,
program, policy, agreement or arrangement of the Sellers or any of their Affiliates, and that Transferred Employees shall have continuous and
uninterrupted employment immediately before and immediately after the Closing. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, if any
Business Employee does not accept an offer of (or fulfill the conditions for) employment from the Buyer and its Affiliates, the Buyer shall not
have any responsibility for, and the Sellers shall retain and hold the Buyer harmless and indemnify the Buyer with respect to, any and all
Liabilities (including statutory or contractual severance benefits or notice obligations) arising as a result of the actual or constructive termination
of such Business Employee’s employment with the Sellers as a result of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or otherwise.
(c) The Buyer or its Affiliates shall assume in writing the Collective Bargaining Agreements listed on either Schedule 1.2(a)(xii),
Schedule 1.3(a)(xii)(A) or Schedule 1.3(a)(xii)(B) or obligations thereunder in respect of Business Employees, as applicable (effective from the
Closing Date until their respective termination, expiration or replacement). For those Business Employees employed in the operation of the Assets
covered by such Collective Bargaining Agreements effective as of the Closing, such Business Employees shall become Transferred Employees as
of the Closing Date and the Buyer or its Affiliates will be bound by, comply with and adhere to the obligations thereunder pursuant to the terms
therein, including the provision of employee benefits and pensions to the covered Transferred Employees in accordance with the terms thereof,
solely with respect to the Transferred Employees and to the extent required under such Collective Bargaining Agreements as of the Closing Date.
Following the Closing, the Buyer or its Affiliates will employ the Transferred Employees who are subject to such Collective Bargaining
Agreements, on the terms therein (as may be modified from time to time) with credit as applicable for years of service with the applicable entity.
Sellers and their Affiliates shall reasonably cooperate with Buyer and its Affiliates and take all required actions to cause the assumption of the
Collective Bargaining Agreements or obligations thereunder in respect of Business Employees (as applicable) described herein by the Buyer or its
Affiliates. For the avoidance of doubt, Buyer acknowledges that any Collective Bargaining Agreement applicable to a WM Company or ADS
Company shall continue in effect according to its terms (as may be amended from time to time) after the Closing with respect to each such WM
Company or ADS Company, following the purchase and sale of the Equity Interests of such WM Company or ADS Company pursuant to this
Agreement.
(d) [***]
(e) Following the Closing, to the extent included in ADS Pre-Closing Accrued Compensation, and except as provided in the next
sentence, the Buyer will recognize and credit to the Transferred Employees all of their accrued but unpaid hours of vacation time as of the Closing
in accordance with the Sellers’ vacation policies relating to the period prior to the Closing. To the extent required by applicable Law, the Sellers
shall pay or cause to be paid to each Transferred Employee all amounts in respect of earned but unused vacation time that become due as a result
of the transfer of employment contemplated by this Section 5.9.
(f) Effective as of the Closing Date, the Transferred Employees who are participants in a 401(k) plan maintained by the Sellers
or their Affiliates (the “Seller’s 401(k) Plan”) shall cease to be eligible for any future contributions to the Sellers 401(k) plan, and shall have a

fully vested and non- forfeitable interest in their account balances thereunder. As soon as practicable after the Closing Date and following (i)
delivery by the Buyer to the Sellers of a favorable IRS determination letter or prototype opinion letter regarding a defined contribution plan of the
Buyer (“Buyer’s 401(k) Plan”) or an opinion of counsel reasonably satisfactory to the Sellers to the effect that the terms of the Buyer’s 401(k)
Plan and its related trust qualify, as to form, under Section 401(a) and Section 501(a) of the Code, and (ii) delivery by the Sellers to the Buyer of a
favorable IRS determination letter or prototype opinion letter regarding Seller’s 401(k) Plan or an opinion of counsel reasonably satisfactory to the
Buyer to the effect that the terms of the Seller’s 401(k) Plan and its related trust qualify, as to form, under Section 401(a) and Section 501(a) of the
Code, the Seller shall cause the trustee of the Seller’s 401(k) Plan to transfer all of the assets and liabilities thereof solely with respect to the
amount of the transferred accrued benefits attributable to the Transferred Employees (excluding those employees who retired effective on or prior
to the date of transfer and who remain on an approved leave of absence as of the date of transfer) to the Buyer’s 401(k) Plan; provided, however,
that the Buyer shall not assume, and the Sellers shall retain, all liabilities with respect to the Seller’s 401(k) Plan other than such accrued benefit
liabilities. Unless otherwise agreed by the Sellers and the Buyer, the assets to be transferred shall be cash and promissory notes for loans made to
the Transferred Employees under the terms of the Seller’s 401(k) Plan.
(g) With respect to each Transferred Employee (and such Transferred Employee’s dependents) who elects to participate in the
Buyer’s or its Affiliate’s group health plans, the Buyer or its Affiliates shall use commercially reasonable efforts to waive or cause to be waived
any pre-existing condition exclusions to coverage, any evidence of insurability provisions, any active at work requirement and any waiting period
or service requirements that did not exist or had been waived or otherwise satisfied under the applicable Seller’s or any its applicable Affiliates’
applicable comparable group health plans. For each Transferred Employee who enrolls in the Buyer’s or its Affiliate’s medical benefits plan, the
Buyer shall also use commercially reasonable efforts to apply towards any deductible requirements and out-of-pocket maximum limits under its
health plans applicable to the year of Closing, any amounts paid by such Transferred Employee toward such requirements and limits under the
applicable Seller’s or applicable Seller’s Affiliate’s comparable medical benefits plans.
(h) The Buyer and the Sellers shall use commercially reasonable efforts to take all actions reasonably necessary or appropriate to
allow for the spin-off of the flexible spending accounts (the “FSA Spin-Off”) of those Transferred Employees who participate in a flexible
spending plan maintained by any of the Sellers or their Affiliates (collectively, the “Seller FSA Plan”) so that, effective as of the transition from
the payroll of a Seller (or an applicable Affiliate thereof) to the payroll of Buyer (or an applicable Affiliate thereof) in accordance with the Seller
TSA (the “Payroll Transition Date”), (i) the account balances (whether positive or negative) (the “Transferred FSA Balances”) of such
Transferred Employees shall be transferred to one or more comparable flexible spending plans of the Buyer or its Affiliates (collectively, the
“Buyer FSA Plan”), and (ii) such Transferred Employees shall be reimbursed from the Buyer FSA Plan for appropriate claims (incurred at any
time during the plan year of the applicable Seller FSA Plan in which the Payroll Transition Date occurs) that are submitted to the Buyer FSA Plan
from and after the Payroll Transition Date. As soon as practicable after the Payroll Transition Date, and in any event within ten (10) Business
Days after the amount of the Transferred FSA Balances is determined, the Sellers shall pay to the Buyer the net aggregate amount of the
Transferred FSA Balances, if such amount is positive, and the Buyer shall pay to the Seller the net aggregate amount of the Transferred FSA
Balances, if such amount is negative. To the extent that the Buyer or its Affiliates do not maintain a flexible spending plan comparable with the
applicable Seller FSA Plan, the Buyer shall use commercially reasonable efforts to adopt such a plan effective as of the Payroll Transition Date.
The Buyer and the Sellers agree to use commercially reasonable efforts to amend their respective flexible spending plans, as necessary, to allow
for the FSA Spin-Off and to provide that such Transferred Employees will become participants in the Buyer FSA Plan as of the first day of the
plan year of the Seller FSA Plan and at the same level of coverage they had under the Seller FSA Plan. Notwithstanding anything herein to the
contrary, the FSA Spin-Off shall not apply to those Transferred Employees who continue participation in the Seller FSA Plan after the Closing by
electing COBRA benefits under the Sellers’ healthcare plan pursuant to Section 4980B of the Code.
(i) The Sellers shall, or shall cause the Companies to, as applicable, provide (or cause their applicable Affiliate to provide) any
required notice under and otherwise comply with the WARN Act with respect to any event or circumstances affecting each of their respective
Business Employees or any current or former employee of the Sellers primarily involved in the operation of WM Assets or ADS Assets (other
than Business Employees) prior to the Closing (including as a result of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement). The Buyer or the
Companies, as applicable, shall provide (or cause their applicable Affiliate to provide) any required notice under and otherwise comply with the
WARN Act, with respect to any event or circumstances affecting Transferred Employees after the Closing; provided that, for the avoidance of
doubt, subject to the Buyer’s compliance with the last sentence of this Section 5.9(i), the Sellers and their Affiliates (excluding the Companies)
shall be solely responsible for any Liability under the WARN Act for “employment losses” (as defined in the WARN Act) occurring on or prior to
the Closing and “employment losses” at any time as they relate to any employees who are not Transferred Employees. On the Closing Date, the
Sellers shall notify the Buyer of any “employment loss” (as defined in the WARN Act) experienced by any Business Employee or any current or
former employee of the Sellers primarily involved in the operation of WM and ADS Assets (other than Business Employees) during the ninety
(90)-day period ending on the Closing Date (including the employment site and date of each such employment loss), and of any Business
Employee who as of the Closing Date is furloughed without pay or on similar unpaid leave of absence (including the employment site and date of
commencement of such furlough or similar leave of absence) or working on a schedule of reduced hours by more than 50% (including the
employment site and date of commencement of such reduction). For the ninety (90)-day period following the Closing Date, the Buyer shall not
take or cause to be taken, or omit to take, any action with respect to the Transferred Employees that would cause any of the Sellers or the
Companies to be in violation of or in default under, or otherwise trigger any liability under the WARN Act with respect to any actions thereby
prior to the Closing.
(j) The Sellers, as applicable, shall use or shall cause to be used its commercially reasonable efforts to assist the Buyer in (and
provide all necessary or appropriate documentation in connection with) hiring the Transferred Employees, as applicable, or transferring their
employment, as the case may be, and taking all other actions required by this Section 5.9. Between the Execution Date and the Closing, the Parties
agree to cooperate with each other with respect to all material, oral or written communications or meetings with the Business Employees

regarding future employment. This Section 5.9 shall be binding upon and inure solely to the benefit of each of the Parties, and nothing in this
Section 5.9, expressed or implied, is intended nor shall be construed to confer upon any other Person any rights or remedies of any nature
whatsoever under or by reason of this Section 5.9. Without limiting the foregoing, no provision of this Section 5.9 will create any third-party
beneficiary rights in any current or former employee of the Sellers, any Transferred Employees or any union (or similar employee representative
body) in respect of employment, continued employment or resumed employment, compensation, benefits or any other matter. Nothing in this
Agreement shall be construed as establishing or modifying any Collective Bargaining Agreement or benefit or compensation plan, program,
policy, contract, agreement or arrangement. Except as set forth herein, each Seller retains all liability associated with the employment or its
retention of its employees, consultants and contract workers.
(k) [***]
Section 5.10 R&W Insurance Policy. Prior to the Time of Closing, the Buyer may, at its own expense, obtain and cause to be underwritten a
buyer-side representations and warranties insurance policy providing insurance coverage for Losses suffered or incurred by the Buyer, the
Buyer’s Affiliates, the Companies and their respective partners, managers, members, shareholders, consultants, Representatives, successors
and assigns to the extent arising out of, or resulting from the inaccuracy of any representation or warranty of the Sellers contained in this
Agreement or in any certificate delivered pursuant hereto and, if the Buyer has elected such coverage, Taxes in respect of any of the
Companies for any Tax periods ending on or prior to the Time of Closing, according to the terms thereof (the “R&W Insurance Policy”). The
Buyer acknowledges that the representations and warranties contained in or made pursuant to this Agreement and the representations and
warranties set forth in any certificate delivered at the Closing in connection with this Agreement shall terminate effective as of the Closing,
shall not survive the Closing and that, except in the case of Fraud, Buyer’s sole recourse and remedy after the Closing in respect of any
inaccuracy or breach of any representation or warranty of Sellers contained in this Agreement or in any certificate delivered pursuant hereto
shall be to make a claim against the R&W Insurance Policy if obtained. The Buyer acknowledges and agrees that if the Buyer obtains the
R&W Insurance Policy, the Buyer shall cause such R&W Insurance Policy to expressly provide that the insurer(s) issuing such policy shall
waive or otherwise not pursue any subrogation rights against the Sellers, their Affiliates, and their respective Representatives, other than in the
case of Fraud.
Section 5.11 Additional Covenants.
(a) During the Interim Period, the Parties shall negotiate in good faith to enter into mutually agreeable documentation with respect to the
anticipated commercial arrangements between the Parties set forth on Schedule 5.11(a), in each case, on the terms and conditions described
therein.
(b) The ADS Sellers shall cause, prior to or substantially contemporaneously with the Closing, the distributions of equity in the entities listed
on Schedule 5.11(b) to a designee of the Sellers, such designee to be selected by the Sellers in their sole discretion, provided that such
designee shall not be a Company (such distributions the “Subsidiary Distribution”).
(c) During the Interim Period, the Parties shall continue to work in good faith to agree to a mutually acceptable agreement in respect of the
Services (as defined in the Seller TSA and the Buyer TSA, as applicable) (and costs with respect to such Services) to be provided pursuant to
the Seller TSA and the Buyer TSA, in each case, on the terms and conditions described therein.
(d) No later than fifteen (15) Business Days following the Execution Date, the WM Asset Sellers and the ADS Asset Sellers, as applicable,
shall deliver to the Buyer, subject to clean team arrangements reasonably acceptable to the WM Parent and the ADS Parent, an anonymized
schedule setting forth a true, correct and complete list as of May 31, 2020 of (i) (A) all containers (on an itemized basis) located or used on the
WM Hauling Routes, which list shall include for each such container information as to whether such container is used for residential,
recycling, front-end or roll-off services, as applicable, such container’s bin size and the location category of such container (categorized by
“deployed at customer site” or applicable hauling location) and (B) the spare container inventory maintained by the applicable WM Asset
Sellers to service the WM Hauling Accounts, (ii) (A) all containers (on an itemized basis) located or used on the ADS Hauling Routes, which
list shall include for each such container information as to whether such container is used for residential, recycling, front-end or roll-off
services, as applicable, such container’s bin size and the location category of such container (categorized by “deployed at customer site” or
applicable hauling location) (B) the spare container inventory maintained by the applicable ADS Asset Sellers to service the ADS Hauling
Accounts and (C) all material tangible properties (other than the ADS Real Properties) and assets of each of the ADS Companies not
otherwise set forth on Schedule 3.5(b) and (iii) the VIN number or serial number, as applicable, in respect of each unlicensed vehicle
(including off-road vehicles) included in the Assets.
(e) No later than fifteen (15) Business Days following the Execution Date, the Sellers shall deliver to the Buyer a schedule setting forth a
true, correct and complete schedule setting forth all Retained Permits.
Section 5.12 Real Estate Matters. During the Interim Period, the Sellers shall and shall cause their respective Affiliates and Representatives
to cooperate with the Buyer and use commercially reasonable efforts to cause the release or discharge of record of any Encumbrance, or have
a title company insure over such Encumbrance, on the WM Real Property and the ADS Real Property that is not a Permitted Encumbrance.
ARTICLE VI
CONDITIONS TO THE CLOSING
Section 6.1 Conditions to the Obligations of Each Party. The obligations of the Parties to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby

are subject to the satisfaction of the following conditions (or, to the extent permitted by Law, waiver by the WM Parent, the ADS Parent and
the Buyer):
(a) no provision of any applicable Law or regulation and no Order shall prohibit the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby;
(b) the DOJ shall have approved the terms of the transactions contemplated hereby and the DOJ Consent shall have been obtained; and
(c)
the Advanced Disposal Merger shall have been consummated in accordance with the terms of the Advanced Disposal Merger
Agreement.
Section 6.2 Conditions to the Obligations of the Buyer. The obligations of the Buyer to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby
are subject to the satisfaction of the following further conditions (or, to the extent permitted by Law, waiver by the Buyer) on or before the
dates specified herein:
(a) The representations and warranties of the WM Parent contained in Article II (other than in Section 2.1, Section 2.2, Section 2.3, Section
2.4, Section 2.11 and Section 2.14(b)) and the ADS Parent contained in Article III (other than in Section 3.1, Section 3.2, Section 3.3,
Section 3.4, Section 3.11 and Section 3.14(b)) shall be true and correct in all respects (without giving effect to any qualifications or limitations
contained therein as to materiality or Material Adverse Effect) as of the Execution Date and as of the Closing Date (as if made as of the
Closing Date) (except for representations and warranties that speak as of a specified date, which need only be true and correct as of the
specified date), except where the failure to be true and correct has not nor would reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect.
The representations and warranties set forth in Section 2.3(c) and (d) with respect to the WM Parent and Section 3.3(c) and (d) with respect to
the ADS Parent, in each case, shall be true and correct in all material respects, as of the Execution Date and as of the Closing Date (as if made
as of the Closing Date) (except for such representations and warranties that expressly speak as of an earlier date, in which case such
representations and warranties shall have been so true and correct as of such earlier date). The representations and warranties set forth in
Section 2.1, Section 2.2, Section 2.3(a) and (b), Section 2.3(e) and (f), Section 2.4 and Section 2.11 with respect to the WM Parent and
Section 3.1, Section 3.2, Section 3.3(a) and (b), Section 3.3(e) and (f), Section 3.4 and Section 3.11 with respect to the ADS Parent, in each
case, shall be true and correct in all respects, other than de minimis inaccuracies, as of the Execution Date and as of the Closing Date (as if
made as of the Closing Date) (except for such representations and warranties that expressly speak as of an earlier date, in which case such
representations and warranties shall have been so true and correct as of such earlier date). The representations and warranties set forth in
Section 2.14(b) with respect to the WM Parent and Section 3.14(b) with respect to the ADS Parent, in each case, shall be true and correct in
all respects, as of the Execution Date and as of the Closing Date (as if made as of the Closing Date).
(b)
The covenants and agreements of the Sellers contained in this Agreement to be performed on or before the Time of Closing in
accordance with this Agreement shall have been duly performed in all material respects.
(c) The Buyer shall have received at the Time of Closing a certificate, dated the Closing Date and validly executed by the WM Parent (on
behalf of the Sellers) to the effect that the conditions set forth in clauses (a) and (b) above have been satisfied.
(d) The Sellers shall have delivered, caused to be delivered, or be ready, willing and able to deliver to the Buyer all of the closing deliveries
set forth in Section 1.7.
(e) There shall not have occurred a Material Adverse Effect since the Execution Date.
Section 6.3
Conditions to the Obligations of the Sellers. The obligations of the WM Parent and the ADS Parent to consummate the
transactions contemplated hereby are subject to the satisfaction of the following further conditions (or, to the extent permitted by Law, waiver
by the WM Parent) at or on the date specified:
(a) Except where the failure to be true and correct would not reasonably be expected to materially adversely affect the Buyer’s ability to
consummate the transactions contemplated hereby, the representations and warranties of the Buyer contained in Article IV shall be true and
correct (without giving effect to any qualifications or limitations therein as to materiality or material adverse effect) as of the Execution Date
and as of the Closing Date (as if made as of the Closing Date), except for representations and warranties that speak as of a specified date,
which need only be true and correct as of the specified date.
(b) The covenants and agreements of the Buyer contained in this Agreement to be performed on or before the Time of Closing in accordance
with this Agreement shall have been duly performed in all material respects.
(c) The Sellers shall have received at the Time of Closing a certificate, dated the Closing Date and validly executed by or on behalf of the
Buyer, to the effect that the conditions set forth in clauses (a) and (b) above have been satisfied.
(d) The Buyer shall have delivered, caused to be delivered, or be ready, willing and able to deliver to the WM Parent all of the closing
deliveries set forth in Section 1.8.
ARTICLE VII
TAX COVENANTS

Section 7.1 Preparation and Filing of Tax Returns.
(a) Except to the extent in conflict with Section 7.1(b), the Sellers shall prepare and file or shall cause to be prepared and filed all Tax
Returns required by applicable Law to be filed by the Sellers relating to the Assets, and the Buyer shall prepare or cause to be prepared and
shall file all Tax Returns required by applicable Law to be filed by the Buyer relating to the Assets.
(b) The WM Parent shall have the exclusive right to file all Tax Returns relating to a Consolidated Return of a Parent Group; provided,
however, that neither the WM Parent nor the ADS Parent shall make, or permit their Affiliates to make, any election pursuant to Treasury
Regulation Section 1.1502-76(b)(2)(ii) to ratably allocate items with respect to any of the Companies. The WM Parent shall also be
responsible for preparation and filing of all Tax Returns of the Companies in respect of taxable periods ending on or before the Closing Date,
regardless of whether such Tax Returns are required to be filed before, on or after the Closing Date, and shall pay or cause to be paid when
due all Taxes shown as due on such Tax Returns; provided, that the WM Parent shall provide a draft of such Tax Return to the Buyer for its
review and comment no less than thirty (30) days prior to filing such Tax Return, the Buyer shall have fifteen (15) days after receiving such
draft Tax Return to provide the WM Parent with the Buyer’s consent or the Buyer’s comments on such draft Tax Return, and the WM Parent
shall consider all such comments in good faith prior to filing; provided, further, that this sentence shall not apply to the Consolidated Returns
of any Parent Group. The Parties agree that any payments made pursuant to the previous sentence shall be treated as an adjustment to the
Estimated Purchase Price and Final Purchase Price for all Tax purposes, except to the extent otherwise required by applicable Law. After the
Closing, the Buyer shall be responsible for preparation and filing of all other Tax Returns of the Companies; provided, however, that the
Buyer shall provide a draft of any Tax Return in respect of Taxes for which Sellers are responsible pursuant to this Agreement to the WM
Parent for its review and comment no less than thirty (30) days prior to filing such Tax Return, the WM Parent shall respond to the Buyer
within fifteen (15) days after receiving such draft Tax Return with either the WM Parent’s consent or the WM Parent’s comments on the such
draft Tax Return, and the Buyer shall not file such Tax Return except with the prior written consent of the WM Parent, such consent not to be
unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed.
Section 7.2 Tax Controversies; Assistance and Cooperation.
(a) Tax Proceedings. The WM Parent shall control all matters and disputes relating to a Consolidated Return of a Parent Group, including
the matter described in Schedule 2.8(c)(1)(a). The WM Parent shall also have the right to control any other Tax matter and dispute (a “Tax
Claim”) relating to the Assets or the Companies if and to the extent such Tax Claim is for any taxable period (or portion thereof) ending on or
before to the Closing Date for which the WM Parent is obligated to indemnify the Buyer Indemnified Parties pursuant to this Agreement;
provided, that the WM Parent shall keep the Buyer promptly informed regarding material developments with respect thereto (including by
providing the Buyer copies of written correspondence with respect thereto), the Buyer shall be entitled to participate in the conduct thereof,
and the WM Parent shall not settle or compromise such matter or portion thereof without the prior written consent of the Buyer, such consent
not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed; provided, further that if the WM Parent does not assume control of such Tax Claim
within a reasonable period following the receipt by the WM Parent of notice of such Tax Claim, the Buyer shall have the right to assume
control of such Tax Claim, provided that the Buyer shall not settle such Tax Claim without the prior written consent of the WM Parent, which
consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed.
(b) Tax Indemnity.
(i) Following the Closing, the WM Parent shall indemnify and hold harmless the Buyer Indemnified Parties from and
against all Losses arising out of, relating to or resulting from any (x) Taxes for which the Companies are liable with respect to any taxable
period (or portion thereof) ending on or before the Closing Date, (y) Taxes of the WM Parent, the ADS Parent or their respective
Affiliates (other than the Companies) with respect to any taxable period (or portion thereof) ending on or before the Closing Date, or any
other Taxes (whether or not for a taxable period (or portion thereof) ending on or before the Closing Date) for which any Company is
liable as a result of having been a member of an affiliated, consolidated, combined or unitary group for Tax purposes prior to the Closing
or (z) Transfer Taxes imposed as a result of any Subsidiary Distribution; provided, however, that (1) in order to prevent duplication, the
WM Parent shall not be liable under this Section 7.2(b)(i) for any Tax if and to the extent that such Tax (a) reduced the Final Purchase
Price under the procedures described in Section 1.4 or Section 1.5, (b) was otherwise paid or discharged by the Sellers as a result of such
Taxes being an Excluded Liability or (c) was remitted by the Sellers to the Buyer or an Affiliate of the Buyer pursuant to Section 7.9; and
(2) the WM Parent shall not be liable under this Section 7.2(b)(i) for any Taxes to the extent such Taxes would not have arisen but for
actions not in the ordinary course of business and not contemplated by this Agreement taken by the Buyer or the Companies on the
Closing Date but after the Time of Closing.
(ii) The obligations of the WM Parent under this Section 7.2(b) shall survive until thirty (30) days after the expiration of
the applicable statute of limitations (the “Special Indemnity Period”); provided that if a written notice of claim for indemnification is made
during the Special Indemnity Period, such claim shall survive until its resolution.
(iii) The Parties agree that any indemnity payment made pursuant to this Section 7.2(b) or otherwise pursuant to this
Agreement shall be treated as an adjustment to the Estimated Purchase Price and the Final Purchase Price for all Tax purposes, except to
the extent otherwise required by applicable Law.
(c) Notification of Tax Claims. If the Buyer receives notice of a claim by a taxing authority in respect of Taxes for which any Seller is
responsible under applicable Law or pursuant to Section 7.2(b), then the Buyer will promptly give written notice to the WM Parent of such

claim. If any Seller receives notice of a claim by a taxing authority in respect of Taxes for which Buyer or any Company is responsible, or
which could result in an Encumbrance on any of the Assets, then the WM Parent will promptly give written notice to the Buyer of such claim.
(d) Cooperation on Tax Matters. The Buyer and Sellers will cooperate fully, as and to the extent reasonably requested by the other party, in
connection with any Tax matters relating to the Companies and the Assets (including by the provision of reasonably relevant records or
information). The party requesting such cooperation will pay the reasonable out-of-pocket expenses of the other party.
(e) Tax Refunds. After the Closing, during (and only during) the Special Indemnity Period, the Buyer shall promptly remit to the Sellers any
refund of Taxes that Buyer actually receives (or any credit or offset against Taxes, in each case, in lieu of such refund) with respect to Taxes
of the Companies or with respect to the Assets for a period (or portions thereof) ending on or before the Closing for which Sellers would be
responsible pursuant to this Agreement; provided, however, that (i) the Buyer shall be entitled to reduce any amounts remitted pursuant to this
Section 7.2(e) by the amount of any Taxes, and reasonable costs and other expenses incurred in connection with receiving such refund (or
such credit or offset in lieu of such refund) and (ii) this Section 7.2(e) shall not apply to, and the Buyer shall not be required to remit, any
amount that is attributable to (x) losses, credits or other attributes arising after the Closing, (y) any of the Buyer’s Affiliates (other than the
Companies) or (z) any of Buyer’s or its Affiliates’ businesses, assets or operations other than the Business.
Section 7.3 Transfer Taxes. The Buyer shall be responsible for and shall pay all transfer, documentary, sales, use stamp, registration and
other similar Taxes, and any conveyance fees or recording charges (collectively, “Transfer Taxes”) incurred in connection with the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement; provided, for the avoidance of doubt, that Transfer Taxes shall not include any Taxes imposed
on or with respect to income, profits or gains; provided, further, that notwithstanding the foregoing, any Transfer Taxes imposed as a result of
any Subsidiary Distribution as described in Section 7.2(b)(i)(z) shall be the responsibility of and shall be paid by the Sellers, not the Buyer.
The Buyer shall be responsible for preparing any necessary Tax Returns with respect to such Transfer Taxes (except for Transfer Taxes
imposed as a result of any Subsidiary Distribution as described in Section 7.2(b)(i)(z)). The Party required by Law to do so shall file all
necessary Tax Returns and other documentation with respect to all such Transfer Taxes, and the other Parties shall, and shall cause their
respective Affiliates to, cooperate to the extent reasonably requested in connection with the preparation and filing or such Tax Returns and
other documentation, including, if required by applicable Law, joining in the execution of any such Tax Returns and other documentation.
Section 7.4 Assistance and Cooperation. The WM Parent and the ADS Parent on one hand, and the Buyer, on the other hand, shall cooperate
(and cause their employees, agents and Affiliates to cooperate) with each other and each other’s agents, including accounting firms and legal
counsel, to the extent reasonably requested in connection with Tax matters relating to the Companies or the Assets. Such cooperation shall
include making non-privileged information and documents in its possession available to the other Party, to the extent reasonably pertinent and
necessary in connection with such Tax matters. The Parties shall use commercially reasonable efforts to retain all Tax Returns, schedules and
workpapers, and all material records and other documents relating thereto, until the expiration of the applicable statute of limitations
(including, to the extent notified by any party, any extension thereof) of the Tax period to which such Tax Returns and other documents and
information relate. Any information or documents provided under this Section 7.4 shall be kept confidential by the Party receiving such
information or documents, except as necessary in connection with the filing of Tax Returns or in connection with Proceedings relating to
Taxes.
Section 7.5 338 Elections. Each relevant Seller and Buyer shall join in making timely and valid elections under Code Section 338(h)(10)
(and any corresponding elections under state, local, and foreign Tax Law) with respect to the Buyer’s direct or indirect purchase of the Equity
Interests of each Company that is treated as a corporation for U.S. federal income or such other applicable tax purposes (such elections
collectively, the “Section 338(h)(10) Elections” and each such Company, a “Section 338(h)(10) Subsidiary”). Each Party shall, and shall
cause its Affiliates to, cooperate to the extent reasonably requested in connection with making and giving effect to the Section 338(h)(10)
Elections, including by executing and filing any forms and documentation necessary for making the Section 338(h)(10) Elections. Buyer and
WM Parent shall each timely file the Form(s) 8023 for the Section 338(h)(10) Elections with the Internal Revenue Service and shall each
provide the other promptly upon request with a copy of the final, as-filed versions of such Form(s) 8023. Sellers shall include all items of
income, gain, loss, deduction and credit for the final pre-Closing Tax period of each Section 338(h)(10) Subsidiary (for the avoidance of
doubt, including the items of income, gain, loss, deduction and credit resulting from the Section 338(h)(10) Elections) on their Consolidated
Returns for such period.
Section 7.6 Allocation of Purchase Price. The Parties agree that the purchase and sale of the Companies pursuant to this Agreement is
intended to be treated for U.S. federal and applicable state income Tax purposes as a purchase and sale of the assets of each of the Companies,
and accordingly the Parties agree (i) to allocate the Estimated Purchase Price among the Assets and each of the Companies and (ii) to further
allocate the portion of the Estimated Purchase Price that was allocated to each Company pursuant to the foregoing clause (i) (and any other
amounts treated as consideration for U.S. federal income tax purposes) among the assets of such Company, in each case, in accordance with
the rules under Section 1060 of the Code and Section 338 of the Code, as applicable, the Treasury Regulations promulgated under each such
Code section and any other applicable Tax Law (the “Purchase Price Allocation”). [***]
Section 7.7 Actions Following the Closing Date. The Buyer shall not, and shall cause the Companies not to, (a) make any amendment of any
Tax Returns of any Company for any pre-Closing Tax period, (b) make, change or revoke any Tax election of any Company that has
retroactive effect to any pre-Closing Tax period, except for making the Section 338(h)(10) Elections or (c) enter into a voluntary disclosure or
similar agreement with respect to the Companies, or otherwise voluntarily disclose information of the Companies to, a taxing authority with
respect to a pre-Closing period, in each case to the extent such action would reasonably be expected to result in additional Taxes for which the
Sellers would be responsible either pursuant to applicable Law or pursuant to Section 7.2, without the applicable Seller’s prior written

consent, such consent not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed.
Section 7.8
Tax Sharing Agreements. The Sellers shall cause all Tax sharing agreements, Tax allocation agreements, Tax indemnity
agreements and other similar agreements between the Sellers, on the one hand, and the Companies, on the other hand, to be terminated prior to
the Closing and, after the Closing, the Companies shall not be bound thereby or have any rights or Liabilities thereunder.
Section 7.9 Allocation of Straddle Period Taxes. For purposes of this Agreement (including for purposes of Section 1.2, Section 1.3 and
Section 7.2(b)), Taxes with respect to any Straddle Period shall (a) in the case of real property, personal property and other similar ad valorem
Taxes (collectively, “Property Taxes”), be prorated between the portion of such Straddle Period ending on the Closing Date and the portion of
such Straddle Period beginning on the day after the Closing Date based on the relative number of days in each such portion and (b) in the case
of other Taxes, be allocated between the portion of such Straddle Period ending on the Closing Date and the portion of such Straddle Period
beginning on the day after the Closing Date based on a hypothetical closing of the books as of the Closing Date. For the avoidance of doubt,
Michigan “summer” Property Taxes (i.e., for periods from July 1 through June 30) and Michigan “winter” Property Taxes (i.e., for periods
from December 1 through November 30) shall be treated as separate Taxes for purposes of the previous sentence and shall each be prorated
separately pursuant to clause (a) of the previous sentence. Without duplication of the other indemnity obligations in this Agreement or the
purchase price adjustment provisions with respect to Property Taxes included as ADS Prepaid Expenses or WM Prepaid Expenses, to the
extent that any Party (the “Remitting Party”) has remitted or is required to remit to a Governmental Authority any amount on account of
Property Taxes for which another Party is responsible pursuant to this Agreement, the Remitting Party shall notify that other Party and that
other Party shall promptly (and in any event, within thirty (30) days) reimburse the Remitting Party for such amount.
ARTICLE VIII
POST-CLOSING COVENANTS AND AGREEMENTS OF THE PARTIES
Section 8.1 Further Assurances.
(a)
The Parties shall use commercially reasonable efforts to execute and deliver to the other, at the Closing or thereafter, any other
instrument not otherwise inconsistent with this Agreement which may be requested by the other Parties and which is reasonably appropriate to
transfer, assign and convey to the Buyer the Equity Interests, the Assets and the Assumed Liabilities and to otherwise consummate the
transactions contemplated hereby, and shall cooperate with each other and use their respective commercially reasonable efforts to obtain any
material Consent that was not obtained prior to the Closing pursuant to Section 5.2(a). Notwithstanding the foregoing, in no event shall any of
the Sellers be obligated to expend any sum of money (other than de minimis administrative costs or expenses incurred by Sellers and owed to
Persons other than the Person whose consent is being sought in connection with the process of obtaining such Consent) to obtain any Consent
or agree to any adverse amendment to any Contract or any concession with any Third Party, unless the Buyer agrees to exclusively bear all
costs and expenses related to such concession. The Buyer agrees to cooperate with the Sellers and to use its reasonable commercial efforts to
have the officers and employees of the Buyer cooperate on and after the Closing Date in furnishing to the Sellers information, evidence,
testimony, and other assistance in connection with obtaining all necessary permits and approvals and in connection with any Proceedings of
any nature with respect to matters pertaining to all periods prior to the Closing Date.
(b) Without limiting the obligations set forth in Section 5.2(b), with respect to any failure to transfer, subcontract or assign any Assumed
Contract, any Contract of the Companies or any Other Business Arrangement that would have been transferred, subcontracted or assigned to
the Buyer at the Closing pursuant to the terms of this Agreement but for the failure to obtain a Consent (the “Non-Transferred Assets”), then
until such Consent can be obtained, (i) the Sellers will hold the Non-Transferred Assets in trust for the benefit of the Buyer, (ii) the Sellers
will (and will cause their Affiliates to), at the request, expense and direction of the Buyer and in the name of the Sellers or otherwise as the
Buyer may specify, take all lawful action and do or cause to be done all lawful things that are, in the reasonable opinion of the Buyer,
necessary or proper in order that the obligations of the Sellers may be performed in such a manner that the value of the Non-Transferred
Assets is preserved and inures to the benefit of the Buyer, and (iii) the Sellers will (and will cause their Affiliates to) promptly pay over to the
Buyer all moneys collected by or paid to the Sellers or their Affiliates in respect of any Non-Transferred Asset.
(c) If any WM Assumed Permit or ADS Assumed Permit is not transferred to the Buyer or its Affiliates (or an equivalent of such Permit is
not obtained or secured by the Buyer or its Affiliates) on or prior to the Closing in accordance with the terms hereof, the Sellers, on the one
hand, and the Buyer, on the other hand, shall cooperate in good faith to effect a lawful and reasonable arrangement reasonably acceptable to
each party under which the Buyer shall obtain the benefit of such WM Assumed Permit or ADS Assumed Permit until such WM Assumed
Permit or ADS Assumed Permit is transferred to the Buyer or its Affiliates or an equivalent of such Permit is obtained or secured by the Buyer
or its Affiliates; provided, that each Party shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to effect the transfer of any such Assumed Permit or to
obtain or secure the equivalent of such Permit as promptly as reasonably practicable following the Closing. The provisions of this Section
8.1(c) shall exclusively govern the circumstances described in this this Section 8.1(c), notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement.
(d) In the event that following the Time of Closing, (i) any of the Buyer, the Sellers or any of their respective Affiliates identifies or
discovers any asset that constitutes an Asset (including any WM Hauling Account or ADS Hauling Account) and that was not conveyed to the
Buyer on the Closing Date, whether held by the Sellers or any of their respective Affiliates, the Sellers shall and shall cause their respective
Affiliates to cooperate in good faith with the Buyer to promptly facilitate the conveyance of such Asset (including any such WM Hauling
Account or ADS Hauling Account) to the Buyer and (ii) any of the Buyer, the Sellers or any of their respective Affiliates identifies or
discovers any asset that does not constitute an Asset and that was conveyed to the Buyer (or its Affiliates) on the Closing Date, the Buyer shall
and shall cause its Affiliates to cooperate in good faith with the Sellers to promptly facilitate the conveyance of such wrongfully conveyed

asset to the applicable Seller.
(e) For the avoidance of doubt, this Agreement does not create any obligation on the WM Parent or the ADS Parent to consummate the
Advanced Disposal Merger or take any action to close the Advanced Disposal Merger and neither the WM Parent nor the ADS Parent shall be
deemed in breach or violation of this Agreement or have any liability to the Buyer as a result of any failure of the Advanced Disposal Merger
to be consummated or as a result of the termination of the Advanced Disposal Merger Agreement.
Section 8.2 Treatment of Certain Customer Accounts.
(a) The Sellers and their applicable Affiliates shall retain all right, title and interest in (i) all national accounts of the Sellers and their
Affiliates (collectively, the “National Accounts”) and (ii) all manufacturing and industrial accounts of the Sellers and their Affiliates
(collectively, the “M&I Accounts”), and in each case the Contracts with respect to the same. To the extent that certain services at locations of
any National Account or M&I Account are located on any Divested Routes or are currently serviced by the Business, the Buyer shall continue
to service such locations with respect to such services following the Closing pursuant to a Waste Collection Services Agreement; provided
that, with respect to National Accounts, prior to the Closing the Parties may agree that the Buyer will service any such National Account
locations on Divested Routes pursuant to other mutually agreed terms or processes. Except as provided in this Section 8.2(a), the Buyer shall
have no other rights in such National Accounts or M&I Accounts.
(b) With respect to (i) each multi-location, municipal and bundled service collection account of the Sellers and their Affiliates (other than
those multi-location disposal customer accounts or Contracts addressed by Section 8.2 (c) below) for which certain services are provided at
locations located on any Divested Routes or which are serviced in part by the Business (including for certainty any such accounts where the
customer has suspended service due to coronavirus as of the Closing) (such accounts, the “Straddle Accounts”), and (ii) each Third Party
broker account of the Sellers and their Affiliates which have locations located on any Divested Routes and/or which are serviced in part by the
Business (including for certainty any such accounts where the customer has suspended service due to coronavirus as of the Closing), as listed
on Schedule 8.2(b)(ii), (such accounts, the “Broker Accounts”), in each case, the Parties agree to treat the Straddle Accounts, the Broker
Accounts, the Buyer Assigned Accounts and the Seller Retained Accounts in the manner set forth in Schedule 8.2(b)(i) and Schedule 8.2(b)
(ii), respectively. From and after the Time of Closing, (i) the Buyer shall have all right, title and interest in each Straddle Account which is
assigned to it pursuant to and in accordance with the methodology set forth on Schedule 8.2(b)(i) and to each Broker Account which is
assigned to it pursuant to and in accordance with the methodology set out in Schedule 8.2(b)(ii), respectively (each, a “Buyer Assigned
Account”), and the Contracts with respect to the same, and any services for such Buyer Assigned Account not included in the Business will be
subcontracted to the Sellers pursuant to a Waste Collection Services Agreement, as further described on Schedule 8.2(b)(i) and
Schedule 8.2(b)(ii), and (ii) the Sellers shall retain all right, title and interest in each of the Straddle Accounts and Broker Accounts which is
not a Buyer Assigned Account (each, a “Seller Retained Account”), and the Contracts with respect to the same, and any services for any such
Seller Retained Account serviced by the Business will be subcontracted to the Buyer pursuant to a Waste Collection Services Agreement, as
further described on Schedule 8.2(b)(i) and Schedule 8.2(b)(ii). The Parties will act and work in good faith to effectuate the intent of the
Parties with respect to such Straddle Accounts, Broker Accounts, Buyer Assigned Accounts and Seller Retained Accounts in accordance with,
and to implement the methodology set forth on, Schedule 8.2(b)(i) and Schedule 8.2(b)(ii), in each case in a manner that preserves the same
economic and legal substance of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement to the maximum extent possible, including by entering into
one or more Waste Collection Services Agreements to effectuate the subcontracting arrangements in accordance with the methodology set out
in Schedule 8.2(b)(i) and Schedule 8.2(b)(ii).
(c) With respect to each multi-location disposal Contract listed on Schedule 8.2(c) the Sellers shall, both in the Interim Period and after
Closing, use their commercially reasonable efforts as soon as reasonably practical, (i) to assign to the Buyer or its Affiliate, and the Buyer or
its Affiliate will assume, the rights or obligations of such Contract that relate only to disposal services provided by the Business, the Assets or
the Companies, [***].
(d) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, the WM Parent hereby agrees and covenants to the Buyer that in no event shall the
aggregate revenue (determined net of (i) commodity sales revenue, (ii) fuel surcharges, fees, taxes and other passed through to the ultimate
customer and (iii) adjustments and discounts, and, in any case, determined in accordance with the April 30th Straddle Summary) (“Revenue”)
for the 12 month period ending as of the most recent month end immediately prior to Closing from the services that are subcontracted to the
Buyer pursuant to Section 8.2(b) exceed $[***] (the “ Subcontract Cap”; provided, that if the Parties determine that the Revenue to be
subcontracted to the Buyer pursuant to Section 8.2(b) would reasonably be expected to exceed the Subcontract Cap, the Parties shall negotiate
in good faith to adjust the allocation of customer accounts and the methodologies set forth on Schedule 8.2(b)(i) and Schedule 8.2(b)(ii) in
such manner that the Subcontract Cap shall not be exceeded. .
Section 8.3 Removal of Identification/Permits. As soon as reasonably practicable after the Closing Date, but in any event within (x) six (6)
months after the Closing Date with respect to containers, (y) twelve (12) months after the Closing Date with respect to trucks and (z) ninety
(90) days after the Closing Date with respect to signage and all other (i) Assets that are not trucks or containers and (ii) assets and properties
of the Companies, the Buyer shall remove from the Assets and the other assets and properties of the Companies or otherwise conceal all
visible Trademarks of, or that otherwise identify, the Sellers or any of their Affiliates, or that otherwise include the name “Waste
Management” or “Advanced Disposal” or any variations or derivations thereof (collectively, “Seller Marks”); provided, however, that the
Buyer shall not be required to remove or conceal any Seller Marks from any materials or assets, in each case that are in existence on the
Closing Date and are not typically visible to the public, and the continued appearance of the Seller Marks thereon shall be permitted until such
materials or assets are retired or rebranded in the ordinary course of business. The Buyer also agrees, following the Closing, to use

commercially reasonable efforts to promptly file appropriate documents evidencing the transfer of the WM Assumed Permits and WM
Permits and ADS Assumed Permits and ADS Permits to the Buyer, including any required filing with any Governmental Authority. In
addition, the Buyer also agrees within sixty (60) days following the Closing Date, to submit permit modifications to change the name of any
of the WM Assumed Permits, WM Permits, ADS Assumed Permits or ADS Permits that identify the Sellers or any of their Affiliates, or
otherwise contain any Seller Marks. The Sellers shall use commercially reasonable efforts to cooperate with the Buyer to facilitate such permit
transfers and modifications to the extent necessary. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Buyer may use the Seller Marks solely in (i)
connection with the “phase out” uses permitted by this Section 8.3 and (ii) a non-trademark manner (A) for use in corporate or financial
records, tax or regulatory filings and other similar materials or (B) as may be required under applicable Laws.
Section 8.4 Replacement of Seller Credit Enhancements.
(a) The Buyer agrees to provide at the Time of Closing substitute performance bonds, letters of credit, parent guarantees or other acceptable
financial assurances to the requisite beneficiaries in substitution of those performance bonds, letters of credit, parent guarantees and other
financial assurances of the WM Business and the ADS Business, respectively, as identified in Schedule 2.17 and Schedule 3.17 (the “Seller
Credit Enhancements” and the Buyer’s substitutes for the Seller Credit Enhancements the “Substitute Credit Enhancements”) in order to cause
or procure the release, effective as of the Closing Date, of all liabilities and obligations of the Sellers and their Affiliates under the Seller
Credit Enhancements from and after the Closing Date; provided, however, that in no event will the Buyer or its Affiliates be obligated to
obtain or replace, or secure any such arrangements with respect to, Seller Credit Enhancements to the extent such Seller Credit Enhancements
support obligations that are Excluded Liabilities or otherwise relate to Excluded Assets. If the Buyer is unable to cause or procure the release
of any Seller Credit Enhancement by the Time of Closing as contemplated in this Section 8.4(a), then (i) from and after the Time of Closing,
the Buyer shall continue to use its reasonable best efforts to cause or procure the release under such Seller Credit Enhancement and (ii) the
Buyer shall indemnify and hold harmless such Seller or its relevant Affiliate from any and all amounts required to be paid under or any Losses
otherwise arising out of, relating to or resulting from any such Seller Credit Enhancement with respect to which the Buyer has been unable to
cause or obtain such release. Sellers and their Affiliates shall provide the Buyer with a true copy of each Seller Credit Enhancement (together
with the accurate and current contact information for each counterparty thereto) at least fifteen (15) Business Days prior to the anticipated
Closing Date.
(b) Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, the Buyer acknowledges and agrees that it shall be responsible for satisfying
the creditworthiness standards, policies and requirements of the other parties to the underlying contracts and agreements to which the Seller
Credit Enhancements relate and that any inability of the Buyer to meet such standards, policies or requirements from and after the Closing
shall be the risk of the Buyer.
Section 8.5 Record Retention; Cooperation.
(a) From and after the Closing, each of the Parties and their respective Affiliates shall retain the books, Business Records, documents,
instruments, accounts, correspondence, writings, evidences of title and other papers relating to the Business in their possession or control for
at least seven (7) years following the Closing Date or for such longer period as may be required by Law or any applicable Order, and shall,
and shall cause their respective Affiliates to provide the other Parties and their Affiliates and Representatives reasonable access during regular
business hours to such Business Records (including the right to receive hard or electronic copies thereof), including to the extent necessary to
(i) fully enforce, determine or exercise any rights or obligations in connection with the Advanced Disposal Merger or the Retained Claims, or
(ii) perform any mandatory obligations towards any Governmental Authorities, government-controlled entities, public international
organizations, or non-governmental institutions whose employees are treated because of that status or otherwise as government officials under
applicable Laws.
(b) From and after the Closing, the Buyer shall, and shall cause its Affiliates to, provide such assistance and cooperation, at the Sellers’ cost
and expense, to the Sellers and their respective Affiliates and Representatives as any Seller may reasonably request in relation to any
Proceedings (including any Retained Claims) by or against any Seller or its Affiliates, including by causing any Transferred Employees to be
reasonably available to assist the Sellers and their respective Affiliates and Representatives in connection with any such Proceedings
(including any Retained Claims) . The Sellers shall, and shall cause their respective Affiliates to, provide such assistance and cooperation at
the Buyer’s cost and expense to the Buyer and its Affiliates and Representatives as the Buyer may reasonably request in relation to required
regulatory filings of Buyer or its Affiliates (including securities law filings) in respect of periods ending on or prior to the Closing Date
(including providing such information, including financial information, as is reasonably requested and making extracts and copies of such
Business Records, including reasonable access to customary supporting information, data and documentation necessary for the preparation of
the Buyer’s financial reports), in connection with any Proceedings (including any Retained Claims), or to the extent reasonably necessary or
advisable to operate the Business after the Closing. The respective Parties shall be entitled, at their sole cost and expense, to make copies of
the Business Records to which they are entitled to access pursuant to this Section 8.5. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in
this Section 8.5, in no event shall any Seller be required to prepare any balance sheet, cash flow statement, income statement or statement of
stockholders’ equity with regard to the Business, the Assets, the Companies or the Assumed Liabilities, whether prior to or following the
Time of Closing.
(c) The Sellers and their Affiliates shall use commercially reasonable efforts to cause the Asset Books and Records and the books and
records of the Companies, including all books of account, ledgers, general, Tax, financial and accounting records, files, invoices, customers’
and suppliers’ lists, equipment hours and maintenance, personnel records related to the Transferred Employees (to the extent transferable in
accordance with Law), billing records, manuals, customer and supplier correspondence, Governmental Authority correspondence, permits,

and other records (in all cases, in any form or medium, including electronic communications) to be available to the Buyer or its designee in a
mutually agreeable format, on the Closing Date. Without limiting any obligations of the Sellers or their Affiliates under the Seller TSA, if the
Sellers are unable to cause any such books, records, documents and information to be made available to the Buyer or its designee in a
mutually agreeable format on the Closing Date as contemplated in this Section 8.5(c), then from and after the Time of Closing, the Sellers and
their Affiliates shall continue to use their respective commercially reasonable efforts to cause such books, records, documents and information
to be made available to the Buyer or its designee in a mutually agreeable format as soon as reasonably practicable following the Closing Date
(but in no event later than the Business Day following the date of the termination of the Seller TSA pursuant to and in accordance with its
terms).
(d) Without limiting Section 8.5(c), the Sellers and their Affiliates shall use commercially reasonable efforts to deliver to the Buyer copies of
all documents, work product and other written items of information produced or created (or to be produced or created) by in-house employees
with respect to legal or environmental matters or outside attorneys, experts or consultants (including environmental consultants), in each case
for the benefit of the Sellers and their Affiliates with respect to the Companies, the Assets or the Assumed Liabilities, subject to Sellers’ and
their Affiliates’ right to withhold or redact those portions of the foregoing that do not relate to the Companies, the Assets or the Assumed
Liabilities (such documents and items of information, the “Shared Work Product”), in each case which is within the possession or control of
the Sellers or their Affiliates, on the Closing Date; provided, that if the provision of any Shared Work Product requires the consent of any
outside attorneys, experts or consultants or other person, then (x) without limiting their rights pursuant to the last sentence of this Section
8.5(d), the Sellers (and their Affiliates) shall use their commercially reasonable efforts to obtain such consent and (y) such Shared Work
Product shall not be provided unless and until such consent has been obtained; provided, further, that if the Sellers and their Affiliates are
unable to deliver the foregoing to the Buyer on the Closing Date, the Sellers and their Affiliates shall continue to use their respective
commercially reasonable efforts to cause such Shared Work Product to be made available to the Buyer or its designee in a mutually agreeable
format as soon as reasonably practicable following the Closing Date (but in no event later than the Business Day following the date of the
termination of the Seller TSA pursuant to and in accordance with its terms). The Sellers and the Buyer agree that they share a common interest
in defending the claims asserted in connection with the Assumed Liabilities and that it is in their mutual best interests to be able to share
confidential, privileged or work product materials in the course of investigating, preparing defenses, defending and developing strategies on a
joint basis without waiver of any applicable privilege, immunity or other protection. The Sellers and their Affiliates, on the one hand, and the
Buyer and its Affiliates, on the other hand, shall (i) have equal rights to assert all privileges in connection with privileged information under
any Law that is included in the Shared Work Product and no such shared privilege may be waived without the prior written consent of the
WM Parent and the Buyer and (ii) enter into such joint defense agreements or similar arrangements as are necessary or advisable to give effect
to this Section 8.5(d). Upon the Buyer’s written request, the Sellers shall, and shall cause their Affiliates to, (A) to identify and reasonably
cooperate in Buyer’s efforts to engage the outside attorneys, experts or consultants involved in the preparation of the Shared Work Product
and (B) other than in respect of any Retained Claim, waive any actual or potential conflict of interest arising from Buyer’s engagement of such
attorneys, experts or consultants for the purposes of such attorneys, experts or consultants providing the Buyer with services with respect to
the Liabilities of the Companies or the Assumed Liabilities for which such attorneys, experts or consultants have previously provided work to
the Sellers or their Affiliates prior to the Time of Closing (except any such waiver may expressly provide that no such attorney, expert or
consultant may provide advice with respect to, or otherwise participate in, any litigation or other adverse proceeding against the Sellers or
their Affiliates) and promptly notify the applicable attorney, expert or consultant of such waiver. The Sellers agree that as to any Shared Work
Product not within the possession or control of the Sellers or their respective Affiliates, but rather within the possession or control of the
applicable attorney, expert or consultant, following the Closing the Sellers will cooperate with the Buyer, upon the written request of the
Buyer, in requesting the delivery of such Shared Work Product to the Buyer, subject to the third sentence of this Section 8.5(d). In no event
shall any of the Sellers or their Affiliates be obligated to expend any sum of money (other than de minimis administrative costs or expenses
incurred by the Sellers or their Affiliates) or agree to any concession with any Person in connection with the foregoing, unless all of such costs
and expenses (including any costs and expenses related to any such concession), if any, will be borne exclusively by the Buyer.
Section 8.6 Wrong-Pockets. If any of the Sellers receives any payment with respect to any Asset after the Closing (which such payments
shall not include payments with respect to WM Accounts Receivable, WM Unearned Revenue Amount, ADS Accounts Receivable or ADS
Unearned Revenue Amount, but which shall include any other amount received after the Closing Date from customers with respect to the
Assumed Contracts or Other Business Arrangements for services to be provided by the Buyer on or after the Closing Date) WM Parent agrees
to cause such funds to be promptly remitted to the Buyer to the extent related to such Asset, and the Buyer shall reimburse such WM Parent or
its Subsidiaries, as applicable, for its reasonable third-party expenses incurred in connection therewith. If the Buyer or any Affiliate of the
Buyer (including, for the avoidance of doubt, the Companies) receives any payment with respect to any of the WM Excluded Assets or ADS
Excluded Assets after the Closing, the Buyer agrees to promptly remit (or cause to be promptly remitted) such funds to the WM Parent to the
extent related to such WM Excluded Asset or ADS Excluded Asset, and the WM Parent shall cause the Buyer to be reimbursed for its
reasonable third-party expenses incurred in connection therewith.
Section 8.7 Insurance.
(a) Except as otherwise provided in this Section 8.7, the Buyer acknowledges and agrees that (i) coverage for the Business, the Companies,
the Assets and the Assumed Liabilities under the insurance policies of the Sellers or their respective Affiliates or by any of their self-insurance
programs or other similar arrangements (the “Seller Insurance”) will no longer exist from and after the Closing including with respect to
claims arising from events that occur or are alleged to have occurred prior to the Closing Date (“Pre-Closing Occurrences”), (ii) the Sellers
will not purchase any “tail” policy or other additional or substitute coverage for the benefit of the Buyer, (iii) subject to the last sentence of
this Section 8.7(a), the Sellers shall retain any proceeds that may be obtained under any Seller Insurance and the Buyer shall have no right to
receive any such proceeds and (iv) Buyer will arrange for its own insurance policies (including self-insurance or similar arrangements) with

respect to the Business, the Companies, the Assets and the Assumed Liabilities, including, to the extent available, with respect to events that
occur or are alleged to have occurred prior to the Closing Date. In the event that, following the Closing, the Buyer or its Affiliates have a
claim with respect to a Pre-Closing Occurrence that is in respect of an Excluded Liability, the Buyer shall promptly notify the Sellers of such
claim and the Seller shall address such claim and it shall constitute an Excluded Liability for purposes of this Agreement. During the Interim
Period (and, with respect to occurrence-based Seller Insurance, following the Closing), the WM Parent shall take no action (and shall cause its
Affiliates not to take any action) to (i) exclude or remove the Companies, the Assets or the Assumed Liabilities from coverage that may be
available under any Seller Insurance with respect to Pre-Closing Occurrences, (ii) terminate or cancel any such Seller Insurance or (iii) amend
or modify any such Seller Insurance in any manner that would (or take any other action that would) reasonably be expected to materially and
adversely impact the availability of recoverable proceeds under any such Seller Insurance; provided, that the foregoing shall not limit the
ability of the WM Parent and its Affiliates to make claims under any Seller Insurance for their own account. In the event that, following the
Closing, the Buyer or its Affiliates have a claim with respect to a Pre-Closing Occurrence for the repair, restoration or replacement of an Asset
or any asset or property then owned by the Companies that was conveyed to the Buyer pursuant to this Agreement in a condition that required
such repair, restoration or replacement that is covered by any occurrence based Seller Insurance, the Buyer shall promptly notify the Sellers of
such claim and the Sellers shall, and shall cause their applicable Affiliates, to submit such claim and to the extent that the Sellers or their
respective Affiliates receive any proceeds pursuant to Seller Insurance in respect of any such claim, such proceeds (net of any costs associated
with obtaining such proceeds) shall promptly be remitted to Buyer.
(b) [***]
(c) During the Interim Period, the Sellers shall (and shall cause their Affiliates to) use their commercially reasonable efforts to extend
(effective as of the Closing) the reporting period under the Sellers’ current Pollution Legal Liability Policy with Markel with respect to the
Assets and the Companies covered by such policy as of the Closing Date for at least five (5) years after the Closing Date (the “Extended
Policy”), which shall be for the benefit of the Buyer from and after the Closing; provided further that in no event shall any Seller or any its
Affiliates be required to expend in excess of $300,000 in premium and broker commission (the “Cap”) to obtain the Extended Policy, unless
the Buyer agrees to reimburse such Seller or such Affiliate for any premium and broker commission with respect thereto in excess of the Cap.
In the event that following the Closing, the Buyer or any of its Affiliates becomes subject to any Proceeding (other than Retained Claims)
arising out of, resulting from or related to, any conditions, facts or circumstance underlying any Retained Existing Claim (each such
Proceeding, a “Related Claim”), the Buyer shall have the right (but not the obligation) to submit such Related Claim to the WM Parent and
request the WM Parent (or any of its Affiliates) to submit such Related Claim to the applicable insurance carrier to be processed, defended or
denied pursuant to any claims made Seller Insurance, including the Extended Policy. To the extent coverage for any such Related Claim is
available under any Seller Insurance, the WM Parent shall, and shall cause its applicable Affiliates to, cooperate with the Buyer in the pursuit
of recovery thereunder for any such Related Claim, and recover and provide the Buyer or its Affiliates with all insurance proceeds recovered
by Seller or its Affiliates in respect of such Related Claim; provided that the Buyer shall be solely responsible for any deductibles and any
Losses relating to any Related Claim that are uncollectible under such Seller Insurance (including legal fees and any amounts in excess of any
applicable policy limits); provided, further that Buyer shall be solely responsible for any Losses related to any Related Claim for which no
coverage is available under any Seller Insurance. The penultimate sentence of Section 8.7(b) shall apply mutatis mutandis to any settlement,
compromise or discharge of any Related Claim.
Section 8.8 Confidentiality.
(a) From the Time of Closing until two (2) years after the Time of Closing, each of the Parties shall and shall cause their respective
Subsidiaries (including, with respect to the Buyer following the Closing, the Companies) to hold in conଁddence and not disclose to any other
Person or use any and all conଁddential information, conଁddential materials or conଁddential data provided or disclosed to such Party or its
Representatives by or on behalf of any other Party or its Affiliates in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement
concerning, (i) in the case of the Sellers, the Business, and (ii) in the case of the Buyer, the Sellers or their Affiliates and their respective
businesses, other than the Business (the “Seller Information”), except to the extent that such information, materials or data can be shown to
have been (x) generally available to or known by the public other than as a result of a disclosure or other action (or failure to act) through no
fault of the receiving Party or its Representatives acting on its behalf, (y) acquired by the receiving Party or its Representatives from and after
the Closing Date on a non-conଁddential basis (other than, with respect to the Sellers, received from sources related to its or their prior
ownership of the Companies or Assets) or (z) independently created by or on behalf of the receiving Party from and after the Closing without
reference to any conଁddential information, conଁddential materials or conଁddential data concerning the Business, or the Seller Information, as
applicable.
(b) If any of the Parties or their respective Ailiates are required by Law or applicable rules and regulations of the New York Stock
Exchange or the Toronto Stock Exchange to disclose any such conଁddential information, conଁddential materials or conଁddential data, the
Parties shall, or shall cause such Ailiate, to the extent permitted by applicable Law, promptly notify the Buyer, in the case of the Sellers, or
the WM Parent, in the case of the Buyer, in writing and may disclose, without liability hereunder, only that portion of such information,
materials or data which such Party or such Affiliate is advised by its counsel is legally required to be disclosed; provided, however, that such
Party or its applicable Ailiate shall use commercially reasonable eorts to obtain an appropriate protective order or other reasonable
assurance that conଁddential treatment will be accorded such information, materials or data, as applicable.
(c) Nothing in this Section 8.8 shall prohibit (i) the use by any of the Sellers and any of their Ailiates of information, materials or data
concerning the Business that, as of the Closing Date, was, in addition to being used in connection with the Business, also used by such Seller
or such Affiliate in connection with their respective businesses other than the Business or (ii) any disclosure by any Party reasonably made in

connection with the enforcement of any right or remedy relating to any of the Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby.
Section 8.9 Transfer Formalities and Costs.
(a) All registration, filing and other formalities relating to or required for the transfer of the Assets shall be the sole responsibility of the
Buyer, and the Buyer shall pay all costs and expenses in connection thereto.
(b) At least ten (10) days prior to the anticipated Closing Date, the Sellers shall deliver to the Buyer a true and complete list of all title and
registration information (including information as to make, model, VIN number, registration state, associated location and in-service date)
with respect to each licensed vehicle included in the Assets. Within ten (10) days after the Closing Date, the Sellers shall deliver to the Buyer
the original versions of all title and registration information and documentation in the possession of the Sellers and their Affiliates in respect
of such vehicles via a nationally recognized overnight delivery service to the address designated by the Buyer in writing. The Sellers and their
Affiliates, as applicable, shall keep valid registrations in respect of each licensed vehicle included in the Assets for a period of forty-five (45)
days from the date such original documents are delivered to the Buyer pursuant to the immediately preceding sentence of this Section 8.9(b).
The Buyer shall promptly reimburse the Sellers and their Affiliates for any registration or other fees incurred by the Sellers or its Affiliates in
maintaining such registrations pursuant to the immediately preceding sentence of this Section 8.9(b).
Section 8.10 Indemnification.
(a) From and after the Closing Date, the Buyer agrees that it will indemnify, defend, protect and hold harmless the Sellers and their
respective directors, officers, employees, stockholders and its and their respective Affiliates (collectively, the “Seller Indemnified Parties”)
from and against all Losses arising out of, relating to or resulting from the Assumed Liabilities or the Companies, including the ownership and
operation thereof (excluding any Losses arising out of, relating to or resulting from (x) Taxes that are the responsibility of the WM Parent
pursuant to Section 7.2(b) and (y) any Retained Claim, to the extent such Losses are the responsibility of the WM Parent pursuant to
Section 8.7), in each case whether arising before, on or after the Closing and irrespective of whether such Losses attach or accrue to the
Buyer, any Seller or any Company in the first instance.
(b) From and after the Closing Date, the WM Parent agrees that it will indemnify, defend, protect and hold harmless the Buyer and its
directors, officers, employees, stockholders and its and their Affiliates (including, following the Closing, the Companies) (collectively, the
“Buyer Indemnified Parties”) from and against all Losses arising out of, relating to or resulting from (i) the Excluded Liabilities, or (ii) any
“controlled group” Liabilities arising under Title IV of ERISA imposed upon a WM Company or ADS Company, to the extent that such
Liabilities are attributable to the pre-Closing “ERISA Affiliate” status of any such WM Company or ADS Company as a result of Liabilities
incurred by another member of the “controlled group”, in each case, whether arising before, on or after the Closing and irrespective of
whether such Losses attach or accrue to the Buyer, any Seller or any Company in the first instance.
Section 8.11 Independent Investigation. The Buyer has conducted its own independent investigation of the Companies, the Assets, the
Assumed Liabilities, the Business and any related liabilities. The Buyer acknowledges that it has had access to the Assets, the Companies and
their Affiliates’ personnel and to any and all permit documents and information and other documents and information that the Buyer has
requested or otherwise determined is necessary as part of the Buyer’s due diligence review of the Companies, the Assets, the Assumed
Liabilities, the Business and any related liabilities. The Buyer has been provided all information and documentation it has requested and has
received answers to all questions asked of the Companies and their Affiliates’ personnel. THE BUYER ACKNOWLEDGES THAT, EXCEPT
AS OTHERWISE EXPRESSLY SET FORTH HEREIN, INCLUDING THE REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES IN ARTICLE II
AND ARTICLE III (IN EACH CASE, AS MODIFIED BY THE SCHEDULES), IN ANY OTHER TRANSACTION AGREEMENT OR IN
ANY CERTIFICATE DELIVERED PURSUANT HERETO OR THERETO, ALL PERSONAL PROPERTY, INVENTORY, EQUIPMENT,
FIXTURES, PROPERTIES AND ASSETS DELIVERED PURSUANT HERETO ARE DELIVERED “AS IS,” “WHERE IS,” “WITH ALL
FAULTS” AND IN THE CONDITION IN WHICH THE SAME EXIST. EXCEPT AS OTHERWISE EXPRESSLY SET FORTH HEREIN
INCLUDING THE REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES IN ARTICLE II AND ARTICLE III (IN EACH CASE, AS MODIFIED
BY THE SCHEDULES), THE SELLERS HAVE NOT MADE, AND THE SELLERS HEREBY EXPRESSLY DISCLAIM AND NEGATE,
ANY REPRESENTATION OR WARRANTY, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, OF ANY KIND OR NATURE WHATSOEVER, RELATING TO
THE KIND, SIZE, QUALITY, DESCRIPTION OR CONDITION OF THE PERSONAL PROPERTY, INVENTORY, EQUIPMENT,
FIXTURES, PROPERTIES AND ASSETS OF THE COMPANIES OR THAT PERTAIN TO THE ASSETS (INCLUDING ANY IMPLIED
OR EXPRESSED WARRANTY OF MERCHANTABILITY OR FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE) OR THE ABSENCE OF
ANY DEFECTS IN ANY OF THE REAL OR PERSONAL PROPERTY, INVENTORY, EQUIPMENT, FIXTURES, PROPERTIES OR
ASSETS OF THE COMPANIES OR THE ASSETS (WHETHER LATENT OR PATENT). WITHOUT LIMITING ANY OBLIGATIONS
OF THE SELLERS OR THEIR AFFILIATES UNDER THE SELLER TSA OR THE PARTIES UNDER SECTION 8.1(B), THE BUYER (I)
ACKNOWLEDGES THAT PERMITS ARE REQUIRED FOR THE COMPANIES AND THE ASSET SELLERS TO OWN AND
OPERATE CERTAIN OF THEIR ASSETS, AND THAT THE SALE AND TRANSFER OF THE EQUITY INTERESTS AND THE
OTHER TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY MAY REQUIRE THIRD PARTY CONSENTS TO BE OBTAINED UNDER
THE APPLICABLE PERMITS, (II) ASSUMES ALL RISK AND LIABILITY ASSOCIATED WITH OBTAINMENT OF ANY
CONSENTS REQUIRED OR NECESSARY TO OPERATE THE ASSETS AND CONDUCT THE BUSINESS AND (III)
UNDERSTANDS AND ACKNOWLEDGES THAT SUCH CONSENTS MAY BE GRANTED SUBJECT TO CERTAIN CONDITIONS
OR UNDER DIFFERENT OR LESS FAVORABLE TERMS THAN THE CONDITIONS AND TERMS APPLICABLE TO THE PERMITS
CURRENTLY HELD BY THE COMPANIES OR THE ASSET SELLERS AND THE BUYER ASSUMES THE RISK OF SUCH
DIFFERENT OR LESS FAVORABLE CONDITIONS OR TERMS. FROM AND AFTER THE CLOSING, TO THE FULLEST EXTENT

PERMITTED UNDER APPLICABLE LAW, THE BUYER WAIVES (ON BEHALF OF ITSELF AND ITS AFFILIATES (INCLUDING
THE COMPANIES)) ANY AND ALL RIGHTS, CLAIMS AND CAUSES OF ACTION IT MAY HAVE AGAINST ANY SELLER
INDEMNIFIED PARTY, AND AGREES NO RECOURSE SHALL BE SOUGHT OR GRANTED AGAINST ANY OF THEM,
RELATING TO THE ASSUMED LIABILITIES OR THE COMPANIES, INCLUDING THE OWNERSHIP AND OPERATION
THEREOF, IN EACH CASE WHETHER ARISING BEFORE, ON OR AFTER THE CLOSING OR RELATING TO THE SUBJECT
MATTER OF THIS AGREEMENT (INCLUDING THE REPRESENTATIONS, WARRANTIES AND COVENANTS CONTAINED
HEREIN, THE SCHEDULES AND EXHIBITS HERETO AND ANY CERTIFICATE, INSTRUMENT, OR OTHER DOCUMENTS
DELIVERED IN CONNECTION HEREWITH) AND THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY, WHETHER ARISING
UNDER OR BASED UPON ANY FEDERAL, STATE, LOCAL OR FOREIGN STATUTE, LAW, ORDINANCE, RULE OR
REGULATION OR OTHERWISE (INCLUDING ANY RIGHT, WHETHER ARISING AT LAW OR IN EQUITY, TO SEEK
INDEMNIFICATION, CONTRIBUTION, COST RECOVERY, DAMAGES, OR ANY OTHER RECOURSE OR REMEDY, INCLUDING
AS MAY ARISE UNDER COMMON LAW). FURTHERMORE, FROM AND AFTER THE CLOSING, WITHOUT LIMITING THE
GENERALITY OF THIS SECTION 8.11, EXCEPT TO THE EXTENT PROVIDED UNDER ANY EXPRESS COVENANT OR
OBLIGATION IN THIS AGREEMENT OR IN ANY OTHER TRANSACTION AGREEMENT, NO ACTION, CAUSE OF ACTION,
CLAIM, CROSS-CLAIM OR THIRD-PARTY CLAIM OR LEGAL PROCEEDING OF ANY KIND (WHETHER AT LAW, IN EQUITY,
IN CONTRACT, IN TORT OR OTHERWISE) SHALL BE BROUGHT OR MAINTAINED BY THE BUYER OR ANY OF ITS
AFFILIATES (INCLUDING, AFTER THE CLOSING, THE COMPANIES) AGAINST ANY SELLER INDEMNIFIED PARTY, AND NO
RECOURSE SHALL BE SOUGHT OR GRANTED AGAINST ANY OF THEM, BY VIRTUE OF OR BASED UPON (I) ANY ALLEGED
MISREPRESENTATION OR INACCURACY IN OR BREACH OF ANY OF THE REPRESENTATIONS, WARRANTIES OR
COVENANTS TO HAVE BEEN PERFORMED PRIOR TO THE CLOSING SET FORTH OR CONTAINED IN THIS AGREEMENT,
ANY CERTIFICATE, INSTRUMENT, OR OTHER DOCUMENTS DELIVERED HEREUNDER, THE EXHIBITS AND SCHEDULES
HERETO OR THE SUBJECT MATTER HEREOF OR THEREOF, OR (II) THE ASSUMED LIABILITIES, THE BUSINESS OF THE
COMPANIES, THE OWNERSHIP, OPERATION, MANAGEMENT, USE OR CONTROL OF THE COMPANIES, THE ASSETS OR THE
BUSINESS OF THE COMPANIES, ANY OF THEIR ASSETS, ANY OF THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY OR ANY
ACTIONS OR OMISSIONS AT OR PRIOR TO THE CLOSING DATE. THE PARTIES AGREE AND UNDERSTAND THAT NOTHING
IN THIS AGREEMENT, INCLUDING THIS SECTION 8.11, SHALL LIMIT ANY CLAIMS FOR FRAUD.
Section 8.12 Restrictive Covenants; Notice of Restrictive Covenants.
(a) The WM Parent hereby agrees that, until the second (2nd) anniversary of the Closing Date (such period, the “Restricted Period”), the
WM Parent shall not, and shall cause its Subsidiaries not to, directly or indirectly, without the Buyer’s prior written consent, solicit any of the
WM Hauling Accounts, the ADS Hauling Accounts or the Buyer Assigned Accounts (collectively, the “Restricted Customers”) for the
provision of services that were provided to such accounts by the Sellers prior to the Closing that will be provided by the Buyer following the
Closing (collectively, the “Restricted Services”); provided, however, that the foregoing solicitation restriction shall not (w) prohibit
solicitation by the WM Parent or any of its Subsidiaries via broadly disseminated advertisements of services not specifically directed at such
Restricted Customers, (x) prohibit the WM Parent or any of its Subsidiaries from providing Restricted Services to Restricted Customers who
contact the WM Parent on their own initiative requesting the provision of Restricted Services without any encouragement or solicitation from
the WM Parent or its Subsidiaries or its or their Representatives acting on their behalf, (y) restrict the ability of the WM Parent or any of its
Subsidiaries from providing, or soliciting to provide, any services to Restricted Customers other than Restricted Services or (z) restrict the
ability of the WM Parent or any of its Subsidiaries to acquire any Person or assets that provide Restricted Services to Restricted Customers
and thereafter continuing to provide such Restricted Services.
(b) The WM Parent hereby agrees that during the Restricted Period, WM Parent shall not, and shall cause its Subsidiaries not to, directly or
indirectly, without the Buyer’s prior written consent, solicit for hire or engagement, or hire or engage, any Transferred Employee; provided,
however, that the foregoing solicitation restriction shall not prohibit the WM Parent or its Subsidiaries from soliciting for hiring or
engagement or hiring or engaging any Transferred Employee (i) pursuant to broadly disseminated general advertisements for employment not
specifically directed at Transferred Employees or (ii) whose employment with the Buyer or its Subsidiaries is terminated after the Closing and
at least three (3) months prior to date of hire without any direct or indirect encouragement or solicitation from the WM Parent or its
Subsidiaries or its or their Representatives acting on their behalf.
(c) WM Parent acknowledges and agrees that irreparable damage would occur in the event of a violation of the provisions of this Section
8.12. WM Parent further acknowledges and agrees that the agreements contained in this Section 8.12 are an integral part of the transactions
contemplated hereby and that, without these agreements, the Buyer would not enter into this Agreement. If, at the time of enforcement of the
covenants contained in this Section 8.12 (the “ Restrictive Covenants”), a court or arbitrator shall hold that the duration of the Restricted
Period, scope or area restrictions of the Restrictive Covenants are unreasonable or otherwise unenforceable under circumstances then existing,
the WM Parent agrees that such court or arbitrator shall be entitled to amend and substitute the Restricted Period, scope or area as it
determines is enforceable under such circumstances for the stated duration, scope or area in the Restrictive Covenants and that, in such case,
the court or arbitrator shall be allowed and directed to revise the Restrictive Covenants to cover the maximum period, scope and area
permitted by Law.
(d) The Sellers shall notify all relevant personnel of the Sellers and their Affiliates of the restrictions set forth in Section 8.12(a), including
the restriction on encouraging or soliciting any Restricted Customer to request the provision of the Restricted Services by the WM Parent or
its Subsidiaries, and shall direct such personnel to abide by such restrictions.

(e) Each Seller, on behalf of itself and its Affiliates, hereby waives any rights it may have following the Time of Closing to enforce any
noncompetition, restrictive covenant or other similar obligations of any Transferred Employee in respect of such Transferred Employee’s
employment with, or ability to provide services to, the Buyer or any of its Affiliates following the Time of Closing.
Section 8.13 Data Room CD. At least one (1) Business Day prior to the Closing, the Sellers shall deliver to the Buyer a compact disc (or
other mutually agreeable electronic format) containing copies of all the documents contained in the Data Room as of the Execution Date.
Section 8.14 TSA Services. The Sellers shall notify all relevant personnel of the Sellers and their Affiliates of the services to be provided to
the Business pursuant to the Seller TSA and the Sellers shall, and shall ensure that their relevant personnel, (i) not take any actions that would
result in the inability to deliver the Assets and the assets of the Companies to the Buyer in working condition, (ii) not remove from the
Companies and their properties or any location included in the Assets any of the Sellers’ or their Affiliates assets that are related to the
services to be provided to the Buyer in accordance to the Seller TSA, and (iii) be in a position to provide the services set forth in the Seller
TSA in accordance with the terms of the Seller TSA. During the Interim Period, WM Parent and the Buyer will negotiate in good faith to
mutually agree on a form of letter to be sent by the applicable Sellers to those customers of the Business contemplated to be transferred,
assigned to or serviced by the Buyer or its Affiliates following the Time of Closing pursuant to this Agreement or the other Transaction
Agreements notifying such customers of the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby, which letter shall be sent by such Sellers
to such customers as soon as reasonably practicable after the Time of Closing but in no event more than five (5) Business Days after the
Closing Date.
ARTICLE IX
TERMINATION; WAIVER
Section 9.1 Termination. This Agreement may be terminated and the transactions contemplated hereby may be abandoned at any time prior
to the Time of Closing:
(a) by mutual written consent executed by each of the Parties;
(b) by the Buyer, upon written notice to the WM Parent and the ADS Parent, if there is an inaccuracy or breach of any representation,
warranty, covenant or agreement of the Sellers set forth in this Agreement which breach has not been cured within thirty (30) days following
receipt by the WM Parent and the ADS Parent of written notice of such breach and which breach results in or would reasonably be expected to
result in the conditions specified in Section 6.2(a) and (b) to not be satisfied; provided, that this right of termination shall not be available to
the Buyer if the Buyer is in material breach of any of its representations, warranties, covenants or agreements contained in this Agreement;
(c) by the WM Parent, upon written notice to the Buyer, if there is an inaccuracy or breach of any representation, warranty, covenant or
agreement of the Buyer set forth in this Agreement which breach has not been cured within thirty (30) days following receipt by the Buyer of
written notice of such breach and which breach results in or would reasonably be expected to result in the conditions specified in Section
6.3(a) and (b) to not be satisfied; provided, that this right of termination shall not be available to the WM Parent if the WM Parent or the ADS
Parent is in material breach of any of its respective representations, warranties, covenants or agreements contained in this Agreement;
(d) by the Buyer (on the one hand) or the WM Parent (on the other hand), if the Closing shall not have occurred, other than due to the breach
of any provision of this Agreement by the Party seeking termination, on or before December 4, 2020 (the “End Date”);
(e) by the Buyer (on the one hand) or the WM Parent (on the other hand) if any Governmental Authority shall have enacted, issued,
promulgated, enforced or entered any law, regulation or Order that is in effect and has the effect of making the consummation of the
transactions contemplated hereby illegal or otherwise prohibiting consummation of such transactions and such law, regulation or Order is or
shall have become final and non-appealable, including if the staff of the DOJ has informed the Parties that under no circumstances will it
recommend approval of the transactions contemplated hereby or pursuant to the Advanced Disposal Merger, or if the DOJ withdraws or
retracts such recommendation (including any proposed final judgment filed in court in connection with the Advanced Disposal Merger), and
informs the Sellers it will not re-recommend such approval; or
(f) by the Buyer, the WM Parent or the ADS Parent, if the Advanced Disposal Merger Agreement has been validly terminated.
Section 9.2 Effect of Termination. In the event of the termination of this Agreement pursuant to Section 9.1 hereof, this Agreement shall
thereafter be of no further force and effect, without any liability on the part of any Party or its managers, directors, officers, members or
stockholders; provided, however, that nothing contained in this Section 9.2 shall relieve any Party from liability for any willful breach of this
Agreement by such Party occurring prior to such termination; provided, further, that Section 5.3(d), Section 5.3(e), the first sentence of
Section 5.6(b), this Section 9.2, the provisions of Article X and the related defined terms set forth in Exhibit A, and the Confidentiality
Agreement shall survive the termination hereof (and in the case of the Confidentiality Agreement shall survive as if this Agreement had not
been entered into by the Parties).
Section 9.3 Extension; Waiver. At any time prior to the Time of Closing, the Parties may (i) extend the time for the performance of any of
the obligations or other acts of the other Parties or (ii) waive any inaccuracies in the representations and warranties contained herein or in any
document, certificate or writing delivered pursuant hereto. Any agreement on the part of any Party to any such extension or waiver shall be
valid only if set forth in an instrument in writing signed on behalf of such Party.

ARTICLE X
MISCELLANEOUS
Section 10.1 Survival; Recourse.
(a) The representations and warranties set forth in this Agreement (and in any certificate, document or instrument delivered in connection
with this Agreement) will terminate effective as of Closing and will not, for any purpose, survive the Closing. Following the Closing, no
Person will be entitled to any recovery or to make any claim whatsoever (including any claim of detrimental reliance or breach of contract or
otherwise) or to assert any other right or remedy (whether in contract, in tort, at law, in equity or otherwise), in each case in respect of any
inaccuracy or breach thereof against any Party or any of their respective Affiliates. The covenants and agreements requiring performance prior
to Closing will terminate effective as of the Closing and will not for any purpose survive Closing and the other covenants and agreements set
forth herein will survive the Closing in accordance with their respective terms. The Parties expressly intend that the foregoing alter any
applicable statutes of limitation. Buyer (for itself and on behalf of its Affiliates) hereby acknowledge and agree that these limitations on
liability were expressly bargained for and are a material inducement for WM Parent (on behalf of the WM Sellers) and ADS Parent (on behalf
of the ADS Sellers) to enter into this Agreement and consummate the transactions contemplated hereby and in furtherance hereof each Party
hereby knowingly, voluntarily and irrevocably waive any and all rights and remedies to which they would otherwise be entitled (whether in
contract, in tort, at law, in equity or otherwise) in respect of any such inaccuracy, breach, non-performance or non-compliance that such Party
may have against the other Parties or any of their Affiliates. The Parties agree and understand that nothing in this Agreement, including this
Section 10.1(a) shall limit any claims for Fraud.
(b) Except in the case of Fraud, from and after the Closing, Buyer and its Affiliates’ sole recourse and remedy for any breaches of any
representation or warranty or pre-closing covenant contained in this Agreement (or any certificate, document or instrument delivered in
connection with this Agreement) shall be the R&W Insurance Policy.
Section 10.2 Amendment and Modification. Except as provided otherwise in this Agreement, this Agreement may be amended, modified or
supplemented only by written agreement of the Parties.
Section 10.3 Waiver of Compliance; Consents. Any failure on the part of the Buyer on the one hand, or any of the Sellers, on the other hand,
to comply with any obligation, covenant, agreement or condition herein may be waived by WM Parent or the Buyer, respectively, only by a
written instrument signed by the party granting such waiver, but such waiver or failure to insist upon strict compliance with such obligation,
covenant, agreement or condition shall not operate as a waiver of, or estoppel with respect to, any subsequent or other failure. Whenever this
Agreement requires or permits consent by or on behalf of any party hereto, such consent shall be given in writing in a manner consistent with
the requirements for a waiver of compliance as set forth in this Section 10.3.
Section 10.4 Notices. All notices and other communications hereunder shall be in writing and shall be deemed given if delivered in person,
by a nationally recognized overnight delivery service, or by registered or certified mail (postage prepaid, return receipt requested) to the other
party at the following addresses (or at such other address for a party as shall be specified by like notice; provided that notices of a change of
address shall be effective only upon receipt thereof):
(a) if to any WM Seller or, following the closing of the Advanced Disposal Merger, any ADS Seller, to:
Waste Management, Inc.
1001 Fannin Street
Houston, TX 77002
Attention: John J. Morris, Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer
E-Mail: JMorris@wm.com
with a required copy to:
Waste Management, Inc.
1001 Fannin Street
Houston, TX 77002
Attention: General Counsel
E-Mail: gclegal@wm.com
with a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:
Simpson Thacher & Bartlett LLP
425 Lexington Avenue
New York, NY 10017
Attention: Alan M. Klein
Facsimile: (212) 455-2502
E-Mail: aklein@stblaw.com
and

Simpson Thacher & Bartlett LLP
600 Travis Street, Suite 5400
Houston, TX 77002
Attention: Christopher R. May
Facsimile: (713) 821-5602
E-Mail: cmay@stblaw.com
and
Vedder Price P.C.
1401 I Street NW Suite 1100
Washington, District of Columbia 2005
Attention: Brian K. McCalmon
E-Mail: bmccalmon@vedderprice.com
(b) if to any ADS Seller prior to the closing of the Advanced Disposal Merger, to:
Advanced Disposal Services, Inc.
90 Fort Wade Rd., Suite 200
Ponte Vedra Beach, FL 32081
Attention: Richard Burke and Michael K. Slattery
E-Mail: Richard.Burke@AdvancedDisposal.com; Michael.Slattery@AdvancedDiposal.com
with a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:
Shearman & Sterling LLP
599 Lexington Avenue
New York, NY 10022
Attention: Scott Petepiece and Daniel Litowitz
Facsimile: (212) 848-7179
E-Mail: SPetepiece@Shearman.com; Daniel.Litowitz@Shearman.com
and
Mayer Brown LLP
1999 K Street, N.W.
Washington, D.C. 20006-1101
Attention: Mark W. Ryan and William H. Stallings
Facsimile: (202) 830-0328
E-Mail: mryan@mayerbrown.com; wstallings@mayerbrown.com
(c) if to the Buyer or Buyer Guarantor, to:
GFL Environmental Inc.
135 Yorkville Ave, Suite 800
Toronto, ON, M5R 0C7100
Attention: Patrick Dovigi
Facsimile: +1 (416) 673-9380
Email: pdovigi@gflenv.com
with a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:
Latham & Watkins LLP
885 Third Avenue
New York, New York 10022
Attention: Paul Kukish
Facsimile: +1 (212) 751-4684
Email: paul.kukish@lw.com
Section 10.5 Assignment. This Agreement and all of the provisions hereof shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the Parties and
their respective successors and permitted assigns, but neither this Agreement nor any of the rights, interests or obligations hereunder shall be
assigned by any of the Parties without the prior written consent of the other Parties; provided that the Buyer may assign this Agreement (in
whole or in part) and any or all rights and obligations under this Agreement to one or more of the wholly-owned Subsidiaries of the Buyer
Guarantor upon prior written notice to the WM Parent and the ADS Parent; provided further that no such assignment will release the Buyer
from any liability under this Agreement.

Section 10.6 Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by the Laws of the State of Delaware (regardless of the Laws that might
otherwise govern under applicable principles of conflicts of law) as to all matters, including matters of validity, construction, effect,
performance and remedies.
Section 10.7 Jurisdiction and Venue. Any and all suits, actions, or proceedings against any party to this Agreement arising out of or relating
to this Agreement or any of the transactions contemplated hereby shall be brought in any state or federal court in Delaware and each Party
submits to and accepts the jurisdiction of such courts for the purpose of any such suit, action or proceeding. Each Party also agrees not to
bring any suit, action or proceeding arising out of or relating to this Agreement or any of the transactions contemplated hereby in any other
court. Each Party waives any defense of inconvenient forum to the maintenance of any suit, action or proceeding so brought. EACH PARTY
HEREBY IRREVOCABLY WAIVES, AND COVENANTS THAT IT WILL NOT ASSERT (WHETHER AS PLAINTIFF, DEFENDANT
OR OTHERWISE), ANY RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY FORUM IN RESPECT OF ANY ISSUE, CLAIM, DEMAND, ACTION,
PROCEEDING OR COUNTERCLAIM ARISING IN WHOLE OR IN PART UNDER, RELATED TO, BASED ON, OR IN
CONNECTION WITH, THIS AGREEMENT OR THE SUBJECT MATTER HEREOF, WHETHER NOW EXISTING OR HEREAFTER
ARISING AND WHETHER SOUNDING IN TORT OR CONTRACT OR OTHERWISE.
Section 10.8 Process. Any process against the Parties, or in connection with, any suit, action or proceeding arising out of or relating to this
Agreement or any of the transactions contemplated hereby may be served personally or by certified mail at the address set forth in Section
10.4 with a required copy (which shall not constitute notice) by certified mail to the last known address of the counsel of the Buyer or the
Sellers, as the case may be, with the same effect as though served on it personally.
Section 10.9 Specific Performance. Each Party hereby acknowledges and agrees that the rights of each Party to consummate the transactions
contemplated hereby are special, unique and of extraordinary character and that, if any Party violates or fails or refuses to perform any
covenant or agreement made by it herein, the non-breaching Party may be without an adequate remedy at Law. If any Party violates or fails or
refuses to perform any covenant or agreement made by such Party herein, the non-breaching Party, subject to the terms hereof and in addition
to any remedy at Law for damages or other relief permitted under this Agreement, may (at any time prior to the valid termination of this
Agreement pursuant to Article IX) institute and prosecute an action in any court of competent jurisdiction to enforce specific performance of
such covenant or agreement or seek any other equitable relief, without the necessity of proving actual damages or posting of a bond.
Section 10.10 Counterparts; Electronic Transmissions. This Agreement may be executed in two or more counterparts, each of which shall be
deemed an original, but all of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument. Facsimile or electronic transmissions of executed
signature pages are agreed and deemed by all Parties to constitute originals fully enforceable and binding upon the Parties.
Section 10.11 Interpretation. The Article and Section headings contained in this Agreement are solely for the purpose of reference, are not
part of the agreement of the Parties and shall not in any way affect the meaning or interpretation of this Agreement.
Section 10.12 Entire Agreement. This Agreement, including the Exhibits hereto, the Other Transaction Agreements and the instruments and
schedules referred to herein or therein (including the Schedules), together with the Confidentiality Agreement and, with respect to the WM
Parent and the ADS Parent only, together with the Advanced Disposal Merger Agreement, embodies the entire agreement and understanding
of the Parties in respect of the subject matter contained herein and supersedes all prior agreements and understandings between the Parties
with respect to such subject matter. There are no restrictions, promises, representations, warranties, covenants, or undertakings, other than
those expressly set forth or referred to herein. Each of the WM Parent (for itself and its Affiliates) and the ADS Parent (for itself and its
Affiliates) agrees that the entry into, and performance of its respective obligations under, this Agreement, are consistent with and in
furtherance of each party’s obligations under the Advanced Disposal Merger Agreement, and that such actions shall not (i) be deemed to
amend, modify the terms of or expand the obligations of the parties under the Advanced Disposal Merger Agreement and (ii) so long as the
performance of such party’s obligations under this Agreement are in accordance with this Agreement, serve as a basis for a claim of breach of
any applicable representation, warranty, covenant or agreement by such party in the Advanced Disposal Merger Agreement.
Section 10.13 Schedules. Each Schedule to this Agreement shall be deemed to include and incorporate all disclosures made on the other
Schedules to this Agreement to the extent such disclosure is reasonably apparent on its face that it also qualifies or applies to such other
Schedules. Certain information set forth in the Schedules is included solely for informational purposes, is not an admission of liability with
respect to the matters covered by the information, and may not be required to be disclosed pursuant to this Agreement. The specification of
any dollar amount in the representations and warranties contained in this Agreement or the inclusion of any specific item in the Schedules is
not intended to imply that such amounts (or higher or lower amounts) are or are not material, and no Party shall use the fact of the setting of
such amounts or the fact of the inclusion of any such item in the Schedules in any dispute or controversy between the Parties as to whether
any obligation, item, or matter not described herein or included in a Schedule is or is not material for purposes of this Agreement.
Section 10.14
Expenses. Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, the Buyer shall pay all expenses incurred by the Buyer in
connection with entering into and carrying out its obligations pursuant to this Agreement, including all its attorneys’ fees, and each Seller shall
pay all expenses incurred by such Seller in connection with entering into and carrying out their obligations pursuant to this Agreement,
including all its attorneys’ fees.
Section 10.15 No Third Party Beneficiaries. No Person other than the Parties and their respective successors and permitted assigns shall have
or be construed to have any legal or equitable right, remedy or claim under or in respect of or by virtue of any provision of this Agreement or

in reliance hereon, except that (i) the provisions of Section 5.3(c), Section 8.10(a) and Section 8.11 are expressly intended for the benefit of,
and shall be enforceable by, the Seller Indemnified Parties and (ii) the provisions of Section 8.10(b) are expressly intended for the benefit of,
and shall be enforceable by, the Buyer Indemnified Parties.
Section 10.16 Severability. Whenever possible, each provision of this Agreement shall be interpreted in such manner as to be effective and
valid under applicable Law. If any provision of this Agreement shall be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect under any applicable
Law, the validity, legality and enforceability of the remaining provisions hereof shall not be affected or impaired thereby.
Section 10.17 Construction.
(a) The Parties have participated jointly in the negotiation and drafting of this Agreement. In the event an ambiguity or question of intent or
interpretation arises, this Agreement shall be construed as if drafted jointly by the Parties and no presumption or burden of proof shall arise
favoring or disfavoring any party by virtue of the authorship of any of the provisions of this Agreement.
(b)
Reference to a given agreement, instrument, document or Law is a reference to that agreement, instrument, document or Law as
modified, amended, supplemented, extended and restated (including by means of any change order, waiver or other modification) through the
date as of which such reference is made, and, as to any Law, any successor Law and shall also be deemed to refer to all rules and regulations
promulgated thereunder.
(c) The words “includes” or “including” means including, without limitation.
(d) All references herein to Articles, Sections, Exhibits and Schedules shall be deemed references to Articles and Sections of, and Exhibits
and Schedules to, this Agreement unless the context shall otherwise require.
(e) The terms “hereof”, “herein”, “hereto”, “hereunder” and “herewith” refer to this Agreement as a whole.
(f) Reference to a Person includes its predecessors, successors and permitted assigns.
(g) The singular includes the plural and the masculine includes the feminine, and vice versa.
(h) References to “days” means calendar days.
(i) References in this Agreement to “$” shall mean the legal tender of the United States of America.
(j) The word “or” when used in this Agreement is not exclusive and shall have the meaning represented by the term “and/or”.
(k) The phrase “made available,” “delivered” or words of similar import are used in reference to a document, it shall mean the document was
made available for viewing by the Buyer or its Representatives in (i) the ADS Companies’ Gold Tracker or (ii) the electronic data room for
Project: Divestitures Everglades (the “Data Room”) as it existed at 3:00 p.m., New York City time, on the day before the Execution Date.
Section 10.18 Waiver of Conflicts; Privilege. Simpson Thacher & Bartlett LLP, Vedder Price P.C. and Stinson LLP have acted as legal
counsel to WM Parent and its Affiliates prior to the Closing and Shearman & Sterling LLP and Mayer Brown LLP have acted as legal counsel
to ADS Parent and its Affiliates prior to the Closing (each such legal counsel, “Prior Counsel”). Each Prior Counsel intends to act as legal
counsel to the respective Sellers and their respective Affiliates after the Closing. The Buyer hereby waives, on its own behalf and agrees to
cause its Affiliates to waive, any conflicts that may arise in connection with Prior Counsel representing such Sellers and their respective
Affiliates after the Closing to the extent such representation relates to the Business or the transactions contemplated hereby. All
communications involving attorney-client confidences between any of the Sellers and their respective Affiliates and Prior Counsel in the
course of the negotiation, documentation and consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby (the “Protected Seller Communications”)
shall be deemed to be attorney-client confidences that belong solely to the respective Sellers and their respective Affiliates. Accordingly, the
Buyer shall not have access to any such communications, or to the files of Prior Counsel relating to the engagement, whether or not the
Closing shall have occurred. From and after the Closing, the Buyer shall not, and shall cause its Affiliates not to, disclose (i) any documents or
other information that, if disclosed, would cause a waiver of any privilege that could be asserted under Law (in effect on or after the Closing
Date) if such waiver could reasonably be expected to have an adverse effect on any Seller Indemnified Party or (ii) any documents created or
existing prior to the Closing Date that, if disclosed, would cause a waiver of any privilege that could be asserted under Law (in effect on or
after the Closing Date) with respect to the Companies or the Business. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event that a dispute arises
between the Companies and their Affiliates (including the Buyer), on the one hand, and a Third Party other than the Sellers and their
Affiliates, on the other hand, the Companies and their Affiliates (including the Buyer) may assert the attorney-client privilege with respect to
Protected Seller Communications to prevent disclosure of confidential communications to such Third Party.
Section 10.19 Bulk Sale. The Parties acknowledge that the Sellers will not comply with the provisions of the bulk transfer Laws of any
jurisdiction in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.
Section 10.20 Date of Performance. If the date for performance of any act under this Agreement falls on a Saturday, Sunday or federal
holiday, the date for such performance shall automatically be extended to the first succeeding Business Day which is not a Saturday, Sunday
or federal holiday.

Section 10.21 Buyer Guarantee.
(a) The Buyer Guarantor hereby irrevocably and unconditionally guarantees to the WM Parent and the ADS Parent the punctual and full
payment, performance and discharge by the Buyer or its assignees of all of the covenants, obligations and liabilities of the Buyer or its
assignees under this Agreement, including due and punctual payment of all amounts if and when due and payable by the Buyer or its
assignees hereunder when and as the same shall become due and payable (collectively, the “Buyer Obligations”), in accordance with the terms
hereof. The Buyer Guarantor acknowledges and agrees that, with respect to all Buyer Obligations to pay money, such guaranty shall be a
guaranty of payment and performance and not of collection. If the Buyer or its assignees shall default in the due and punctual performance of
any Buyer Obligation, including the full and punctual payment of any amount due and payable pursuant to any Buyer Obligation, the Buyer
Guarantor will immediately perform or cause to be performed such Buyer Obligation and will immediately make full payment of any amount
due with respect thereto at its sole cost and expense.
(b) To the fullest extent permitted by applicable Law, the Buyer Guarantor hereby expressly waives any right or defense, whether legal or
equitable, statutory or non-statutory, to require the WM Parent and the ADS Parent to proceed against or take any action against or pursue any
remedy with respect to the Buyer, its assignees or any other Person or make presentment, protest or demand for performance or give any
notice of nonperformance before the WM Parent and the ADS Parent may enforce their rights hereunder against the Buyer Guarantor, and no
such act or omission of any kind shall in any way affect or impair this guarantee.
(c) The Buyer Guarantor agrees that the Buyer Obligations of the Buyer Guarantor hereunder shall not be released or discharged, in whole or
in part, or otherwise affected by (i) any action or inaction on the part of the Buyer or its assignees or any of their respective Affiliates, (ii) any
change in the time, place or manner of payment or performance of any of Buyer Obligations or any rescission, waiver, compromise,
consolidation or other amendment or modification of any of the terms or provisions of this Agreement made in accordance with the terms
hereof (provided that, for the avoidance of doubt, the Buyer Guarantor’s obligations shall be with respect to the Buyer Obligations as so
modified, amended, consolidated, compromised, waived or rescinded); (iii) any change in the corporate existence, structure or ownership of
the Buyer or any insolvency, bankruptcy, reorganization or other similar proceeding affecting the Buyer or its assignees; (iv) the sufficiency
of any other method of obtaining payment of the Buyer Obligations that the WM Parent and the ADS Parent may have; (v) the failure or delay
on the part of the WM Parent or the ADS Parent to assert any claim or demand or to enforce any right or remedy against the Buyer Guarantor;
or (vi) the value, genuineness, validity, regularity, illegality or enforceability of this Agreement or any agreement or instrument related
thereto, in each case in accordance with its terms. Notwithstanding the foregoing, all defenses available to the Buyer pursuant to this
Agreement with respect to the payment or performance of any obligation hereunder shall be available as defenses to the Buyer Guarantor. The
Buyer Guarantor acknowledges that it will receive substantial direct and indirect benefits from the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement and that this guarantee, including specifically the waivers set forth in this Section 10.21, are knowingly made in contemplation of
such benefits.
(d) The Buyer Guarantor hereby (i) makes the representations and warranties in Section 4.1(a), Section 4.2(a), Section 4.2(c) and Section
4.3, mutatis mutandis, with respect to its obligations under this Section 10.21 and (ii) represents and warrants to WM Parent and the ADS
Parent that it has (through cash on hand and available credit), as of the Execution Date, and will have at the Time of Closing, sufficient cash
on hand to enable it to perform its obligations under this Section 10.21 and will continue to have such funds available to the Buyer or its
assignees for so long as the Buyer or its assignees shall remain liable for any Buyer Obligations in accordance with the terms of this
Agreement.
(e) Sections 10.2 through 10.12, 10.15 through 10.17 and 10.20 shall apply mutatis mutandis to this Section 10.21.
[Signature Page Follows]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the Parties has caused this Agreement to be executed on its behalf as of the Execution Date.
WASTE MANAGEMENT, INC.

By:
Name:
Title:

ADVANCED DISPOSAL SERVICES, INC.

By:
Name:
Title:

GFL HOLDCO (US), LLC

By:
Name:
Title:

GFL ENVIRONMENTAL INC. (solely for purposes of Section 10.21)

By:
Name:
Title:

EXHIBIT A
GLOSSARY
For the purposes of this Agreement, the following terms shall have the meanings specified or referred to below when capitalized (or if
not capitalized, unless the context clearly requires otherwise) when used in this Agreement.
“Accounting Firm” has the meaning specified in Section 1.5(c).
[***]
[***]
“ADS Accounts Payable” means all Liabilities of any ADS Asset Seller or the ADS Companies, as applicable, to third parties for any
accounts payable (including, for the avoidance of doubt, any accounts payable in respect of host fees, lease payments under the ADS Existing
Leases or royalty payments) of any ADS Asset Seller in connection with the ADS Business or any ADS Company, in each case, that remain
unpaid as of the day immediately prior to the Closing Date. For the avoidance of doubt, “ADS Accounts Payable” does not include any
account payable that (i) is not a current liability in accordance with GAAP or (ii) is a contingent liability that would not be required to be
reflected on a balance sheet as of immediately prior to the Closing Date in accordance with GAAP.
“ADS Accounts Receivable” means all accounts receivable, notes receivable and other amounts receivable from any third party with
respect to the ADS Assets and the ADS Companies earned before the Closing Date, whether or not in the ADS Ordinary Course, and whether
or not billed before the Closing Date. For the avoidance of doubt, “ADS Accounts Receivable” does not include any account receivable that is
not a current asset in accordance with GAAP.
“ADS Affiliate Agreements” has the meaning specified in Section 3.16.

“ADS Asset Books and Records” has the meaning specified in Section 1.3(a)(v).
“ADS Asset Purchase Price Adjustment” means the sum of (a) the ADS Prepaid Expenses, minus (b) the ADS Unearned Revenue
Amount, minus (c) the ADS Customer Deposit Amount, minus (d) the ADS Pre-Closing Bonus Amount, and minus (e) the ADS Pre-Closing
Accrued Compensation.
“ADS Asset Sellers” has the meaning specified in Recital F.
“ADS Assets” has the meaning specified in Section 1.3(a).
“ADS Assumed Contracts” has the meaning specified in Section 1.3(a)(iv).
“ADS Assumed Liabilities” [***]
“ADS Assumed Permits” has the meaning specified in Section 1.3(a)(i).
“ADS Business” has the meaning specified in Recital H.
“ADS Business Employees” has the meaning specified in Section 3.13(a).
“ADS Commercial Contracts” has the meaning specified in Section 1.3(a)(iv).
“ADS Companies” has the meaning specified in Recital C.
“ADS Company Plan” means each Employee Benefit Plan, other than a Multiemployer Plan, that is maintained, sponsored or
contributed to (or required to be contributed to) by an ADS Company, an ADS Asset Seller or any of their Affiliates for the benefit of any
ADS Business Employee (or any of their respective dependents or beneficiaries), or with respect to which an ADS Company (or, after the
Closing, Buyer or any of its Affiliates) has or could have any Liability (including any actual or contingent Liability in respect of any
Employee Benefit Plan, other than a Multiemployer Plan, maintained, sponsored or contributed to (or required to by contributed to) by any of
the ERISA Affiliates of a ADS Company or a ADS Asset Seller).
“ADS Company Policies” has the meaning specified in Section 3.18.
“ADS Consultants” has the meaning specified in Section 3.13(a).
“ADS Customer Deposit” means deposits paid to any ADS Asset Seller or any ADS Company before the Closing Date by customers
with respect to ADS Assumed Contracts or any Contract of an ADS Company that have not been applied to services rendered by the ADS
Asset Sellers or the ADS Companies before the Closing Date.
“ADS Customer Deposit Amount” means the amount of any ADS Customer Deposits. For the avoidance of doubt, and to avoid
double counting, any amounts included in the calculation of the ADS Unearned Revenue Amount shall not be included in the calculation of
the ADS Customer Deposit Amount.
“ADS Equity Interests” has the meaning specified in Recital C.
“ADS Equity Sellers” has the meaning specified in Recital C.
“ADS Excluded Assets” has the meaning specified in Section 1.3(c).
“ADS Excluded Liabilities” has the meaning specified in Section 1.3(e).
“ADS Existing Lease” has the meaning specified in Section 3.19(a).
“ADS Financial Information” has the meaning specified in Section 3.21.
“ADS Fixed Assets” has the meaning specified in Section 1.3(a)(ii).
“ADS Hauling Accounts” has the meaning specified in Section 1.3(a)(xi).
“ADS Hauling Contracts” has the meaning specified in Section 1.3(a)(xi).
“ADS Intellectual Property” means all Intellectual Property owned by the ADS Sellers and their Affiliates (including the ADS
Companies).
“ADS Leased Real Property” has the meaning specified in Section 3.19(a).
“ADS Material Contract” has the meaning specified in Section 3.9(a).

“ADS Multiemployer Plan” means each Multiemployer Plan that is maintained, sponsored or contributed to (or required to be
contributed to), or has been maintained, sponsored or contributed to (or required to be contributed to) within six (6) years prior to the
Execution Date, by an ADS Company, ADS Asset Seller or any of its Affiliates for the benefit of any ADS Business Employee, or with
respect to which an ADS Company (or, after the Closing, Buyer or any of its Affiliates) has any Liability (including any actual or contingent
Liability in respect of any Multiemployer Plan that is maintained, sponsored or contributed to (or required to by contributed to), or has been
maintained, sponsored or contributed to (or required to be contributed to) within six (6) years prior to the Execution Date by any of the ERISA
Affiliates of an ADS Company or an ADS Asset Seller).
“ADS Ordinary Course” means the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice of the ADS Sellers and the ADS
Companies in respect of the ADS Assets or the ADS Business, as the case may be.
“ADS Owned Real Property” has the meaning specified in Section 3.19(a).
“ADS Parent” has the meaning specified in the preamble.
“ADS Permits” means all permits, licenses, franchises, consents, registrations, authorizations, and approvals relating to the ownership,
operation or use of the ADS Assets or conduct of the ADS Business, as applicable.
“ADS Plans” means all ADS Company Plans and ADS Multiemployer Plans.
“ADS Pre-Closing Accrued Compensation” means, as of the Closing, the sum of (a) the value of all accrued, but unused vacation and
other paid time off of the Transferred Employees who were, immediately prior to the Closing, employees of an ADS Seller or an Affiliate
thereof and (b) all accrued, but unpaid compensation (including all base salary and wages, and commission and other cash incentive
compensation earned or accrued on or prior to the Closing Date (without regard to any continued employment requirement through payment
thereof) to the extent not included within the ADS Pre-Closing Bonus Amount) payable to Transferred Employees who were, immediately
prior to the Closing, employees of an ADS Seller or an Affiliate thereof, in each case of subsections (a) and (b), together with all employerpaid payroll or other Taxes payable in relation thereto (without regard for any wage base limitations). For the avoidance of doubt, ADS PreClosing Accrued Compensation includes the aggregate amount of any unpaid payroll Taxes payable by any ADS Company in respect of
service on or prior to the Closing Date and deferred pursuant to the CARES Act, whether or not the underlying compensation was paid on or
prior to the Closing Date.
“ADS Pre-Closing Bonus Amount” [***]
[***]
[***]
[***]
“ADS Prepaid Expenses” means all credits, prepaid expenses, prepaid items and deposits, including any such expenses and deposits
with respect to leases, rentals, utilities and Property Taxes (but excluding any prepaid vehicle licenses) of any (i) ADS Asset Seller to the
extent related to the ADS Assets and (ii) ADS Company; provided, that solely for the purposes of calculating the ADS Asset Purchase Price
Adjustment, the Asset Purchase Price Adjustment, the Estimated Asset Purchase Price Adjustment, the Estimated Purchase Price, the Final
Asset Purchase Price Adjustment and the Final Purchase Price, the prepaid Property Taxes included as ADS Prepaid Expenses shall be limited
to prepaid Property Taxes with respect to periods (or portions thereof) beginning after the Closing Date and shall exclude any prepaid
Property Taxes with respect to periods (or portions thereof) ending on or before the Closing Date.
“ADS Real Property” has the meaning specified in Section 3.19(a).
“ADS Sellers” has the meaning specified in Recital F.
“ADS Taxes” means Taxes relating to the ADS Assets for any Tax period or portion thereof ending on or before the Closing Date.
“ADS Unearned Revenue Amount” means the amount billed by any ADS Asset Seller or ADS Company to any third party with
respect to ADS Assumed Contracts or any Contract of an ADS Company for services to be provided by the Buyer or its Affiliates on or after
the Closing Date, including a pro rata portion of the Total Ancillary Charges charged to such third party. For purposes of this definition “pro
rata portion” means the amount of the unearned divested services revenue related to such third party as a proportion of the total unearned
services revenue of such third party.
“Advanced Disposal Merger” has the meaning specified in Recital A.
“Advanced Disposal Merger Agreement” has the meaning specified in Recital A.
“Affiliate” means, with respect to a Person, any other Person that, directly or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, Controls,
is Controlled by or is under common Control with such first Person.

“Affiliate Agreements” means the WM Affiliate Agreements and the ADS Affiliate Agreements, collectively.
“Agreement” has the meaning specified in the preamble.
“Anti-Corruption Laws” means all applicable Laws dealing with bribery or corruption, including the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices
Act of 1977, the U.K. Bribery Act 2010, and any Law implementing the OECD Convention on Combating Bribery of Foreign Public Officials
in International Transactions.
“Antitrust Laws” means the HSR Act, the Clayton Act, and all other antitrust, competition or trade regulation Laws, including all
Laws that are designed or intended to prohibit, restrict or regulate actions having the purpose or effect of monopolization or restraint of trade
or lessening competition through merger or acquisition.
“Asset Purchase Price Adjustment” means the sum of the ADS Asset Purchase Price Adjustment and the WM Asset Purchase Price
Adjustment.
“Asset Sellers” has the meaning specified in Recital F.
“Assets” means the WM Assets and the ADS Assets.
“Assignment and Assumption Agreement” has the meaning specified in Section 1.7(g).
“Assumed Contracts” means the WM Assumed Contracts and the ADS Assumed Contracts.
“Assumed Liabilities” means [***].
“Base Purchase Price” has the meaning specified in Section 1.4(a).
“Broker Accounts” has the meaning specified in Section 8.2(b).
“Business” has the meaning specified in Recital H.
“Business Day” means any day that is not a Saturday, a Sunday or other day in which banks are authorized or required by law to be
closed in Houston, Texas.
“Business Employees” means, collectively, the WM Business Employees and ADS Business Employees.
“Business Records” means all books and records relating to the Business, including non-proprietary marketing materials, customer
lists and vendor lists.
“Buyer” has the meaning specified in the preamble.
“Buyer Assigned Account” has the meaning specified in Section 8.2(b).
“Buyer FSA Plan” has the meaning specified in Section 5.9(h).
“Buyer Guarantor” has the meaning specified in the preamble.
“Buyer Indemnified Parties” has the meaning specified in Section 8.10(b).
“Buyer Obligations” has the meaning specified in Section 10.21(a).
“Buyer TSA” has the meaning specified in Section 1.7(d).
“Buyer’s 401(k) Plan” has the meaning specified in Section 5.9(f).
“Cap” has the meaning specified in Section 8.7(c).
“CARES Act” means the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act or any similar applicable federal, state or local Law,
each as may be amended from time to time.
[***]
“CERCLA” means the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act of 1980, 42 U.S.C. § 9601 et seq.,
as amended.
“Clayton Act” means the Clayton Antitrust Act of 1914, as amended.

“Closing” and “Closing Date” have the meanings specified in Section 1.6.
“Closing Date Statement” has the meaning specified in Section 1.5(a).
“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. All citations to the Code or the regulations promulgated thereunder
shall include any amendments or any substitute successor provisions thereto.
“Collective Bargaining Agreements” each collective bargaining agreement, works council, labor union or similar agreement,
memorandum of understanding, arrangement or Contract to which any Seller or any of their Affiliates is a party or otherwise bound in respect
of the Business Employees.
“Companies” has the meaning specified in Recital C.
“Confidentiality Agreement” has the meaning specified in Section 5.3(e).
“Consent” has the meaning specified in Section 5.2(a).
“Consolidated Return” means the U.S. federal income Tax Return required to be filed by the WM Parent as the “common parent
corporation” (as defined in Section 1504 of the Code) with respect to the Parent Group and with respect to each state, local or foreign
jurisdiction, a consolidated, combined, or unitary Tax Return with respect to the Parent Group.
“Contract” means any agreement, contract, arrangement, understanding, lease, franchise agreement, covenant, license, purchase and
sales order, commitment, undertaking, obligation or other legally binding agreement, whether written or oral, and including all amendments
thereto.
“Control” means the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management or policies of a
Person, whether through the ownership of voting securities or its capacity as sole or managing member or general partner, by contract or
otherwise. The term “Control” when used as a verb shall have a correlative meaning.
“Data Room” has the meaning specified in Section 10.17(k).
“Divested Routes” means, collectively, the service routes listed on Schedule 1.2(a)(xi) or Schedule 1.3(a)(xi).
“Divestiture Action” has the meaning specified in Section 5.4(h).
“DOJ” means the United States Department of Justice.
“DOJ Consent” means that each of the following conditions in (i) through (iii) has occurred: (i) the consent, agreement and approval
of the DOJ with respect to the Buyer, this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby has been received; (ii) the filing of any
proposed final judgment by the DOJ in any court in connection with the Advanced Disposal Merger, in form and substance acceptable to each
of the WM Parent and the ADS Parent in their sole discretion; and (iii) the entry by such court of either an Asset Preservation Stipulation and
Order or Hold Separate Stipulation and Order between DOJ on the one hand and the WM Parent and the ADS Parent on the other hand.
“Employee Benefit Plan” means (i) each “employee benefit plan” as defined in Section 3(3) of ERISA (whether or not subject to
ERISA), (ii) each employment, consulting, severance, change in control, retention or similar plan, agreement, arrangement, policy or Contract
and (iii) each other plan, agreement, arrangement, policy or Contract (written or oral) providing for compensation, bonuses, perquisites, profitsharing, equity or equity-related rights, incentive or deferred compensation, vacation, sick leave or other paid time off, insurance (including
any self-insured arrangements), health or medical benefits, dental benefits, vision benefits, life insurance benefits, accident insurance benefits,
cafeteria insurance, flex spending, employee assistance program, disability or sick leave benefits, fringe benefits, workers’ compensation,
supplemental unemployment benefits, post-employment or retirement benefits (including compensation, pension, health, medical or life
insurance benefits) or any other employee benefits.
“Encumbrance” means any lien, pledge, hypothecation, charge, encumbrance, mortgage, deed of trust, deed to secure debt, claim or
security interest, conditional sale agreement, option, right of first refusal, or restriction on transfer of title or voting of any nature whatsoever.
“End Date” has the meaning specified in Section 9.1(d).
“Entity” means any corporation (including any non-profit corporation), general partnership, limited partnership, limited liability
company, joint venture, joint stock association, estate, trust, cooperative, foundation, union, syndicate, league, consortium, coalition,
committee, society, firm, company or other enterprise, association, organization or entity of any nature, other than a Governmental Authority.
“Environmental Laws” means any applicable Law relating to pollution or the protection of the environment or human health and
safety to the extent relating to exposure to Hazardous Materials, including CERCLA, the Solid Waste Disposal Act, as amended by the
Resource Conservation and Recovery Act of 1976 and subsequent Hazardous and Solid Waste Amendments of 1984, 42 U.S.C. 6901 et seq.;
the Hazardous Materials Transportation Act, as amended, 49 U.S.C. 1801 et seq.; the Toxic Substances Control Act, as amended, 15 U.S.C.
2601 et seq.; the Clean Air Act, as amended, 42 U.S.C. 7401 et seq.; the Safe Drinking Water Act, as amended, 42 U.S.C. 300f et seq.; the

Federal Water Pollution Control Act, as amended, 33 U.S.C. 1251 et seq.; the Federal Insecticide, Fungicide and Rodenticide Act, as
amended, 7 U.S.C. 136 et seq.; the Emergency Planning and Community Right-to-Know Act of 1986, as amended, 42 U.S.C. 11001 et seq.;
and other similar federal, state or local statutes.
“Environmental Liabilities” means all Liabilities arising pursuant to or under any Environmental Law.
“Equity Interests” has the meaning specified in Recital C.
“Equity Securities” means, of any Person, as applicable (i) any and all of its shares of capital stock, membership interests, partnership
(general or limited) interests or other equity interests or share capital, (ii) any warrants, Contracts or other rights or options directly or
indirectly to subscribe for or to purchase any capital stock, membership interests, partnership (general or limited) interests or other equity
interests or share capital of such Person, (iii) and all securities or instruments, directly or indirectly, exchangeable for or convertible or
exercisable into, any of the foregoing or with any profit participation features with respect to such Person, or (iv) any share appreciation
rights, phantom share rights or other similar rights with respect to such Person or its business.
“Equity Sellers” has the meaning specified in Recital C.
“ERISA” means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act, as amended.
“ERISA Affiliate” means with respect to any Person, any trade or business, whether or not incorporated, that together with such
Person would be deemed a “single employer” within the meaning of Section 4001(b) of ERISA.
“Estimated Asset Purchase Price Adjustment” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.4(b).
“Estimated Purchase Price” has the meaning specified in Section 1.4(a).
“Excluded Assets” means the WM Excluded Assets and the ADS Excluded Assets.
“Excluded Liabilities” means the WM Excluded Liabilities and the ADS Excluded Liabilities.
“Execution Date” means the day and year first above written, on which this Agreement was executed by the Parties.
“Extended Policy” has the meaning specified in Section 8.7(c).
[***]
“Final Asset Purchase Price Adjustment” has the meaning specified in Section 1.5(c).
“Final Closing Date Statement” has the meaning specified in Section 1.5(c).
“Final Purchase Price” means the aggregate sum of (i) the Base Purchase Price plus (ii) the Final Asset Purchase Price Adjustment, if
any.
“Financing” has the meaning specified in Section 5.6(a).
[***]
“Fraud” or “FRAUD” means, with respect to a Party, an actual, intentional and knowing common law fraud (and not a constructive
fraud, negligent misrepresentation or omission, or any form of fraud premised on recklessness or negligence) under Delaware Law by such
Party with respect to the representations and warranties expressly made by such Party in Article II, Article III or Article IV, as applicable;
provided, that such actual, intentional and knowing common law fraud of a Party may only be deemed to exist if (i) such Party had actual
knowledge (as opposed to imputed or constructive knowledge) of a misrepresentation of a representation and warranty expressly made by
such Party in this Agreement, (ii) such Party made such misrepresentation with the intent of inducing such Party to enter into this Agreement
and to consummate the transactions contemplated herein, (iii) such other Party relied to its detriment on such material misrepresentation and
such reliance was justifiable and (iv) such reliance resulted in Losses to such other Party.
“FSA Spin-Off” has the meaning specified in Section 5.9(h).
“GAAP” means generally accepted accounting principles in the United States as consistently applied.
“Governmental Authority” means any foreign governmental authority, the United States of America, any State of the United States,
any local authority and any political subdivision of any of the foregoing, and any agency, department, commission, board, bureau, court or
other authority or instrumentality of any of the foregoing.
[***]
“Hazardous Materials” means: (i) petroleum and petroleum by-products, radioactive materials, asbestos or asbestos-containing

material, urea formaldehyde foam insulation, polychlorinated biphenyls, per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances, flammable or explosive
substances, pesticides, and radon gas, or (ii) any other chemicals, materials, wastes or substances listed, classified, regulated, characterized or
otherwise defined as “hazardous,” “toxic,” a “contaminant,” a “pollutants,” “infectious wastes,” “medical wastes,” “radioactive wastes,” or
words of similar import under any applicable Environmental Law.
“HSR Act” means the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976, as amended and the rules and regulations promulgated
thereunder.
“Income Tax” means U.S. federal income Tax and any other state, local or foreign income or franchise Tax based upon, measured by,
or calculated with respect to net profits, net receipts, or capital gains.
“Indebtedness” means, with respect to any Company or any Asset Seller (solely to the extent included in the Assets or the Assumed
Liabilities), at any specified time, any of the following Liabilities, obligations or undertakings (whether or not contingent and including,
without limitation, any and all principal, accrued and unpaid interest, prepayment premiums or penalties, related expenses, commitment and
other fees, sale or liquidity participation amounts, reimbursements, indemnities and other amounts which would be payable in connection
therewith): (i) for borrowed money or in respect of loans or advances (whether or not evidenced by bonds, debentures, notes, or other similar
instruments or debt securities); (ii) under or in connection with letters of credit or bankers’ acceptances, performance bonds, sureties or similar
obligations that have been drawn down, in each case, to the extent of such draw; (iii) for capitalized leases (as determined in accordance with
GAAP) or to pay the deferred and unpaid purchase price of property, assets or equipment, including all earn-outs or deferred consideration,
conditional sale agreements or other title retention agreements with respect to properties or assets (excluding trade payables in the WM
Ordinary Course or ADS Ordinary Course, as applicable); (iv) pursuant to securitization or factoring programs or arrangements; (v) to
maintain or cause to be maintained the financing, financial position or covenants of others or to purchase the obligations or property of others;
(vi) net cash payment obligations under swaps, options, forward sales contracts, derivatives and other hedging contracts, financial instruments
or arrangements that may be payable upon termination or expiration thereof; (vii) all obligations secured by a purchase money mortgage or
other Encumbrance on the Assets and (viii) pursuant to guarantees or other arrangements having the economic effect of a guarantee of any
obligation or undertaking of any other Person contemplated by the foregoing clauses (i) through (vi) of this definition.
“Intellectual Property” means all intellectual property, including (x) (i) all Trademarks, (ii) all patents, inventions, processes, formulas
and designs (iii) all copyrights in both published works and unpublished works, (iv) all know-how and trade secrets, and (y) all registrations
and applications of or related to any of the foregoing in clause (x).
“Interim Period” has the meaning specified in Section 5.1(a).
“IRS” means the United States Internal Revenue Service.
“Knowledge” means, the actual knowledge, after due inquiry of the Person directly involved with and responsible for the matter in
question of (i) when applicable to the WM Sellers, John J. Morris, Jr., Charles C. Boettcher, and Steven Batchelor; (ii) when applicable to the
ADS Sellers, John Spegal, Michael Slattery, Randy Arnold, Don Neukam and Marti Dickman; and (iii) when applicable to the Buyer, Patrick
Dovigi, Joy Grahek, Luke Pelosi and Craig Orenstein.
“Law” means any federal, state, local or foreign statute, law, ordinance, regulation, rule, code, Order, requirement or rule of common
law, or other requirement or rule of law of any Governmental Authority, including any Environmental Law and any Antitrust Law.
“Liabilities” means all debts, liabilities, guarantees, assurances, commitments, and obligations, whether legal or equitable, accrued or
fixed, absolute or contingent, matured or unmatured, determined or determinable, known or unknown, foreseen or unforeseen, ordinary or
extraordinary, patent or latent, including those arising under any Law or Proceeding and those arising under any Contract.
“Loss” or “Losses” means Liabilities, claims, damages, Proceedings, demands, assessments, adjustments, Taxes, penalties, losses,
costs and expenses whatsoever (including court costs, reasonable attorneys’ fees and expenses of investigation, and environmental costs, fees
or expenses for investigation, remediation or removal), whether equitable or legal, matured or contingent, known or unknown, foreseen or
unforeseen, ordinary or extraordinary, patent or latent.
“M&I Accounts” has the meaning specified in Section 8.2(a).
“Material Adverse Effect” shall mean any condition, change, circumstance, occurrence, effect or event that, individually or in the
aggregate with other conditions, changes, circumstances, occurrences, effects or events, has had, or would reasonably be expected to have, a
material adverse effect on (a) the assets, Liabilities, properties, business, results of operations or financial condition of the Business, the
Companies, the Assets or the Assumed Liabilities, taken as a whole, or (b) on the ability of each of the WM Parent and the ADS Parent to
perform in all material respects their obligations under this Agreement; provided, however, that Material Adverse Effect shall exclude any
condition, change, circumstance, occurrence, effect or event arising out of, attributable to or resulting from: (i) the public announcement of
this Agreement or the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby, including the impact thereof on relationships, contractual or
otherwise, with customers, suppliers, distributors, partners or employees (provided, that the exception set forth in this clause (i) shall not apply
in connection with any representation or warranty set forth in Section 2.6 or Section 3.6 that expressly address the announcement or
consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby or any condition as it relates to any such representation and warranty); (ii) any action
taken by (or caused to be taken by) the WM Parent or the ADS Parent, or any of their respective representatives or Affiliates, expressly

required by the terms of this Agreement (other than pursuant to Section 5.1(a)(i) and 5.1(b)(i)) or taken (or omitted to be taken) with the
written consent of or at the written request of the Buyer; (iii) the general state of the industry in which the Business operates, including
changes in rules, regulations or decisions of any Governmental Authority affecting the waste collection, transportation or disposal industry;
(iv) legal, regulatory, political, business, economic, capital market and financial market conditions or conditions otherwise generally affecting
the economy as a whole or the waste collection, transportation or disposal industry; (v) events, developments, circumstances, changes or
effects in economic, monetary or financial conditions in the United States in general, including changes in prevailing interest rates, credit
markets or financial market conditions in or affecting the United States; (vi) acts of God, natural disasters, pandemics, epidemics or outbreaks
of diseases (including coronavirus), national or international political or social conditions, including the engagement in hostilities, whether
commenced before or after the Execution Date, and whether or not pursuant to the declaration of a national emergency or war (including any
escalation or worsening of any war), or the occurrence of any military or terrorist attack; (vii) earthquakes, hurricanes, tsunamis, typhoons,
lightning, hailstorms, blizzards, tornadoes, droughts, floods, cyclones, mudslides, wildfires, weather conditions and other natural disasters
(expressly excluding, for the purposes of this clause (vii) any physical damages (including casualty loss) to the Assets); (viii) any changes in
applicable Law or accounting rules (including GAAP) or the enforcement, implementation or interpretation thereof; (ix) any action taken by
the Buyer Guarantor or any of its respective Representatives or Controlled Affiliates; (x) any failure by the Business to meet any internal or
published projections, forecasts or revenue or earnings predictions (provided that the underlying causes of such failures (subject to the other
provisions of this definition) shall not be excluded) or (xi) the consummation of the Advanced Disposal Merger in accordance with its terms;
provided that, in the case of clauses (iii) through (viii) above, any such condition, change, circumstance, occurrence, effect or event shall not
be deemed to be included in such clauses to the extent it has had or is reasonably expected to have a disproportionate impact on the assets,
Liabilities, properties, business, results of operations or condition (financial or otherwise) of the Business, or the Companies, the Assets or the
Assumed Liabilities, taken as a whole, relative to the other Persons in the waste collection, transportation or disposal industry.
“Merger Sub” has the meaning specified in Recital A.
[***]
“Multiemployer Plan” means a multiemployer plan, as defined in section 3(37) or 4001(a)(3) of ERISA.
“National Accounts” has the meaning specified in Section 8.2(a).
“OFAC” means the United States Department of Treasury Office of Foreign Assets Control.
“OFAC SDN List” means the list of “Specially Designated Nationals and Blocked Persons” maintained by OFAC.
“Order” means any order, judgment, injunction, edict, decree, ruling, pronouncement, determination, decision, opinion, sentence,
subpoena, writ or award issued, made, entered or rendered by any court, administrative agency or other Governmental Authority or by any
arbitrator.
“Organizational Documents” means, with respect to a corporation, the certificate of incorporation, articles of incorporation and
bylaws of such corporation; with respect to a general partnership, the partnership agreement establishing such partnership; with respect to a
limited liability company, the articles of organization and the operating agreement of such company, with respect to a joint venture, the joint
venture agreement establishing such joint venture; with respect to a limited partnership, the limited partnership agreement and certificate of
limited partnership for such entity; with respect to a trust, the instrument establishing such trust; and with respect to any other Entity, any
charter document or other document executed, adopted, approved, ratified or filed in connection with the formation, creation, constitution or
organization of such Entity, in each case including any and all amendments or modifications hereof.
“Other Transaction Agreements” means the Waste Collection Services Agreements, the Seller TSA, the Buyer TSA, the Assignment
and Assumption Agreement, the Waste Disposal Agreements and the Contracts and other documents contemplated to be delivered or executed
in connection herewith.
“Parent Group” means (i) the “affiliated group” as defined in Code section 1504(a) of which the WM Parent is the common parent and
of which the ADS Parent will become a member as of the consummation of the Advanced Disposal Merger, and (ii) with respect to each state,
local or foreign jurisdiction in which the WM Parent or the ADS Parent files a consolidated, combined, or unitary Tax Return and in which
the Companies are subject to Tax, the group with respect to which such Tax Return is filed.
“Participation Cost” has the meaning specified in Section 8.7(b).
“Parties” has the meaning specified in the preamble.
“Permitted Encumbrances” means (i) building and zoning laws, ordinances and regulations now or hereinafter in effect relating to real
property that do not materially and adversely affect the use of such real property for its current use and occupancy, (ii) liens for Taxes or
assessments not yet due and payable or which are being contested in good faith through appropriate proceedings, (iii) mechanics’,
materialmen’s, carriers’, workers’, repairers’ and other similar liens arising or incurred in the ordinary and usual course of business relating to
obligations as to which there is no material default or the validity of which are being contested in good faith, (iv) any liens, Encumbrances and
other matters created or suffered by any landlord, sublandlord, grantor, or licensor, as applicable, with an interest therein that do not materially
and adversely affect the current use and occupancy of such real property, (v) with respect to real property, easements, Encumbrances,

covenants, conditions, reservations and restrictions of record, if any, that do not materially and adversely affect the current use and occupancy
of such real property and that do not evidence indebtedness for borrowed money, (vi) with respect to real property, any matters that would be
disclosed by a current and accurate survey that do not materially and adversely affect the current use and occupancy of such real property and
that do not evidence indebtedness for borrowed money, (vii) any lease, sublease or similar occupancy arrangement or other Encumbrance set
forth on Schedule 2.19(c) or Schedule 3.19(c) or (viii) other matters which do not materially and adversely affect the current use and
occupancy of any of the Companies’ properties or assets or the Assets and that do not evidence indebtedness for borrowed money.
“Person” means any individual, Entity or Governmental Authority.
“Pre-Closing Occurrences” has the meaning specified in Section 8.7.
“Prior Counsel” has the meaning specified in Section 10.18.
“Proceeding” means any action, suit, litigation, arbitration, lawsuit, claim, proceeding (including any civil, criminal, administrative, or
appellate proceeding), prosecution, contest, hearing, audit, examination, challenge, controversy or dispute commenced, brought, conducted or
heard by or before, or otherwise involving, any Governmental Authority or any arbitrator.
“Property Taxes” has the meaning specified in Section 7.9.
“Protected Seller Communications” has the meaning specified in Section 10.18.
[***]
“Public Official” means (i) any elected or appointed government official, officer, employee or Person acting in an official or public
capacity on behalf of a Governmental Authority, (ii) any official or employee of a quasi-public or non-governmental international
organization, (iii) any employee or other Person acting for or on behalf of any entity that is owned or controlled by a Governmental Authority,
(iv) any Person exercising legislative, administrative, judicial, executive, or regulatory functions for or pertaining to a Governmental
Authority (including any independent regulator), (v) any political party official, officer, employee, or other Person acting for or on behalf of a
political party and (vi) any candidate for public office.
“Purchase Price Allocation” has the meaning specified in Section 7.6.
“R&W Insurance Policy” has the meaning specified in Section 5.10.
“Related Claim” has the meaning specified in Section 8.7(c).
“Release” means any release, spill, emission, seepage, leaking, pumping, pouring, emptying, escaping, dumping, abandoning,
injecting, depositing, disposing, dispersing, discharging, leaching or migration into or through the environment.
“Representatives” means each Party’s respective officers, directors, employees, representatives, agents, attorneys and advisors.
“Restrictive Covenants” has the meaning specified in Section 8.12(c).
“Restricted Customers” has the meaning specified in Section 8.12(a).
“Restricted Period” has the meaning specified in Section 8.12(a).
“Restricted Services” has the meaning specified in Section 8.12(a).
“Retained Accounts” means, collectively, the National Accounts, the M&I Accounts and the Seller Retained Accounts.
“Retained Claims” has the meaning specified in Section 8.7(b).
“Retained Existing Claims” has the meaning specified in Section 8.7(b).
“Retained Unknown Claims” has the meaning specified in Section 8.7(b).
[***]
“Revenue” has the meaning specified in Section 8.2(d).
“Schedules” means the disclosure schedules delivered by the WM Parent and the ADS Parent, as applicable, pursuant to this
Agreement.
“Section 338(h)(10) Elections” has the meaning specified in Section 7.5.
“Section 338(h)(10) Subsidiary” has the meaning specified in Section 7.5.

“Securities Act” means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.
“Seller Credit Enhancements” has the meaning specified in Section 8.4(a).
“Seller FSA Plan” has the meaning specified in Section 5.9(g).
“Seller Indemnified Parties” has the meaning specified in Section 8.10(a).
“Seller Information” has the meaning specified in Section 8.8(a).
“Seller Insurance” has the meaning specified in Section 8.7(a).
“Seller Marks” has the meaning specified in Section 8.3.
“Seller Retained Account” has the meaning specified in Section 8.2(b).
“Seller TSA” has the meaning specified in Section 1.7(c).
“Sellers” has the meaning specified in Recital F.
“Seller’s 401(k) Plan” has the meaning specified in Section 5.9(f).
“Shared Work Product” has the meaning specified in Section 8.5(d).
“Solvent” means, with respect to a Person, that, as of any date of determination, (a) the amount of the fair saleable value of the assets
of such Person will, as of such date, exceed (i) the value of all liabilities of such Person, including contingent and other liabilities, as of such
date, and (ii) the amount that will be required to pay the probable liabilities of such Person on its existing debts (including contingent
liabilities) as such debts become absolute and matured, (b) such Person will not have, as of such date, an unreasonably small amount of capital
for the operation of the businesses in which it is engaged or proposed to be engaged following such date, and (c) such Person will be able to
timely pay and satisfy its liabilities and other obligations, including contingent and other liabilities, when and as they mature. For purposes of
this definition, “not have, as of such date, an unreasonably small amount of capital for the operation of the businesses in which it is engaged or
proposed to be engaged” and “be able to timely pay and satisfy its liabilities and other obligations, including contingent and other liabilities,
when and as they mature” means that such Person will be able to generate enough cash from operations, asset dispositions or refinancing, or a
combination thereof, to meet its obligations as they become due.
“Special Indemnity Period” has the meaning specified in Section 7.2(b)(ii).
“Straddle Accounts” has the meaning specified in Section 8.2(b).
“Straddle Period” means any period that begins on or before the Closing Date and ends after the Closing Date.
[***]
“Subsidiary” means, with respect to a specified Person, any other Person Controlled by the specified Person.
“Subsidiary Distribution” has the meaning specified in Section 5.11(c).
“Substitute Credit Enhancements” has the meaning specified in Section 8.4(a).
“Tax” or “Taxes” means any and all taxes, fees and other charges of any kind (together with any and all interest, penalties, additions
to tax and additional amounts imposed with respect thereto) imposed by any Governmental Authority or taxing authority, including: taxes or
other charges on or with respect to income, franchises, windfall or other profits, gross receipts, property, minimum, alternative minimum,
estimated, sales, use, equity interests, payroll, employment, social security, workers’ compensation, unemployment compensation, or net
worth; taxes or other charges in the nature of excise, withholding, ad valorem, stamp, transfer, value added, abandoned or unclaimed property,
escheat, or gains taxes; license, registration and documentation fees; and customs duties, tariffs, and similar charges.
“Tax Claim” has the meaning specified in Section 7.2(a).
“Tax Return” shall mean any return, declaration, report, statement or other document filed or required to be filed in respect of Taxes
(including any attachments thereto and any amendment thereof).
“Terminating Intercompany Agreements” has the meaning specified in Section 5.7.
“Third Party” means, with respect to any specified Person, any other Person who is not an Affiliate of such specified Person (other
than Governmental Authority).

“Time of Closing” has the meaning specified in Section 1.6.
“Total Ancillary Charges” means any and all ancillary fees and all other such charges billed to any third party in advance by any Asset
Seller or Company, including fuel charges, environmental charges, regulatory cost recovery and recycling materials offset.
“Trademarks” shall mean corporate names, trade names, brand names, trademarks and service marks.
“Transfer Date” [***]
“Transfer Taxes” has the meaning specified in Section 7.3.
“Transferred Employees” [***]
“Transferred FSA Balances” has the meaning specified in Section 5.9(g).
“Waste Collection Services Agreement” has the meaning specified in Section 1.7(b).
“WARN Act” means the Worker Adjustment and Retraining Notification Act of 1988, and any similar applicable state or local Laws,
collectively, each as may be amended from time to time.
“Waste Disposal Agreements” has the meaning specified in Section 1.7(i).
“Withdrawal Event” means (i) a “complete withdrawal” (within the meaning of Section 4203 of ERISA), or a “partial withdrawal”
(within the meaning of Section 4205 of ERISA) from a WM Multiemployer Plan by any WM Company, WM Asset Seller or any of their
ERISA Affiliates, or (ii) a “complete withdrawal” (within the meaning of Section 4203 of ERISA), or a “partial withdrawal” (within the
meaning of Section 4205 of ERISA) from an ADS Multiemployer Plan by any ADS Company, ADS Asset Seller or any of their ERISA
Affiliates, in each case of (i) and (ii), which WM Multiemployer Plan or ADS Multiemployer Plan is either (A) maintained, sponsored or
contributed to (or required to be contributed to) by a WM Company or ADS Company, (B) maintained, sponsored or contributed to (or
required to be contributed to) by a WM Asset Seller or ADS Asset Seller or any of their respective Affiliates for the benefit of any Business
Employee, or (C) (x) maintained, sponsored or contributed to (or required to be contributed to) by a WM Company or WM Asset Seller or
ADS Company or ADS Asset Seller or any of their respective ERISA Affiliates and (y) is reasonably expected to result in Withdrawal
Liability being incurred or imposed on a WM Company or ADS Company (or Buyer or any of its Affiliates).
“Withdrawal Liability” means any Liability as a result of or otherwise relating to a Withdrawal Event.
“WM Accounts Payable” means all Liabilities of any WM Asset Seller or the WM Companies, as applicable, to third parties for any
accounts payable (including, for the avoidance of doubt, any accounts payable in respect of host fees, lease payments under the WM Existing
Leases or royalty payments) of any WM Asset Seller in connection with the WM Business or any WM Company, in each case, that remain
unpaid as of the day immediately prior to the Closing Date. For the avoidance of doubt, “WM Accounts Payable” does not include any
account payable that (i) is not a current liability in accordance with GAAP or (ii) is a contingent liability that would not be required to be
reflected on a balance sheet as of immediately prior to the Closing Date in accordance with GAAP.
“WM Accounts Receivable” means all accounts receivable, notes receivable and other amounts receivable from any third party with
respect to the WM Assets and the WM Companies earned before the Closing Date, whether or not in the WM Ordinary Course, and whether
or not billed before the Closing Date. For the avoidance of doubt, “WM Accounts Receivable” does not include any account receivable that is
not a current asset in accordance with GAAP.
“WM Affiliate Agreements” has the meaning specified in Section 2.16.
“WM Asset Books and Records” has the meaning specified in Section 1.2(a)(v).
“WM Asset Purchase Price Adjustment” means the sum of (a) the WM Prepaid Expenses, minus (b) the WM Unearned Revenue
Amount, minus (c) the WM Customer Deposit Amount, minus (d) the WM Pre-Closing Bonus Amount and minus (e) the WM Pre-Closing
Accrued Compensation.
“WM Asset Sellers” has the meaning specified in Recital E.
“WM Assets” has the meaning specified in Section 1.2(a).
“WM Assumed Contracts” has the meaning specified in Section 1.2(a)(iv).
“WM Assumed Liabilities” [***]
“WM Assumed Permits” has the meaning specified in Section 1.2(a)(i).
“WM Business” has the meaning specified in Recital G.

“WM Business Employees” has the meaning specified in Section 2.13(a).
“WM Commercial Contracts” has the meaning specified in Section 1.2(a)(iv).
“WM Companies” has the meaning specified in Recital B.
“WM Company Plan” means each Employee Benefit Plan, other than a Multiemployer Plan, that is maintained, sponsored or
contributed to (or required to be contributed to) by a WM Company, a WM Asset Seller or any of their Affiliates for the benefit of any WM
Business Employee (or any of their respective dependents or beneficiaries), or with respect to which a WM Company (or, after the Closing,
Buyer or any of its Affiliates) has or could have any Liability (including any actual or contingent Liability in respect of any Employee Benefit
Plan, other than a Multiemployer Plan, maintained, sponsored or contributed to (or required to by contributed to) by any of the ERISA
Affiliates of a WM Company or a WM Asset Seller).
“WM Company Policies” has the meaning specified in Section 2.18.
“WM Consultants” has the meaning specified in Section 2.13(a).
“WM Customer Deposit” means deposits paid to any WM Asset Seller or any WM Company before the Closing Date by customers
with respect to WM Assumed Contracts or any Contract of a WM Company that have not been applied to services rendered by the WM Asset
Sellers or the WM Companies before the Closing Date.
“WM Customer Deposit Amount” means the amount of any WM Customer Deposits. For the avoidance of doubt, and to avoid double
counting, any amounts included in the calculation of the WM Unearned Revenue Amount shall not be included in the calculation of the WM
Customer Deposit Amount.
“WM Equity Interests” has the meaning specified in Recital B.
“WM Equity Sellers” has the meaning specified in Recital B.
“WM Excluded Assets” has the meaning specified in Section 1.2(c).
“WM Excluded Liability” has the meaning specified in Section 1.2(e).
“WM Existing Lease” has the meaning specified in Section 2.19(a).
“WM Financial Information” has the meaning specified in Section 2.21.
“WM Fixed Assets” has the meaning specified in Section 1.2(a)(ii).
“WM Hauling Accounts” has the meaning specified in Section 1.2(a)(xi).
“WM Hauling Contracts” has the meaning specified in Section 1.2(a)(xi).
“WM Intellectual Property” means all Intellectual Property owned by the WM Sellers and their Affiliates (including the WM
Companies).
“WM Leased Real Property” has the meaning specified in Section 2.19(a).
“WM Material Contract” has the meaning specified in Section 2.9(a).
“WM Multiemployer Plan” means each Multiemployer Plan that is maintained, sponsored or contributed to (or required to be
contributed to), or has been maintained, sponsored or contributed to (or required to be contributed to) within six (6) years prior to the
Execution Date, by a WM Company, WM Asset Seller or any of its Affiliates for the benefit of any WM Business Employee, or with respect
to which a WM Company (or, after the Closing, Buyer or any of its Affiliates) has any Liability (including any actual or contingent Liability
in respect of any Multiemployer Plan that is maintained, sponsored or contributed to (or required to by contributed to), or has been
maintained, sponsored or contributed to (or required to be contributed to) within six (6) years prior to or at any time following the Execution
Date by any of the ERISA Affiliates of a WM Company or a WM Asset Seller).
“WM Owned Real Property” has the meaning specified in Section 2.19(a).
“WM Ordinary Course” means the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice of the WM Sellers and the WM
Companies in respect of the WM Assets or the WM Business, as the case may be.
“WM Parent” has the meaning specified in the preamble.
“WM Permits” means all permits, licenses, franchises, consents, registrations, authorizations, and approvals relating to the ownership,

operation or use of the WM Assets or conduct of the WM Business, as applicable.
“WM Plans” means all WM Company Plans and WM Multiemployer Plans.
“WM Pre-Closing Accrued Compensation” means, as of the Closing, the sum of (a) the value of all accrued, but unused vacation and
other paid time off of the Transferred Employees who were, immediately prior to the Closing, employees of a WM Seller or an Affiliate
thereof and (b) all accrued, but unpaid compensation (including all base salary and wages, and commission and other cash incentive
compensation earned on or prior to the Closing Date (without regard to any continued employment requirement through payment thereof) to
the extent not included in the WM Pre-Closing Bonus Amount) payable to Transferred Employees who were, immediately prior to the
Closing, employees of a WM Seller or an Affiliate thereof, in each case of subsections (a) and (b), together with all employer-paid payroll or
other Taxes payable in relation thereto (without regard for any wage base limitations). For the avoidance of doubt, WM Pre-Closing Accrued
Compensation includes the aggregate amount of any unpaid payroll Taxes payable by any WM Company in respect of service on or prior to
the Closing Date and deferred pursuant to the CARES Act, whether or not the underlying compensation was paid on or prior to the Closing
Date.
“WM Pre-Closing Bonus Amount” means the product of (a) the sum of the aggregate amount of all cash incentive bonuses to which
the Transferred Employees who were, immediately prior to the Closing, employees of a WM Seller or an Affiliate thereof are eligible (to the
extent not included in WM Pre-Closing Accrued Compensation) for 2020 under a WM Company Plan or otherwise (assuming (i) maximum
attainment of company and individual performance metrics, (ii) continued full-time employment/service through applicable payment and (iii)
full payment of any discretionary portion of any bonus plan or program tied to individual performance) (together with all employer-paid
payroll or other Taxes payable in relation thereto (without regard for any wage base limitations)) and (b) a fraction, the numerator of which is
the number of calendar days in 2020 which have elapsed on or prior to the Closing Date and the denominator of which is 366.
“WM Prepaid Expenses” all credits, prepaid expenses, prepaid items and deposits, including any such expenses and deposits with
respect to leases, rentals, utilities and Property Taxes (but excluding any prepaid vehicle licenses) of any (i)WM Asset Seller to the extent
related to the WM Assets and (ii) WM Company; provided, that solely for the purposes of calculating the Asset Purchase Price Adjustment,
the Estimated Asset Purchase Price Adjustment, the Estimated Purchase Price, the Final Asset Purchase Price Adjustment, the Final Purchase
Price and the WM Asset Purchase Price Adjustment, the prepaid Property Taxes included as WM Prepaid Expenses shall be limited to prepaid
Property Taxes with respect to periods (or portions thereof) beginning after the Closing Date and shall exclude any prepaid Property Taxes
with respect to periods (or portions thereof) ending on or before the Closing Date.
“WM Real Property” has the meaning specified in Section 2.19(a).
“WM Sellers” has the meaning specified in Recital E.
“WM Taxes” means Taxes relating to the WM Assets for any Tax period or portion thereof ending on or before the Closing Date.
“WM Unearned Revenue Amount” means the amount billed by any WM Asset Seller or WM Company to any third party with respect
to WM Assumed Contracts or any Contract of a WM Company for services to be provided by the Buyer or its Affiliates on or after the
Closing Date, including a pro rata portion of the Total Ancillary Charges charged to such third party. For purposes of this definition “pro rata
portion” means the amount of the unearned divested services revenue related to such third party as a proportion of the total unearned services
revenue of such third party.

Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a)
UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Richard Burke certify that:
i. I have reviewed this report on Form 10-Q of Advanced Disposal Services, Inc.;
ii. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in
light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
iii. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
iv. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a — 15(e) and 15d — 15(e)) for the registrant and have:
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material
information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which
this report is being prepared;
(b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
(c) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant’s fourth quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting; and
v. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s
auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal controls over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely
affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting.
July 31, 2020
By: /s/ RICHARD BURKE
Richard Burke
Chief Executive Officer

Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a)
UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Steven R. Carn, certify that:
i. I have reviewed this report on Form 10-Q of Advanced Disposal Services, Inc.;
ii. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in
light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
iii. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
iv. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a — 15(e) and 15d — 15(e)) for the registrant and have:
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material
information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which
this report is being prepared;
(b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
(c) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant’s fourth quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting; and
v. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s
auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal controls over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely
affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting.
July 31, 2020
By: /s/ STEVEN R. CARN
Steven R. Carn
Chief Financial Officer

Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Quarterly Report of Advanced Disposal Services, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2020 as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Richard Burke, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §
1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
July 31, 2020
By: /s/ RICHARD BURKE
Richard Burke
Chief Executive Officer

Exhibit 32.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Quarterly Report of Advanced Disposal Services, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2020 as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Steven R. Carn, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §
1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
July 31, 2020
By: /s/ STEVEN R. CARN
Steven R. Carn
Chief Financial Officer

